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ChanCellor’s letter

The Hon Jacinta Allan MP 
Minister for Skills and Workforce Participation 
Level 36, 121 Exhibition Street 
Melbourne  VIC  3002

18 March 2008

Dear Minister,

In accordance with the requirements of regulations under the 
Financial Management Act 1994, it gives me great pleasure to 
submit for your information and presentation to Parliament the 
Annual Report of the University of Melbourne for the year ending 
31 December 2007.  The Report was approved by the University of 
Melbourne Council at its meeting on 17 March 2008.

During 2007, the University made strong progress in all areas of its 
Growing Esteem strategy.

Detailed planning for the implementation of the Melbourne Model, 
which embodies our new approach to teaching and learning, 
was undertaken during the year, enabling the new programs to 
commence from the start of 2008.  The response from students, 
staff, alumni, employers, Government and the community generally 
has been overwhelming:  we are delighted by the positive response 
at the University’s Open Day on 19 August 2007 and the most 
encouraging applications received from prospective students 
seeking to enrol in the new courses in 2008.  I commend the Vice-
Chancellor (Professor Glyn Davis), the Provost (Professor Peter 
McPhee), the Senior Vice-Principal (Mr Ian Marshman), the Faculty 
Deans and all University staff for the exemplary manner in which 
these complex and far-reaching changes have been designed and 
implemented.

 
 
 

The number and amount of competitive research grants awarded to  
Melbourne University scholars during 2007 was gratifying, and the 
Council is most grateful to the Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research), 
Professor John McKenzie, for the remarkable impact he has made 
in securing this excellent result.

Applications for a program of knowledge transfer awards and 
grants inaugurated during the year demonstrated the breadth of 
impressive knowledge transfer activities that occur in all parts of 
the University.

The financial results for the year were satisfactory, and the high 
international standing of the University was affirmed by a number 
of independent assessments.

In my view the Council worked hard and effectively, and I wish to 
express my gratitude to the members of Council for the strong 
contribution they have made to the University.

Yours sincerely

Mr Ian Renard

Chancellor
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the Melbourne Vision 

In pursuit of its vision to be one of the finest universities in the 
world, the University is guided by the following principles: 

>  As a scholarly community, Melbourne will uphold the values of 
intellectual freedom, honesty, openness and rigour. 

>  As a research institution, Melbourne will open new paths to 
scientific understanding, support critical and creative endeavour 
and provide an outstanding research training experience for future 
leaders in academia, government and industry. Melbourne will 
continue to support a comprehensive array of disciplines, while 
also directing additional funding towards disciplines of strategic 
importance in which the University is currently or potentially a 
world-leader. 

>  As a teaching institution, Melbourne will seek out the brightest 
students from the widest range of backgrounds. It will offer an 
outstanding education designed to equip each New Generational 
cohort to succeed in a globalised environment, and define a 
future that it values. 

>  As a public-spirited institution, Melbourne will ensure that its 
research, student learning and Knowledge Transfer programs 
help improve public policy and build a stronger and more 
tolerant community. 

 
>  As an internationally engaged institution, Melbourne will work to 

meet global challenges with intelligence, ingenuity and respect 
for cultural difference and common humanity. It will draw on the 
rich diversity of its staff and student body, strong relationships 
with overseas partner institutions, and an alumni network of 
talented graduates spread across the globe. 

>  As a university with a strong sense of place, Melbourne will 
cherish its campus locale, set in the vibrant multi-cultural 
metropolis of the city of Melbourne. Here face-to-face 
teaching will be the norm, scholars will gather from across the 
globe, and learning communities will enrich their work with 
evolving technologies. 

>  As an employer, Melbourne will strive to develop exemplary 
employment practices for attracting, retaining and assisting the 
professional development of a talented and diverse staff and will 
support the educational goals of an inclusive, multi-cultural and 
humanitarian university. 

More than 500 of Victoria’s most talented secondary students from schools across the state converged on the Parkville campus as participants in the inaugural Kwong Lee Dow 
Young Scholars Program.



CounCil 
MeMbership 2007 

ex-offiCio MeMbers: MeMbers 
of CounCil by Virtue of their 
appointMent

the Chancellor

MR IAN ANDREW RENARD 
BA Melb. LLM Melb.

Appointed 1 January 1994. 
Elected Chancellor 1 January 2005.

Mr Renard was a practising commercial 
lawyer when he first joined the University’s 
Council.  He resigned as a partner of his 
law firm in March 2001.  Director of CSL 
Limited, SP AusNet and Hillview Quarries 
Pty Ltd, and Chairman of Trustees of the RE 
Ross Trust. As disclosed in Note 33(d) to 
the Accounts, CSL Limited has entered into 
a lease for space in the Bio 21 building and 
other contracts with the University on normal 
commercial terms and conditions.  No other 
significant financial interests declared.

the Vice-Chancellor

PROFESSOR GLYN CONRAD DAVIS 
AC BA NSW. PhD ANU. FASSA FIPAA

Appointed as Vice-Chancellor on 10 
January 2005. Previously Vice-Chancellor 
of Griffith University.  Director of Australia 
21 (non-profit organization), Australia and 
New Zealand School of Government and 
Q150 Advisory Committee. Member of the 
Supervisory Board of Menzies Centre for 
Australian Studies (London) and Member of 
the University Grants Committee Hong 

Kong. Ex-officio member of the University’s 
companies and controlled entities. No 
significant financial interests declared.

president of the academic board

PROFESSOR PHILIPPA PATTISON 
BSc Melb. PhD Melb.

Appointed 1 January 2007.  Appointed as 
President of the Academic Board and an 
ex-officio member of Council for a three 
year term finishing on 31 December 2008. 
No directorships or significant financial 
interests declared.

One person appointed by the Minister for 
Skills and Workforce Participation for a three 
year term expiring on 31 December 2009

VACANT

Six persons appointed by the 
Governor-in-Council

Term of office expiring 31 December 2007

MS ELIZABETH ALEXANDER 
AM BCom Melb. FAICD FCA FCPA

Appointed 2 October 2004.  Field of 
experience: business and accounting. No 
significant financial interests declared.

Director of CSL Ltd, Boral Ltd, D B Reef Ltd, 
AIHI Ltd, Winston Churchill Fellowship Trust.

JUDGE IRENE ELIZABETH LAWSON 
LLB Melb.

Appointed 23 October 2001. 

Field of experience: a lawyer and a judge. 
No directorships or significant financial 
interests declared.

Member of the Medley College Board.

MR PAUL ANTHONY BRIGGS OAM

Appointed 10 May 2005. Field of 
experience: community service.

Board member of the Koori Resource 
Information Centre and President of the 
Rumbalara Football and Netball Club 
Incorporated, which has a relationship 
with the University through the Academy 
of Sport, Health and Education.  No 
directorships or significant financial 
interests declared.

Term of office expiring 31 December 2008 

MS MELANIE SLOSS 
SC BJuris LLB WA. LLM Syd.

Appointed to Council on 29 March 2006. 
Field of experience: barrister of the 
Supreme Court. 

Senior Vice-President of the Commercial 
Bar Association of the Victorian Bar, Deputy 
Member of Board of Examiners, Member of 
the Chief Justices Library Committee, the 
admitting authority for Victorian lawyers. 
No directorships or significant financial 
interests declared.

Term of office expiring 31 December 2009 

DR MEREDITH DOIG 
BA MEdStud Monash. PhD RMIT. DipEd Melb. Grad Dip 

Mgt RMIT 

Appointed 23 October 2001. Field of 
experience: education. 

Director of the Port of Melbourne 
Corporation, VLine Passenger Corporation 
and Bakers Delight Holdings. No significant 
financial interests declared.
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MR ROBERT NIVEN JOHANSON 
BA LLM Melb. MBA Harv.

Appointed 6 March 2007. Field of 
experience: banking and finance. 

Chairman of Bendigo and Adelaide 
Bank Limited. Director of Grant Samuel 
Group Pty Ltd, Elders Rural Bank Ltd and 
the Robert Salzer Foundation Ltd. No 
significant financial interests declared.

Six persons appointed by the Council

Term of office expiring 31 December 2007

THE HON JUSTICE ALEX CHERNOV 
BCom LLB (Hons) Melb. [Deputy Chancellor]

First appointed 1 January 1992. Field of 
experience: a lawyer and judge.

Director of the Melbourne Theatre 
Company Board. No significant financial 
interests declared.

MS ROSA STORELLI 
BEd Adel. CAE Grad Dip Student Welfare Hawthorn 

MEduc Studies Monash MACE FACEA AFAIM 

(Deputy Chancellor)

First appointed 1 January 2001. Field of 
experience: teacher and educator. 

Member of the board of the Methodist 
Ladies College. No significant financial 
interests declared.

Term of office expiring 31 December 2008

THE HON MR DAVID RONALD WHITE 
BCom BA MBA Melb. FCPA

First appointed 1 March 2000.  Field of 
experience: accounting and government.

Previously a member of State parliament; 
at one time held a ministerial portfolio.  
No directorships or significant financial 
interests declared.

MS EDA NATALIE SANDFORD RITCHIE 
GradDipBus Monash AMusA

First appointed 13 September 2004. Field 
of experience: business.

Director of Melbourne University 
Publishing, Vapold Pty Ltd, Hillview 
Quarries Ltd and Mayne Health Services. 
No significant financial interests declared.

Term of office expiring 31 December 2009

MRS LYNNE CATHERINE LANDY

Appointed 1 January 2007. Field of 
experience: arts administration and 
community service.

Chair of the Victorian College of the Arts 
Advisory Board and Greatconnections Pty 
Ltd (non-profit organisation). No significant 
financial interest declared.

DR VIRGINIA MARY MANSOUR 
MBBS Melb. PhD Monash

Appointed 9 July 2007. Field of experience: 
medical research and research ethics.  
No directorships or significant financial 
interests declared.

Three persons elected by, and from, the 
staff of the University

professors

PROFESSOR MARK ADRIAN ELGAR 
BSc Griff. PhD Camb.

Elected 1 January 2006 for a term of office 
of two years until 31 December 2007. Field 
of experience: zoologist, higher education. 
No directorships or significant financial 
interests declared.

academic staff, other than professors

ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR 
LESLIE JOHN ALLEN 
MSc P.Elizabeth PhD S.Af.

Elected 21 September 2005 for a term of 
office of ending on 31 December 2007. 
Field of experience: physicist, higher 
education. No directorships or significant 
financial interests declared.

professional staff

MR MICHAEL FRANCIS COYLE 
BA Melb.

Elected for a two year term from 1 January 
2007. Field of experience: university 
administration.

Vice-President of the National Tertiary 
Education Union, Melbourne Branch and 
a member of the UniSuper Consultative 
Committee. No directorships or significant 
financial interests declared.

Two persons elected by, and from, the 
students enrolled at the University for a 
one year term of office finishing on 31 
December 2007

MR ANTHONY WILLIAMS 
BA SwinburneUT. MPubHlth RMIT

Field of experience: health education. 

Member of the Executive of the University 
of Melbourne Postgraduate Association. 
No directorships or significant financial 
interests declared.

MS JESSIE GILES

Ms Giles is an undergraduate student, 
elected to Council by all students. Member 
of the University of Melbourne Student 
Union Board. No directorships or significant 
financial interests declared. 

ALISON CARROLL
Alison Carroll is the Director of the Arts 
Program at Asialink. 

Asialink, a non-academic Department 
of the University, plays a leading role in 
the promotion of public understanding 
of Asia and of Australia’s role in the 
Asian region. 

In February Alison was awarded the 
Visual Arts Emeritus Medal from the 
Australia Council, for work initiating and 
developing cultural exchange between 
Australia and the countries of Asia.

Asialink Arts has become the main 
agency for initiation and development 
of cultural exchange projects for 
artists, performers, writers and arts 
managers between Australia and 18 
countries of Asia.

“Our audiences are in hundreds of 
thousands and, through the media, 
millions,” says Alison.  “The name 
of the University is spread widely as 
a significant partner in international 
cultural engagement from Ulan Bator 
to Tokyo, from Lahore to Jakarta, and 
dozens of places in between.”

Alison, who is frequently quoted in print 
and electronic media, is a member of 
the Australia-Indonesia Institute Board, 
(Department of Foreign Affairs & Trade) 
and the Cultural Network, Australian 
National Commission for UNESCO.
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senior offiCers  

Vice-Chancellor & principal

The Vice-Chancellor and Principal, as Chief Executive Officer of the University, 
exercises general superintendence over the education and administrative affairs 
of the University.

provost

In September 2007 the position of Provost was created and replaced that of 
Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Academic)

Deputy Vice-Chancellors, pro Vice-Chancellors

Deputy Vice-Chancellors and Pro Vice-Chancellors exercise a general 
superintendence over the particular areas of the University’s affairs indicated by 
their titles.

The elected President and Vice-President of Academic Board are also Pro 
Vice-Chancellors who perform duties in relation to the academic affairs of the 
University.

university secretary

The University Secretary has responsibility for the Council secretariat and other 
duties as defined in Statute 2.6.3.

Deans

The Deans are responsible for particular academic divisions of the University.

presiDent aCaDeMiC boarD & 
pro ViCe-ChanCellor 

professor philippa pattison

BSc PhD Melb. FASSA

ViCe-ChanCellor & 
prinCipal

professor Glyn DaVis

AC BA NSW PhD ANU

Deputy ViCe- ChanCellor 
(aCaDeMiC)/proVost

professor peter MCphee

BA (Hons) DipEd MA PhD 

Melb. FAHA

senior ViCe-prinCipal

Mr ian MarshMan

BA (Hons) Melb. LLB ANU

pro ViCe- ChanCellor 
(teaChinG, learninG & equity)

professor 
susan elliott

MBBS Melb. MD Melb. FRACP

pro ViCe- ChanCellor 
(researCh traininG) 

professor 
barbara eVans

BSc Melb. PhD Melb. Dip 

PhEd TSTC

pro ViCe-ChanCellor 
(GraDuate researCh)

professor 
riCharD struGnell

BSc PhD Monash FASM 

(appointed December 2007)

pro ViCe-ChanCellor 
(researCh)

professor 
Joy DaMousi

BA La Trobe PhD ANU FAHA 

FASSA

professor lyn yates

BA Melb. DipEd Melb. MEd 

PhD La Trobe (appointed 

26 March 2007)

pro ViCe-ChanCellor 
(uniVersity relations)

professor 
Warren bebbinGton

MA Queens MMUS MPhil 

PhD CUNY

ViCe-presiDent aCaDeMiC boarD 
pro ViCe-ChanCellor

professor Geoffrey Wayne steVens

BE RMIT PhD Melb. FL ChemE FAus IMM 

FTSE CEng

uniVersity seCretary

Mr lennarD Currie

BA (Hons) Melb. DipEd Melb.

Mrs Janet White

BSc Lond. Appointed August 2007

Deputy ViCe-ChanCellor 
(researCh)

professor John MCKenzie

BSc PhD La Trobe FAA

Deputy ViCe-ChanCellor 
(innoVation & 
DeVelopMent)

professor ViJoleta  
braaCh-MaKsVytis

BSc NSW PhD Syd.

Deputy ViCe-ChanCellor 
(international)

professor 
franK larKins

AM BEd DSC Melb. DPhil 

DipAdvMath Oxf. FAA FRCI 

FAIE FAIP

CounCil

Deans

arts

arChiteCture, builDinG 
& planninG

eConoMiCs & CoMMerCe 

eDuCation

enGineerinG

GraDuate stuDies

lanD & fooD resourCes 

laW

MeDiCine, Dentistry & 
health sCienCes

MusiC

sCienCe

Veterinary sCienCe

ViCtorian ColleGe of 
the arts
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QUAlIty PeoPle

>  The quality of the student intake remained very high with a median ENTER of 94.7 15

>  The quality of University staff is recognised through prestigious awards and the election of 
staff as fellows of learned societies 17

>  A record number of University staff received recognition for excellence in teaching with 10 
Carrick Citations for Outstanding Contribution to Student Learning and 4 Carrick Awards for 
Australian University Teaching 18

HIGHLIGHTS 

ReseARCh And ReseARCh tRAInIng

>  Melbourne was ranked first or second on national research indicators of total research income, 
research publications, RHD student load and completions. These indicators are used by the 
Government to allocate research block funding with the University receiving the highest 
allocation nationally. 22

>  Melbourne was ranked first nationally for Australian Competitive Grants. 22

>  Melbourne has the largest cohort of research students in Australia with an RHD load of over 
3,000. The completion rate improved by over 10 per cent for the third consecutive year. 26

>  The National Centre of Excellence for Islamic Studies was established at  the University of 
Melbourne, (in collaboration with Griffith University and the University of Western Sydney ) 
with federal funding of $8 million to offer world-class, multi-disciplinary teaching and research 
in Islamic Studies at regional, national and international levels. 22

>  Long-term planning has laid the foundations for major new cross-disciplinary institutes. 21

>  A $30 million Strategic Major Research Project Fund was established to support areas of 
strategic research importance.  21

leARnIng And teAChIng

>  The six Melbourne Model undergraduate degrees in Arts, Biomedicine, Commerce, 
Environments, Music and Science were developed for introduction in 2008. Breadth subjects 
for each degree and 11 University-wide breadth subjects are a feature of the new degrees. 33

>  The structure of the University’s new graduate schools was established. 34

> Masters level programs were developed for introduction in 2008. 33

>  The strength of Melbourne’s learning and teaching programs was acknowledged and rewarded 
for the third consecutive year with the award of $8. 4m in the Commonwealth Learning and 
Teaching Performance Fund. 35

>  A package of scholarships, worth $100 million over 3 years was launched, including the 
Kwong Lee Dow Young Scholars Program. 36

>  Design and development of learning precincts to support the Melbourne Model  progressed. 41
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Knowledge tRAnsFeR 

>  Inaugural  Vice-Chancellor’s Knowledge Transfer Awards and  Symposium publicly recognised 
outstanding achievements in Knowledge Transfer across the University, highlighting interaction 
with external partners.  45

>  Knowledge Transfer was incorporated as a criterion in the new Academic Promotions Guidelines. 45

>  The new Knowledge Transfer publication, Knowledge Transfer: Connecting Melbourne 
was launched. 44

>  A Cultural Strategic Plan was adopted, setting priorities for management of the University’s 
cultural resources and maximising their impact for the coming years.  46

>  A single management and governance structure was introduced for commercialisation activities. 48

>  A new Business Melbourne portal at www.business.unimelb.edu.au provides a central access 
point for enquiries regarding commercial activities. 49

InteRnAtIonAl engAgement

>  Melbourne remained one of two Australian universities in the top 100 universities in the world 
in the Shanghai Jiao Tong university rankings with a ranking of 79. The University was ranked 
no. 27 in the world by the Times Higher Education Supplement Study 2007. 10

>  The University was an active member of the Association of Pacific Rim Universities an 
organisation whose membership is based on academic excellence, research intensity, 
global outlook and innovation. 54

>  International student load increased, with international student numbers exceeding 11,000 and 
representing 27 per cent of student load.  52

>  The Confucius Institute was established with support from the Victorian and Chinese 
governments. It is one of only two Confucius Institutes in the world with a major focus on 
business with China. 53

BIndIng the stRAnds togetheR

>  Consolidated income of $1.43 billion was up by 11.7 per cent on 2006. 66

>  Donations to the University’s Annual Appeal increased significantly, with the number of 
Chancellor’s Circle donors more than doubling and donations to the University Fund up by 
21 per cent from 2006 to $795,800. 63

>  Academic and professional leaders were supported to manage change through organisational 
and leadership programs. 59

>  The Melbourne Student Services Model was developed, establishing a student-centric model 
for delivery of student services through ‘one-stop shop’ student centres. 67

>  Student centres have been established for all New Generation undergraduate degrees and 
faculties which are to become graduate schools. 67

>  The Office of the Provost has been created to coordinate academic and student support. 68

>  Design and development of the first learning precinct was completed with project completion 
scheduled for 2008. 67

>  Wireless connection has been extended to all high-use areas of the University.  62



2007 HAS BEEN THE YEAR OF TRANSITION TO THE MELBOURNE MODEL

INTRODUCTION AND 

 OVERVIEW



2007–the year of transition

Last year this report traced Melbourne’s 
new strategic direction – Growing 
Esteem, which sets out a vision for great 
scholarship, research and Knowledge 
Transfer.  In 2007 there were significant 
developments in each of these strands. 
In particular, 2007 was a watershed year 
as we geared up for the introduction 
in 2008 of the Melbourne Model, the 
learning and teaching component of our 
wider vision. The Melbourne Model is a 
far-reaching reform which marks a new 
national benchmark in higher education. 
It offers undergraduate students core 
academic programs characterised by depth 
of disciplinary knowledge, complemented 
by breadth of knowledge and approaches 
across disciplines. Graduate professional 
study or masters and PhD degrees follow 
the three year undergraduate degrees. 

leARnIng And teAChIng 

Close attention has been given this year 
to refining the structure and content of the 
new undergraduate and graduate curricula.

For the six Melbourne Model undergraduate 
degrees – Arts, Biomedicine, Commerce, 
Environments, Music and Science – to be 
offered for the first time in 2008, a suite 
of exciting new University breadth and 
capstone subjects has been developed. 
Breadth subjects are cross-disciplinary, 
designed to give students from all degrees 
exposure to different ways of knowing, 
while capstone subjects prepare students 
for life as graduates. 

Graduate schools offering professional 
qualifications are a key element of the 
Melbourne Model. The structure of the 
University’s new graduate schools was 
established during the year and new 
masters level programs developed ready 
for 2008. From next year students will 
undertake new graduate professional 
programs in Architecture, Education, Law, 
Nursing, Social Work and other disciplines.

Introduction of the Melbourne Model will 
be accompanied by a landmark package of 
scholarships worth more than $100 million 
over three years. Launched in 2007, the 
package includes an innovative new Kwong 
Lee Dow Young Scholars Program designed 
to encourage the best and brightest from 
every school in Victoria to consider study 
at the University. More than 700 Year 12 
scholars from 300 different schools across 
the State of Victoria were selected to be 
part of the inaugural program. 

During the year we presented the 
Melbourne Model in detail to the world 
to ensure all sectors of the community 
understand the University’s new approach. 
A hugely successful Open Day with a very 
positive response to the Melbourne Model 
suggests that we have been successful 
in doing so. Though we run the risk that 
demand will fall as students adjust to 
the end of double degrees at Melbourne 
and the introduction of professional 
qualifications at graduate level, the early 
signs are that the community is embracing 
the new model.

ReseARCh And ReseARCh tRAInIng

Like all Australian universities Melbourne 
has been preparing for the anticipated 
introduction of the Research Quality 
Framework (RQF). Though the new 
Commonwealth government has now 
cancelled the RQF, the detailed preparation 
undertaken for this exercise has helped 
the University better understand 
the strengths and weaknesses of its 
research performance, and ensured our 
readiness for the Excellence in Australian 
Research initiative now announced as the 
replacement for the RQF.

The complex issues facing our world 
require cross-disciplinary, inter-institutional 
and international research responses. In 
2007 the University undertook long-term 
planning for major new cross-disciplinary 
institutes. Encouraging feasibility studies 

have laid the foundations for major 
investments in Sustainability, Immunology, 
Peak Computing and Materials. A Strategic 
Major Research Project Fund providing 
$30 million for major initiatives now 
complements the Strategic Research 
Initiatives Fund (SRIF). Both offer crucial 
central support for areas of strategic 
research importance.  

Meanwhile, work to boost cross-
disciplinary research is already bearing 
fruit. The University is playing a central 
role in the creation of clusters of 
research expertise and partnerships 
for multi-disciplinary research through 
its visionary Bio21 Molecular Science 
and Biotechnology Institute and the 
Florey Neurosciences Institute under 
development on the Parkville campus. The 
Bio21 Institute now brings together more 
than 450 scientists from the University, 
biomedical research institutes and industry 
and is home to three Federation Fellows. 
Relationships with key affiliates like the 
CSIRO were strengthened during the year 
and six talented Future Generation Fellows 
were appointed, with the calibre of the 
candidates inspiring great confidence about 
the future of research at the University.

Knowledge tRAnsFeR

In 2007 the University focussed on making 
Knowledge Transfer part of all aspects 
of University life – research, curriculum, 
interaction with the community and 
processes for recognition and reward. A 
program of knowledge transfer awards 
and grants was inaugurated, with 
the multiple objectives of rewarding 
excellence, providing seeding for new 
knowledge transfer activities and improving 
understanding of knowledge transfer 
within the University. The applications for 
these awards demonstrated the breadth of 
impressive knowledge transfer activities 
across the University. Knowledge transfer 
is now part of the promotion criteria for all 
staff and incorporated into the executive 

introDuCtion anD oVerVieW

The University of Melbourne Annual Report 2007 �

IntRodUCtIon 
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“THE UNIVERSITY OF MELBOURNE’S GROWING 
ESTEEM STRATEGY AFFIRMS OUR INTENTION TO BE 

ONE OF THE FINEST UNIVERSITIES IN THE WORLD, 
HIGHLY REGARDED FOR MAKING DISTINCTIVE 

CONTRIBUTIONS TO SOCIETY IN RESEARCH, LEARNING 
AND TEACHING AND KNOWLEDGE TRANSFER.”

Glyn Davis 
Vice-Chancellor

Left: More than 60,000 prospective students and their families visited the University on Open Day.



structure of the faculties. A new whole-of-
institution knowledge transfer initiative with 
the City of Melbourne has brought a higher 
profile to this strand. 

stUdent seRVICes

In parallel with curriculum reform, 
Melbourne is moving to a more student-
centred approach to student services.  The 
University recognises that easy access to 
high quality administrative, academic and 
well-being support is an important part 
of a student’s ‘Melbourne Experience’. 
By the start of the 2008 academic year,  

‘one-stop-shop’ student centres will have 
been created for each New Generation 
undergraduate degree and for the faculties 
which are to become graduate schools. All 
students will have access to consistent, 
seamless services and advice through 
these centres. 

The important new role of Provost has 
been introduced to ensure coordination 
of academic and student support across 
the new Melbourne Model degrees. The 
Provost is the University’s senior academic 
officer, with responsibility for managing 
and monitoring changes in the policies 
and practices that affect the academic 
life of the University as a whole, as well 
as for ensuring effective student support 
services. During 2007 Professor Peter 
McPhee was appointed to this role.

leARnIng PReCInCts

Our aspirations to be student-centred 
are reflected in new spaces too, as the 
first new learning spaces to support 
implementation of the Melbourne Model 
take shape. Learning precincts based 
around a clustering of disciplines and 
combining libraries, online resources 
and a series of attractive, useful and 
flexible learning spaces are an essential 
part of the Melbourne Experience of the 
future. The aim is to create warm and 
welcoming spaces with all-hour access to 
accommodate students’ different schedules 
and learning styles.

Construction of the first learning precinct is 
well underway, with the Eastern Precinct 
integrating a Resource Centre with a 
Learning Centre and a Student Centre. 
Engineering’s new student centre and 
learning centre will both be ready for 2008. 

These spaces encapsulate the idea that 
university life is about more the curriculum; 
it is about people, place and participation. 

Meanwhile, redevelopment of former 
Chemistry West Lecture Theatre into a 
distinctive, collaborative learning space was 
completed in early 2007. This state-of-the-
art teaching space has high tech facilities,  
is suitable for conducting a large class but 
may be transformed into separate teaching 
spaces, or ‘pods’. Such facilities encourage 
staff to embrace the range of possibilities 
for effective learning in these spaces.

AdVAnCement

Robust philanthropic support for a strong 
endowment will help the University 
achieve its aims. A significant increase in 
fundraising activity across the University 
has been guided during 2007 by the 
Advancement Office, which regularly 
engages leading international advancement 
specialists to run training sessions. A major 
focus for the year was the development 
of a campaign to raise funds toward the 
University’s Future Generation program. 
Results from the Annual Appeal continued 
to grow, in terms of both number of donors 
and amount raised. In another encouraging 
result, the Baker Foundation announced 
that it will provide $2.5 million to endow a 
Chair in Physical Biosciences.

RAnKIngs

Internationally, we have weathered the 
storms created by sometimes volatile 
rankings. In the THES rankings, despite a 
changed methodology we remain within 
the top 30 in the world.  With a ranking of 
79 Melbourne also maintained a strong 
standing in the Shanghai Jiao Tong Index. 
In both rankings the University’s strength is 
evident across a broad array of disciplines. 
Our strong research standing has also been 
reflected in the 2007 Performance Ranking 
of Scientific Papers for World Universities 
by the Higher Education Evaluation and 
Accreditation Council of Taiwan. At 64 in 
the world Melbourne was ranked as the 
highest Australian University and No. 4 in 
the Asia-Pacific.

Within Australia, Melbourne’s position is 
secure as a leading teaching and research 
University. 

The University’s excellence in teaching was 
recognised for a third consecutive year in 
2007 with the award of $8.3 million under 
the 2008 Commonwealth Government’s 
Learning and Teaching Performance 
Fund. A record 10 Carrick Citations for 
Outstanding Contribution to Student 
Learning and four Carrick awards for 
Teaching Excellence, places the University 
among Australia’s top teaching universities. 

Laureate Professor David Boger, appointed as a Fellow of the Royal Society in London in recognition of his discovery of 
elastic fluids, now known as ‘Boger fluids’.

Associate Professor Raoul Mulder conducts research into 
the behavioural mechanisms of birds.
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In 2007 Melbourne maintained its position 
as a leading national research university, 
scoring strongly against every national 
research indicator and recording its best 
ever performance in competitive grant 
income. Performance in ARC Discovery 
and NHMRC project grants was particularly 
strong and well up on 2006 figures. 
Melbourne remains one of Australia’s 
largest universities in terms of both 
research income and expenditure. 

gloBAl lInKs

The progress of knowledge relies on 
international effort. The University 
participates in global opportunities 
and the sharing of knowledge in many 
ways – through international networks, 
international partnerships and some 180 
bilateral agreements with universities 
around the world.  Melbourne has been 
a keen participant in the activities of the 
Association of Pacific Rim Universities 
(APRU) in its first year of membership, 
while continuing to engage in collaborative 
and entrepreneurial activities through the 
Universitas 21 network. The University 
consolidated its strategic presence in 
the Asia – Pacific region through new 
international offices in Kuala Lumpur, 
Singapore and Bangalore, complementing 
existing offices in Jakarta and Bangkok. In 
July we formed a partnership with seven 
Malaysian universities for a PhD program 
designed to build capacity in the Malaysian 
higher education sector, allowing candidates 
to split their research time between 
Melbourne and their Malaysian university. 

Pushing against the national trend of 
declining international student enrolments, 
the University was once again successful in 
attracting a large number of well-qualified 
students from overseas to its programs. 
Of the 44,500 students enrolled at the 
University in 2007, over 11,000 (27 per 
cent of the teaching load) are international 
students from more than 115 countries.

oUtstAndIng 
UndeRgRAdUAte IntAKe

Melbourne again experienced high 
demand for its undergraduate places from 
outstanding domestic students in 2007, 
resulting in a median ENTER score for 
Victorian school leavers of 94.7, 5.2 points 
higher than the closest Victorian university. 
Melbourne again recorded a substantial 
number of domestic undergraduate fee-
paying students, all of whom received 
high ENTER scores and were eligible for 
a government-subsidised place in other 
courses or at other institutions.

FUndIng

While governments continue to be 
important contributors, in 2007 funding 
from Commonwealth and Victorian 
governments, excluding research funding, 
constituted just 25.8 per cent of total 
revenue. Commonwealth funding from all 
sources (including research) other than the 
Higher Education Contribution Scheme 
has diminished from 56 per cent of the 
total in 1996 to 41.0 per cent in 2007. The 
University’s consolidated income of $1.43 
billion in 2007 was up by 11.7 per cent on 
2006, due largely to continuing growth of 
fee-revenue and research and investment 
income. Overall, Melbourne has been 
successful in achieving a 11.54 per cent 
increase in unit-of-resource student funding 
since 2004, i.e. $34,700 to $38,704.  The 
University’s financial strength has been 
confirmed by continuation of its Standard 
and Poor’s credit-rating at AA+, the highest 
rating available to an Australian university. 

outlooK

These are exciting times for the University. 
2007 proved a year of important progress 
toward a new learning and teaching agenda 
for Melbourne, enhanced research focus, 
the widescale adoption of Knowledge 
Transfer, and a series of local actions to 
create a university which offers great 
facilities to students from home and abroad.  
It is testament to the commitment and 
professionalism of the University’s staff 
that implementation of Growing Esteem 
has not detracted from the University’s 
performance as a leading Australian 
University in 2007.  In 2008 we will continue 
to reshape an institution of great social, 
economic and cultural significance, paying 
particular attention to the values that guide 
our journey to becoming one of the finest 
universities in the world.  

Professor Glyn Davis AC 
Vice-Chancellor

PRoFessoR 
MARCUS PANDY
Chair of Mechanical and Biomedical 
Engineering, Professor Marcus 
Pandy, is leading a $4 million research 
project mapping the way we move 
and how this impacts on our joints. 
The research is aimed at better 
understanding the biomechanics and 
control of human movement.

The Human Movement research project 
has been established within NICTA, 
Australia’s research centre of excellence 
in Information and Communication 
Technology. Professor Pandy is using 
sophisticated fluoroscopy X-rays and 
computer generated modelling, to track 
a range of indicators including muscle 
use, rotation and force to map how 
humans move. 

The focus is on applying engineering 
techniques to address a range of 
clinical problems, such as movement 
abnormalities caused by knee-ligament 
injury, knee joint osteoarthritis, and 
cerebral palsy. Professor Pandy uses 
mathematical models to simulate a 
range of movements. Analysis of the 
models helps understanding of which 
muscles move particular joints and 
how muscles contribute to the stress 
patterns developed at each joint.

The models have far reaching 
assessment and diagnostic 
possibilities.  Professor Pandy has 
received national and international 
awards for his research on 
computational modelling of movement. 
He is a Fellow of the American Society 
of Mechanical Engineers and a Fellow 
of the American Institute of Medicine 
and Biology in Engineering. 

PROFILE



fiVe-year  statistiCs 

Category 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

median enteR 94.8 94.8 94.5 94.3 94.7

student enrolments (eFtsl)

total load  (eFtsl) 32,870 33,612 34,008 33,934 34,720

Research higher degree 2,925 3,160 3,159 3,122 3,169

Postgraduate Coursework 4,882 5,324 5,263 5,558 5,951

Undergraduate 25,063 25,129 25,585 25,255 25,600

% Female enrolment 56.7% 56.6% 56.5% 56.0% 55.8%

International load  (eFtsl) 7,619 8,021 8,335 8,804 9,389

% International 23.2% 23.9% 24.5% 25.9% 27.0%

Award Completions

Research higher degree (excl higher doct) 694 724 739 736 730 (est)

Pg Coursework 3,736 4,045 3,968 4,220 4,351 (est)

Undergraduate 7,902 7,809 8,133 8,186 8,200 (est)

total 12,332 12,588 12,851 13,142 13,281 (est)

staff (Fte) (march, including casuals & excluding tAFe)

Academic (All) 2,829 2,971 3,168 3,258 3,371

Professionals (All) 3,164 3,330 3,517 3,619 3,778

total 5,993 6,301 6,685 6,876 7,149

staff Casual figures estimates only for 2007

student: staff Ratio (August)

t&R Faculty staff 17.9 17.7 16.2 16.5 16.7

All Academic Faculty staff 11.7 11.4 10.8 10.5 10.4

Research expenditure  ($million) 408 (est) 429 456(est) 533 570

Financial data ($million)   

Consolidated Income 1,006.6 1,166.3 1,211.9 1,282.6 1,432.9

Consolidated expenditure  944.3 1,072.8 1,134.9 1,192.6 1,336.2

net Result before Income tax 62.3 93.5 77.0 90.0 96.7

net Result after Income tax 64.4 93.4 77.0 90.0 96.2

sources of Income (%)   

Australian government Recurrent 
Financial Assistance 24.1 24.4 22.7 23.5 22.2

other Australian government Financial Assistance 
(including Fee-helP) 15.2 15.1 16.7 16.8 18.7

heCs-helP 8.8 7.7 7.8 7.9 7.5

state government Financial Assistance 3.3 3.2 3.2 3.7 2.2

Investments, Fees, Charges and other Income 41.7 43.7 43.7 42.3 45.0

grants, donations and Bequests 6.9 5.9 5.9 5.8 4.4

total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

Research Performance Indicators

Research Income  ($million) 198.7(1) 208.3(1) 254.4 (1) 279.7 (2) 307.2 (prelim)

Research Publications 2,858(1) 3,299(2) 3,878(1) 3,809 (2) 3,811 (prelim)

Research load  (eFtsl) 2,925(1) 3,160(1) 3,159(1) 3,117(1) 3,169

Research Completions (eligible) * 694(1) 724(1) 739(1) 736(1) 730 (est)

numbers in brackets are melbourne’s national rank, based on the proportion of the national total for each category

* eligible completions means those included in Rts formula, excludes higher doctorates by publication.
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the myeR FAmIly
In November 2007 the University celebrated 80 years of wonderful 
generosity towards the University by the Myer family. This giving 
began with Sidney Myer in 1926, continued through his estate 
(via the Sidney Myer Fund), and has expanded over the ensuing 
decades with his descendants, both individually and through the 
Myer Foundation. Collectively, the Myer family is the University’s 
largest benefactor.

In 1926 Sidney Myer, who remains the most generous of all the 
University’s individual benefactors, gave the University 25,000 
shares in the Myer Emporium Ltd. This gift was worth £50,000 
at a time when the entire government grant to the University was 
£66,000 per annum. This gift has grown today to a trust fund worth 
over $15 million. It was Mr Myer’s first act of public philanthropy, 
and the largest single gift he ever made. In the following years it 
was used to assist many purposes and continues to be a significant 
source of support today. 

The Myer family’s gifts to the University over the years have 
addressed all of their well-known philanthropic interests – the arts 
and humanities; Australia as part of the Asia-Pacific region; education; 
poverty and disadvantage; and sustainability and the environment. 

Lady Southey (Sidney Myer’s daughter) and the Vice-Chancellor examining a copy of the original deed 
of shares from Sidney Myer to the University, which still ranks as the University’s largest single gift. 

Martyn Myer at the celebration of his family’s support of the University of Melbourne.



MELBOURNE CONTINUES TO ATTRACT OUTSTANDING STUDENTS AND 
ACADEMICS FROM AROUND AUSTRALIA AND INTERNATIONALLY

QUALITY 

 PEOPLE
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senIoR stAFF APPoIntments

In 2007 the University appointed Professor 
Peter McPhee, formerly Deputy Vice-
Chancellor (Academic), as Provost to 
manage and monitor changes in the policies 
and practices that affect the academic life 
of the University as a whole. 

Professor Susan Elliott was re-appointed 
as Pro Vice-Chancellor (Teaching, 
Learning and Equity). Professor Warren 
Bebbington was also re-appointed as Pro 
Vice-Chancellor (University Relations). 
Professor Dick Strugnell was appointed 
as Pro Vice-Chancellor (Graduate 
Research) and Professor Lyn Yates as Pro 
Vice-Chancellor (Research).

The University welcomed five new Deans 
during the year:

Professor Ken Hinchcliff from the Ohio 
State University joined the University as 
Dean, Faculty of Veterinary Science; 

Professor Tom Kvan from the University 
of Sydney was appointed Dean, Faculty of 
Architecture, Building and Planning;

Professor Mark Considine was appointed 
Dean, Faculty of Arts;

Professor Andrea Hull, previously the 
Director of the Victorian College of the 
Arts (VCA), was appointed Dean of the 
Faculty of the Victorian College of the Arts 
on the amalgamation of the VCA with the 
University; and

Professor Iven Mareels was appointed 
Dean, Faculty of Engineering. 

In 2007 the University further strengthened 
the leadership of its Senior Executive with 
the appointment of Ms Elizabeth Baré, 
previously Vice-Principal (Human Resources) 
as Vice-Principal and Head of University 
Services with responsibility for coordinating 
the University’s administrative and 
management services. Dr David Cookson 
was appointed Vice-Principal (Research) 
and Mr Nigel Waugh was appointed 
Vice-Principal (Human Resources).  Ms 
Janet White from Monash University was 
appointed as University Secretary.

Renowned sCholARs

federation fellows

In 2007 three internationally outstanding 
researchers were awarded prestigious 
Federation Fellowships to conduct ground-
breaking research at the University. The new 
Federation Fellows are physicist Professor 
Tony Gherghetta from the University of 
Minnesota, an expatriate Australian returning 
to Australia; and immunologist Professor Bill 
Heath at the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute. 
University of Melbourne nanotechologist 
and biotechnologist Professor Frank Caruso 
has been re-appointed as a Federation 
Fellow. They will join 15 Federation Fellows 
at the University.

Vice-Chancellor’s fellows

Each year the University supports Vice-
Chancellor’s Fellows to engage in the public 
life of the University, providing a scholarly 
environment for research, writing, teaching 
and related activities. Dr David Kemp (public 
policy expert) completed his appointment 
as a Vice-Chancellor’s Fellow in 2007. Two 
other Vice-Chancellor’s Fellows – Professor 
Brenton Broadstock (composer and 
musicologist) and Mr Max Gillies (satirist 
and actor) – continued their appointments.

Former Victorian Premier Steve Bracks 
was appointed as an honorary Professorial 
Fellow in the Faculty of Arts to chair 
a program of public policy forms on 
important topics and to participate in a 
University think tank on the values and 
nature of a good society.
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PRoFessoR 
LOANE SKENE
One of Australia’s leading experts 
on medical law and ethics, Professor 
Loane Skene specialises in health 
and medical law. She is a Professor 
of Law in the Faculty of Law and 
an Adjunct Professor of Law in the 
Faculty of Medicine, Dentistry and 
Health Sciences.

Professor Skene was named by the 
Australian Financial Review among 
Australia’s most powerful cultural 
figures in 2007. Deputy Chair and 
official spokesperson of the Lockhart 
Committee, which was responsible for 
reviewing legislation, on human cloning 
and research involving human embryos, 
she has contributed extensively to 
the ongoing community debate about 
human embryonic stem cell research. 

Throughout the year she has taken part 
in an array of public lectures, seminars 
and hypotheticals, submissions 
to parliamentary committees, and 
addresses to political parties and 
parliamentary gatherings in Melbourne 
and Brisbane. 

The Lockhart Committee’s 
recommendations have already been 
implemented in federal legislation and 
are now being adopted in the mirror 
legislation in the states. 

PROFILE

Left: Original thinker: Kristy Edmunds, Artistic Director, Melbourne International Arts Festival (left) with Director 
and Dean of the Faculty of the VCA Professor Andrea Hull.  The VCA became a faculty of the University in 2007. 
Photo: Peter Casamento



quality stuDents

The University continued to attract 
outstanding students in 2007. Melbourne 
reinforced its position as the university of 
first choice for high-performing Victorian 
Year 12 students, attracting 87.5 per cent 
of the Victorian Premier’s ‘top all round 
VCE high achievers’ for 2007 (2006: 80 per 
cent). The University attracted 64.3 per 
cent of Victorian recipients of the Australian 
Students Prize (68.8 per cent in 2006), 
and 8.6 per cent of interstate recipients 
(8.6 per cent in 2006). The continued high 
acceptance rate by interstate students 
indicates Australian students are prepared 
to travel interstate to study in their 
preferred course and university. Melbourne 
saw a slight increase in enrolments of 
undergraduate Australian fee students in 
2007. The quality of the student intake 
remained very high with a median ENTER 
of 94.70, 5.2 points higher than the closest 
Victorian university, though slightly short of 
the targeted 95. The University again had 
the highest proportion of enrolments of any 
institution for applicants with an ENTER of 
99.00 or above. 62.3 per cent of applicants 
with an ENTER of 99.00 or above enrolled 
at Melbourne, close to the targeted 70 
per cent. The nearest Victorian institution 
achieved 33.0 per cent. 

tABle 1. medIAn 
UndeRgRAdUAte enteRs 

year Median ENTER

2003 94.8

2004 94.8

2005 94.5

2006 94.3

2007 94.7

tABle 2: PeRCentAge VICtoRIAn 
CommenCIng stUdents wIth An 
enteR oF 99.0 oR gReAteR 

year %

2003 67.4

2004 69.9

2005 69.8

2006 66.9

2007 62.3

Rhodes Scholar 2007, John Fedderson.



2007 ViCtoria prize

Eminent neurosurgeon, Laureate Professor 
Colin Masters was awarded the prestigious 
2007 Victoria Prize.  Professor Masters was 
recognised for his achievements in isolating 
and characterising elements of the primary 
pathway causing Alzheimer’s disease.  

ViCtoria felloWships

Luke Connal, Bryony Coleman and 
Erinna Lee won prestigious 2007 Victoria 
Fellowships worth $18,000, recognising 
their creative, innovative approach to 
scientific research. 

australia felloWships

Four of nine Australia Fellowships were 
awarded to leading medical researchers at 
the University. The fellowships, each worth 
$4 million over five years were awarded to:

>  Laureate Professor Sam Berkovic AM, 
Department of Medicine (Austin Health 
and Northern Health) and Director of 
the Epilepsy Research Centre – for work 
on the integration of high-level clinical 
medicine, molecular genetics and cutting-
edge neuro-imaging in the causes and 
treatment of epilepsy.

>  Professor John Hopper, Director of 
Research at the Centre for Molecular, 
Environmental, Genetic and Analytic 
Epidemiology and Director of the 
Australian Twin Registry, School 
of Population Health – for research 
investigating the links between genes, 
the environment, and breast cancer, 
colorectal cancer and prostate cancer.

>  Professor Doug Hilton, Head of the 
Molecular Medicine Division at the 
Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical 
Research – for research into the molecular 
basis for the onset and progression of 
cancer and other diseases.

>  Professor Alan Cowman, Head of 
Infection and Immunity at the Walter and 
Eliza Institute of Medical Research – for 
the development of new treatments and 
vaccines for the prevention of malaria.

Klaus JoaChiM zulCh prize

Professor Graeme Clark received the 2007 
Klaus Joachim Zulch prize for his research 
into neuroscience and the Cochlear implant, 
which gives  deaf people the ability to 
hear.  The Zulch prize from the Max Planck 
Institute is Germany’s highest award in 
neuroscience 

fulbriGht sCholarship

Professor in Microbiology and Immunology, 
Francis Carbone, was awarded a 2007 
Fulbright Senior Scholar Scholarship to 
travel to the Scripps Institute in California.  
He will continue research into immune 
response to viral infection.

nes aWarD

Professorial Fellow, David Solomon, has 
been awarded the NES Award for Novel 
Engineering Solutions from the Institution 
of Chemical Engineers for his part in 
developing the first plastic banknote.

WooDWarD MeDal aWarDeD to 
a historian anD a physiCist

>  Associate Professor Antonia Finnane 
(School of Historical Studies) was 
awarded the 2007 Woodward Medal 
in Humanities and Social Sciences in 
recognition of her book, Speaking of 
Yangzhou: A Chinese City, 1550–1850.

>  Dr Andrew Greentree (School of Physics) 
was awarded the 2007 Woodward Medal 
in Science and Technology in recognition 
of an outstanding body of published work 
exploring the applications of quantum 
mechanics to computing and information 
processing.

royal soCiety felloWs 

Two of the University’s most eminent 
scientists have been appointed as Fellows 
of the Royal Society in London.

>  Professor Sam Berkovic, Director of the 
University’s Epilepsy Research Centre, 
was recognised for his discoveries 
relating to familial forms of epilepsy, 
leading to a complete overhaul of their 
clinical classification and providing new 
insights into their underlying biology. 

>  Professor David Boger from Chemical and 
Biomolecular Engineering, was reconised 
for his discovery of elastic liquids, 
subsequently named ‘Boger fluids’.  

Academy 2007 Fellows

Fellow of the Australian 
Academy of the social sciences

Professor Vicki Anderson (Royal Children’s Hospital)

Professor Robyn Eckersley (Political Science, 
Criminology and Sociology)

Fellow of the Australian 
Academy of humanities

Associate Professor Karl Adelaar (Asia Institute)

Professor Deirdre Coleman (Culture and Communication)

Dr Susan Foley (Historical Studies)

Professorial Fellow, Lyndal Roper, was appointed Honorary Fellow

Fellow of the Australian 
Academy of technological 
sciences and engineering 

Professor Anthony Guttman (Mathematics & Statistics)

Professor Colin Masters (Mental Health Research Institute)

Dr Keith Watson (WEHI)

Fellow of the Australian 
Academy of technological 
sciences and engineering

Dr Calum Drummond, Federation Fellow and Professorial Fellow, 
School of Chemistry and Bio21 Institute

Professor Andrew Holmes, AM, Federation Fellow and VESKI 
Inaugural Fellow, Professor, School of Chemistry and Bio21 Institute
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the folloWinG staff Were 
reCoGniseD in 2007 for 
exCellenCe in teaChinG:

the Carrick awards for australian 
university teaching (Caaut)

>  Dr Raoul Mulder (Biological Sciences, 
Health and Related Studies); 

>  Associate Professor Lea Waters 
(Law, Economics, Business and 
Related Studies); 

>  Professor Andrew Gleadow (Physical 
Sciences and Related Studies); 

>  Associate Professor Marilys Guillemin and 
Associate Professor Lynn Gillam (Team 
Teaching Priority Area 2006-2007).

Carrick teaching Citations

>  Professor Jeff Borland (Department 
of Economics);

>  Dr Jui-shan Chang (School of Political 
Science, Criminology, and Sociology); 

>  Dr Shanika Karunasekera 
(Department of Computer Science 
and Software Engineering); 

>  Professor Ian Malkin (Office for Teaching 
and Learning in Law); 

>  Associate Professor Philomena Murray 
(Contemporary Europe Research Centre);

>  Dr Angela Paladino (Department of 
Management and Marketing);

>  Cheryl Power (Microbiology and 
Immunology); 

>  Marcelle Scott (Centre for Cultural 
Materials Conservation); 

>  Associate Professor David Shallcross 
(Department of Chemical and 
Biomolecular Engineering);

>  Associate Professor Harald Sondergaard 
(Department of Computer Science and 
Software Engineering).

the university of Melbourne 
teaching awards 

>  Dr Brett Farmer and Dr Audrey Yue, 
Cultural Studies, Faculty of Arts, for the 
Barbara Falk Award; 

>  Dr Sandra Kentish, Chemical Engineering, 
Faculty of Engineering, for the Edward 
Brown Award; 

>  Professor Andrew Gleadow, Earth 
Sciences, Faculty of Science, for the 
David White Award; 

>  Professor Tim Lindsey, Faculty of Law, for 
the Research Higher Degree Supervision 
Award. 

>  A team led by Dr Kristina Love from 
the Faculty of Education received the 
Norman Curry Award for the Building 
Understandings in Literacy and Teaching 
(BUILT) program. 

Dr John Papandriopoulos receives the Chancellor’s Prize medallion from the Chancellor, Ian Renard.



hiGh aChieVinG stuDents

VCa

Matthew Saville, a graduate of the Victorian 
College of the Arts Film and Television 
School received several awards for his 
first feature film Noise. These included, 
Australian Film Critics Best Australian Film, 
Film Critics Circle of Australia, Best Film and 
Best Direction. Noise was also nominated 
for several Australian Film Institute Awards 
including Best Direction.

ChanCellor’s prize

The Chancellor’s Prize for excellence in PhD 
research was awarded to:

>  Dr John Papandriopoulos for his PhD 
thesis ‘Resource optimisation in multiuser 
communication networks’, which 
examines technology to make broadband 
up to 100 times faster.

>  Dr James Ryall for his research into the 
use of anti-asthmatic drugs to prevent 
muscle wasting associated with old age. 

>  Dr Gaye Williams for her innovative 
study into insightful student thinking 
in mathematics classrooms, using 
video-stimulated post-lesson student 
interviews to analyse learning in 
Melbourne and the USA.

>  Dr Lutti Assyaunkanie, the first 
international student to win the 
Chancellor’s Prize. His thesis explored 
the development of Islamic thought in 
Indonesia

ViCtorian rhoDes sCholars

Commerce and Science student John 
Feddersen was awarded the 2007 Victorian 
Rhodes Scholarship. 

Medicine and Arts student, Kate Robson, 
was selected as an Australia at Large 
Rhodes Scholar. She will undertake an 
innovative project in the history of medicine 
at Oxford’s Wellcome Unit.  

sir John Monash aWarD

Arts/Science graduate David Clark won a 
General Sir John Monash Award.  He will 
use the highly prestigious postgraduate 
award to pursue a Masters in Public 
Administration at Harvard University.

2007 preMier’s aWarD

>  Dr Helen Cox won the 2007 Premier’s 
Award for Medical Research for her PhD 
research into drug resistant tuberculosis.

>  Dr Robert MacInnis was commended in 
the 2007 Premier’s Awards for Medical 
Research for his PhD research into the 
correlation between waist measurement 
and cancer susceptibility.

uniVersity of Melbourne 
GraDuates aWarDeD all six 2007 
CaMbriDGe australia trust 
sCholarships to stuDy at 
CaMbriDGe

Three of the Melbourne recipients will 
pursue PhDs at Cambridge: 

>  Joanne Wallis (Poynton Cambridge 
Scholarship) – International Studies;

>  Olivia Meehan (Cambridge Australia Trust 
Scholarship) – the History of Arts; and 

>  Andrew Keniry (Cambridge Australia Trust 
Scholarship) – Molecular Biology.

And the other three recipients will pursue 
masters:

>  Maurice Chiodo (Patrick Moore Masters 
Scholarship) – Mathematics;

>  Kylie Stevenson (Patrick Moore Masters 
Scholarship) – Education; and

>  Nick Owens (Cambridge Commonwealth 
Trust Scholarship) – Engineering for 
Sustainable Development.

harolD WriGht sCholarship

Master of Art Curatorship student, Kathleen 
Kiernan, won the Harold Wright Scholarship 
to study collections at the British Museum.

pfizer neurosCienCe Grant

PhD Candidates Natasha Brown, Dr Sarah 
Wilson and Professor Ingrid Scheffer, were 
awarded the Pfizer Neuroscience Grant, 
2007 for research into autism.

PhD graduate, Thomas Munro, was 
awarded the Royal Australian Chemical 
Institute’s 2007 Cornforth Medal for the 
best PhD thesis submitted in a branch of 
Chemistry each year.  He is now a Research 
Fellow at Harvard Medical School.

laW stuDents Win the Global 
MootinG CoMpetition

A team from the Melbourne Law School 
– David Heaton, Chian Kee, Sarah Kemeny 
and Elizabeth Sheargold – won the 
European Law Students’ Association global 
moot court on World Trade Organization 
law in Geneva. 

MiCrosoft next-Gen pC 

Architecture student John Leung won 
the $US25,000 Microsoft Next-Gen PC 
Design Competition Chairman’s Award for 
his ‘Made in China’ computer.  The PC, 
designed to give Chinese easier and better 
computer access, resembles an Asian-
style food platter and is controlled by 
chopstick-like input on a touch screen. It 
links to remote servers via the 4G mobile 
phone network.

sife finals

A team of Melbourne students reached 
the national finals of the global Students in 
Free Enterprise (SIFE) competition in New 
York. More than 60 students from a range 
of faculties were involved in five projects 
designed to provide a positive economic 
and social impact on disadvantaged groups 
in the community.

uniCapitol WashinGton 
proGraM internships

Students Clare Ashby, Michael Ng, Megan 
Bainbridge and Sylvia Gaston were all 
awarded internships in the prestigious Uni-
Capitol Washington Program.
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LONG-TERM PLANNING HAS FOCUSED ON MAJOR NEW 
CROSS-DISCIPLINARY INITIATIVES

RESEARCH AND 

 RESEARCH 
  TRAINING
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“THE UNIVERSITY MAINTAINED ITS POSITION 
AS ONE OF THE LARGEST RESEARCH AND 

DEVELOPMENT PROVIDERS IN AUSTRALIA.”
Professor John McKenzie 

Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research)

PERFORMANCE AGAINST 
2007 TARGETS
iMpleMent a CoMprehensiVe plan to aChieVe the best 
possible outCoMes froM Dest’s researCh quality fraMeWorK 

An RQF strategy committee, support team and senior academics for the roles of panel coordinators and group captains were 
appointed. Pre-implementation trials and consultative discussions with DEST helped refine RQF guidelines and specifications. 
Although the RQF was cancelled, the detailed preparation has helped the University to better understand its research 
performance. In particular, an additional 6500 research publications were catalogued in Themis.

enhanCe our perforManCe anD reputation in researCh traininG

RHD completion rates improved – the rolling average timely completion rates for PhD candidates increased by 10.2 per cent. 
Timely completion rates for PhDs improved by 38 per cent in the last three years. The most recent figures show a timely 
completion rate of 54 per cent (2006).

New programs to enhance the Melbourne PhD experience were established, including personal Advisory Committees for 
every student to broaden their support base, and Postgraduate Essentials: Completion and Beyond – a resource-rich online 
course designed to help PhD candidates in the final stages of their degrees.

strenGthen Cross-DisCiplinary researCh anD inter-institutional researCh 
anD international Collaboration in researCh anD researCh traininG
The Strategic Research Initiatives Fund provides central support for areas of strategic research importance, with a focus 
on cross-disciplinary research. Standard research agreements have been promoted to facilitate the commencement of 
collaborative projects.

A new Strategic Major Research Project Fund has provided $30 million for major initiatives. Partnerships with key affiliates 
such as the CSIRO and Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation have been strengthened.

Seventeen new and ongoing major research initiatives were funded under the Strategic Research Investment Fund. Planning 
was undertaken for proposed major cross-disciplinary institutes. Three Future Generation Professorships and six Future 
Generation Fellowships were offered to help lead the University in emerging and cross-disciplinary research.

Continue as australia’s nuMber one uniVersity in terMs of researCh inCoMe 
publiCations, researCh hiGher DeGree loaD anD CoMpletions
The University maintained its status as Australia’s No. 1 university in terms of national competitive grants, research higher 
degree load and completions. The most recent data (2006) places the University second for total research income and 
publications. Based on key research performance parameters, the University received its highest yet research block grant 
of $124.9 million representing an increase of 4.1 per cent from 2006. Increases have occurred in 2005-2006 figures for total 
international funding and 2007-2008 ARC International linkage.

Left: Dr Antanas Spokevicius and conifer cultivars at the School of Forestry in Creswick. The School’s research into isolating the gene for wood strength in 
eucalyptus has major industry significance.



researCh anD 
researCh traininG

In 2007 the University of Melbourne 
continued to meet the research challenges 
enunciated by its Growing Esteem 
Strategy, with emphasis on research 
priorities, quality and impact. Melbourne 
maintained its position as a leading national 
research university, scoring strongly 
against every national research indicator 
and recording its best ever performance in 
Australian competitive grant income. 

Internationally, the University remained 
one of the most highly ranked Australian 
universities with a research ranking in 
the Shanghai Jiao Tong Index of World 
Universities 79 for 2007, and one of two 
Australian universities in the top 100. 

In the World University Rankings provided 
jointly by The Times Higher Education 
Supplement (THES) and Quacquarelli 
Symonds (QS), notwithstanding a changed 
methodology, the University remained only 
one of two Australian Universities in the 
top 30, with a ranking of 27 for 2007. The 
strong research standing of the University 
internationally has also been reflected in 
the 2007 Performance Ranking of Scientific 
Papers for World Universities by the Higher 
Education Evaluation & Accreditation 

Council of Taiwan. The University was 
ranked the highest Australian University at 
64 in the world and 4 in the Asia-Pacific. 
Further analysis of rankings can be found 
in the International Engagement section on 
page 50.

Continue as australia’s 
nuMber one uniVersity in 
terMs of researCh inCoMe, 
publiCations, researCh 
hiGher DeGree loaD anD 
CoMpletions 

researCh perforManCe

Since 1996, the University has consistently 
ranked first or second on all major national 
research indicators of income, publications, 
Research Higher Degree (RHD) load and 
RHD completions. These indicators are 
used by the Department of Education, 
Science and Training (DEST) to allocate 
government funding for research and 
research training infrastructure. As indicated 
in the table on the following page, for 2006 
(the latest available comparative data), the 
University was ranked first for RHD load and 
completions and second for total research 
income and research publications. The 
University was also ranked first for Australian 
Competitive Grants (ACGs).

Encouraging results from a national analysis 
of publications data came late in the year 
from ScienceWatch®. Examination of 
data from 21 research fields (based on the 
period 2002 to 2006) indicated that the 
University was ranked in the top three for 
the two performance indicators related 
to citations for more fields than any other 
Australian university. 

In 2007 the University was involved in over 
140 centres providing a focus for research 
and research training including:

>  16 Cooperative Research Centres (CRCs), 
from a total of approximately 60 CRCs 
serving six Federal Government-targeted 
industry sectors.

>  The e-Scholarship Research Centre        
bringing together experts from across 
the faculties and service divisions to 
foster excellence in the field of digital 
scholarly and research practice. The 
centre will enable the University to take 
advantage of the emerging opportunities 
in this area and contribute to the network 
interconnection of scholarly, cultural and 
scientific knowledge. 

>  National Centre of Excellence for 
Islamic Studies – a consortium between 
the University of Melbourne, Griffith 
University and the University of Western 
Sydney with federal funding of $8 million 
to offer world-class, multi-disciplinary 
teaching and research in Islamic Studies 
at the regional, national and international 
levels. The Centre aims to contribute to 
public debate, act as a think tank in relation 
to Islamic issues and produce graduates 
who are well-versed in both the Australian 
and Islamic contexts. The University node 
of the Centre is based in the Asia Institute.

>  McCaughey Centre – a VicHealth Centre 
for the Promotion of Mental Health 
and Community Wellbeing based in 
the School of Population Health and 
launched in July 2007. The research and 
Knowledge Transfer activities of the 
Centre address improved community 
mental health and wellbeing outcomes 
through a focus on how factors 
such as freedom from violence and 
discrimination, social inclusion and 
connectedness, economic participation 
and security, and healthy and sustainable 
environments impact on individuals and, 
in turn, community wellbeing. 

>  Problem Gambling Research and 
Treatment Centre – a joint initiative of 
the University of Melbourne, Monash 
University and the State Government with 
core infrastructure funding of $4.2 million 
over four years and access to a range of 
other program and research funding. The 
major areas of focus include research into 
the approaches used for the treatment 
of problem gambling, establishing a 
postgraduate qualification in problem 
gambling treatment and conducting 
a sustained epidemiological study of 
the forms of gambling. The Faculty of 
Education is responsible for the University 
node of the centre.

>  The National Centre for Coasts and 
Climate – a centre for marine and climate 
education and research. Funding from 
the Point Nepean Community Trust ($7 
million) and the Federal Government 
($2.1 million in addition to 110 fully-
funded student places) will support 
the development of high quality on-site 
laboratory, teaching and accommodation 
facilities.  Situated at Point Nepean, the 
centre will incorporate undergraduate, 
postgraduate coursework and research 
programs and bring together cross-
disciplinary activities from within the 
University. It is expected to attract 
national and international interest. 

>  15 Australian Research Council (ARC) 
Centres (including 10 ARC Centres of 
Excellence (one co-funded with the 
Grains Research and Development 
Corporation Centre)), six National Health 
and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) 
Centres of Clinical Research Excellence, 
the Intellectual Property Research 
Institute of Australia, the International 
Centre of Excellence for Education in 
Mathematics and the Australian Centre 
for International Business.

>  A number of national and state institutes 
and centres established with support 
from Victorian Government STI 
Infrastructure Grants. 

Dr Emily Potter and Dr Anna Hulimann – researchers in 
sustainability and attitudes toward water recycling.

researCh Centres



Based on research performance, in 2007 
the University was successful in gaining 
the highest allocation nationally of the 
research block grant ($124.9 million 
representing an increase of 4.1 per cent 
from 2006) comprising:

>  Institutional Grants Scheme funding 
($35.6 million),

>  Research Training Scheme funding 
($63.5 million) and

>  Research Infrastructure Block Grants 
Scheme funding ($25.8 million). 

The University’s research income for 2006 
totalled $279.7 million (an increase of 10 per 
cent) comprising $128.3 million of ACGs (the 
highest nationally), $58.2 million from other 
public sector funding (the highest nationally) 
and $93.2 million in industry (including 
CRCs) and international support. 

The University maintained its position 
as one of the largest research and 
development providers in Australia. 
Expenditure on research and research 
training from all sources was an estimated 
$569.7 million representing 43 per cent of 
total University expenditure and an increase 
of 7 per cent from 2006 ($532.7 million). In 
a 10-year period, the University’s research 
expenditure has more than doubled.

inCreaseD funDinG

strateGiC priorities

>  Increase income and success rates by 
10 per cent by appointing ARC grant 
coordinators and shepherds in all faculties 
to ensure best practice in grant seeking 
and mentoring

>  Increase international R&RT funding by 10  
per cent  by marketing grant opportunities 
and building collaborative networks

aChieVeMents

In 2007, for commencement in 2008, the 
University was again awarded the most 
combined ARC and NHMRC new five-year 
funding ($119.8 million). 

Performance in the ARC Scheme improved 
markedly. The University obtained the 
highest number (112), value ($38.0 million) 
and success rate (27 per cent) for the 
ARC Discovery Projects and was ranked 
first amongst the Group of Eight (Go8) 
Universities. The results are a significant 
improvement on the $28.6 million, 21 
per cent success rate and ranking of four 
for the previous year. The University’s 
$45.2 million for total ARC funding saw 
Melbourne ranked second amongst the 
Go8 Universities, up from fourth.

The major improvements in ARC results 
have arisen from a concerted effort 
by the University implementing the 
recommendations of the 2006 Research 
and Research Training Taskforce. In 
2007, all faculties appointed ARC grant 
coordinators and shepherds to ensure best 
practice in grant seeking and mentoring. To 
counter below Go8 average success rates 
for the ARC Linkage Program, specialised 
assistance introduced in 2007 to improve 
performance will continue to be available 
to researchers. An experienced dedicated 
officer will provide advice on critical 
elements of applications. 

Overall NHMRC performance was again 
strong, with the University leading both 
total and project funding. The University’s 
NHMRC Project funding awarded in 2007 
increased by 61 per cent to $55.8 million 
with a corresponding success rate of 34 
per cent compared with $34.6 million and 
27  per cent respectively for the previous 
year. Total NHMRC funding announced for 
2008 was $74.6 million.  Of particular note, 
in 2007, the University received a special 
program grant in the area of diabetes health 
for a value of $3 million. The University also 
gained two fellowships under the inaugural 
NHMRC Australia Fellowship Scheme, 
from 11 nationally, providing total support of 
$8 million over five years. The Fellowship 
winners are detailed on page 17.

strenGthen Cross-
DisCiplinary researCh 
anD inter-institutional 
researCh anD international 
Collaboration in researCh 
anD researCh traininG

Cross-DisCiplinary 
CollaboratiVe researCh

strateGiC priorities

>  Enhance the scale and visibility of the 
Strategic Research Initiatives Fund to 
stimulate and support cross-disciplinary 
and cross-faculty initiatives

>  Develop cross-disciplinary plans in 
partnership with key affiliates and other 
external collaborators to increase the 
scale and scope of cross-disciplinary 
Research and Research Training 
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researCh inCoMe researCh publiCations (Dest 
WeiGhteD sCore)

researCh hD loaD researCh hD 
CoMpletions

$m National 
Rank

% of Total DEST Weight-
ed Score

National 
Rank

% of Total EFSTL National 
Rank

Number National 
Rank

2003 198.7 1 13.4% 2,857 1 8.1% 2,925 1 694 1

2004 208.8 1 13.0% 3,299 2 8.2% 3,160 1 724 1

2005 254.4 1 13.9% 3,878 1 8.8% 3,159 1 739 1

2006 279.7 2 12.7% 3,809 (est) 2 8.2% 3,122 1 736 1

2007 307.2 (est) n/a n/a 3,811 (est) n/a n/a 3,169 (est) n/a 730 (est) n/a

Melbourne’s perforManCe aGainst Key national researCh inDiCators
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aChieVeMents

The Strategic Research Initiatives Fund 
(SRIF) provides crucial central support for 
areas of strategic research importance, 
enabling the University to become more 
competitive in bidding for regional, national 
and international funding, with an emphasis 
on cross-disciplinary opportunities. In 
2007, the SRIF provided support for 
17 new and ongoing major research 
initiatives. A minimum three-fold return 
on this investment is expected. Some of 
these initiatives related to the University’s 
involvement in the National Collaborative 
Research Infrastructure Strategy, a federal 
government program designed to provide 
researchers with major research facilities, 
supporting infrastructure and networks 
necessary for world-class research. The 
SRIF also provided support to five faculties 
for involvement in new cross-disciplinary 
research, including the Social Justice 
Initiative which aims to establish a major 
research cluster at the University by 

facilitating research of international standing 
and strengthening the growing interest in 
questions of social justice.

Feasibility studies have been conducted 
for the establishment of major new cross-
disciplinary centres related to a resilient 
society and new materials. Additional studies 
are planned for 2008 for possible investment 
in other areas of strategic importance.

In 2007, the University placed a particular 
focus on the formation or enhancement of 
partnerships with key affiliates to increase 
the scale and scope of cross-disciplinary 
research and research training.  

Under the renewed Melbourne-Monash 
Protocol – a framework for collaboration 
– the two universities provided a major 
commitment of more than $2 million over 
three years through the establishment of 
Uniwater to carry out research to combat 
the State’s water shortage. Uniwater’s 
research will focus on Melbourne and the 
Goulburn Valley, Victoria’s food bowl and 
part of the Goulburn-Murray river system. 

The CSIRO/University Collaborative 
Research Support Scheme continued 
to strengthen the position of the two 
organisations in research areas of strategic 
priority. This scheme has led to strong 
collaborations linking diverse fields of 
research, such as X-ray technology for 
materials analysis being adapted to study 
the micro-architecture of bone with micron 
resolution and high reproducibility – this 
research has implications for anti-epilepsy 
therapies and osteoporosis. The University 
and the Australian Nuclear Science and 
Technology Organisation (ANSTO) agreed 
in 2007 to double their investment in the 
ANSTO/University Collaborative Research 
Support Scheme resulting in total funding of 
$300,000 per annum. The additional funding 
is being used to establish a new, joint 
post-doctoral fellowship. The Scheme has 
resulted in the award of an ARC Discovery 
Project Grant in 2007 for research into the 
fabrication of materials that address nuclear 
waste and research and research training 
opportunities for scientists interested in 
nuclear science and engineering. 

Bioengineering Gold: University of Melbourne students won a team Gold Medal and shared a category prize at iGEM 2007, an international Genetically Engineered Machine 
competition held in Boston. Photo: Peter Casamento



researCh Collaboration

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Promotion of increased use of standard 
research agreements to make it easier 
and quicker to commence collaborative 
projects

>  Implement the recommendations from 
the Business Investment in Research 
Taskforce (BIRT) report to the R&RT 
Committee

AChIeVements

In 2007 research management focussed 
on enhancing research collaboration, 
and responding to the Business 
Investment in Research Taskforce (BIRT) 
recommendations. As a result the costing 
and pricing policy for research. A steering 
committee was established to ensure that 
the University’s Find-An-Expert facility 
provides internal and external users with 
user-friendly, accurate and current details of 
research expertise.

In addition, the Melbourne Research Office 
(MRO) promoted use of standard research 
agreements to facilitate the commencement 
of collaborative research projects. A new 
website, a marketing campaign (including 
information seminars on research 
contracts and standard agreements) and 
the implementation of a revised system 
for measuring and reporting contributed 
to standard form agreements accounting 
for 10 per cent of all research agreements 
administered by the MRO – a considerable 
increase over previous years.

intelleCtual property

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Develop and implement a 
comprehensive Information and 
Education Program for staff and 
students about the revised Intellectual 
Property Statute and new IP Principles

AChIeVements

In 2007 a comprehensive program was 
introduced to educate staff and students on 
the detail of the revised Intellectual Property 
(IP) Statute and new IP Principles. New 
information resources and modifications 
to IP-related procedures and processes 
included a new University IP website, an 
online summary of IP management at 
the University, updated MRO research 
brochures and revisions to publications for 
supervisors, prospective and enrolled PhD 
students, honorary University appointees 
and visitors. 

international researCh 
Collaboration

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Appoint academic staff to act as 
International Research Collaboration 
Advisors

AChIeVements

The latest available comprehensive data 
related to international funding indicates an 
increase by 13.6 per cent to $17.1 million 
for 2006. To further enhance this growing 
area of research focus for the University, in 
2007, international research collaboration 
advisors were appointed to identify funding 
and collaborative opportunities for research 
with designated countries and regions. To 
encourage the development of international 
collaborative networks, the University 
established the International Research 
Planning Workshop Awards, increased 
its commitment to the Awards for Joint 
Research Projects Scheme and the Visiting 
Scholars Awards and participated in the 
Go8 Australia-Germany Joint Research 
Cooperation Scheme. 

Other funding highlights for international 
research activities in 2007 included:

>  $1.176 million from the Liverpool School 
of Tropical Medicine for two health-related 
projects;

>  $783,318 from the Australian Centre for 
International Agricultural Research for the 
assessment, management and marketing 
of goods and services related to native 
forests in Papua New Guinea;

>  $716,328 for two Australia-India Strategic 
Research Fund Grants in the areas of dairy 
and environmental research;

>  a near doubling of ARC Linkage 
International support to $673,046 (for 
commencement in 2008), the highest 
level of support to a Go8 University;

> $640,920 from Pfizer Pty Ltd;

> $596,430 from Vitrolife Sweden AB;

>  $590,920 (as a member of the Australian 
Centre for Plant Functional Genomics) 
from the DEST European Union 
Framework Fund for the mapping of the 
wheat and barley genomes for cereal 
improvement; and

>  $382,670 from the DEST International 
Science Linkages Program for engineered 
quantum information in diamond.

iMpleMent a CoMprehensiVe 
plan to aChieVe the best 
possible outCoMes froM 
Dest’s researCh quality 
fraMeWorK

In 2006, DEST indicated that the Research 
Quality Framework (RQF) – an initiative 
designed to assess the quality and impact of 
research in Australia as a basis for allocating 
future infrastructure funding – would 
be implemented in 2008 with financial 
consequences beginning in 2009. Although 
the RQF was cancelled in December 2007, 
the detailed preparation undertaken for this 
exercise helped the University to better 
understand its research performance.

internal rqf preparations

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Establish an RQF Strategy Taskforce and 
an RQF Support Team

>  Appoint senior researchers to lead each of 
the 13 broad discipline clusters (panels)

>  Develop and implement an RQF 
Communication and Education Program

>  Develop strategies to support women 
researchers

>  Participate in further consultations with 
DEST to develop the best possible 
RQF, including through working group 
membership, submissions and RQF trials

>  Conduct small-scale internal pilot 
elements of the RQF, e.g. deciding on 
Research Groupings, preparing Impact 
Statements and drafting Context 
Statements

AChIeVements

To provide high-level strategic advice 
for this major undertaking, in 2007 the 
University established an RQF Strategy 
Committee chaired by the DVC (Research) 
and comprised of 12 senior academic and 
professional University staff together with 
two external members. 

Across the University senior academics 
were selected as coordinators of panels 
corresponding with the 13 broad DEST 
disciplinary panels.

After wide consultation, an RQF Code of 
Practice on the Preparation of the RQF 
2008 Submission was developed to ensure 
fairness, consistency and transparency in 
developing the submission. The University 
community was kept informed of all RQF 
developments through a comprehensive 
Communication and Education Program.
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As one of the 13 institutions nationally 
selected to conduct RQF pre-
implementation trials the University 
participated in various DEST activities 
related to the RQF including the provision of 
feedback on various iterations of the RQF 
Specifications and Panel-Specific Guidelines. 

Pre-Implementation Trials provided 
the University and DEST with valuable 
experience and information regarding 
the resources required to produce 
such Evidence Portfolios for various 
research groups and the significant 
difficulties encountered using the draft 
RQF Specifications. A number of the 
University’s resultant recommendations 
were incorporated by DEST in the final 
Specifications. 

enhanCe our perforManCe 
anD reputation in 
researCh traininG

The University has the largest cohort of 
research students in Australia with an RHD 
student load of over 3000. Melbourne 
research completions comprise over 10 
per cent of the national total. The numbers 
of Australian Postgraduate Awards (182) 
and Endeavour International Postgraduate 
Research Scholarships (39) received by the 
University were again the highest nationally 
and increased from 178 and 38 respectively.  
In 2007, the School of Graduate Studies 
(SGS) was renamed under the Melbourne 
Model as the Melbourne School of 
Graduate Research to emphasise the 
University’s commitment to research 
training and the School’s important 
contributions to quality research training for 
all students.

quality phDs, tiMely CoMpletion

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Implement changes recommended by 
the PhD Review Working Group and 
increase completion rate by 10  per cent

AChIeVements

In 2007, the SGS and the RHD Committee 
of the University worked in collaboration 
with faculties and departments to 
implement further quality improvements to 
the Melbourne PhD Program. 

For the period of canditature, each 
enrolling PhD student is now aided by 
a personal Advisory Committee of at 
least three people providing support 
and communication in addition to that 
provided by their supervisor(s). The 
Advisory Committee broadens the 
connection of candidates to departments, 

The Bio21 Institute, as a premier research facility, houses seven Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectrometers, which can be used to image the composition of molecules 
and other particles.



reducing isolation, while at the same time 
providing broader feedback on general 
issues pertaining to thesis research. The 
Committee acts as the first point of contact 
for discussion of issues that candidates 
may wish to raise with persons other than 
their supervisor(s). 

Over the past two years, the University 
has developed Postgraduate Essentials 1: 
Strategies for a Successful Start, an online 
interactive course aimed at equipping 
PhD students with the academic skills 
and management tools essential for the 
first year of candidature. All commencing 
candidates enrol in this course.  Completing 
the suite of online programs, Postgraduate 
Essentials: Completion and Beyond was 
launched in November 2007 to help PhD 
candidates in the final stages of their 
degrees write, edit and submit a doctoral 
thesis, as well as plan and prepare for life 
after thesis.

Each of these new initiatives has 
contributed to the continuing improvement 
in RHD completion rates. The rolling 
average timely completion rates for PhD 
candidates increased by 10.2 per cent (from 
49 per cent  in 2005 to 54 per cent in 2006) 
representing the third consecutive annual 
increase of over 10 per cent. 

oVerseas experienCe

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Ensure that all ‘on track’ Melbourne 
PhD students are encouraged to apply 
for financial assistance to enable them 
to spend some time at an overseas 
institution and/or attend an international 
conference during candidature 

AChIeVements

To enhance their international experience 
and global networks, all Melbourne 
PhD students who are progressing in a 
timely manner are encouraged to apply 
for financial assistance to enable them 
to spend time at an overseas institution 
or attend an international conference. 
Supplementing travel and conference funds 
available through candidates’ faculties and 
departments, the Melbourne Scholarships 
Office provides Melbourne Abroad 
Travelling Scholarships and Postgraduate 
Research Experience Scholarships.  
To strengthen student links between 
Universitas 21 (U21) institutions in 2007, 
Solander Scholarships provided funds to 
travel to Lund University and US$10,000 
U21 program funding was available to 
support student-networking activities at 
U21 conferences. Further details are set out 
in the International section of this report.

MaintaininG rhD leaDership

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Finalise and implement Melbourne’s 
‘Research Higher Degree Marketing and 
Recruitment Strategy’

>  Complete a review of Research Higher 
Degree research load targets to ensure 
a level of supervision and infrastructure 
necessary to provide an outstanding 
experience for all our RHD students to 
ensure quality, timely completions

>  Develop the Melbourne Advanced Studies 
Award for PhD students to be introduced 
in 2008

AChIeVements

As competition for graduate research 
students increases across Australia, 
Melbourne is keen to maintain its 
leadership in research training. In 2007, 
a comprehensive RHD Marketing and 
Recruitment Strategy was developed to 
promote broadly the opportunities the 
University offers in graduate research 
education. The plan aims to increase both 
the load and quality of RHD candidates. 
An academic advisory group, staff and 
marketing resources have been allocated 
to implement the strategy, which will take 
shape in 2008. 

Whether the aim is to increase load or 
improve the quality of the RHD cohort, there 
are significant carrying capacity differences 
both across and within faculties. In 2007, 
faculties were surveyed by the SGS to 
inform the load setting process. Load 
targets will be set with consideration of 
the level of supervision and infrastructure 
available to provide an outstanding 
experience for all RHD students and to 
ensure quality, timely completions.

As an element of providing a distinctive 
experience for Melbourne PhD students, 
the University has endorsed in principle the 
development of a Melbourne Advanced 
Studies Award (MASA) as a recognised 
award program. In 2007, extensive market 
research was conducted to assess student 
interest and faculties were consulted to 
investigate the relevance and relationship of 
a MASA to existing and future postgraduate 
programs. The need for generic and 
discipline specific offerings was identified. 

A Graduate Certificate in Commercialisation 
for Research Students was also introduced 
in 2007 supported by funds from the DEST 
Commercialisation Training Scheme. The 
suite of generic, for-credit subjects which 
have been developed for this scheme will 
provide a firm foundation for the generic 
subjects in the MASA.
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PRoFessoR 
COLIN MASTERS
Laureate Professor Colin Masters, 
based in the University’s Department 
of Pathology, is one of the world’s 
foremost neuroscientists and a leader 
in research into Alzheimer’s disease 
and viral infections of the brain.  His 
research spans more than 30 years.

In 2007 he was awarded the Victoria 
Prize from the State Government of 
Victoria and the Smorgon Foundation, 
for his major achievements in isolating 
and characterising elements of the 
primary pathway causing Alzheimer’s 
disease. Professor Master’s research 
holds that the accumulation of 
toxic amyloid protein in the brain 
impairs memory. His work is widely 
acknowledged as having had a major 
influence on the direction of a now 
worldwide research effort. It has also 
opened up new insights into other 
major neurodegenerative diseases 
such as Creutzfeldt-Jakob and 
Parkinson’s diseases.

Professor Masters was admitted as a 
Fellow of the Australian Academy of 
Technological Sciences and Engineering 
(ATSE) in 2007.

PROFILE



researCh anD researCh 
traininG quality tasKforCe

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Implement the recommendations of 
the 2006 Research &Research Training 
Quality Taskforce (R&RTQF)

>  Report from the faculties against 
R&RT Improvement Plans and annual 
milestones submitted to the R&RTQF in 
December 2006

AChIeVements

A Research and Research Training Quality 
Taskforce was established in 2006, charged 
with improving the quality and impact of 
University research. In 2007, a roadmap 
was developed for implementation of the 
recommendations of the Taskforce. In 
particular, five-year faculty research and 
research training improvement plans with 
targets for the four key research indicators 
were established. Faculties will be required 
to report against these targets as one 
component of their 2008 Operational 
Performance Reviews. Definitions of 
research excellence and research-active 
have also been provided by faculties for 
future monitoring. 

tarGeteD support

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Support for current strengths, 
emerging areas and especially cutting 
edge initiatives that differentiate the 
University’s R&RT profile

AChIeVements

With a focus on the enhancement of 
current research strengths and the 
development of leadership in emerging 
research areas, the University introduced 
a number of schemes in 2007 to provide 
targeted support for major initiatives:

>  a new Strategic Major Research Project 
Fund to provide $30 million for a much 
needed increase in research investment, 
at a monetary level beyond the capacities 
of the SRIF established in 2006;

>  the Melbourne Engineering Research 
Institute has been established to focus on 
the four critical areas of bioengineering, 
information and communications, 
materials and sustainability; and

>  the Future Generation Fund has supported 
the offer of appointments to three Future 
Generation Professors and six Future 
Generation Fellows, complementing the 
recruitment of three Federation Fellows 
(refer to page 16).  The appointments will 
commence in 2008. 

e-researCh

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Establish the new e-Research Sub-
Committee to investigate methods 
of enhancing the efficiency and 
effectiveness of digital data storage, 
access and collaboration

>  Promote and enhance the University of 
Melbourne e-Prints Repository (UMER) 
and related online repository initiatives to 
meet DEST reporting requirements and 
help give greater access and profile to 
University scholarship and research

>  Promote the new policy and procedures 
on Invention Disclosures (designed to 
meet contractual obligations and increase 
potential business flow)

aChieVeMents

Several important initiatives during the year 
reflect the importance the University places 
on building its e-Research capacity.

An e-Research Sub Committee (and 
related working groups) were established 
to provide oversight and advice to the 
Research and Research Training Committee 
on the implementation of an  
e-Research strategy for the University, 
including guidance on policy formulation, 
implications of major Government 
initiatives in e-research and issues related 
to specialist education needs associated 
with e-research. The inaugural Director 
of e-Research and the Director of the e-
Scholarship Research Centre are members 
of this Sub Committee. The University 
also developed a draft e-research strategy 

which encompasses network capacity, 
data management and skills required to 
support researchers. Training for new 
postgraduates has been prepared and a 
collaboration tool endorsed.

Other achievements included the 
establishment of an e-Research Register 
of affiliated projects, capabilities and 
personnel and raising awareness of e-
Research through weekly discussion groups 
involving both academic and professional 
staff members. An inaugural e-Research 
Forum was held in November 2007. 

Stimulated by RQF requirements, extensive 
development of the University’s online 
repository facilities resulted in linking the 
publications database (Themis) to the 
online repository (DigiTool), enabling a 
single-entry data point in Themis for both 
bibliographic detail and associated digital 
object. In addition, a plan was developed 
to migrate the University of Melbourne 
e-Print Repository into DigiTool. Support 
was also provided for the University’s 
complementary online facility Find-An-
Expert helping to ensure accessibility to a 
current research profile of the University.

Completion of the final Themis Research 
System module (Invention Disclosures) has 
enabled the implementation of a new policy 
for the disclosure of inventions. The online 
disclosure processes provide for more 
efficient business flow related to inventions 
and facilitate the disclosures obligations of 
the University and researchers under the 
terms of research grants and contracts. 
This new online disclosure process 
resulted in a four-fold increase in the 
rate of invention disclosure over the last 

Advanced sight restoration stem cell technology may soon assist more people as researchers led by Dr Mark Daniell 
investigate bio-engineered corneal cultivation. 



three months of 2007 and will enable the 
University, through Melbourne Ventures Pty 
Ltd, to identify more readily opportunities 
for further research collaboration and 
potential research commercialisation.

Through all of these measures the 
University has put in place a solid IT 
foundation on which to build a business 
strategy for the management of the 
University’s research outputs.

outlooK

The year ahead will see major decisions 
about research funding priorities and 
infrastructure. Processes for managing 
the new $30 million Strategic Major 
Research Project Fund and an expanded 
Strategic Research Initiatives Fund within 
the operating budget will be developed 
and implemented. Business cases will be 
mandatory for all successful initiatives. To 
encourage greater engagement with the 
SRIF across the University, the possibility of 
reducing the funding commitment required 
from faculties will be investigated. It is 
expected that such a change would lead 
to an increase in cross-faculty research 
initiatives and provide incentives for 
collaboration with external organisations.

Interactions with the Howard Florey 
Institutes and the Mental Health Research 
Institute to build new facilities at the 
Parkville and Austin sites in research in the 
areas of neuroscience and developmental 
biology will continue to be a major 
undertaking in 2008.

The University will progress further its 
e-Research strategy, creating a business 
environment in which all research 
publications are centrally managed and 

stored via the Themis-DigiTool connection. 
Continued support for the Find-An-
Expert facility will ensure that a current 
research profile of the University is always 
accessible online. 

The Melbourne School of Graduate 
Research will continue to strengthen quality 
assurance and oversight of all research 
higher degrees (including research masters 
programs) and enhance the services 
currently provided for students within the 
Graduate Centre to optimise its role as a 
student centre for RHD students.

University processes will be examined 
and modified to ensure compliance 
with all aspects of the joint ARC/
NHMRC/Universities Australia Australian 
Code for the Responsible Conduct of 
Research released in August 2007. The 
University will work with the new Federal 
Government to provide input wherever 
possible in developing the new model to 
replace the RQF.
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>  The restoration of human vision by a 
corneal patch grown from adult stem cells  
the process used being the first of its kind 
in Australia.

>  The development of new technology 
resulting in broadband communication 
up to 100 times faster than available 
currently without requiring multi-billion 
dollar cabling infrastructure investment.

>  The development of a unique ethico-legal 
barometer for gauging the ethics and 
legality of particular kinds of scientific 
research in different countries. 

>  A 60 per cent reduction in the number 
of animals required in biomedical and 
agricultural research through the use 
of scanning technologies to improve 
the precision of body composition 
measurement. 

>  The discovery of the gene for wood 
strength in eucalyptus trees, an important 
step towards the production of a wood 
fibre with altered tensile strength, 
stiffness and elastic properties.

>  Research expertise in cultural 
conservation used to influence an 
unprecedented decision in capturing art 
fraud nationally and internationally – a 
landmark case. 

>  The development of a device that draws 
on the properties of diamond to combat 
internet hackers.

>  A number of major studies of drug law 
enforcement in Australia contributed to 
policy and protocol development and 
attracted interest internationally.

>  The isolation of a genetic switch that can 
be manipulated to alter the development 
of sex cells in plants which has 
implications for food and allergy research.

>  The development of guidelines (approved 
by the NHMRC) for Australian health 
practitioners treating people with 
posttraumatic mental health problems.

researCh hiGhliGhts

Gaye Williams received the Chancellor’s prize in 2007 for her research into mathematical education.



“... IT IS THIS EDUCATION THAT MIGHT REALISE OUR OWN ENLIGHTENMENT, OUR INDEPENDENT WAY OF 
KNOWING THE WORLD, FREE FROM THE CONTROL AND INSTRUCTION OF OTHERS... BEFORE IT SENDS US 
OUT INTO THE WORLD AS... PROFESSIONALS, IT DEMANDS FIRST THAT WE KNOW OURSELVES. AND FROM 
THERE WE MIGHT CHOSE TO ADD LAWYER, DOCTOR, OR ARCHITECT TO THE LIST. IT IS THIS RICH AND 
VALUABLE EDUCATION THAT THE MELBOURNE MODEL OFFERS ITS STUDENTS.”

Sana Nakata, politics honours student, speaking at the launch of the Melbourne Model

LEARNING AND 

 TEACHING
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PERFORMANCE AGAINST 
2007 TARGETS
iMpleMent the reCoMMenDations of the CurriCuluM CoMMission report on transition to the 
Melbourne MoDel

The University endorsed the structure and content of the six New Generation undergraduate degrees and new professional 
graduate courses, as well as undertaking comprehensive planning to maintain quality for continuing students. Processes 
to facilitate admission and accessible pathways into the New Generation degrees were confirmed. The structure and 
requirements of breadth components were confirmed; eleven University-wide breadth subjects are being offered in 2008.

MaKe the neCessary aDMinistratiVe reforMs so that the Melbourne MoDel Can be iMpleMenteD in 2008

The Melbourne Student Services Model (MSSM) has been designed to improve the Melbourne Experience. By the start of 
the 2008 academic year, one-stop-shop student centres were created for each New Generation undergraduate degree and for 
the faculties which have become graduate schools. All students will have access to consistent, seamless services and advice 
through these centres.
Structural changes necessary to support the Melbourne Model were made, including:
>  the appointment of a Provost as the University’s senior academic officer, with responsibility for managing and monitoring 

changes in the policies and practices that affect the academic life of the University as a whole, as well as for ensuring 
effective student support services; and

> staff transfers to support the MSSM. 

ensure aCCess for the best anD briGhtest stuDents reGarDless of finanCial DisaDVantaGe
The University’s largest ever scholarship scheme was launched – more than $100 million will be spent over three years from 
2008, covering undergraduate, graduate and RHD students. The Access Melbourne program was extended to graduate 
studies and the Kwong Lee Dow Young Scholars Program for high-achieving secondary school students was established. The 
Disability Action Plan 2008-11 was endorsed. The University attained its target to recruit 30 Indigenous students in 2007. In 
addition the University undertook negotiations that resulted in the Commonwealth extending Youth Allowance and Austudy 
eligibility to a number of professional graduate degrees.

“THE UNIVERSITY OF MELBOURNE’S EXCELLENCE 
IN TEACHING WAS RECOGNISED FOR A THIRD 

CONSECUTIVE YEAR IN 2007 WITH THE AWARD OF 
OVER $8 MILLION UNDER THE COMMONWEALTH 

GOVERNMENT’S LEARNING AND TEACHING 
PERFORMANCE FUND.”

Professor Peter McPhee 
Provost



learninG anD teaChinG

Excellence in learning and teaching is 
fundamental to Growing Esteem. The 
University seeks to provide high quality 
programs within a supportive environment 
so that students gain maximum benefit 
from their learning experience. Under 
Growing Esteem, learning and teaching is 
informed by the other strands of the triple 
helix – research and Knowledge Transfer. 
The aim is to produce well-rounded 
graduates with specialised knowledge in 
a chosen field, an understanding across 
a range of disciplines, and the skills to be 
leading contributors in the community. 

Central to the University’s strategy for 
learning and teaching is the Melbourne 
Model, a far-reaching reform which marks a 
new national benchmark in higher education. 
The Model fits well with the emergence 
of life-long learning and multiple careers in 
the changing workplaces of the twenty-first 
century, reflecting an international trend 
towards broader undergraduate programs, 
followed by intense professional training at 
graduate level. The Melbourne Model and 

the six new undergraduate degrees in Arts, 
Biomedicine, Commerce, Environments, 
Music and Science to be offered from 2008 
were formally launched to a gathering of 
the University’s key stakeholders and the 
media in 2007, with students enrolling in 
New Generation undergraduate degrees 
from the beginning of 2008. 

Also central to the Growing Esteem 
Strategy is the desire to provide access 
to the very best and brightest students, 
regardless of their financial circumstances. 
To this end, in 2007 the University 
continued to expand entry pathways to 
the Model, and launched an extended 
Melbourne Scholarships program. 

The University places emphasis on the 
quality of the overall Melbourne Experience, 
recognising that campus-based learning 
must combine excellent face-to-face and 
online learning. The focus is to create 
and maintain the services, facilities and 
technologies to support learning and to 
provide a stimulating and educationally 
focussed community for all students.

stuDent enrolMents 
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PERFORMANCE AGAINST 2007 TARGETS (CONTINUED)
iDentify anD iMpleMent initiatiVes to enhanCe the Melbourne experienCe

The Melbourne Student Services Model discussed on the previous page will improve the Melbourne Experience by reducing the 
administrative burden on students. Additional features of the Melbourne Model, developed to ensure a distinctive and rewarding 
experience for students include:
>  the creation of transition and cohort experience initiatives for first-year students in particular;
>  innovative large-group teaching techniques;
>  University Breadth Subjects to enhance a sense of learning community;
>  an increased number of students participating in formal international exchanges; and
>  capstone subjects and initiatives to assist students transition out of university. 
The University continues to provide transitional funding to support student organisations operating within the budget constraints of the 
VSU legislation.

enhanCe the quality of stuDent experienCe throuGh iMproVeD serViCes, 
it anD physiCal infrastruCture

Improvements were made to the Learning Management System; all undergraduate subjects in 2008 (continuing and New Generation 
degrees) have an online presence. A revised e-learning strategy defines the University’s pedagogical position and allocated resources to 
its implementation. Intensive planning and development continued for student centres, classroom and laboratory changes to support the 
implementation of the Melbourne Model. State-of-the-art teaching spaces for collaborative learning have been completed. The first ‘learning 
precinct’ based around a cluster of disciplines combining libraries, online resources and flexible learning spaces is under construction. 

enCouraGe anD reCoGnise GooD teaChinG praCtiCe
The University’s excellence in teaching was recognised with the award of $8.3 million under the 2008 Commonwealth Government’s 
Learning and Teaching Performance Fund. A record 10 Carrick Citations for Outstanding Contribution to Student Learning and four Carrick 
awards for Teaching Excellence, places the University among Australia’s top teaching universities. 
The Teaching and Learning Forum was established to share effective, innovative approaches to undergraduate learning and teaching. 
Preliminary 2007 Course Experience Questionaires outcomes showed improvement on the key Good Teaching scale with the per cent 
agreement improving over 2006 for both undergraduate and postgraduate graduates. Graduates’ overall satisfaction showed a marginal reduction 
over 2006 for both undergraduates and postgraduates. Quality of Teaching results show the proportion of undergraduate subjects rated poorly by 
students increased in 2007 over 2006, rising from 2.4 per cent to 3.1 per cent of surveyed subjects. Results from the survey, however, indicate 
a high and steady level of students’ overall satisfaction with the quality of their learning experience and of their perception that their subjects are 
well taught.



In 2006 the University’s Curriculum 
Commission worked closely with faculties 
to review the existing curricula, define the 
core elements of the Melbourne Model and 
devise a 10-year transition plan Learning 
and teaching priorities in 2007 focussed 
on implementing the recommendations of 
the 2006 Curriculum Commission Report 
for the transition to the Melbourne Model, 
and on making the administrative reforms 
necessary to implement the Model in 2008. 
Improvements to the University’s physical 
infrastructure and student management 
systems to support learning, and the 
internationalisation of academic programs 
to promote international awareness and 
openness to cultural diversity were also key 
strategic aims. 

neW Generation 
unDerGraDuate DeGrees

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Approve the structure and content of New 
Generation undergraduate degrees

>  Define strategies and programs by 
the faculties for the transition to the 
Melbourne Model and incorporate these 
into Business Plans 

>  Define majors and capstone subjects for 
New Generation undergraduate degrees 

>  Define content and criteria for breadth 
component of New Generation 
undergraduate degrees and development 
of breadth subjects and subject sequences 

AChIeVements  

Following the Curriculum Commission’s 
comprehensive review of the University’s 
programs in 2006, in March 2007 the 
Academic Board approved six New 
Generation undergraduate degrees 
in Arts, Biomedicine, Commerce, 
Environments, Music and Science based 
on a recommendation by the Interim Board 
of Undergraduate Studies (IBUGS) that 
the new degrees fulfilled the University’s 
expectations for the Melbourne Model. 

During 2007 the structure and content of the 
new undergraduate degrees was developed 
in preparation for their introduction in 
2008. Course Standing Committees 
for each of the degrees consulted with 
participating faculties to develop detailed 
course proposals and business cases for 
the transition to the Melbourne Model. 
Breadth subjects and subject sequences, as 
well as majors and capstone subjects were 
developed for each degree. 

Breadth subjects are academic subjects that 
students can select from outside their major 
study areas and are an important feature of 
the new degrees. They may be offered 

by more than one faculty and are designed 
to build multiple competencies in students 
by exposing them to different ways of 
understanding through cross-disciplinary 
learning and teaching. University breadth 
subjects are taught by multiple faculties 
and available to all students in all courses. 
Eleven University breadth subjects will 
be available in 2008. The breadth subject 
Catastrophes, Cultures and the Angry Earth, 
for example, draws on academic expertise 
from a range of disciplines including history 
and engineering to examine how society 
interprets natural disasters and what this 
tells us about our relationships with religion, 
science and technology.

Capstone activities, bringing together the 
various strands of students’ undergraduate 
education and preparing them for life as 
graduates, have also been incorporated into 
each of the New Generation degrees. The 
New Generation Bachelor of Commerce, 
for example, offers a range of capstone 
experiences for students completing 
their final year of undergraduate study 
through subjects offering work experience 
opportunities and exposure to local and 
international industry practitioners.

entry to Melbourne 
MoDel DeGrees

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes 

>  Re-examine selection criteria for New 
Generation undergraduate degrees (for 
2010 entry) and graduate degrees (for 
2008 entry)

>  Define pathways into undergraduate 
and postgraduate courses for students 
returning to study

>  Approve  the structure and content of 
new professional graduate courses

>  Establish and approve appropriate 
guaranteed pathways to professional 
graduate courses

AChIeVements

Processes to facilitate admission and 
accessible pathways into the new 
undergraduate degrees were put in place in 
2007.  A policy defining non-school leaver 
admissions pathways under the Melbourne 
Model was also developed, promoting 
selection into undergraduate programs 
for non-school leavers and establishing 
appropriate processes for assessing the 
prior learning and current skills of non-
school leavers.

Faculties also continued to define 
the content and selection criteria for 
graduate degrees commencing in 2008. 
Requirements for guaranteed entry of 
school leavers into graduate professional 
degrees such as the Juris Doctor were 
confirmed by the Academic Board, along 
with a policy for attracting and recruiting 
high-achieving secondary students. 

A strategy was adopted for resolving 
whether degrees will offer an honours year 
or a two-year masters pathway.

MaKe the neCessary 
aDMinistratiVe reforMs so 
that the Melbourne MoDel 
Can be iMpleMenteD in 2008.

Expert leadership during a period of 
significant change is imperative. A 
new executive committee structure 
was established in 2007 to meet the  
administrative requirements of the 
Melbourne Model – undergraduate degrees 
managed on behalf of the University, a 
graduate school model of professional 
education, cross-faculty graduate programs 
and a more consistent and student-
focussed delivery of services.
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Students study across faculty boundaries 
and take University breadth subjects taught 
by teams from a range of disciplines. 
Consequently, there needs to be stronger 
coordination of academic units, and of 
student advice and support services. In 
turn, that necessitates closer alignment of 
line management responsibility, financial 
accountability and incentives.

The initial structures of IBUGS and the 
Graduate Schools Forum were superseded 
in September by the Committee of Deans 
– a management body responsible for 
integrating the academic and administrative 
dimensions of the Model – and its sub 
committees. The Office of the Provost was 
created to manage and monitor changes 
in the policies and practices that affect the 
academic life of the University, including the 
delivery of and the provision of high quality, 
consistent student support services

to aChieVe ConsistenCy in 
the DeliVery of aCaDeMiC 
proGraMs anD stuDent 
support serViCes unDer the 
Melbourne MoDel requires 
the uniVersity to DeVelop a 
neW Way of aDMinisterinG 
its proGraMs. 

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Academic Board approval of a definition of 
course rules and procedures for provision 
of course advice and student support 
management under Melbourne Model

AChIeVements  

During the year the University undertook 
extensive planning towards the Melbourne 
Student Services Model (MSSM), 
recognising that delivery of student-centred 
services is fundamental to the successful 
implementation of the Melbourne Model. 
The MSSM aims to provide an integrated, 
seamless and consistent service across a 
range of activities for students, as well as 
improved resourcing for service delivery 
through alignment of faculty budget and 
accountabilities. Details of the new model are 
discussed in the Administration section of 
this Report on page 67. Central to the MSSM 
project is the plan for a series of discipline-
based Student Centres which will serve 
as one-stop shops for delivery of student 
academic and administrative services. (See 
page 41 for a description of the Centres).

The Student Centres will promote a 
consistent approach for all students 
across faculties to course rules and other 
activities supporting academic programs, 
such as course advice. In preparation for 
2008, the University has developed a set 

of criteria for student advisor training and 
has identified the content and timeline for 
University-wide training. Training for front-
line staff and specialist advisors in areas 
such as research higher degree support, 
student welfare, and international student 
services commenced in 2007. A consistent 
set of course rules for Melbourne Model 
degrees has been established.

GraDuate sChools anD proGraMs

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Planning and Budget Committee (PBC) 
approval of the structure and number 
of graduate schools and postgraduate 
coursework programs (from 2008)

AChIeVements

Graduate schools are a key element of 
the Melbourne Model, signalling the 
University’s commitment to providing 
graduate education in a stimulating, 
supportive and professional environment.  
Students taking new professional graduate 
programs will benefit from being part of a 
graduate cohort studying the same course 
at the same time with students who have 
the same professional goals.

Planning to establish the administrative 
structures to support graduate programs 
progressed throughout 2007 culminating 
in approval in October of the names and 
administrative structures for the new 
schools. The new graduate schools are: 
Melbourne School of Design; Melbourne 
Graduate School of Management; 
Melbourne Graduate School of Education; 
Melbourne School of Engineering; 
Melbourne Law School; Melbourne 
Graduate School of Science; Melbourne 
School of Graduate Research; Melbourne 
Graduate School of Land and Environment; 
and Melbourne School of Veterinary Science.

Professional masters degrees to be 
offered in 2008 include the Master of 
Applied Commerce (Accounting); the 
Master of Architecture; the Master of 
Forest Ecosystem Science; the Melbourne 
JD (Juris Doctor); the Master of Music 
Therapy; the Master of Social Work; and 
the Master of Teaching. 

flexible Course DeliVery

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Implement the 2006 report on more 
flexible use of academic year 

>  Enhance course delivery options for 
students with diverse needs

AChIeVements

With a change in the profile of the 
University’s students comes an increased 
need for flexible study options. Staged 
implementation of the University’s Learning 
Management System (LMS) will expand 
course delivery options, enabling students 
to make use of increased online learning 
opportunities. Steps will also be taken to 
increase the per centage of subjects taught 
as intensives, over the summer term, or 
outside Semesters 1 and 2. While the 
number of these subjects has gradually 
increased, it remains relatively small. The 
establishment of graduate schools will 
give the University an opportunity to make 
significant headway in the more flexible 
delivery of the new curriculum, particularly 
at graduate level. The outcomes of a report 
benchmarking international practice in this 
regard will be considered in 2008. 

GraDuate attributes

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Course standing committees to report on 
initiatives for addressing recommendations 
of Academic Women in Leadership (AWiL) 
report on graduate attributes

AChIeVements  

In 2006 the University updated its 
statement of graduate attributes to identify 
the qualities Melbourne expects to imbue 
in its graduates under the Growing Esteem 
Strategy. The development of initiatives and 
programs which link graduate attributes 
to student understanding and assessment 
was an important consideration in the 
design of Melbourne Model programs.  
Steps will be taken to ensure that students 
are aware of the statement of graduate 
attributes, in line with other Group of Eight 
(Go8) universities. 

enCouraGe anD reCoGnise 
GooD teaChinG

learninG anD teaChinG 
perforManCe funD

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Maintain Melbourne’s position as a top-
ranking Go8 University in Learning and 
Teaching Performance Fund results

AChIeVements 

The University of Melbourne’s excellence 
in teaching was recognised for a third 
consecutive year in 2007 with the award of 
$8,363,985 under the 2008 Commonwealth 
Government’s Learning and Teaching 



Performance Fund (LTPF). Melbourne was 
included in the funding bands for three 
of the four discipline groups: Science, 
Computing, Engineering, Architecture and 
Agriculture; Business, Law and Economics; 
and Humanities, Arts and Education.

The University’s 2008 LTPF performance 
follows its success in the LTPF funding 
rounds for 2006 and 2007, when it was 
awarded $9.85 million and $9 million 
respectively. A large portion of funding 
from the 2007 LTPF round was distributed 
directly to faculties to support the 
transition to the Melbourne Model. A total 
of $458,843 was allocated to projects 
investigating large-group teaching with 
the specific aim of improving students’ 
sense of their learning community. Around 
$540,000 was also set aside for University 
Breadth Subject Development Grants to 
promote curriculum development as part 
of the new Model.

stuDent satisfaCtion

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes 

>  Improve the Quality of Teaching results in 
under-performing faculties.

>  Improve CEQ Good Teaching and overall 
student satisfaction measures. 

AChIeVements 

Student perception of teaching is measured 
by responses to the Quality of Teaching 
(QoT) surveys and the Course Experience 
Questionnaires (CEQs). Results from 
the QoT surveys have shown gradual 
improvement from 2002 to 2007 on the 
question of whether subjects are well 
taught. The undergraduate mean score 
for this question increased slightly to 3.97 
in Semester 1, 2007, compared to 3.9 in 
Semester 1, 2006. QoT outcomes relating 
to feedback, however, were low across 
nearly all faculties. Results reflecting 

students’ perceptions that they felt part of a 
learning community remain unchanged, and 
a number of subjects continue to feature 
frequently as low rated on the question of 
whether they were well taught. 

CEQs are provided annually to recent 
graduates to obtain feedback on whether 
they were satisfied with their courses 
and course experiences. The 2007 CEQ 
outcomes (based on the experience of 
bachelor and postgraduate coursework 
graduates who completed a course in 2006) 
showed that the University rated highly in 
relation to the graduate qualities scale (69.3 
per cent agreed), student support scale 
(61.9 per cent agreed) and the generic skills 
scale (65.0 per cent agreed). The results 
for the learning community and clear goals 
scales, however, were more modest. 

The University’s mean score for good 
teaching on the CEQ increased in 2007 
to 3.46, after remaining unchanged at 
3.37 for several years. Overall satisfaction 
decreased marginally to 72.9 per cent 
(mean scale agreement) from 73.0 per 
cent in 2006. Postgraduate results showed 
a similar pattern to the bachelor results, 
with improved outcomes in good teaching, 
generic skills and learning community, 
and reduced outcomes for clear goals and 
overall satisfaction. 

The QoT and CEQ results reflect a 
concerted effort on the University’s part to 
improve student satisfaction with teaching 
and course experience, particularly in areas 
identified for improvement. In addition 
to addressing survey outcomes during 
annual evaluation processes, the Provost 
consults with Deans about consistently 
low or variable survey results for particular 
subjects. In 2007 faculties were invited 
to apply for funding to support initiatives 
promoting the development of the ‘cohort 
experience’ – an important determinant of 
student responses to the CEQ. 
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PRoFessoR 
SIMON MARGINSON
Professor Simon Marginson,  from 
the University’s Centre for the Study 
of Higher Education is regarded as 
the leading Australian expert on 
the international aspects of higher 
education. He was elected Honorary 
Fellow of the Australian Council for 
Educational Leaders in 2007 for his 
ongoing service to education. 

In Australia his work informs public 
discussion of matters concerning higher 
education (particularly current policy 
issues) and international education 
in the context of globalisation. He 
played a major role in the series of five 
public seminars held at the University 
during the year on the ‘The Future 
of Australian Education and Science 
Policies’. The seminars were addressed 
by prominent national and international 
thinkers and policy makers.

In recent years Professor Marginson 
has frequently been called upon 
to provide information comparing 
Australian education with that in 
other countries, and to comment on 
international education in Australia, 
and matters of research and innovation 
policy in comparative context. 

He is in considerable demand offshore 
for his expertise on global matters 
of higher education and research, for 
example, policy work for OECD and 
conference and seminar papers in 
OECD, governmental and university 
fora in Asia, Europe and North America. 

PROFILE
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Percent of undergraduate subjects with a mean rating 3.0 or higher on Question 2 (‘This subject was well taught’), 
Semester 2, 2000-2007



teaChinG exCellenCe

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Establish an interfaculty forum on good 
teaching practice

AChIeVements 

A program of events throughout the year 
recognised, developed and promoted 
excellence in teaching. Key activities in 
2007 included:

>  An inaugural Teaching and Learning 
Forum was established to encourage staff 
to share effective, innovative approaches 
to learning and teaching and to ensure 
the distinctiveness of undergraduate 
programs. The forum, including a series 
of seminars and events hosted by the 
CSHE, focussed on approaches to first-
year teaching, techniques for large-group 
lectures and the use of new teaching 
spaces.

>  The 2007 DVC (Academic) summit 
showcased innovations in large group 
teaching.

>  The Vice-Chancellor’s annual Colloquium 
on Teaching and Learning was attended 
by approximately 380 academic 
and general staff from across the 
faculties. The Colloquium recognised 
and celebrated the recipients of the 
University’s Teaching Award and the 
unprecedented number of winners in 
2007 of national Carrick Awards for 
Australian University Teaching. A keynote 
address by international scholar, Professor 
Tom Angelo (Victoria University of 
Wellington), examined research-based 
strategies to encourage critical and 
creative thinking.

>  The University had outstanding success 
in the 2007 Carrick Awards for Australian 
University Teaching (CAAUT), with four 
out of a possible 24 prizes for Teaching 
Excellence the equal highest number 
of awards for any university. Melbourne 
recipients are listed among the High 
Achieving Staff on page 18.  Each received 
$25,000 to advance their teaching careers 
and to support their ongoing commitment 
to excellence in teaching. 

The University’s nominees for the CAAUT 
awards are selected from the winners of the 
University of Melbourne Teaching Awards. 
The recipients of the University’s Teaching 
Awards for 2007 are also listed amongst the 
High Achieving Staff on page 18. 

ensure aCCess for the best anD 
briGhtest stuDents reGarDless 
of DisaDVantaGe 

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Examine the feasibility of extending 
access and equity policy options by 
the Policy and Advocacy Taskforce, 
including obtaining DEST approval for a 
2008-2010 CSP profile that supports the 
Melbourne Model

AChIeVements

The University is committed to increasing 
accessibility for all students, with the aim 
that the best and brightest students have 
access to the Melbourne Model, regardless 
of disadvantage. 

In 2007 the University continued to address 
the academic and financial disadvantages 
of students from equity groups, minimising 
financial barriers and broadening access. 
Early in the year, DEST gave in principle 
agreement for the University’s suggested 
2008-2010 profile, enabling the University to 
allocate Commonwealth Supported Places 
(CSPs) to graduate students. The 2007 
Federal Budget extended Youth Allowance 
and Austudy to students undertaking first 
professional degrees at graduate level and 
granted rent assistance to students aged 
over 25. All of these measures ensure that 
students in the new Melbourne Model 
professional graduate program will not be 
disadvantaged and the pool of potential 
graduate students will be expanded.

Following DEST’s approval of graduate 
CSPs, the University guaranteed that from 
2008-2012 at least 50 per cent of designated 
places in Melbourne Model graduate 
professional degrees will be offered as 
CSPs. Scholarships for undergraduate and 
graduate students have been expanded and 
admissions processes revised. 

expanDeD sCholarships proGraM

During the year the University launched 
a significantly expanded Melbourne 
Scholarships program under which 
8000 students will receive benefits 
worth $100 million over three years. 
Melbourne Scholarships will be awarded 
to Australian and international students in 
undergraduate, professional graduate and 
research higher degree programs. Around 
800 new Melbourne Abroad Scholarships 
will support overseas study during an 
undergraduate degree.

A key feature of the Melbourne 
Scholarships is the Kwong Lee Dow Young 
Scholars Program, designed to provide high 
achieving students from every secondary 

school in Victoria with undergraduate 
scholarship opportunities. More than 
700 Year 12 students from 300 different 
schools across the state of Victoria 
were selected to be part of the inaugural 
program. While still at school, scholars 
participate in special programs, including 
lectures and seminars with leading 
researchers and teachers and networking 
opportunities with peers. The scholarships 
also provide financial support. With large 
numbers of students attending special 
events on Open Day and in December, 
Kwong Lee Dow Young Scholars Program 
events have become a highlight of the 
University calendar. 

stuDent support

The University continues to develop 
services and resources closely targeted 
to the needs of students from equity 
backgrounds. Feedback is regularly sought 
from students, with the results reinforcing 
the important role that such services play 
in the retention and success of students.

In 2007 all faculties employed designated 
contact officers in each of the equity, 
disability and mental health areas. 
Comprehensive orientation and transition 
programs addressed the needs of all new 
students inclusively as well as targeting 
the specific needs of equity students 
more specifically. 

Targeted programs of 2007 included:

>  Student Housing Access Program 
(SHAP), which offers rooms in University-
owned ‘share houses’. Properties are 
within walking distance of the Parkville 
campus. SHAP provides a transitional 
step towards independent living;

>  the Housing Bursary, administered 
through the Student Financial Aid service 
available to disadvantaged students 
renting property;

>  Get an Edge. a targeted orientation 
program addressing the social and 
geographic transition needs of new 
students from under-represented 
backgrounds.

aCCess Melbourne

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Continue to allocate minimum 20 per 
cent to 25 per cent  intake to Access 
Melbourne and retain 200 Access 
Scholarships for undergraduate entry

>  Clarify criteria and application process for 
extension of Access Melbourne program 
to graduate study



>  Review the success of offering a 
restricted number of Access Scholarships 
in December 2006 to determine if all 
Access Scholarships can be awarded in 
December 2007 (for the undergraduate 
cohort commencing in 2008)

AChIeVements

2007 was the third year of Access 
Melbourne. Through the Access Melbourne 
Scheme, the University aims to admit 20 
per cent of its undergraduate CSP intake 
from applicants who have experienced 
disadvantage during their secondary 
schooling. Of those admitted, one in five 
is awarded a scholarship. In 2007, Access 
Melbourne enrolments totalled 1077, 
representing 20.1 per cent  of the CSP 
intake. Two hundred and one of these were 
awarded Access Scholarships. 

The Access Melbourne program for 
undergraduates will be extended to 
graduate students in 2008 with a minimum 
20 per cent of the CSPs in professional 
degrees to be allocated to Graduate Access 
Melbourne applicants. Up to 100 one-off 
bursaries of $5000 will also be awarded to 
Access Melbourne applicants enrolling in 
graduate programs to assist in meeting the 
costs associated with graduate study.

In 2006 a pilot program offering a 
restricted number of Melbourne Access 
Scholarships was instigated to determine 
whether it would be feasible to award all 
Access Scholarships in December. The 
Undergraduate Scholarships Committee’s 
review of the pilot offering found that the 
early offers were only partly successful 
due to selection differences between 
universities and workload issues for the 
Scholarships Office. 

inDiGenous stuDents

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Ensure that the University attains its 
target to recruit 30 Indigenous Australian 
students in 2007

AChIeVements

The recruitment, retention, experience 
and success of Indigenous Australian 
students remains a priority for Melbourne. 
The University’s Centre for Indigenous 
Education (CIE) is the key focus of the 
University’s strategy to increase Indigenous 
student participation. The Centre has 
developed strong collaborative relationships 
with Aboriginal communities as well as 
Indigenous academic staff and units within 
the University. The CIE has gradually 
strengthened links with Trinity Residential 
College, with the number of Indigenous 
students in residency increasing from two in 
2001 to 10 in 2007.

The University attained its target to recruit 
30 Indigenous students in 2007 with 
a total of 34 students from Aboriginal 
or Torres Strait Islander backgrounds 
commencing undergraduate studies. The 
University recognises that there is room for 
improvement in this important area. 

Victorian universities are developing a 
coordinated approach to Indigenous student 
recruitment, and it is envisaged that a more 
synchronised recruitment scheme will boost 
enrolments across the sector.

stuDents With Disabilities

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Report to PBC on implementation of 
2004-07 Disability Action Plan

AChIeVements

The Disability Action Plan 2008-11 endorsed 
by the Academic Board in June 2007 will 
build on the successes of the 2004-07 
Disability Action Plan in achieving significant 
improvements in the participation of 
students with disabilities. Based on the 
DEST-defined disability groups: Hearing, 
Vision, Learning, Mobility and Medical 
(Mental Health Conditions forming a 
subgroup of the Medical Category), the 
new Plan tackles key issues impacting on 
these groups, identified from feedback 
mechanisms built into the earlier plan. One 
of the 2004-2007 Plan’s most important 
outcomes was the development of 
guidelines to cater for students undertaking 
subjects with practicum or independent 
research activities as an integral component.

During 2007 facilities for deaf students were 
significantly improved with the extension 
of the Live Remote Captioning (LRC) 
service across the University. LRC works by 
capturing audio information from a teaching 
environment and converting it to text by a 
stenocaptioner. The text is then streamed to 
a computer using the internet. The process 
happens in real time with minimal delay and 
the words appear on screen with 98 per 
cent accuracy. 

iDentify anD iMpleMent 
initiatiVes to enhanCe the 
Melbourne experienCe

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Develop a strategy on opportunities for 
student engagement through residential 
colleges

>  Consider, in light of CSHE 
recommendations, the methodology of a 
Melbourne Experience survey measuring 
attitudes on the cohort experience to be 
administered by the end of students’ first 
year

>  Implement the Melbourne Experience 
Committee recommendations on 
transition activities including orientation 
and capstone programs

>  Further define and measure the concept 
of ‘a cohort experience’ and develop 
cohort experience initiatives

AChIeVements

The Melbourne Experience is at the heart 
of all Melbourne degrees. The University 
aims to:

>  provide students with a variety of 
opportunities for becoming global citizens 
through increased opportunities to study 
overseas;

>  encourage students to develop friendship 
networks through group work and  peer 
mentoring programs;

>  provide exciting and innovative e-
experiences, access to learning centres, 
and support for e-learning communities;

>  strengthen students’ links outside the 
University, through internships, on 
location subject delivery and volunteering.
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2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

enrolments 166 222 231 239 276 245 236 192

Completions 36 43 65 63 67 55 57 59 (est)

table �: inDiGenous stuDents enrolMents anD CoMpletions



Ryen dIggle 
Ryen Diggle is studying his first year in the Bachelor of Medicine/ 
Bachelor of Surgery/ Bachelor of Medical Science (MBBS) course.

Ryen’s path to the University of Melbourne began when he decided 
that he wanted to pursue medicine as a career. There were no 
medical schools in Darwin. The University of Melbourne stood out 
in comparison with universities across Australia and the prospect of 
study at an internationally renowned university was ‘very exciting 
and daunting’, said Ryen. 

After learning about Melbourne’s Access Scholarships Ryen 
approached his school careers advisor and met with a member 
of the University’s staff who helped him through the application 
process. Ryen received a conditional offer of scholarship, provided 
he was accepted into his course and continued to pass at a 
satisfactory level. He completed Year 12, sat the UMAT test  and 
received an offer for a place in the medical course in January  2007.

‘Without my scholarship, the opportunity to accept my offer into 
medicine at the University of Melbourne would probably have been 
missed, as I probably would not have been able to cope financially,’ 
said Ryen. ‘If I had managed to work enough to cope financially, 
it would have meant missing out on societies and clubs as well as 
many social aspects of University life, which would have diminished 
my University experience.’
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sAlly FIRth 
Single mother of three Sally Firth was awarded the Eleanor and 
Joseph Wertheim Scholarship in 2007. Sally, 31, has had a lifelong 
interest in photography.

She had completed some media studies at TAFE and worked part-
time in a photography lab, but could not afford to pursue full-time 
study. Through the generosity of the Wertheim bequest to the 
University of Melbourne, Sally is now studying a Bachelor of Fine 
Arts at the VCA, majoring in photography.

Dr Eleanor Wertheim was a Senior Research Fellow in the Faculty 
of Arts for a number of years. Her husband Joseph Wertheim was 
a scientist and an alumnus of the University of Melbourne.  It was 
their intention to leave a legacy that would have a positive impact 
on the lives of women for future generations. When Eleanor died 
in 2001, four years after her husband, the Eleanor and Joseph 
Wertheim Scholarship trust was established to assist ‘unmarried, 
widowed or divorced women over the age of 25 years in difficult 
circumstances to pursue undergraduate or graduate courses’.

‘The fact that the Wertheims have left a bequest specifically 
targeted to women in difficult circumstances who wanted to study 
shows such insight,’ said Sally. 



Student feedback on the quality of the 
Melbourne Experience will in future 
be gauged through response to a new 
Melbourne Experience Survey (MES). The 
integrated survey incorporates a first-
year experience survey, a current course 
experience survey, and a survey on student 
support services. The MES was administered 
for the first time in September 2007 and will 
ultimately form part of a more streamlined 
annual cycle of student evaluations.

Successful transition to University and the 
development of a sense of community 
in first-year students are fundamental 
objectives of the Melbourne undergraduate 
degrees. The importance that the University 
attributes to these objectives is reflected in 
the variety of ‘cohort experience’ initiatives 
actioned during the year. 

>  The University consulted with the 
heads of residential colleges to consider 
strategies for promoting student 
engagement through the colleges. The 
University has engaged a consultant to 
develop the strategy further.

>  Funding from the Learning and Teaching 
Performance Fund (LTPF) was used to 
support 12 projects aimed at promoting 
innovation in large-group teaching. 

>  An additional round of LTPF funding has 
aided the development of University 
Breadth Subjects, designed to enhance a 
sense of learning community.

>  A study of approaches to first-year 
teaching under the Melbourne Model 
identifies a number of barriers and 
solutions for delivering a cohort 
experience to first-year students, ranging 
from timetabling matters, to managing 
and promoting social and educational 
interactions between groups of students 
in subjects with large enrolments. 

Each year transition ‘in’ activities are 
monitored through the First-Year Transition 
Summit. A greater emphasis on integrating 
capstone subjects and capstone initiatives 
into the New Generation degrees will 
ensure that transition ‘out’ activities remain 
an integral and meaningful part of the 
learning experience for future students. 

Voluntary stuDent unionisM

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Monitor the impact of VSU upon student 
organisations and the Melbourne 
Experience in order to sustain essential 
services and amenities

AChIeVements

Since the introduction of Voluntary Student 
Union (VSU) legislation prohibiting the 
collection of compulsory student amenities 
fees, student organisations such as the 
University of Melbourne Student Union 
(UMSU) and the University of Melbourne 
Postgraduate Association (UMPA) have 
reported low rates of new membership of 
between 7 and 14 per cent. A substantial 
rise in membership is not expected in 2008. 

The University and its student organisations 
have continued to make adjustments to 
operate within these budget constraints. In 
an effort to maintain a campus experience 
for students outside the lecture theatre, in 
2007 the University allocated $5.96 million 
in transitional funding to support the various 
bodies impacted by VSU and committed a 
further $5.05 million as transitional funding 
for 2008 along with provision of further 
$0.5 million for sporting facilities. The 
University has agreed with student 
associations and Melbourne University 
Sport to allocate these funds in 2008, on the 
basis of undergraduate and postgraduate 
EFTSL. Essential services and high priority 
elements of the student experience (such 
as representation, advocacy, sport, theatre, 
clubs and societies) remained priorities 
in the 2008 Funding Agreements. In an 
effort to maintain a campus experience 
for students outside the lecture theatre, 
discussions have commenced with 
members of the MUSUL Board, and 
representatives for UMSU and UMPA, to 
determine strategic priorities for ensuring 
the long-term sustainability of student 
organisations.

ensure that the Melbourne 
experienCe is an 
international one

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Develop new staff development programs 
and faculty initiatives which recognise 
cultural diversity in curricula and teaching

>  Increase the number of students 
participating in formal exchange programs 
to at least 10 per cent by 2009 

>  Consider how to offer incentives for the 
teaching and study of languages under 
the Melbourne Model

AChIeVements 

Throughout the last five years, the 
University has responded to its 
increasingly diverse student population 
by internationalising the curriculum and 
ensuring the needs of students are met 
across a range of activities.

The University currently has 194 
agreements for academic cooperation 
and exchange with international partners. 
Eleven University-level agreements with 
international partners were signed in 2007. 
Details of new University-level agreements 
signed in 2007 can be found in the 
International Engagement section of this 
Report.

The CSHE report titled Students from Asia: 
Issues in Learning and Teaching, continues 
to guide culturally sensitive teaching 
practices for Australian and international 
students. Faculties and departments 
are encouraged to consult the report as 
they develop curriculum, teaching and 
assessment processes which recognise 
cultural diversity. 

The Melbourne Experience Committee 
also has an ongoing role in monitoring 
and promoting programs which recognise 
diversity in curricula and teaching. In 
2008 the newly established Teaching 
and Learning Forum will focus on the 
development of a coordinated approach 
to promoting diversity as a fundamental 
element of the cohort experience.

The Melbourne Global Mobility Unit 
was established in 2007 to manage 
Melbourne’s growing exchange and 
overseas education program in accordance 
with the recommendations of an external 
review of international student mobility. 
The review proposed strategies for future 
activities to support growth of both inbound 
and outbound students. Melbourne Global 
Mobility will manage mobility opportunities 
for all University of Melbourne students, and 
for incoming exchange and study abroad 
students. While the focus has been on 
improving the participation rate of 

international stuDent enrolMents

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

International enrolments 6,701 7,619 8,021 8,335 8,804 9,389

% International 21.0% 23.2% 23.9% 24.5% 25.9% 27.0%

NB. EFTSL Data



undergraduate students in 2007, there will 
be a focus in 2008 on identifying graduate-
level opportunities. 

A detailed report on student exchanges is 
set out in the International section of this 
report on page 53. 

The University has long supported the 
study of languages through a series of 
financial incentives to faculties. Although 
the position and popularity of languages in 
the Melbourne Model curriculum remains 
uncertain, the University will introduce a 
range of incentives to improve performance 
in this regard. A new form of the Diploma 
of Languages will be introduced from 
2008. The final 50 points of the Diploma of 
Languages will be exempt from HECS fees.

enhanCe the quality of the 
stuDent experienCe throuGh 
iMproVeD serViCes, it anD 
physiCal infrastruCture.

stuDent portal/ e-learninG

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

> Implement online student portal 

>  Ensure ithat all first-year subjects are 
available on LMS by end of the year

>  Develop programs to support academic 
staff in the innovative use of online 
technologies

>  Report on faculty progress in integrating 
the University’s revised e-learning 
strategy within core components of 
undergraduate curriculum

AChIeVements

The provision of consistent and seamless 
technologies and the infrastructure to 
support learning is critical to the delivery 
of an outstanding student experience 
and to strengthening students’ sense of 
community. This area remains a major 
University activity and challenge.

The online student portal providing students 
with ready access to email, timetables, 
online learning tools, academic advice 
and programs, library accounts and other 
essential University services was officially 
launched in March 2007. The student 
portal forms part of the broader Student 
System Project which will provide further 
improvements in IT services to students 
and staff as it is progressively implemented 
during 2008. 

A number of hardware and software 
upgrades to the University’s Learning 
Management System (LMS) during 2007 
ensured that all first-year subjects were 
available on the LMS by the end of 2007.  
The next development within the LMS will 
involve development of an e-portfolio tool, 
an electronic tool which allows students to 

compile and access information pertaining 
to a broad range of activities, including 
academic and non-academic achievements, 
and to store this information for personal 
or professional purposes. E-portfolios will 
be piloted in selected undergraduate and 
postgraduate degrees in 2008. 

While refinement of the revised 
e-learning strategy is still underway, there 
has been substantial progress in 2007 in 
supporting academic staff to develop online 
coursework. Under the University’s new e-
learning policy (see pxxx) all undergraduate 
subjects will have an online presence on the 
LMS in 2008, and all postgraduate subjects 
by 2010.  E-learning is a crucial aspect of 
all degrees, ensuring that students are well 
equipped for life-long learning using online 
and other technologies. 

infrastruCture

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Ensure that learning and teaching capital 
works priorities are aligned with the 
Learning and Teaching Plan and reflected 
in the University’s Masterplan

>  Ensure that all high-use areas will have 
wireless connection by the end of 2007

>  Ensure that student hub/resource centre 
is ready for the introduction of the 
Melbourne Model

>  Review and implement Academic Board 
policy on infrastructure for postgraduate 
students

AChIeVements

In 2007 the University continued intensive 
planning and development for the necessary 
student centres, classroom and laboratory 
changes to support the implementation of 
the Melbourne Model.

Indoor and outdoor social and informal 
study spaces, including cafes, based 
around a clustering of disciplines are an 
essential part of the Melbourne Experience 
of the future. The aim is to create warm 
and welcoming spaces with 24/7 access, 
where students have ready access to 
information and services and opportunities 
to relax and congregate with fellow 
students. The spaces will be designed 
to encourage students to spend more 
time on campus, and to nurture a sense 
of community among students as they 
progress through their degree. 

Design and development for the first 
learning precinct, the Eastern Precinct, 
is complete, with construction to be 
completed late in 2008. The project 
involves the redevelopment of three 
existing sites: the ERC Library; the Frank 
Tate Building; and the Plaza Conference 
Centre to create the Eastern Resource 
Centre, the Frank Tate Learning Centre and 
the Science Student Centre. 

The Science Student Centre will be integrated 
within a learning precinct which combines 
libraries, online resources and a series of 
attractive, useful and flexible learning spaces 
designed to accommodate students’ different 
schedules and learning styles.  

Meanwhile, redevelopment of the former 
Chemistry West Lecture Theatre into a 
distinctive, collaborative learning space was 
completed in early 2007. This state-of-the-
art teaching space is suitable for conducting 
a large class but may be transformed into 
separate teaching spaces, or pods. Its 
facilities include data projectors, visualisers, 
plasma screens, VCR/DVD players, PA 
system, pod PCs and instructor PCs. Such 
facilities will encourage staff to embrace the 
range of possibilities for effective learning 
in these spaces, particularly in relation to 
large-group teaching.

Other improvements to the University’s 
physical infrastructure to support learning 
have included increased wireless internet 
access on campus, and redevelopment of 
the existing Engineering Library to create 
two collaborative learning classrooms, 
a student centre and student learning 
lounges.  Redevelopment of parts of the 
Walter Boas building will partially address 
the shortfall in office accommodation for 
research higher degree students.

outlooK 

In 2008 the University will welcome 
the first student intake into the six new 
Melbourne Model undergraduate degrees. 
Ensuring a world class educational 
Melbourne Experience for these students 
and for all our students is a key objective 
in 2008. There will be a particular focus on 
monitoring transition and cohort experience 
initiatives in the New Generation degrees. 
The University will continue to provide 
an international Melbourne Experience, 
ensuring cultural diversity is as an integral 
part of the cohort experience, and 
increasing opportunities for students to 
undertake study overseas.

Improvement of the quality of learning 
and teaching across all faculties is an 
ongoing, fundamental objective. The 
University will monitor the satisfaction 
of our undergraduate students as they 
undertake cross-disciplinary subjects in 
collaborative learning environments and 
we will encourage them to gain a better 
understanding of learning outcomes through 
initiatives linking graduate attributes to 
student understanding and assessment. 
The University will respond to student 
feedback, especially in relation to the 
Course Experience Questionnaire.

To realise the full potential of the Melbourne 
Model we will build  more innovative 
learning spaces and commence the next 
stage in the development of the network of 
precinct ‘learning centres’. 
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international stuDent enrolMents

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

International enrolments 6,701 7,619 8,021 8,335 8,804 9,389

% International 21.0% 23.2% 23.9% 24.5% 25.9% 27.0%



ACKNOWLEDGING THE IMPORTANCE OF KNOWLEDGE TRANSFER 
RECOGNISES THAT UNIVERSITIES HAVE A RESPONSIBILTY TO CONTRIBUTE 
TO THE PUBLIC GOOD, TO BE INVOLVED IN THE INTELLECTUAL AND 
ECONOMIC LIFE OF THE COMMUNITY

KNOWLEDGE 

 TRANSFER
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seCtIon heAdIng 
APPeARs heRe
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“ELEVATING KNOWLEDGE TRANSFER 
TO A ‘CORE ACTIVITY’ IS A FIRST FOR 

UNIVERSITIES IN AUSTRALIA”.
Professor Vijoleta Braach-Maksvytis 

Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Innovation and Development)

PERFORMANCE AGAINST 
2007 TARGETS
eMbeD KnoWleDGe transfer in uniVersity proCesses anD operations, CurriCuluM anD researCh

Knowledge transfer is now part of the promotion criteria for all staff and incorporated into the executive structure of the 
faculties. Development of measures for knowledge transfer has commenced. A program of knowledge transfer awards and 
grants was inaugurated, featuring awards for excellence, new project grants and grants for visiting scholars. Applications for 
these awards demonstrated the breadth of impressive knowledge transfer activities across the University. 
Knowledge transfer has been embedded in the University curriculum, with New Generation degrees all incorporating 
knowledge transfer elements. Internal and external communication plans have been developed, with new initiatives including 
a knowledge transfer website, the  publication Knowledge Transfer: Connecting Melbourne and regular pieces on knowledge 
transfer written for the University of Melbourne Voice. Knowledge Transfer was highlighted in the DreamLarge advertising 
campaign as a distinctive feature of the University’s aspirations. 

iDentify anD launCh a neW set of KnoWleDGe transfer proGraMs

New University-level knowledge transfer initiatives include:
> The Confucius Institute
> The National Centre of Excellence for Islamic Studies
> The LH Martin Institute for Higher Education
>  A major partnership with a leading information technology company; and 
>  Whole-of-University contribution to the City of Melbourne’s Future Melbourne project.
The Cultural Strategic Plan now sets priorities for management of the University’s cultural resources. The Cultural Renewal 
Project completed the cataloguing and conservation of many items in the University’s collections.

establish a stronG basis for the next phase of CoMMerCialisation DeVelopMent throuGh the 
iMpleMentation of a Coherent CoMMerCialisation strateGy
All of the University’s commercialisation support services were consolidated under the University’s wholly owned subsidiary 
UMEE Ltd. Non-commercialisation activities of UMEE Ltd were divested. Communication has been strengthened through 
creation of the Business Melbourne portal for commercialisation activities and promotional materials entitled Doing 
Business with Melbourne. Relationships with international investment groups were developed and our international profile 
was highlighted through Austrade and events such as ANZAME, ASCILITE Singapore, Educause and the 2007 Vocational 
Educational Technology Conference Bangalore.

ensure that the uniVersity is a researCh leaDer in the fielD of KnoWleDGe transfer
Development of knowledge transfer measures for the University will attract significant attention and place the University as 
an international leader in knowledge transfer. The Measurement Working Group’s report to Academic Board on measurement 
and institutionalisation of knowledge transfer will form the basis of a scholarly work to be published in 2008. Scholarship of 
knowledge transfer has been enriched by the appointment of an inaugural Knowledge Transfer Fellow to produce publicly 
accessible material on knowledge transfer. The University initiated a course  on writing op-ed pieces for newspapers, which 
ran several times due to high demand. The Writing Centre for Scholars and Researchers assists young researchers developing 
skills in communicate to a broad audience.

Left:  Alison Carroll is the Director of the Arts Program at Asialink, a non-academic University department that promotes public understanding of the countries of 
Asia and creates links with Asian counterparts.



KnoWleDGe transfer

Acknowledging the importance of 
Knowledge Transfer recognises that 
universities have a responsibility to 
contribute to the public good and to be 
involved in the intellectual and economic 
life of the community.

Knowledge Transfer forms the primary 
intellectual conduit between the 
University’s academia and the wider non-
academic society. The University’s research 
and expertise connect into industry, 
government and the community through 
many different paths – commercialisation, 
policy, public debate, partnership and 
exchange, and cultural leadership.

In 2007 the University focused on 
embedding Knowledge Transfer into all 
aspects of the University – its curriculum, 
research, processes and operations. 

eMbeD KnoWleDGe transfer 
in uniVersity proCesses 
anD operations, in the 
uniVersity CurriCuluM 
anD researCh 

KnoWleDGe transfer CoMMittee

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Establish a Knowledge Transfer Committee 
(KTC) to provide oversight for Knowledge 
Transfer for the University, and key 
committees, faculties and external groups

AChIeVements

2007 saw the creation of the KTC, 
charged with making recommendations 
on priorities for developing, maintaining 
and recognising effective and mutually 
beneficial collaborations between the 
University and external partners that serve 
to address significant social, cultural and 
economic issues locally and internationally 
to global scales.

KTC members include senior staff active 
in Knowledge Transfer together with 
external representatives of key sectors 
with which the University frequently 
collaborates. The Committee met five 
times in 2007, inaugurating a number 
of new programs and developing policy 
designed to embed Knowledge Transfer 
in the life of the University.

To this end it created four working groups:

>  the Knowledge Transfer Faculty 
Network, consisting of Associate Deans 
(Knowledge Transfer) or equivalent, as 
a forum in which faculty leaders can 
interact to establish best practice systems 
and processes and stimulate Knowledge 
Transfer across the University;

>  the Knowledge Transfer Grants Working 
Group which developed and implemented 
the Knowledge Transfer Grants and 
Awards program; 

>  the Knowledge Transfer Measurement 
Working Group, which developed a 
paper for Academic Board on key issues 
and University needs regarding the 
measurement of Knowledge Transfer; 

>  the Future Melbourne Steering Group, 
which oversees the development of 
the University’s contribution to ‘Future 
Melbourne’- the City of Melbourne’s 10-
year strategic vision for the growth and 
prosperity of the city.

CoMMuniCation 

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Develop an internal Knowledge 
Transfer communication plan to ensure 
a University consultation process for 
Knowledge Transfer implementation

>  Implement an external Knowledge 
Transfer communication plan which 
contributes to the quality of the 
Melbourne Model

AChIeVements

The University has a long tradition of 
contributing directly to Victoria’s economic, 
social, cultural and environmental 
advancement. Nevertheless, elevating 
Knowledge Transfer to a core activity is a 
first for universities in Australia.

This has necessitated the development of a 
clear communication strategy internally and 
externally. A Communications and Policy 
Officer (Knowledge Transfer) has been 
appointed to oversee the development and 
implementation of a Knowledge Transfer 
communications plan. 

Actively communicating the University’s 
Knowledge Transfer strategy and activity 
externally raises the profile of the University 
and recognises the work of our partners, 
providing models to stimulate ideas for 
new collaborations.

Key events and actions throughout 2007 
included:

>  the launch of the Knowledge Transfer 
website, www.knowledgetransfer.
unimelb.edu.au, featuring regular updates 
on policies, examples of excellence, 
media releases and links to related sites 
around the University. This website 
received 2903 visits from within the 
University from 12 June 2007 (when 
counts began), as well as 3487 visits 
from Australia (external to the University 
(39 per cent of all visits), and 2589 visits 
internationally from 114 countries (29 per 
cent of all visits);

>  the inaugural Vice-Chancellor’s 
Knowledge Transfer Awards and 
Symposium (discussed in detail on 
page 45) The publication of Knowledge 
Transfer: Connecting Melbourne, 
highlighting the works honoured 
in the inaugural Vice-Chancellor’s 
Knowledge Transfer Awards. The 
publication is available in hardcopy 
or can be downloaded from www.
knowledgetransfer.unimelb.edu.au; 

>  direct communications with staff, 
including: an all-staff forum attended 
by approximately 300 staff, staff 
development and leadership programs 
run by Human Resources; and regular 
articles featuring Knowledge Transfer in 
the University of Melbourne Voice; and

>  incorporation of Knowledge Transfer in 
the DreamLarge advertising campaign 
launched in April as a distinctive feature 
of the University’s aspirations.

operational steps

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Ensure that Course Standing Committees 
and the Melbourne Experience Committee 
incorporate a Knowledge Transfer 
component into each New Generation 
course, ensuring Knowledge Transfer is 
part of the Melbourne Experience

>  Define Knowledge Transfer strategies and 
programs by the faculties and incorporate 
these into business plans

>  Identify and resolve compliance, 
resourcing and administrative issues 
for the implementation of Knowledge 
Transfer activities across the University, 
including a feasibility study for a 
Knowledge Transfer Office



AChIeVements

All six New Generation undergraduate 
degrees include Knowledge Transfer in their 
core programs. Administrative, resourcing 
and compliance issues associated with 
the incorporation of knowledge transfer 
experiences in New Generation degrees 
were addressed by the Melbourne Model 
Implementation Taskforce during the year.

Dr Jo Barraket, an academic with 
considerable experience in the area, was 
appointed for six months as Knowledge 
Transfer Liaison Officer to assist as the 
detail of the curriculum was developed. 

The connections between knowledge 
transfer, curriculum and the Melbourne 
Experience are naturally an area requiring 
ongoing attention as the New Generation 
degrees take shape.  The Increasing 
Academic Enrichment Committee has been 
established to fulfil this role. 

Faculties took a major step toward 
embedding knowledge transfer in the 
University’s operations when they 
incorporated knowledge transfer plans 
into their business plans early in 2007. The 
executive structure of the faculties now 
includes an Associate Dean  (Knowledge 
Transfer) or equivalent. 

In June, $1 million was allocated for the 
establishment of a Knowledge Transfer 
Office with responsibility for further 
development and implementation of the 
University’s knowledge transfer strategy, 
policies, programs and communications. 

The Knowledge Transfer Office has initiated 
a pilot partnerships program, forming 
interdisciplinary partnerships with two 
major companies to work on a range of 
projects. The Office will use this experience 
to prepare training material for skill 
development in partnership establishment 
and management, along with guidelines to 
coordinate it.

reCoGnition

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Implement initiatives for recognising 
and rewarding excellence in knowledge 
transfer

>  Incorporate knowledge transfer as a 
criterion in academic promotions guidelines

AChIeVements

In 2007, achievements in knowledge 
transfer were recognised through a number 
of developments.

A program of knowledge transfer awards 
and grants was inaugurated, with the 
intertwined objectives of rewarding 
excellence, providing seeding for new 
knowledge transfer activities and improving 
understanding of Knowledge Transfer 
within the University.

These program objectives were achieved 
with the following awards:

>  four Knowledge Transfer Excellence 
Awards of $5000, rewarding and 
highlighting excellence in knowledge 
transfer; 

>  ten Knowledge Transfer Project Grants 
of up to $10000, matching in-kind and/or 
financial contributions secured with 
partners; and

>  four Knowledge Transfer Visiting 
Scholar Grants of up to $10,000 for a 
visit by a scholar who is experienced in 
knowledge transfer.

Such was the quality of the response that 
a further seven commendations of $1500 
for achievements in knowledge transfer 
were awarded.

>  The inaugural Vice-Chancellor’s 
Knowledge Transfer Excellence Awards 
and Symposium highlighted the work of 
the award winners and of the University’s 
partners. Highlights of the Symposium 
included panel sessions with external  
partners giving their perspective and 
sessions focusing on key aspects of 
knowledge transfer, including: knowledge 
transfer in teaching and learning; and 
finding partners and financing; and 
working with partners and providing 
outcomes. The Awards provided an 
excellent showcase of knowledge 
transfer for the public.

New Academic Promotions Guidelines 
approved by Council now include 
Knowledge Transfer as one of four criteria 
for promotion, and will be implemented in 
the 2008 round of academic promotions.

MeasureMent

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Develop detailed measurement and 
evaluation of knowledge transfer.

>  Assist in the development of impact 
material for the RQF.

AChIeVements

In order to make knowledge transfer more 
tangible and visible at the University it is 
essential to develop systems to monitor 
knowledge transfer activity, even though 
this is recognised internationally as a 
complex task. Only by measuring and 
evaluating activity, will the University 
be able to assess its performance and 
ensure that it not only remains a leader in 
the field, but is constantly improving. The 
Measurement Working Group prepared a 
paper outlining the major conceptual and 
pragmatic requirements for developing 
such a system as well as the connection 
between knowledge transfer and the use 
of impact as a measure of research in the 
Research Quality Framework (RQF). The 
Group’s recommendations will form the 
basis for a specific project on measurement 
in 2008 piloting databases and evaluation in 
two faculties in 2008.
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Internationally acclaimed author and influential public speaker in the realms of art and philosophy Associate Professor 
John Armstrong was appointed inaugural Knowledge Transfer Fellow



ensure that the 
uniVersity is a researCh 
leaDer in the fielD of 
KnoWleDGe transfer

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Publish a detailed report on the 
measurement and institutionalisation of 
knowledge transfer; 

>  Encourage and assist academics to publish 
works of significance and impact that will 
reach a broader non-specialist audience

AChIeVements

Development of a useful measurement tool 
for the University will attract significant 
attention and place the University as an 
international leader in knowledge transfer. 
The Measurement Working Group’s paper 
for Academic Board will form the basis of a 
scholarly work to be published in 2008. 

Scholarship of knowledge transfer has 
also been enriched by the appointment 
of Associate Professor John Armstrong 
as Knowledge Transfer Fellow to produce 
publicly accessible material on Knowledge 
Transfer and by a prestigious Carrick grant. 
The grant provides $218,000 over two 
years to the University’s Dr Jo Barraket, and 
Marcelle Scott, to research connections 
between knowledge transfer and the 
curriculum, in conjunction with the University 
of Queensland and Newcastle University.

To foster contribution to the community 
through leadership in public debate, in 
2007 the University initiated a course for 
academic staff on preparing op-ed(opinion-
editorial) pieces for newspapers. Owing to 
its popularity the course was repeated a 
number of times, with a total of six sessions 
held for 120 staff.

The University has also continued to 
develop the skills and capacity of emerging 
academics to write for non-specialist 
audiences through the Writing Centre 
for Scholars and Researchers located 
within the Melbourne School of Graduate 
Research. In addition to its other activities, 
74 postgraduates attended workshops as 
part of the Centre’s publication support 
program, with nine being awarded 
sponsorships and four previous sponsorship 
recipients being contracted for publication. 

The use to which such skills may be put 
is well shown by the adolescent sexual 
education site developed by the University 
during the year – www.yoursexhealth.org. 
The site was awarded Best in Class by the 
Interactive Media Awards and attracted 
strong interest from visitors around the globe.

iDentify anD launCh a 
neW set of KnoWleDGe 
transfer proGraMs

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Develop tools for an engagement 
process between University, business 
and community to identify potential 
University-wide initiatives

AChIeVements

A Senior Strategic Advisor (Partnerships) 
was appointed to develop tools for 
supporting new partnerships with the 
University, including guidelines, workshops 
and a processes manual. Interfaculty pilot 
partnership projects established with two 
leading firms in 2007 will provide valuable 
lessons in developing guidelines and 
policies which suit the University context 
and will continue throughout 2008.

Whole-of-uniVersity proGraM

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Launch at least one new University-wide 
program with well-developed outcome 
measures and identify a further two 
programs

AChIeVements

In 2007 the University of Melbourne 
became a partner with the City of 
Melbourne in Future Melbourne 
– a strategic planning project designed to 
produce a vision and a practical plan for 
the growth and prosperity of Melbourne 
over the next 10 years. The University’s 
participation has been in two phases. In 
Phase 1, the Enquiry Phase, the University 
played a leading role in helping to shape 
the vision through a series of public fora. 
The project, communications and media 
messages, website, and public events, and 
establishment of the Reference Group, 
were jointly developed by the City and the 
University during this phase.

From October, under Phase 2, Options, the 
University’s role focused on three themes, 
Medicine/Science City, Cultural City, and 
Living City. The University’s independent 
academic expertise in these areas will 
inform the development of the City’s 
strategic plan. 

linKs With the CoMMunity

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Develop a draft strategic plan for the 
University’s cultural assets, aligning 
resource allocation with the University’s 
strategic priorities and Cultural Policy 
principles

>  Develop plans for a campus-wide cultural 
program for the New Generation degrees 
with an enlarged Cultural and Community 
Relations Group 

AChIeVements

During the year the University adopted a 
Cultural Strategic Plan, to set out ways 
in which its resources might be applied 
to the principles adopted in the 2006 
Cultural Policy Statement, and how the 
University should use its cultural assets 
more strategically in the future. A Cultural 
Renewal Project, funded in large part 
through a grant of $490,000 from the 
Miegunyah Fund, will complete the 
cataloguing and conservation of many 
the University’s most significant cultural 
collections. 

In seeking to lift the profile of the cultural 
collections, a 2008 University Cultural 
Collections Diary was issued by Marketing 
and Communications in November, and 
a new magazine University of Melbourne 
Collections was launched by Information 
Services.

Plans have been laid for further connection 
with the community through an annual 
program of cultural events on campus. 
These include an annual Cultural Treasures 
Walk visit the major collections and 
museums, and an annual Festival of Ideas 
commencing in June 2009. 

One of the University’s most important 
links with future students and the 
community is through the annual Open 
Day. More than 60,000 school students and 
their parents visited the University to learn 
details of the New Generation degrees. 

The University maintained an important link 
with the Indigenous community in 2007 
through the Academy of Sport, Health and 
Education (ASHE) in the Goulburn Valley. 
A joint initiative between the Faculty of 
Education and the Aboriginal community-
controlled Rumbalara Football Netball 
Club, ASHE has continued to thrive in its 
third full year of operation. ASHE aims to 
create an attractive and culturally sensitive 
educational environment primarily for 
Indigenous people, using studies in sport 
as the catalyst for broad education and 
training that prepares people for work or 
further study.

In other measures the Onemda VicHealth 
Koori Health Unit at the University 
continued to expand its curriculum 
development and delivery, offering new 
courses to medical health students 
Onemda aims to foster an academic 
environment that values Aboriginal 
knowledge and methodologies, and 



supports ethical practice and Aboriginal 
self-determination. 

Supported by Onemda’s successful 
mentoring program in the Faculty of 
Medicine, Dentistry and Health Sciences 
(MDHS), enrolment numbers increased 
from two Indigenous undergraduate 
students in 2001 to 19 Indigenous 
students engaged in various levels of study 
throughout the Faculty in 2007. In 2007 
Onemda consolidated its collaborations and 
partnerships with the Aboriginal community 
through organisations such as the Victorian 
Aboriginal Community Controlled Health 
Organisation and the Koorie Heritage Trust. 

Sponsorship of community events 
increased in 2007 through the University’s 
Cultural and Community Relations 
Committee. The Committee was enlarged 
to include a number of the University’s 
most prominent cultural staff, and its Fund 
made grants totaling $281,000 towards 22 
projects involving the community. Support 
was also provided to conferences, forums, 
publications, exhibitions, performances and 
festivals. Campus venues were provided 
without charge (or at reduced charges) for 
more than 30 community groups.

publiC poliCy anD Debate

The University recognises a responsibility 
to use its expertise to contribute to 
policy and public debate. The University’s 
academics are in constant demand 
as authoritative and independent 
commentators on significant public issues. 
High-profile contributions to debate during 
2007 included:

>  Professor Loane Skene’s contribution to 
the ongoing community debate about 
human embryonic stem cell research 
in her capacity as Deputy Chair and 
official spokesperson of the Lockhart 
Committee, which was responsible for 
receiving legislation on human cloning and 
research involving human embryos.

>  200 free public lectures, by prominent 
local, national and international speakers. 

Highlights among the lectures were: 

>  the 2007 Chancellor’s Human Rights 
Lecture ‘The Protection of Women and 
Children during Armed Conflict’ by Ms 
Radhika Coomaraswamy, United Nations 
Special Representative of the Secretary 
General for Children and Armed Conflict; 

>  the Menzies Oration Lecture ‘Education: 
Vision and Reality’ by Professor Arthur 
Li, Former Secretary of Manpower and 
Education, Hong Kong;

>  ‘Where to, Zimbabwe?’ by Mr Morgan 
Tsvangirai, President, Zimbabwe 
Opposition Party; 

> ‘ Does Pre-School Matter?’ by Professor 
David Kirp, US childcare public policy 
commentator and academic;

> ‘ Unravelling Einstein’s Secrets’ by 
Professor Roy Kerr, prominent Physicist 
and author, New Zealand;

> ‘ The emerging dominance of West in 
America’s economy, culture and politics’ 
by Professor David Kennedy, 
US Historian;

>  major public fora such as the CSHE 
seminar series on higher education, 
‘Reconciliation and the Constitution’ and 
the Future Fund symposium.

Groups such as the Melbourne University 
Debating Society were assisted to attend 
international competitions. Sponsorship 
was provided for internships under the Uni-
Capitol Washington Internship program, for 
Students in Free Enterprise to attend world 
finals in New York and 27 elite student 
athletes were assisted to compete in 
international sporting competitions.

Chancellor Ian Renard and Zimbabwe opposition leader Morgan Tsvangirai at a packed public lecture in August.
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in 2007 the university continued to 
provide extensive access to theatre, 
music and visual arts that enrich and 
add to the diversity of the city’s culture.

>  The Faculty of Music and the Faculty of 
the Victorian College of the Arts offered 
an extensive program of performances 
and exhibitions to the public, drawing on 
their extensive staff and student talent.

>  The University’s Melbourne Theatre 
Company presented 12 plays in 
Melbourne for 241,834 people, as well as 
over 10,000 school children. It featured 
the work of playwrights such as Edward 
Albee, Arthur Miller and Alan Bennett 
and important Australian writers such as 
Hannie Rayson and David Williamson. 
Major building work began on its new 
theatre in Southbank Boulevard, and a 
project to refurbish a building in Sturt St, 
Southbank for its new headquarters.

>  The University’s Ian Potter Museum of 
Art welcomed 21,000 visitors in 2007; 18 
per cent of these were student groups. 
Its exhibitions included George Lambert: 

Gallipoli and Palestine Landscapes, in 
partnership with the Australian War 
Memorial, and Facing Percy Grainger, in 
partnership with the National Library of 
Australia and the University’s Grainger 
Museum. Outstanding exhibitions by 
contemporary Australian artists included 
Strange Fruit: Testimony and memory 
in Julie Dowling’s portraits; the first 
major exhibition in Melbourne by an 
acclaimed Indigenous artist, and After 
the Age of Aquarius: American art in the 
early seventies – confronting works from 
internationally renowned American artists 
reflecting the tensions of the Vietnam era.  

>  Melbourne University Publishing (MUP) 
enjoyed a successful year with record 
sales and critical recognition for its titles. 
The MUP publication Colonial Ambition by 
Peter Cochrane was awarded the Prime 
Minister’s Prize for Australian History, the 
Age Book of the Year and the Age Non-
Fiction Book of the Year. The 2007 Victorian 
Premier’s Nettie Palmer Prize was awarded 
to the MUP publication Voyages to the 
South Seas by Danielle Clode.

>  Meanjin, the University’s literary quarterly, 
continued to contribute to Australian 
writing and culture within the wider 
community.  Highlights included its first 
novella by Canberra-based Margaret 
Innes, inaugural winner of the Meanjin 
Readings novella competition.  

>  The University again provided $200,000 
towards the program of the Victorian 
Opera Company, and $60,000 to the 
Melbourne Symphony, together with 
income from its Myer Orchestral Trust 
Fund, to present the Sidney Myer 
Free Orchestral Concerts in February, 
attracting crowds of over 40,000 to the 
Sidney Myer Music Bowl.

>  The Australian Literary Review continued 
to explore the work of the country’s 
leading writers and thinkers across 
a wide range of disciplines, and has 
been renewed for a further two years. 
Published monthly in The Australian, it 
is co-sponsored by the University, MUP,  
the Australia Council, and News Ltd.

establish a stronG 
basis for the next phase 
of CoMMerCialisation 
DeVelopMent throuGh 
the iMpleMentation ofa 
Coherent CoMMerCialisation 
strateGy 

Central elements of the revised 
Commercialisation Strategy approved 
by Council in December 2006 were 
implemented this year, resulting in the 
enhanced delivery of commercial services 
and an increase in financial returns. The 
Strategy has led to the establishment  
of a strong base for the next phase of 
commercialisation development.

GoVernanCe

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Create a single management 
and governance structure for 
commercialisation activities, while 
ensuring Melbourne Ventures’ activities 
are not compromised

>  Establish Commercialisation Advisory 
Boards focused on external input

AChIeVements

During 2007 all of the commercialisation 
support activities were consolidated into one 
management structure headed by the Vice-
Principal (Commercialisation). Melbourne 
Ventures Pty Ltd became a wholly owned 
subsidiary of UMEE Ltd and the activities 
and staff of the Curriculum Licensing 
Services group (formerly Multimedia 
Licensing and Technology Contracts Unit) 
became a division of UMEE Ltd.

An operational review of the School of 
Enterprise, already a division of UMEE 
Ltd, confirmed its value as a unique model 
fulfilling the dual roles of helping academics 
across the University meet the needs of 
business and government, and providing 
a portal to the University for customised 
education and consulting.

Creation of Commercialisation Advisory 
Boards was deferred until 2009 pending a 
decision on whether to proceed with separate 
boards or incorporate advisory groups for 
commercialisation with other areas. 

inCrease CoMMerCialisation

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Improve deal creation and execution 
through a 50 per cent increase in 

licensing opportunities pursued and 25 per 
cent increase in opportunities presented to 
investors

>  Increase by 15 per cent fees from the 
commercialisation of educational services

>  Identify and implement initiatives to 
enhance interaction with business and 
encourage commercialisation

AChIeVements

In its fourth year of operation, Melbourne 
Ventures, the University’s research 
commercialisation company, saw a steady 
increase in the number of technology 
commercialisation opportunities arising from 
the University. In 2007 a total of 50 new 
invention disclosures were made. For the 
second year in a row income from licenses, 
options and assignments grew strongly and 
totalled $7 million for the year, up from $4.3 
million two years previously.  Melbourne 
Ventures also assisted with the filing and 
management of 38 patent applications, 
including 23 provisional applications.

Although a relatively small number of 
licensing deals were concluded, by value it 
was nevertheless a significant year with a 
major new licence being concluded with an 
international biotech company. Melbourne 
Ventures was also successful in extending 
the lifespan of an existing important licence 

Cultural enGaGeMent



of the University and recovering substantial 
underpaid royalties from other licensees.

It was a relatively quiet year for new start-
up ventures, with only two new companies 
developing out of University research 
– Fibrotech Therapeutics is developing a 
new therapy for fibrotic diseases, whilst 
CFaR is developing new technology for 
trading in the foreign exchange markets. 

However, it was a busy year for companies 
which had spun out of the University in 
previous years:

>  Hatchtech (derived from the work of 
Dr Vern Bowles, Centre for Animal 
Biotechnology) completed a Phase 1 
clinical trial of its compound to treat 
headlice, and is expecting to commence 
Phase 2 trials in 2008.

>  Velacor Therapeutics (derived from the 
work of Dr Chris Hovens and Professor 
Tony Costello, Departmentt of Surgery 
(RMH)) completed its Phase 1 trial of a 
new treatment for prostate cancer, and 
is also expecting to commence Phase 2 
trials in 2008.

>  Austhink Software (derived from the 
work of Dr Tim van Gelder, Department 
of Philosophy) successfully raised over 
$4 million to launch its critical thinking 
software into the US market.

>  Hexima Ltd (derived from the work of 
Professor Adrienne Clark, School of 
Botany) listed on the Australian Stock 
Exchange (ASX), and continues its 
relationship with the School of Botany.

>  Continence Control Systems International 
(derived from the work of Professor 
John Furness, Department of Anatomy 
and  Cell Biology) merged with Colocare 
Holdings, and expects to list on the ASX 
during 2008.

In Curriculum Licensing Services, activity 
in 2007 focused on the creation of new 
market channels and the expansion 
of distribution networks for University 
courseware products.  Major new 
partnership arrangements established 
to promote University courseware 
included the Chinese Academy of Medical 
Sciences, DA Information and University 
Bookshop Malaysia, with a consolidation 
of relationships with Austrade via its India, 
Malaysia, Singapore and Thailand offices.  

These new relationships provided a 
valuable platform for the international 
showcasing and commercial distribution of 
University courseware products in 2007. 
Curriculum licensing activity during 2007 
consolidated the success of the previous 

year, with major sales of nursing curriculum 
and postgraduate student resource 
materials, and with new international 
teaching collaborations in behavioural 
science, veterinary science and in research 
ethics training, all of which utilised 
specialised University materials.

Overall commercial returns from licensing in 
2007 remained consistent with the success 
of the previous year. There are positive 
signs that growing awareness on the part of 
faculties, departments and creators of the 
opportunities, afforded by the showcasing of 
curriculum resources will lead to an increase 
in licensing opportunities in future years. 
Meanwhile the increased exposure also 
creates potential partnership opportunities, 
both commercial and otherwise.

The customised program and consulting 
services provided by the School of 
Enterprise continued to be of significant 
benefit to the University during the year.  
The School continued to develop an 
innovative and unique range of program 
models to meet clients’ needs, evidenced 
by the high level of contract renewal from 
existing clients and a number of new clients.

Revenue in the School increased by 
approximately 15 per cent in the year, 
meeting the 2007 target.  

There was strong growth in customised 
programs delivered internationally, 
particularly in Malaysia, Singapore and 
Indonesia, and there was a continued rise in 
the success rate (from 30 per cent in 2005 
to 47 per cent in 2007) in winning higher 
value competitive consultancy tenders.

Postgraduate enrolments through the School 
increased by 32 per cent over 2006 to a total 
for 2007 of 699.  The ratio of domestic to 

international students remained constant at 
58  per cent and 42 per cent, respectively.  

CoMMuniCation

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Implement a revised web portal to 
enhance internal and external access to 
commercialisation activities.

>  Clearly communicate the benefits of 
commercialisation and the roles of each 
business unit within the University.

A communications review resulted in a new 
strategy to enhance internal and external 
access to commercialisation activities. 
The new Business Melbourne portal at 
www.business.unimelb.edu.au provides a 
central access point for enquiries regarding 
commercial activities. Further information 
has been made available through a range 
of promotional materials entitled Doing 
Business with Melbourne.

outlooK 

Having provided recognition and rewards 
for Knowledge Transfer in 2007, in 2008 
a major focus will be to  develop more 
sophisticated systems for tracking and 
monitoring performance. Improving 
capacity to undertake knowledge 
transfer will also be a priority. The 
University will continue to enhance 
performance and productivity in all areas 
of commercialisation, increasing the rate of 
opportunity creation, reducing the hurdles 
and enhancing channels to the marketplace. 
At the same time the University will build 
on the value derived from key partnerships 
and further coordinate engagement with 
external organisations. 

Students walk between classes in the historic Old Quad building.
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AN INTERNATIONAL PERSPECTIVE IS CRUCIAL TO THE SUCCESS OF ALL 
ASPECTS OF GROWING ESTEEM.

INTERNATIONAL 

 ENGAGEMENT
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PERFORMANCE AGAINST 
2007 TARGETS
Maintain anD enhanCe our hiGh international reputation, inCluDinG a top 2� ranKinG in the 
Times HigHer educaTion suppLemenT WorlD uniVersity ranKinGs anD iMproVeMent in our top �00 
ranKinG in the shanGhai Jiao tonG inDex

The University was ranked overall at No. 27 in the world in the Times Higher Education Supplement (THES) 2007 World 
University Rankings (compared to No. 22 in 2006), despite changes to the methodology this year. Melbourne was one of 
the top five universities in the Asia – Pacific. 
Melbourne was one of only two Australian universities in the top 100 universities in the Shanghai Jiao Tong University 
Academic Rankings of World Universities 2007, ranked No. 79 (No. 78 in 2006). Melbourne is also the only Australian 
university to be ranked in the top 100 in four broad discipline areas – Engineering/Technology and Computer Sciences; Life 
and Agriculture Sciences; Clinical Medicine and Pharmacy; and Social Sciences. The University has been an active participant 
in the Association of Pacific Rim Universities.

ensure that the Melbourne experienCe is an international one

The University was successful in attracting well-qualified students from overseas to its programs. Over 11,000 students 
(27 per cent of the teaching load) come from more than 115 countries. The Melbourne Global Mobility Unit was 
established to improve student participation rates in international exchanges and conferences. More flexible options 
for exchanges and possible new partners are being negotiated. Eleven University-level agreements with international 
partners were signed in 2007. The Melbourne Experience Committee monitored and promoted programs recognising 
diversity in curricula and teaching.

strenGthen Cross-DisCiplinary researCh anD inter-institutional researCh anD international 
Collaboration in researCh anD researCh traininG
Significant steps taken to strengthen cross-disciplinary and inter-institutional research and international collaboration are 
outlined in the Research and Research Training section of this report. In addition, Melbourne, maintained collegial and 
entrepreneurial links through the Universitas 21 network and implemented the Malaysian Universities Shared PhD Program.

Left: Professor Abdullah Saeed, Sultan of Oman Professor of Arab and Islamic Studies and Director of the University’s new National Centre of Excellence 

for Islamic Studies.

“THE UNIVERSITY’S ALREADY EXTENSIVE LINKS 
WITH CHINA WERE STRENGTHENED DURING 

THE YEAR WITH THE OFFICIAL OPENING OF THE 
CONFUCIUS INSTITUTE AT THE UNIVERSITY”.

Professor Frank Larkins 
Deputy Vice-Chancellor (International)



international enGaGeMent 

The University has recognised the 
significance of international engagement to 
its Growing Esteem Strategy by embedding 
its international agenda into its aspirations for 
each of the three strands of the triple helix. 
This approach reflects the reality that not 
only will many of our students live and work 
across a diversity of cultures throughout 
their careers, but many major challenges 
facing the world today will only be resolved 
through international collaborations bringing 
together the expertise of researchers from 
different communities.

In Research and Research Training 
the focus is on building international 
collaborative networks, increasing global 
mobility opportunities for research 
students and attracting increased 
international research funding. In Learning 
and Teaching the internationalisation of 
the Melbourne Experience has focussed 
on expanding international collaborative 
learning opportunities, introducing 
strategies to meet the different needs of 
our culturally diverse international student 
population and producing globally aware 
graduates with a rich understanding 
of other cultures. Knowledge transfer 
activities continue to concentrate on 
revitalising international alumni networks 
and developing our global profile through 
strengthened engagement with major 
international universities and companies. 

GoVernanCe of 
international aCtiVities

Overall responsibility for the strategic 
and policy direction for international 
engagement resides with the Deputy Vice-
Chancellor (DVC) (International).  Since 
mid-2007, operational and administrative 
support for international activities has 
been provided largely through the 
Director, International, a new position 
with responsibility for International Market 
Development, International Admissions, the 
International Office Network, International 
Relations and Asialink.  

ranKinGs

Though the University’s world rankings 
slipped slightly in 2007, the University 
remained one of the most highly ranked 
Australian universities. The University 
was ranked overall at No. 27 in the world 
in the highly competitive Times Higher 
Education Supplement (THES) 2007 
World University Rankings, (compared to 
No. 22 in 2006) despite changes to the 
methodology this year. Melbourne was 
one of the top five universities in the Asia 
– Pacific.  In terms of peer review, the 

University ranked even higher, as one of 
the top 20 universities in the world with a 
perfect score of 100, putting it in company 
with Harvard, Cambridge and Oxford 
universities.  Melbourne was also the only 
Australian university ranked in the top 10 
by employers following a survey of major 
global and national employers across the 
public and private sectors.

The University was again ranked among 
the top 100 universities in the world in the 
Shanghai Jiao Tong University Academic 
Rankings of World Universities 2007.  
Melbourne was one of only two Australian 
universities in the top 100, holding 
reasonably steady at No. 79 (No. 78 in 
2006). Melbourne is also the only Australian 
University to be ranked in the top 100 in 
four broad discipline areas – Engineering/
Technology and Computer Sciences; Life 
and Agriculture Sciences; Clinical medicine 
and Pharmacy; and Social Sciences.

ensurinG that the 
Melbourne experienCe 
is an international one

strateGiC priority

>  Implement recruitment practices for 
international postgraduate coursework and 
research students, including foundation 
studies and use of web-based materials

aChieVeMents

international stuDents

The University has again been successful in 
attracting a large number of well-qualified 
students from overseas to its programs. 
Of the 44,500 students enrolled at the 
University in 2007, over 11,000 (27 per 
cent  of the teaching load) are international 
students from more than 115 countries 
throughout the world. The large majority of 
international students come from Asia, with 
China, Malaysia, Singapore and Indonesia 
continuing as the leading source countries. 
According to a benchmark study conducted 
by IDP Education Pty Ltd, by second 
semester 2007 the University had achieved, 
for the first time, the largest cohort of 
on-campus international students of any 
university in Australia.  

A record number of international 
applications and acceptances has 
underpinned this growth.  In 2007, the 
University received 12,856 applications, and 
for the first time received more than 4000 
acceptances: of the 4264 acceptances, 
2203 were for undergraduate programs, 
1799 for graduate course work, and 262 for 
research higher degrees.  

This year has seen a strong focus on 
communicating the University’s Melbourne 
Model to prospective international students 
and other international stakeholders. The 
2007 international prospectuses highlighted 
the New Generation degrees and new 
postgraduate pathways available under the 
new model.  The Melbourne Model, and 
newly created scholarships were also given 
prominence in education fairs and interview 
programs held offshore and in training for 
overseas representatives.

Over 10 per cent of the University’s 
international students are sponsored 
by 80 different organisations. The 
development this year of an international 
sponsor management plan will provide a 
more systematic and strategic approach 
to communicating and managing the 
relationship with both international 
sponsors and sponsored students.

international offiCes

The University consolidated its strategic 
presence overseas through the 
establishment of international offices in 
Kuala Lumpur, Singapore and Bangalore 
to complement existing offices in Jakarta 
and Bangkok. 

The University approved the 
establishment of two additional offices 
in Shanghai and San Francisco to service 
China and North America respectively. 
The University also extended its financial 
commitment to the International Office 
Network through to 2010.

The International Office Network plays 
an important role in strengthening the 
University’s profile in the Asia – Pacific 
region, providing policy advice for focused 
engagement and a reliable interface 
between the University and key markets, 
collaborating research institutions and 
alumni. The offices have been instrumental 
in communicating the Growing Esteem 
Strategy and details about New Generation 
degrees and graduate programs to 
international stakeholders. 

international Collaboration

strateGiC priority

>  Expand international collaborative 
partnerships, including jointly-badged 
degrees, with at least three new 
programs in 2007/08

aChieVeMents

The University continued to take a strategic 
approach to its bilateral and network 
engagement. Twelve new University and 
eight faculty-level agreements for academic 



cooperation and exchange were established 
in 2007, adding to the existing suite of 
over 170 bilateral partnerships with leading 
universities worldwide. 

New university-level agreements were 
signed with Charles University in Prague, 
the Graduate University of the Chinese 
Academy of Science, Jagiellonian 
University in Poland, the Institute of 
Political Studies (Sciences Po) in Paris, 
the University of Chile, the University of 
São Paulo, the University of Helsinki, the 
University of Latvia, the University of Los 
Andes in Colombia, the University of Tartu 
in Estonia, the University of Trento in Italy 
and Vanderbilt University in the USA.

Jointly-badged degree arrangements for 
the Bachelor of Agricultural Science were 
finalised with Nanjing Agricultural University 
and China Agricultural University. 

Confucius institute

The University’s already extensive links 
with China were strengthened during 
the year with the official opening of the 
Confucius Institute at the University. The 
Institute’s objective is to increase the 
Australian community’s understanding of 
China through Chinese culture, language 
and business programs. Part of a global 
network of institutes established by the 
Government of the People’s Republic 
of China, it is one of only two Confucius 
Institutes in the world with a major focus 
on programs for corporates engaged in 
business with China. Nanjing University 
partners Melbourne in the Institute. 
Melbourne and Nanjing have each 
appointed a professor as joint Academic 
Director of the Institute. The Institute works 
closely with Austrade and the Australian 
Institute of Exporters. It is supported by 
the Chinese Government, the Victorian 
Government, the University of Melbourne 
and the Myer Foundation.

programs and events

Throughout the year, the International 
Relations Office coordinated a variety 
of events and programs to promote 
international academic linkages. A highlight 
was the Latin America seminar held 
in November.  This major Knowledge 
Transfer event was initiated and supported 
by Ambassadors of six Latin American 
countries – Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Mexico, 
Peru and Venezuela. The event provided a 
discussion platform for synergies between 
Australia and Latin America in the fields 
of Mining, Engineering, Agriculture and 
Foreign Affairs. 

international Visits and Visitors

The University’s high level of international 
engagement is reflected by the 330 
international visitors from the higher 
education, government and diplomatic 
sectors from 35 countries hosted by the 
University during the course of the year. 
Over 100 guests, including international 
scholars from 23 countries attended 
the Vice-Chancellor’s Reception for 
International Visitors. The annual event is 
an opportunity for the University to formally 
acknowledge the major contribution 
international visiting scholars make to the 
work and life of the University.  

Distinguished visitors during the year 
included the Hon Rahul Gandhi MP, the 
Chief Mentor, Confederation of Indian 
Industries; the Vice Minister in the 
Colombian Ministry of Education; Professor 
Jinghua Cao, Deputy Director General of 
the Bureau of International Affairs, Chinese 
Academy of Sciences; the President of 
the National University of Singapore; 
representatives from many of Melbourne’s 
partner universities and Ambassadors, 
High Commissioners and Consul-Generals 
representing diplomatic missions from 
countries around the world. 

International travel undertaken by the 
University’s senior executives in 2007 
reflected the University’s increasingly 
regional focus and commitment to our 
two main international networks, the 
Association of Pacific Rim Universities 
(APRU) and Universitas 21. In 2007 the 
University also worked to build relationships 
with US institutions and with India. A visit 
by the DVC (International) to India, who also 
met with alumni and leading members of 
the Indian business community, has led to 
new investment in the University’s medical 
research programs.

international stuDent Mobility

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Increase the number of students 
participating in formal exchange programs 
to at least 10 per cent by 2009

AChIeVements

As reported in the Learning and Teaching 
section of this Report on page 40, a new 
Global Mobility Unit was established in 
2007 to promote international student 
mobility opportunities for all University 
of Melbourne students. New strategies 
including the global curriculum and 
course changes through the Melbourne 
Model, will provide a range of enhanced 
opportunities for students. Additional travel 

scholarship funding from 2009 will support 
students to undertake part of their studies 
internationally. The University encourages 
students to include an overseas experience 
as part of their Melbourne Experience.

Exchange opportunities for students 
studying Philosophy and Political Theory 
have increased through Melbourne’s 
participation in a new multilateral exchange 
program with four European universities 
– LUISS University Rome, University 
of Bielefeld, University of Helsinki and 
University of Lancaster. 

In 2007, 462 Melbourne students studied 
at 100 partner institutions under bilateral 
student exchange arrangements, an 
increase from 421 students in 2006. 114 
of these students studied abroad for 
one academic year – equivalent to 576 
semester places.  In addition, a number of 
students undertook study tours, research 
or fee-paying Study Abroad.  The University 
of Melbourne also hosted 413 students 
from exchange partners (an increase from 
394 students the previous year), and a 
further 453 students from study abroad 
partners around the world.

strenGthen Cross-
DisCiplinary researChanD 
inter-institutional anD 
internationl Collaboration 
in researCh anD researh 
traininG.

Malaysian ‘split’ phD 
partnership aGreeMent

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Successfully implement the Malaysian 
Universities shared PhD program

AChIeVements

In July the University signed a partnership 
agreement with seven Malaysian 
Universities for a  ‘split’  PhD program 
designed to build capacity in the Malaysian 
higher education sector. Commencing 
in 2008, the Malaysian universities will 
provide up to 120 scholarships over four 
years to selected staff to undertake joint 
PhD research training at Melbourne and the 
designated Malaysian university. Successful 
candidates will split their research time 
between Melbourne and their Malaysian 
university and will be co-supervised by 
academic staff at both institutions. The 
agreement also aims to foster exchange 
between academic staff from Melbourne 
and the participating Malaysian universities.  
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Melbourne is a founding member and 
played a leading role in the establishment 
of Universitas 21, an international network 
of research-intensive universities from 
the People’s Republic of China, Canada, 
the United Kingdom, Europe, Singapore, 
New Zealand, the USA and Australia. 
Two new members were admitted this 
year, Delhi University, India and Waseda 
University, Japan, bring the total number of 
members to 21. Now in its tenth year, the 
network provides a framework for member 
universities to pursue collaborative and 
entrepreneurial activities.

As a collegial network, U21 continues 
to promote international collaboration 
in a number of areas. Melbourne has 
taken a leading role in increasing student 
mobility across the network with 2200 
undergraduate semester-equivalent 
exchanges occurring throughout the 
network in 2007 – an increase of 250 over 
2006. At Melbourne 159 students undertook 
an exchange a nine per cent increase over 
2006 and 22 per cent over 2005.

The U21 Summer School Program and 
Undergraduate Research Conference are 
now established and successful components 
of the U21 student mobility agenda.  In 
2007 Melbourne students participated in 
the Summer School held at Virginia and the 

Undergraduate Research Conference held at 
McGill University in Montreal. 

During the year an Anniversary Fellowships 
program was launched to provide 
fellowships to support mobility of junior 
faculty and research higher degree students. 

The U21 Program in Global Issues entered 
its third year in 2007. This multi-disciplinary, 
undergraduate award, is offered jointly by 
five U21 institutions – the universities of 
Auckland, British Columbia, Hong Kong, 
Melbourne and Nottingham with a number 
of other members. It encourages students 
to develop globally relevant knowledge and 
skills through certificate or diploma level 
study, or as a minor within an undergraduate 
degree. In 2007, 26 Melbourne students 
participated with 16 undertaking at least 
one subject ‘virtually’. 

The U21 Design Forum ‘Improving the 
Campus by Design: Creating Improved 
Learning Environments to Enhance the 
Student Experience’ was hosted at 
Melbourne in September. The University 
Museums group continued to work on 
developing virtual collections within the U21 
network, using ‘virtual print room’ technology 
already in use at Melbourne, which might be 
made available more generally for teaching 
and research purposes.  

A range of other special interest groups 
also met this year. Significant progress 
was made on the U21 Water Network 
collaborative research project led by 
Melbourne’s Professor John Langford and 
involving Melbourne, Hong Kong University, 
Nottingham, Birmingham, Glasgow and the 
University of Virginia. The aim of the group 
is to provide an independent international 
forum for government, industry and the 
community to address the complex issues 
of water sustainability.  

The eighth annual meeting of the U21 
Health Sciences group was attended by 
160 participants.  This group is collaborating 
with Swinfen Charitable Trust to provide 
support for hospitals in developing 
countries and at the same time providing 
opportunities for international engagement 
by students.

The Vice-Presidents/Deputy Vice-Chancellors 
Research Group identified as potential areas 
of collaboration an exchange program for 
RHD students and a digital visualisation 
conference (particularly in the humanities). 

An inaugural forum for U21 doctoral 
students in education provided an 
opportunity to establish connections among 
U21 doctoral students in education across 
the network. 

u2�

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Broaden the research and research training 
engagement with Universitas 21 partner 
universities and increase the number of 
research students spending at least one 
semester at an overseas institution

latin america research training

Collaborative agreements have been 
reached for research training in Mexico, 
Chile and Peru and will provide the 
foundation for increasing graduate and 
research training activities with South 
American institutions. Agreements have 
been signed with the National Council for 
Science and Technology (CONACYT) of the 
United Mexican States and the Comision 
Nacional de Investigacion Cientifica y 
Technologica Chile (CONICYT). A further 
agreement with the Instituto de Becas 
y Credito Educativo Peru (INABEC) is 
expected to be signed early in 2008.

assoCiation of paCifiC 
riM uniVersities

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Establish Melbourne as an active 
participant in the Association of Pacific 
Rim Universities (APRU) network 
through participation in at least three 
specialist workshops

AChIeVements

The University has been a keen participant 
in the activities of the Association of Pacific 
Rim Universities (APRU) in its first year of 
membership. The Deputy Vice-Chancellor 
(International) attended the APRU Senior 
Staff Meeting in Taipei,  the Vice-Chancellor 
attended the Annual APRU Presidents 
Meeting at Zhejiang University, while 
Melbourne academic staff participated 
in two APRU World Institute workshops 
on Public Health and Climate Change. 
Melbourne’s Professor Jim Falk was 
appointed co-director of the AWI research 
project ‘Pacific Rim Cities: Climate Change 
Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies.’

Melbourne academic staff are participating 
in a research project jointly funded by APRU 
and the Pacific Economic Cooperation 
Council (PECC) to form part of a PECC-
APRU report on the Asia Pacific Education 
Market, analysing the links between 
economic development, international 
student flows and skilled migration.

Melbourne is also a member of a number 
of international business and cultural 
organisations including the Business 
Councils for China, India and Malaysia, and 
is a patron of the Asia Society Austral Asia 
Centre. These bodies have assisted the 
University in building relationships with key 
industry and government leaders to achieve 
our international objectives.

AsIAlInK

Asialink, a non-academic department of the 
University, continued to play a leading role 
in the promotion of public understanding 
of Asia and of Australia’s role in the Asian 
region.  Its annual program of events within 
Australia and Asia significantly increases the 
University’s reputation as an Asia-focused 

uniVersiTas 21



Conferences

> ‘ Linking Latitudes India.’ Nearly 300 
Australian educators travelled to India 
for a conference in Delhi and Agra and a 
two-week fieldwork program. 

> ‘ Asia Connect,’ a  one-day conference 
which focused on the opportunities and 
the war for talent in Asia. 

>  Program of public and private events at the 
University. Asia-focused public lectures 
addressing themes such as climate 
change, globalisation, human rights and 
security and ‘insider perspectives’ into 
countries including Burma, China, India, 
Indonesia and Singapore.

>   Asialink Ambassadors Roundtables with 
Ambassadors from the People’s Republic 
of China, Korea and Thailand and 
Australia’s Ambassadors to Singapore 
and Vietnam.

>   Business Briefings with eminent speakers. 

arts program

>  Sponsored over 40 artist residencies 
throughout Asia (in Visual Arts, Arts 
Management, Performing Arts and 
Literature).

>   Organised six visual arts touring 
exhibitions with 30 participating artists. 

>  Funded three Australian authors to travel 
to China and Taiwan. 

>  Held annual Australia-Asia Arts Forum in 
Brisbane with speakers from Australia, 
Korea and Singapore.

education program

> Sponsored over 200 Australian teachers 
on international study programs. 

> Hosted 30 Asian educators.

> Sent 50 Australian educators to Asia.

>  Delivered a national forum for leading 
educators on Engaging Young Australians 
with Asia in Australian Schools.

leaders program

>  Secured major funding from the Potter 
Foundation for participant Scholarships.

and engaged institution. Asialink also assists 
in the coordination of many University-wide 
Asia related programs and activities.

One of the highlights of 2007 was the 
prestigious ‘APEC 2020  –  Asialink 
Conversation for Leaders’ held in Sydney 
immediately following the APEC Leaders 
Summit. With keynote speaker Indonesian 
President Susilo Bambang Yudhoyono, 
40 leaders from business, government, 
think tanks and academia from 21 APEC 
economies discussed contemporary issues 
facing the region such as regional architecture, 
capacity building and climate change. 

RegIonAl InItIAtIVes

The Asia-Australia Mental Health (AAMH) 
network, a partnership with the University’s 
Department of Psychiatry, the Centre for 
International Mental Health, the Australian 
International Health Institute, St Vincent’s 
Health and Asialink continued to collaborate 
on culturally appropriate responses to 
escalating mental health challenges in 
the Asia region. AAMH projects included 
disaster-related mental health care to 
protect children and facilitating collaboration 
between Beyondblue, Australia’s national 
depression initiative, and China’s Psychiatric 
Association aimed at raising community 
awareness in China about depression.

In another regional initiative, the 
University’s Asia Institute is leading a 
consortium of eight Australian and four 
Indonesian Universities in a collaborative 
program to help re-build research capacities 
in the devastated Indonesian province of 
Aceh. This is a three-year research program 
which has been supported by grants of 
$3 million from AusAID and the Myer 
Foundation, and involves staff from a wide 
range of disciplines. 

outlooK

2008 will see the opening of two new 
offshore offices in San Francisco and 
Shanghai, bringing the University’s network 
of offshore offices to seven. The University 
will work through these offices and other 
means to promote the new graduate 
schools internationally and to promote the 
split PhD in Malaysia. The support of the 
new San Francisco office will be particularly 
useful in engagement with partner 
universities in North America. An Australia 
India Institute will be established to provide 
regional perspective on relations between 
the two countries as well as enhancing 
inter-governmental relations, collaborative 
research links and strategic alliances with 
leading institutions. The University will also 
work to further enhance the contribution 
made by the Confucius Institute to 
strengthen Australia-China relationships.

Radhika Coomaraswamy delivered the 2007 Chancellor’s 
Human Rights Lecture, titled “The protection of 
women and children during armed conflict. Whose 
responsibility?”.
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lo res piC

quote requireDIMPLEMENTATION OF THE GROWING ESTEEM STRATEGY IS DEPENDENT 
ON ENABLERS THAT BIND THE THREE STRANDS TOGETHER. EFFORTS IN 
2007 CONCENTRATED ON DELIVERING THE BEST POSSIBLE TRANSITION 
TO THE MELBOURNE MODEL.

BINDING THE 

 STRANDS 
TOGETHER
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PERFORMANCE AGAINST 
2007 TARGETS
ensure eMployMent poliCies anD proCeDures refleCt the Goals of GroWinG esteeM

Academic promotions criteria and reward, recognition and retention policies for professional staff were revised to reflect 
the Growing Esteem Strategy. Change management support was incorporated into all leadership programs. Strategies were 
implemented to improve performance of non-research active academic staff. A workforce planning framework was developed 
in partnership with the faculty business planning process.  Promotion of equal opportunity and an inclusive workplace 
has continued in particular through faculty Equal Opportunity for Women in the Workplace networks, the Staff Equity and 
Diversity Committee and development of a University-wide Staff Equity and Diversity Plan. The University received an 
Employer of Choice for Women Award for 2007/8.

aChieVe a stronG MarKetinG profile anD CoMMuniCate effeCtiVely 
With staKeholDers, partiCularly in relation to the Melbourne MoDel

The University’s marketing and communications profile was redeveloped to include new digital media, renewed print 
publications and an innovative DreamLarge marketing campaign to promote the Melbourne Model. New digital media included: 
Melbourne Up Close podcasts, Visions, Melbourne Voice, Research Review, and key public lectures. Successful major events 
included: Melbourne Model Launch, Open Day, Postgraduate Expo, Graduate Schools Launch, and Town and Gown Dinner. The 
University made significant advances in consistent branding. 

ensure that physiCal infrastruCture is in plaCe WhiCh supports GroWinG esteeM
The Parkville masterplan, designed to ensure that physical infrastructure supports Growing Esteem, is on track for completion 
by July 2008. A new Economics and Commerce building is under construction. The first learning precinct is under construction. 
Plans to improve research infrastructure were completed or are progressing for: Education; Arts; Science; Architecture, Building 
and Planning; and Land and Food Resources. Additional space was leased for a number of groups including research laboratories 
for Engineering and space for ANZSOG, the Martin Institute, the Confucius Institute and the Islamic Studies Centre.

DiVersify funDinG sourCes anD inCrease funDs raiseD throuGh aDVanCeMent aCtiVities
A significant increase in fundraising activity across the University occurred during 2007, giuded by the Advancement Office, 
which regularly engaged leading international advancement specialists to run training sessions. A  new Future Generation 
Scholarships Trust achieved donations of over $220,000. Results from the Annual Appeal continued to grow, both in terms of 
number of donors and amount raised. Membership of the Chancellor’s Circle grew by 250 per cent to 730.The University Fund 
raised $744,728 (13 per cent more than last year).The Baker Foundation announced $2.5 million to endow a Chair in Physical 
Biosciences. The University published the inaugural Report to Our Donors and  commenced planning a Campaign for Melbourne, 
designed to raise funds from private sources.

Left: Students on the South Lawn enjoy the wireless internet now available across the entire Parkville campus.

“THE NEW STUDENT-CENTRIC MELBOURNE 
STUDENT SERVICES MODEL 

RADICALLY CHANGES THE DELIVERY OF 
STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES.”

Mr Ian Marshman 
Senior Vice-Principal



binDinG the 
stranDs toGether

The three strands of the Growing Esteem 
Strategy connect and inform each other 
and are reflected in the structure and 
management of the University. The 
Strategy’s implementation depends on 
enablers that bind together the strands. 
These enablers: support for staff ; 
communications and marketing; campus 
infrastructure; finance and fundraising; 
planning and University administration  
help shape all aspects of the University’s 
activities. Growing Esteem efforts in 2007 
concentrated on preparing for the best 
possible transition to the Melbourne Model 
in 2008.

people

Implementing Growing Esteem involves an 
enormous amount of institutional change, 
in turn creating significant additional work 
for staff across the University. Ensuring 
that workloads remain manageable during 
the transition to the Melbourne Model has 
been a major focus of HR initiatives during 
the year.

Full-time equivalent 2006 2007

Academic 3258 3371

Professional 3619 3778

total 6876 7149

While national staff data is not yet available 
for 2007, the University of Melbourne 
was the largest employer in the higher 
education sector in Australia in 2006. The 
University of Melbourne also employs the 
largest number of academic staff on an 
equivalent full-time basis of all Australian 
universities. Growth in the number of 
academic staff employed by the University 
of Melbourne continued to outstrip that 
at the three next largest employers of 
academic staff in the country: Monash 
University, the University of Sydney and 
the University of Queensland. 

In 2007 the University continued to comply 
with the Commonwealth Government’s 
Higher Education Workplace Relations 
Requirements (HEWRRs) through 
arrangements including the offering 
of Australian Workplace Agreements. 

Compliance was essential to gain additional 
funding of 7.5 per cent in 2007 of the 
Commonwealth Grant Scheme. 

It is significant that at a time of great 
change, staff turnover figures have been 
running at or below their historic pattern 
over the past three years. Benchmarking 
staff data shows that in 2006 Melbourne 
had a total staff turnover of 16.36 per cent, 
less than the Australian average of 19.02 
per cent and the Go8 average of 19.38 per 
cent. No time was lost through industrial 
action in 2007.

ensURe thAt the UnIVeRsIty’s 
emPloyment PolICIes And 
PRoCedURes ReFleCt the 
goAls oF gRowIng esteem.

hr strateGy

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes 

>  Identify and implement recruitment, 
performance and promotion criteria 
which reflect Growing Esteem priorities 
including knowledge transfer

PERFORMANCE AGAINST 2007 TARGETS (CONTINUED)
strenGthen aluMni relations

The University  launched the Alumni Web Community allowing alumni to register for a lifelong @alumni.unimelb email address. More than 
4500 are now registered. The audience for GradNet was expanded to over 40,000 alumni. Ways to transition to more regular and chiefly 
paperless communication with alumni were developed for implementation in 2008. A new alumni association was launched in China, a new 
alumni committee was formed in the USA and a new state branch is forming in Queensland.

aChieVe a stuDent profile anD teaChinG reVenue position that best 
prepares the uniVersity for the launCh of the Melbourne MoDel in 2008

DEST agreement for allocation of Commonwealth Supported Places  to graduate students, together with the Federal budget decision to 
extend Youth Allowance and Austudy to students undertaking first professional degrees at graduate level and rent assistance to students 
aged over 25, have ensured that students in the new Melbourne Model professional graduate programs will not be disadvantaged and 
has expanded the pool of potential students. Consolidated income of $1.43 billion in 2007 was up by 11.7 percent on 2006, due largely to 
continuing growth of fee-revenue and research and investment income. A total fee revenue target of $279 million was exceeded by 
$14 million. A new budget model to be implemented in 2008 will provide support for Melbourne Model initiatives. 

inCrease effiCienCy of uniVersity aDMinistration 
throuGh aCaDeMiC anD it shareD serViCes iMpleMentation

The Melbourne Student Services Model for student – centric administration was designed and significant progress made with 
implementation. Three projects will investigate ways to implement a decision to move $15 million in costs from administration to 
research activity over a three-year period. An external review of the University’s integrated administration system,Themis, provided 
recommendations to improve performance and utilise the latest technology. The IT Shared Services Service Framework was ratified with 
work underway towards a combined student IT Service framework. A comprehensive model was drafted for Information Services to 
enhance service performance measurement and implement improvement programs.

ConsoliDate anD aDJust planninG anD buDGet proCesses 
WhiCh support the uniVersity’s strateGiC DireCtion
A revised planning framework ensures stronger sequencing and linkage between University and divisional levels, and between planning, 
budgeting, risk management, quality assurance and reporting. A new strategic risk framework and program focusses on identification, rating, 
mitigation and reporting. The program embeds risk management in business planning and review. The Risk Management Committee was 
re-constituted in December 2007 to provide greater strategic focus. Special risk programs made significant progress: EH&S risk was reduced 
through a budget penalty to divisions with poor performance; crisis simulation testing occurred and a continuity plan was developed. 



The Learning Lab: Flexible new teaching and learning spaces in the University of Melbourne’s School of Chemistry support new approaches to teaching.

>  Position the University’s academic staff 
to meet the Research Quality Framework 
(RQF) profile

AChIeVements

The University’s HR Strategy ‘Making 
Melbourne a Great Place to Work’ provides 
a framework at  whole-of-University level 
as well as at faculty and departmental 
levels, guiding areas such as recruitment, 
retention, professional development, 
leadership and management. The 
University’s employment policies and 
processes comply with the public sector 
employment principles codified at Section 8 
of the Public Administration Act 2004. 

In 2007 the University revised its reward 
and recognition policies and procedures to 
align professional and academic staff effort 
with the priorities of Growing Esteem. This 
included a fundamental review and revision 

of the University’s academic promotions 
criteria to include, inter alia, recognition and 
promotion of achievements in the area of 
knowledge transfer.

As part of the University’s effort to position 
the University’s academic staff to meet 
the Research Quality Framework (RQF) 
profiles a major exercise involving non 
– research active academic staff was 
completed in early 2007. The Division of 
Human Resources assisted the Melbourne 
Research Office (MRO) (including through 
the secondment of staff to MRO) in the 
management of the preparation for the RQF 
exercise throughout 2007. The University 
played a leadership role in the development 
and implementation of the Go8 Future 
Research Leaders Program, intended to 
increase the research management skills of 
academic staff. 

ChanGe ManaGeMent

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Support academic and professional 
leaders to manage change through 
organisational and leadership programs

AChIeVements

Each year a suite of leadership, 
development programs and short 
courses are provided to staff to meet 
University-wide needs. In 2007, the 
primary focus was on supporting 
academic and professional staff through 
incorporation of change management 
training and development into programs 
catering for all levels of staff. Two 
new development programs providing 
comprehensive coverage in dealing with 
change from a personal level to the faculty 
level assisted managers introduce and 
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lead change. Following a report by the 
Boston Consulting Group into change 
leadership and collaboration capabilities 
at the University, additional support was 
provided through workshops dealing with 
the impact of change run by external 
consultants with specialist expertise. 
Communication and planning forums 
reached a wide audience while individual 
coaching was provided to managers 
and leaders.  Work has commenced on 
planning a number of other initiatives in 
response to the findings of that report. 

orGanisational ChanGe

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Support the development and 
implementation of workforce plans 
(in the Faculty of Arts, the Faculty of 
Engineering, the School of Creative Arts 
and IS Division for example)

AChIeVements

Decisions taken by the University during 
the year to bring about organisational 
change impacted on various groups of staff. 
In particular:

>  An ‘Arts Renewal Strategy’ was adopted 
to ensure that the Faculty dealt with 
its operating deficit in a way that 
strengthened its teaching and research 
in the humanities, social sciences and 
languages and preserved its status 
both nationally and internationally. 
Human Reseources supported faculty 
management and staff to manage these 
changes during 2007. 

>  The closure of the School of Creative 
Arts and the consequential transfer of all 
programs of the School, together with 
its academic and administrative staff, 
to a new unit, the School of Culture and 
Communication, required careful planning 
and assistance to management and staff 
of the former School. 

>  The review of professional staffing 
arrangements in the Faculty of 
Engineering involved the consolidation of 
professional staff support services. This 
change required progressive consultation 
with staff and their representatives to 
ensure that changes involving improving 
the effectiveness and efficiency of 
professional staff support services in the 
faculty were introduced fairly and with the 
involvement of the staff affected.

Human Resources staff supported the 
development and implementation of 
workforce plans  in each of these faculties 
and schools. A Workforce Planning 
Framework developed in partnership with 
Business Planning will be used in Faculty 
Business Planning during 2008. The 
framework includes procedure to ensure 
fair and effective transfer of staff into the 
new Student Centres. (refer page 67) 

equal opportunity

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Prioritise and work towards the 
achievement of the targets identified for 
2007 included in the Staff Equity and 
Diversity (SED) plan

>  Support equal opportunity initiatives and 
promote a ‘family-friendly’ workplace

AChIeVements

The Staff Equity and Diversity Framework, 
adopted in 2007, outlines University-wide 
goals and activities to be undertaken over 
the next five years to promote staff equity, 
diversity, and inclusive workplace cultures 
and practices.  

Activities include policies and procedures 
concerning discrimination, harassment and 
bullying, and the introduction of specialist 
programs, initiatives and services to 
enhance the employment of staff from 
under-represented groups across all levels 
and areas. 

Work towards the achievement of the 
SED targets identified for 2007 was 
undertaken with widespread consultation 
with stakeholders regarding the priorities, 
accountability and timelines for SED plan 
targets and strategies. The number of 
Indigenous staff in the University increased 
from 33 in 2006 to 44 in 2007.

Promotion of equal opportunity and an 
inclusive workplace has also been fostered 
through ongoing development of training, 
guidelines and other resources for staff and 
through the University–wide faculty Equal 
Opportunity for Women in the Workplace 
(EOWW) networks and the Staff Equity 
and Diversity Committee. In recognition 
of the University’s achievements, the 
University was once again successful in 
2007 in meeting the stringent requirements 
for the Employer of Choice for Women 
Award for 2007/8.

The SED framework aims to increase the 
representation of women at the Associate-
Professor (Level D) and Professor (Level 
E) and at Professional Staff level HEW 10 
and above. In 2007 the University achieved 
a further increase in the proportion of 
women at level D from 27.4 per cent to 
28.3 per cent and a slight increase in the 
proportion of women professors to 20.1 
per cent, the highest in the Go8. 

MarKetinG anD 
CoMMuniCations

AChIeVe A stRong 
mARKetIng PRoFIle And 
CommUnICAte eFFeCtIVely 
wIth stAKeholdeRs, 
PARtICUlARly In RelAtIon to 
the melBoURne model.

Communication of the activities and 
contributions of the University of 
Melbourne in Teaching and Learning, 
Research and Knowledge Transfer are 
critical for enhancing the reputation of the 
University and the success of the Growing 
Esteem Strategy.

representation of feMale staff in total staff population

2003 % Fem 2004 % Fem 2005 % Fem 2006 % Fem 2007 % Fem

total Academic staff 2829 41.6% 2971 42.4% 3168 42.7% 3258 42.6% 3371 42.7%

total teaching & Research staff 1847 36.8% 1916 37.4% 2113 39.0% 2071 39.0% 2102 38.8%

staff at level e (Professor) 255 16.0% 273 18.7% 277 18.6% 293 19.5% 358 20.1%

staff at level d (Assoc. Professor) 329 24.0% 349 25.6% 342 26.7% 362 27.4% 374 28.3%

senior Professional staff (hew level 10) 105 46.5% 117 46.8% 119 47.3% 160 45.8% 176 43.9%

NB. Full Time Equivalent Data



2007 saw the University’s marketing 
focus on brand and image to promote the 
Melbourne Model and to communicate 
the six New Generation undergraduate 
degrees and new courses and pathways to 
graduate education.

DreaMlarGe

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Launch a high-impact brand advertising 
campaign with consistent approach 
across all major media and integrate with 
Melbourne Model launch

>  Promote attributes of Melbourne Model 
and Melbourne Model graduates to 
prospective students, employers and 
other external stakeholders through 
newsletters, correspondence, road shows 
and events

>  Coordinate University marketing activity 
through Marketing and Communications 
Reference Group (M&C Reference Group)

AChIeVements

The Melbourne Model was formally 
launched to the public in April 2007, at 
a launch structured around explaining to 
stakeholders and the media the vision 
driving the University’s new model for 
education. The ‘DreamLarge’ cinema and 
television advertising campaign supporting 
the introduction of the Model was unveiled 
at the launch. The campaign stressed the 
opportunities opened to all by education, 
with each advertisement drawing 
on current examples of research and 
Knowledge Transfer at the University.

Introduction of the DreamLarge campaign 
provided an overarching promotional 
platform to tie together course 
promotion, recruitment, research and 
student scholarship activity. A sustained  
multimedia  program operated throughout 
the year with increased activity around 
important public events such as Open Day.  

In conjunction with the DreamLarge 
campaign, the University made significant 
advances in branding, merchandising 
and signage programs designed. This 
was particularly evident on Open Day 
with a record crowd of more than 60,000 
immersed in an atmosphere of ‘University 
blue’ and consistent messaging throughout 
the campus from banners to the branded 
suite of marketing publications.

The successful launch of the Melbourne 
Model was followed by a process of school 
visits across the state, with public sessions 
and private explanations throughout the 
year to ensure all sectors of the community 
understand the University’s new approach. 
A range of new student recruitment 
publications assisted in the process. 

Open Day provided an opportunity 
to provide detailed information to a 
crowd already well-informed about 
the broad Melbourne Model approach. 
Other highlights of the University’s 
communications program were the annual 
Town and Gown dinner, the Postgraduate 
Expo and the Graduate Schools launch in 
October. The M&C Reference Group met 
monthly throughout the year to coordinate 
marketing activities. 

neW MeDia

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Develop new digital media including 
podcasts and video magazines and 
update existing publications, including, 
Research Review and the Melbourne 
University Magazine to align with the 
University’s marketing strategy

AChIeVements

The use of the web as a key 
communications tool was developed 
through internet-based marketing programs 
and online communications. A range of 
digital material and DVDs were developed 
to promote the Melbourne Model while 
21  ‘Melbourne Upclose’ podcasts and  17 
episodes of ‘Visions’ web-streamed TV 
provided a range of content with broad 
reach and further syndication to media to 
widen the broadcast and distribution of 
University content. 

The colour tabloid Melbourne Voice was 
introduced during the year to replace 
UniNews in providing a fortnightly review 
of news, scholarship and events. The 
Research Review continued to showcase 
the best of the University’s research and the 
Melbourne University Magazine was sent to 
the University’s stakeholders including more 
than 160,000 alumni around the world. Its 
role for future years is under review. 

A Marketing Recruitment and Advancement 
planning conference was convened to 
develop an integrated marketing activity 
plan for implementation in 2008. Marketing 
in 2008 will focus on the establishment 
of Graduate Schools and promotion of 
the developments in Graduate Education. 
The key feature of the 2008 marketing 
program will be integration to showcase 
all aspects of the University. Activity in 
key interstate and overseas markets will 
combine alumni, recruitment, learning and 
teaching, research, and knowledge transfer 
activities together into concentrated periods 
of activity.

infrastruCture

enhAnCe the QUAlIty oF 
stUdent exPeRIenCe 
thRoUgh ImPRoVed It And 
PhysICAl InFRAstRUCtURe

ensURe thAt PhysICAl 
InFRAstRUCtURe Is In 
PlACe whICh sUPPoRts 
gRowIng esteem

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Develop and implement a masterplan 
with a view towards enhancing the 
Melbourne Experience, and providing a 
better learning environment, including 
learning hubs

>  Ensure that learning and teaching capital 
works priorities are aligned with the 
University’s masterplan

>  Ensure that the student hub/resource 
centre is ready for the introduction of the 
Melbourne Model

>  Examine options for the consolidation of 
undergraduate teaching spaces on the 
Parkville campus

AChIeVements

The preparation of a new Parkville campus 
masterplan to support Growing Esteem is 
well advanced.  The masterplan process 
takes into account the transition to the 
Melbourne Model as mapped out by the 
Curriculum Commission, to support delivery 
of both New Generation undergraduate 
degrees and graduate schools. The final 
masterplan will involve ongoing physical 
and IT infrastructure projects and will also 
incorporate the recommendations of the 
Information Futures Commission for the 
University’s information strategy for the 
next decade.

A key priority for infrastructure planning is 
to make provision for the learning precincts 
to support the Melbourne Model. The 
design rationale for these innovative spaces 
is set out on page 41 in the Teaching and 
Learning section. 

Design and development for the first 
learning precinct the – Eastern Precinct 
was completed during the year. Project 
completion is scheduled for late in 2008, 
with a budget of $15.5 million.

Refurbishment works were carried out 
during the latter part of 2007 to create a 
Student Learning Centre in the Engineering 
Precinct. The project was completed in 
late 2007 in time for first semester 2008 
at a cost of $2.2 million. Design and 
development has commenced for the 
co-located library/student centre in the 
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Brownless Library for BioSciences, with a 
targeted opening in first semester 2009. 

Following further work on the optimisation 
of learning precincts as part of the 
preparation of the masterplan, opportunities 
to create other enhanced undergraduate 
teaching spaces will be identified. The new 
prototype collaborative learning classroom 
in Chemistry commenced operation this 
year. The leading-edge classroom is an 
exemplar of the new style of teaching 
space articulated in the 2006 Curriculum 
Commission Report.

The University’s entire pool of over 250 
shared learning spaces were reviewed 
and upgraded where necessary during the 
year. Seating and equipment have been 
reconfigured to best meet Melbourne 
Model teaching needs and to facilitate 
consolidation planning. Efficiency gains 
have allowed some of the spaces to 
be redeveloped as Student Service 
Centres. Student Service Centres, based 
mainly in existing faculty offices are in 
place for all new undergraduate degrees 
and Graduate Schools. 

GraDuate anD researCh neeDs

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Review and implement Academic Board 
policy on infrastructure for postgraduate 
students

>  Work together with faculties to realise 
optimal infrastructure for the University’s 
new Graduate Schools

>  Implement improvements to research 
infrastructure through more efficient 
planning and use of resources and the 
acquisition (by lease or purchase) of 
additional research space

AChIeVements

Work has commenced to relocate existing 
occupants from the Walter Boas building 
to allow for refurbishment of spaces in 
the building to cater for Research Higher 
Degree students from all disciplines.  

As the details of the new graduate 
schools have taken shape during the 
year, development plans have either been 
completed or are progressing to meet the 
graduate infrastructure requirements of 
Economics and Commerce; Education; 
Arts; Science and Architecture, Building 
and Planning. Work is continuing with the 
Music and Engineering Faculties to identify 
potential areas for the improvement of 
postgraduate-specific spaces.

Additional space has been leased to allow 
the creation or expansion of a number of 
groups including Geophysical Research 

Laboratories for Engineering and space for 
ANZSOG, the Martin Institute, the Confucius 
Centre and the Islamic Studies Centre.

Planning is well under way for the 
development of a Neuroscience Facility 
at Parkville. The Parkville Neurosciences 
Facility will house the principal research 
laboratories of the newly formed Florey 
Neuroscience Institute (FNI) and the 
Mental Health Research Institute (MHRI).  
These will complement the existing 
facilities of the University, the FNI, the 
MHRI as well as Neurosciences Australia 
and Neurosciences Victoria at Parkville. 
Existing links to St Vincent’s Hospital, the 
Royal Melbourne Hospital and the Royal 
Children’s Hospital will be enhanced and 
strengthened. The project is expected to be 
complete by late 2011. 

Wireless it

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Ensure that all high-use areas will have 
wireless connection by the end of 2007

AChIeVements

Information Services is implementing 
the wireless network roll out across the 
campus, enhancing existing transmitters as 
well as installing 200 additional nodes.  The 
work is due for completion by March 2008.  
In other IT developments, the University 
is contributing to implementation of the 
Victorian Education and Research Network 
(VERN) to deploy an advanced optic fibre 
infrastructure network across metropolitan 
Melbourne and regional Victoria. The 
Faculty of Land and Food Resources 
(Creswick) joined VERN in late 2007. Other 
sites due to be covered in early 2008 are 
Shepparton, Dookie, Werribee and Burnley.

MaintenanCe

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Implement a backlog maintenance 
upgrade program

AChIeVements

The University has allocated $61 million 
over five years to address the backlog of 
maintenance associated with infrastructure 
renewal at all campuses. In 2007 the 
Asset Protection Program of works was 
commenced. Building condition audits 
completed during the year identified over 
$160 million of works required in such areas 
as lift replacement; air conditioning, fire 
systems and lighting upgrades, structural 
repairs to building façades and building 
interior improvements.

The 2007 Backlog Maintenance Program 
was delivered as programmed. Wherever 
possible, backlog targeting maintenance 
was planned to coincide with other re-
development projects. For example, the 
structural repairs to the façade at the Frank 
Tate building and Education Resource 
Centre have been timed to occur while 
these areas are being refurbished. 

The University’s approach to addressing 
its backlog maintenance was recognised 
at the 2007 Annual Conference of the 
Tertiary Education Facilities Management 
Association (TEFMA) when the University 
was awarded the inaugural TEFMA/SKM 
Innovation Award. 

refurbishMent anD neW 
faCilities

In 2007 a program of capital works was 
progressed to refurbish and provide new 
infrastructure to enhance and support 
teaching and academic and research 
activities at the University and to facilitate 
the introduction of the Melbourne Model. 

new buildings

The new Economics and Commerce 
building to be located at 198 Berkeley St 
is progressing well and is scheduled for 
practical completion in December 2008 
with the building to be fully operational 
for teaching from the start of first 
semester 2009. 

The new building, with state-of-the-art 
teaching and learning facilities, is set at 
the south-western gateway to University 
Square and is one of the first educational 
buildings designed to achieve Five Star 
Green Star rating.  The budget for the 
project is $126.2 million.

A new theatre for Melbourne Theatre 
Company situated at the corner of 
Southbank Boulevard and Dodd St is well 
underway and on track to open in the first 
quarter of 2009.The new theatre comprises 
a 500-seat auditorium, a rehearsal room/
studio performance space capable of 
seating 160, function and VIP rooms, 
a full café and various bars, foyers and 
display areas.   It is being built as part of a 
combined project between the University 
of Melbourne and the Victorian State 
Government with a budget in excess of 
$53 million.

Works also commenced in late 2007 at 252 
Sturt St, Southbank for new headquarters 
for the Melbourne Theatre Company.  The 
refurbishment project is anticipated to be 
completed mid 2008 at a cost of $8 million.



refurbishment and new facilities

Works totalling $84.7 million are underway, 
including:

>  A $7.5 million infrastructure upgrade of 
the Medical School building is scheduled 
for completion in mid 2008. The project 
involves upgrading mechanical and 
electrical services to meet current and 
expected future demand. 

>  The $1.4 million refurbishment of two 
existing McFadden Laboratories in Old 
Botany building is now completed. The 
refurbished facility has additional AQIS 
(quarantine) accreditation. Additional 
works included a comprehensive 
mechanical services upgrade, with a new 
disabled persons lift providing access 
from the ground to the first floor. 

>  Works commenced in mid 2007 to the 
Microbiology and Immunology building 
to upgrade existing laboratories and to 
accommodate a new Federation Fellow 
Recipient. Project cost: $2 million.

>  Works commenced to the Chemistry 
building to provide new first-year 
laboratories, teaching facilities and total 
infrastructure upgrade to the entire 
building at a cost of $7.3 million.

VCA

In 2007, responsibility for the management 
of the facilities for the Victorian College of 
the Arts (VCA) transferred to the University. 
All maintenance contracts and eight VCA 
Property and Buildings staff transitioned 
smoothly to the University. A Building 
Renewal Program for the VCA site was 
established from 2007 (initially $2 million) 
and works have commenced on several 
elements of this program. Together with 
a $200,000 grant from Melbourne Water, 
Stage 1 Landscaping works along St Kilda 
Boulevard improved the appearance of the 
College and the design incorporated a rain 
garden for local retention of drainage water 
as part of an initiative to clean up the lower 
section of the Yarra River. 

aDVanCeMent anD 
aluMni relations

The University’s endowment and the 
generosity of its community in giving is 
significant by Australian standards, but 
nonetheless remains small compared to 
leading international universities. Greater 
investment in alumni relations and the 
diversification of the University’s funding 
sources through advancement are thus 
critical to the success of the Growing 
Esteem Strategy.

dIVeRsIFy FUndIng 
soURCes And InCReAse 
FUnds RAIsed thRoUgh 
AdVAnCement ACtIVItIes

Donations

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Ensure 60 per cent retention into 2007 of 
new 2006 participants in annual giving to 
the University Fund

>  Initiate a major gifts program for a Future 
Generations Scholarships Fund

>  Develop a financial goal and structure for 
a Campaign for Melbourne fundraising 
initiative

AChIeVements

A number of fundraising specialists 
recruited during the year in the 
Advancement Office and the faculties 
have achieved a rapid increase in interest 
in significant fundraising across the 
University. An Advancement Policy and 
Procedures Manual was adopted to govern 
the fast expanding internal enthusiasm for 
philanthropy.  The amount of ‘hard cash’ 
gifts received (excluding realised bequests) 
increased to $9.02 million, 44 per cent 
higher than in 2006. An inaugural Report 
to Donors was released in March, aimed at 
increasing the University’s accountability to 
its supporters. 

The University Fund Appeal, reconstructed 
in 2006, continued to expand reaching a 
total of $795,800 (21 per cent more than 
last year). The number of donors grew 
significantly to 2700. The Chancellor’s 
Circle reward program for donors of 
greater than $1000 in the University Fund 
expanded beyond 800 members, more 
than double those in 2006.

Membership of the Heritage Society, 
the recognition program for those who 
have pledged a bequest to the University 
through a will, expanded to 185, while 
realised bequests received during the year 
exceeded $1 million. 

A major focus for the year was the 
development of a campaign to raise funds 
toward the University’s Future Generation 
program. A Future Generation Scholarships 
Trust fund was established with donations 
of over $220,000, and fundraising material 
prepared for use with major donor prospects.

Submissions in excess of $1 million each 
were made to six major philanthropic 
foundations in Australian and abroad. As a 
result, $2.5 million for an endowed Chair 
in Biophysics was received from the Baker 
Foundation; many other major gifts will 
be acknowledged in the 2007 Report to 
Donors, due for release in March 2008. 

Based on the recommendations of a 
feasibility study for a major fundraising effort 
conducted by non-profit consultants DVA 
Navion campaign in May, the stewardship 
program for major donors, begun in 2006, 
was extended until December 2008. In 
consultation with Deans, a campaign 
catalogue for a campus-wide Campaign 
for Melbourne was constructed, focussing 
on endowed scholarships, new Chairs and 
infrastructure. A financial goal and timetable 
for the launch of the major campaign in 2009 
were developed.
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“DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS HAVE ASSISTED 
ACADEMIC AND PROFESSIONAL STAFF 

TO MANAGE CHANGE”.
Ms Liz Baré 

Vice-Principal and Head University Services  



sPenCeR BeQUest A ClAssIC
The full funding of a highly productive lectureship and curatorship is 
one of the many ways the Centre for Classics and Archaeology will 
benefit from a bequest that established the Spencer/Pappas Trust. 

In 2008, the Centre will enjoy its second year of funding from this 
generous bequest, by Dr Gertrude Spencer (MA 1992) (photo left), 
a psychiatrist who was deeply engaged with ancient Near Eastern 
studies.

From 2009 the Spencer/Pappas Trust will assume the full funding 
of a lectureship-curatorship, shared between the Centre and 
the Ian Potter Museum of Art. The position, currently funded by 
the R E Ross Trust and Miegunyah Fund, is held by Dr Andrew 
Jamieson, who has revitalised interest in the University’s Classics 
and Archaeology Collection and mounted exhibitions that have been 
very well attended. 

In 2007, the Centre’s bequest-related activities included the 
teaching of ancient languages (Syriac and Akkadian), and the 
funding of overseas research travel by its postgraduates. 

In 2008 the Centre will continue these activities and in addition will 
host the first Spencer/Pappas Fellow, the internationally recognised 
expert in the archaeology, history and culture of the Near East, 
Professor Norman Yoffee, from the University of Michigan.
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Key proJeCt funDinG

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Make at least major submissions to major 
international philanthropic bodies for key 
University projects

AChIeVements

Submissions for amounts of $1 million 
each were made to six major philanthropic 
foundations in Australian and abroad. In an 
encouraging result, the Baker Foundation’s 
Board of Trustees has announced that it 
will provide $2.5 million to endow a Chair in 
Physical Biosciences. Many other major gifts 
will be acknowledged in the 2007 Report to 
Donors, due for release in March 2008. 

inCrease aDVanCeMent expertise

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Develop staff plan to embed advancement 
expertise across the University

AChIeVements

Finding enough experienced staff for 
the expanding advancement operations 
across the campus has made ongoing staff 
training a priority, and the Advancement 
Office now regularly engages leading 
international advancement specialists 
to visit and run training sessions.  The 
former Chair of the Board of Governors at 
the University of Toronto during its major 
campaign, led advancement training at the 
Heads and Deans Conference early in the 
year. The Fund Raising School from the 
Centre of Philanthropy, Indiana University, 
again conducted intensive training for 
advancement staff, while the President of 
CASE, the world’s peak advancement body, 
addressed deans and senior management. 
Expert external counsel, including from the 
leading fundraising consultants Marts & 
Lundy, New York, contributed to mentoring 
of advancement staff, and advancement 
staff were sent to fund raising seminars in 
Australia, the UK and USA.

strenGthen aluMni relations 

With the expanded Advancement Office, 
considerable progress was made in 2007 
to reconnect with our alumni around the 
world. Contact increased through an active 
program of events, new alumni branches, 
and improved communications.

MaintaininG ContaCt

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Coordinate a ‘transitioning out’ process 
for graduating students

>  Develop, in conjunction with the 
Marketing and Communications unit, a 
communications program for alumni

>  Develop two new alumni associations 
in the USA and China and consolidate 
existing associations 

>  Increase engagement with domestic 
alumni through at least four alumni 
functions and one new state branch 

>  Convene five meetings of decade-based 
reference groups to advise on strategies 
for effective engagement

AChIeVements

From March, every graduand attending a 
graduation received the Alumni Resource 
Guide and instructions on how to join the 
Alumni Web Community, registering for 
their lifelong @alumni.unimelb.edu.au email 
address without charge. More than 4500 
alumni are now registered. 

In 2007 the audience for GradNet, the 
email newsletter to alumni, was expanded 
to over 40,000. Ways of transitioning 
to more regular and chiefly paperless 
communication with alumni were 
developed for implementation in early 
2008. This will involve a change to the 
Melbourne University Magazine currently 
provided to all graduates.

The University has continued to strengthen 
its contact with international alumni. A new 
alumni association was launched in China 
following the visit of the Vice-Chancellor 
and Deputy Vice-Chancellor (International) 
to Beijing and events hosted by the 
University in Shanghai and Beijing. A new 
alumni committee was formed in the USA 
in conjunction with events hosted by the 
Pro Vice-Chancellor (University Relations) 
in San Francisco and New York. A revived 
Indonesian Alumni Association was also 
formed with the support of the University’s 
Jakarta office. Support for alumni in Asia 
was further enhanced by the opening of 
new international offices in Kuala Lumpur, 
Singapore and Bangalore. 

In the UK, events have now resumed 
through the revived UK Alumni Association. 
During the year the Chancellor and former 
alumni chairs gathered for a twentieth 
Anniversary Dinner for the Hong Kong 
Alumni Association, while alumni in India 
and Taiwan also reunited at Friends of the 
University receptions.

Within Australia, highlights included a well-
attended forum hosted by the Provost on 
the Melbourne Model, and an oration by the 
Vice-Chancellor on the role of universities 
in federal elections. Interstate alumni 

functions with prominent alumni speakers 
were held in Canberra, Sydney, Brisbane 
and Melbourne. A new state branch is 
forming in Queensland. Other local alumni 
events were delivered in collaboration with 
the Ian Potter Museum of Art, Asialink and 
the Confucius Institute.

To help formulate strategies for effective 
engagement in the future, alumni 
participated in meetings of decade-based 
alumni reference groups. A report on the 
outcomes will inform plans for 2008.

Volunteers

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Increase number of alumni on University 
boards and committees by 50 per cent

AChIeVements

An Alumni Volunteer Opportunities website 
was launched in December to introduce 
alumni to board and committee vacancies, 
as well as to alert alumni to a much wider 
range of volunteer opportunities available at 
the University. 

resourCinG

AChIeVe A stUdent PRoFIle 
And teAChIng ReVenUe 
PosItIon thAt Best PRePARes 
the UnIVeRsIty FoR the 
lAUnCh oF the melBoURne 
model In 2008

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Support faculty transition to Growing 
Esteem through student profile planning, 
workplace, management and business 
planning

>  Ensure that funding exists in the 
University budget for a comprehensive 
scholarships scheme that promotes the 
University’s aim to attract the best and 
brightest students regardless of financial 
disadvantage

>  Implement changes to University budget 
model to support the strategic priorities 
of Growing Esteem

ContinueD pressure for self 
relianCe-fee inCoMe

AChIeVements

Financial self-reliance continues to be core 
to achievement of the Growing Esteem 
Strategy. Critical to this is the University’s 
capacity to continue to recruit national and 
international fee-paying undergraduate and 
postgraduate students.

The University of Melbourne Annual Report 2007 6�



In 2007 the University again performed 
strongly. A total fee revenue target of $279 
million was exceeded by $14 million.

With the announcement from the new 
federal government that, from 2009, 
universities will be precluded from 
recruiting domestic fee-paying students, 
the University has adopted a key strategy 
to increase domestic fee income from 
postgraduate students.  Major campaigns 
to recruit commencing students to new 
postgraduate degrees in 2008 were 
undertaken during the year.

Fee revenue targets of $308 million and $330 
million have been set for 2008 and 2009.  The 
University will also look to increase income 
from commercialisation of research and 
teaching, philanthropy and research.

While governments continue to be 
important contributors, in 2007 funding from 
governments, excluding research funding, 
constituted 25.8 per cent of total revenue. 
Commonwealth funding from all sources 
other than Higher Education Scheme has 
diminished from 56 per cent of the total in 
1996 to 40.9 per cent in 2007.

In 2007, the University’s financial position 
was bolstered by $8.9 million from the 
Commonwealth’s Learning and Teaching 
and Performance Fund, and $2.1 million 
from the Higher Education Workplace 
Relations Requirements. A grant of $4 
million was awarded for three years at the 
end of 2006, which supported the planning 
and implementation of the Melbourne 
Model in 2007, with particular emphasis 
on the implementation of the new student 
support model.

Additionally, in concert with other 
universities, a further award of $10 million 
over 5 years was awarded to establish 
a new leadership program for higher 
education nationally, the LH Martin Institute.

other sourCes of inCoMe

Strong returns on the University’s 
investment portfolio were a highlight of 
2007. Investment income of $141.9 million 
compared with income of $104.3 million in 
2006. Funds under investment in 2007 were 
$1,322 million.

A substantial portion of the University’s 
investments support various trusts which 
in turn support aspects of the University’s 
teaching, research and scholarships 
programs.  The amount of $31.7 million was 
made available to the Planning and Budget 
Committee for recurrent purposes.

In 2007, the University received $18.2 
million from donations and bequests. 
The amount of direct donations received 
increased to $9.2 million, 44 per cent higher 
than in 2006, while realised bequests 
notified (though not necessarily received) 
during the year exceeded $15 million. 

Income received from consultancies, 
royalties and licenses was $29 million in 
2007, an increase of $0.1 million on the 
previous year. 

supportinG iMpleMentation of 
the Melbourne MoDel

In addition to Workplace Productivity 
Funding to support the the development of 
the Melbourne Model, University Council 
approved the draw down of $80 million from 
the University’s reserves to cover additional 
costs of implementation under a five-year 
Growing Esteem Transition Fund Scheme.  

The budget model was adjusted in 2007 (for 
the 2008 budget) to provide budget support 
to the Provost and the New Generation 
degrees, including a budget incentive for 
faculties developing University breadth 
subjects. During 2007, the University spent 
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$18 million on a number of new initiatives 
to promote the Melbourne Model. These 
include:

>  construction of new student centres 
- $3.8 million

>  change management $1.1 million

>  curriculum design $3.0 million

>  marketing $7.3 million

Growing Esteem Transition Funds provided 
a significant aid in assisting the University 
and its divisions in meeting the challenge 
of the Growing Esteem Strategy. A further 
$30 million fund for Strategic Research has 
been announced from 2008.

The 2009 budget will see further reform, 
in response to the KPMG Review of 
Strategic Business Processes and other 
developments internal and external to the 
University.

uniVersity aDMinistration

2007 was a year of significant transition 
in the University’s administrative 
arrangements. With the support of federal 
funding from the Workplace Productivity 
Fund, a major project was undertaken 
to revolutionise both undergraduate and 
postgraduate education through the 
creation of a student-centric administration.

InCReAse eFFICIenCy oF 
UnIVeRsIty AdmInIstRAtIon 
thRoUgh ACAdemIC 
And It shARed seRVICes 
ImPlementAtIon

stuDent foCusseD 
aDMinistration

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Make necessary changes to academic 
administration, including process mapping 
and reform and the implementation of 
new service delivery model

>  Implement the Critical Path Plan 
developed by MM08 in conjunction with 
Boston Consulting in late 2006

AChIeVements

Towards the end of 2006, the Boston 
Consulting Group (BCG) worked with the 
University to develop a Critical Path Plan for 
implementing the Melbourne Model, which 
covered the milestones and timelines 
required in order for the University to be 
ready to introduce a new curriculum and 
student support services in 2008. BCG 
returned in 2007 to work intensively with 
University staff to develop a new system 
for delivery of student services.

All student support services were 
reviewed in 2007 with the overarching 
aim of producing a student-centric model 
improving students’ Melbourne Experience 
through the availibility of co-ordinated, 
flexible, equitable and accessible. The 
resulting Melbourne Student Services 
Model (MSSM) radically changes the 
manner in which student support services, 
are delivered.

The new model recommends that 
students access services either online or 
through one-stop shop student centres 
in faculties and graduate schools. The 
New Generation undergraduate degree 
structure requires student advisors to have 
a broad understanding of all undergraduate 
programs in the University. Each centre 
will also provide enrichment services such 
as language support and careers advice 
tailored by discipline and degree type 
(undergraduate or research higher degree). 
Centres are supported by strong systems 
and centres policy. Accountabilities, budgets 
and incentives have been aligned to produce 
an efficient and adaptable model.

By the start of the 2008 academic year, 
interim student centres will have been 
created in existing faculty office spaces 
for the New Generation undergraduate 
degrees and for the faculties which are to 
become graduate schools.

Plans are also progressing to create 
permanent student centres focussing, 
particularly in the first instance, on the 
Eastern Precinct for Science (for details 
refer to page 41) and the Brownless for 
Medicine, Dentistry and Health Science. 
Most faculties have created new staffing 
arrangements to service their student 
centre, and a student advisor training 
program has been rolled out to provide staff 
with the skills and information to undertake 
new roles.  

Coordination of academic and student 
support rested with a newly created 
organisational unit, the Office of the 
Provost, with staff members responsible 
for delivery of student services reporting 
to that Office. Organisationally, student 
centres remain within faculties/graduate 
schools, with overall responsibility for 
performance standards and coordination 
resting with the Office of the Provost. 

Re-conceptualisation of policies and 
the organisation and location of work 
was overseen by the Melbourne Model 
Implementation Taskforce, and involved 
a large number of staff from across the 
University in subsidiary working groups. 
This group also developed processes 
for managing change and monitored 
implementation. Staff morale was regularly 
monitored through the process, and overall 
the commitment to the outcomes of the 
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DR RACHEL CARUSO
Dr Rachel Caruso, University of 
Melbourne materials chemist and ARC 
Australian Research Fellow, has won 
a 2007 Cosmos Bright Sparks Award, 
placing her among Australia’s top 
10 scientists under 40 as judged by 
Cosmos science magazine.

Dr Caruso specialises in developing 
new techniques to fabricate 
nanomaterials. These can be used 
for a startling array of applications, 
from manufacturing solar panels 
to building substances that help 
degrade contaminants found in 
industrial wastewater. Her ultimate 
goal is to help minimise human 
impacts on the environment.

Dr Caruso is currently engaged in 
research investigating the potential 
of gold nanoparticles to enhance the 
efficiency of existing water purification 
techniques based on the sponge-like 
features of titanium dioxide materials. 
Titanium dioxide materials that have 
applications in producing electricity 
from sunlight are also being fabricated. 

As a recipient of the Victorian Young 
Tall Poppy Science Award in 2006 Dr 
Caruso has presented her research and 
discussed her scientific career with 
high school students throughout 2007.

PROFILE



Melbourne Model remained high with staff, 
although concern was regularly expressed 
over workloads. 

iMproVinG effeCtiVeness 
anD effiCienCy

In 2007, the role of the Deputy Vice-
Chancellor was recreated as Provost as the 
University restructured its management 
and administration. The role of the Provost 
is discussed further in the Learning and 
Teaching section of the Report on page 
34. The Senior Vice-Principal remains 
responsible for the administration of the 
University, and a new role of Head of 
University Services was created with 
the objective of improving efficiency and 
effectiveness of the following support 
services across the University – Human 
Resources; Information Services; Property 
and Campus Services, Marketing, 
Research; and Finance – using where 
appropriate the processes and methodology 
applied for during the re-conceptualisation 
of student service provision.

In 2007, the Planning and Budget Committee 
determined that the University should move 
$15 million in costs from administration to 
research activity over a three-year period. 
Three projects were established to execute 
this activity; the first is designed to make 
savings through rationalisation of purchasing 
arrangements. A purchasing manager was 
appointed and new contracts sought for 
major items of expenditure, in particular 
telephony and stationery. The second 
extends the shared services initiatives 
and involves a client-focussed review 
of the provision of human resource and 
financial management services across the 
University. The third project was aimed at  
improving the performance and efficiency 
of the University’s administrative enterprise 
system, Themis. 

The programs are the successor to the 
shared services initiatives introduced in 2005. 

In a year of constant change, the 
outcomes of the 2007 Quality of University 
Management and Administration survey 
saw the first decline in many years in the 
perception of quality of service delivery, 
although all services offered were rated 
as important or very important to the 
recipients. Feedback from the QUMA also 
informed the administrative reform process.

it serViCes

stRAtegIC PRIoRItIes

>  Implement faculty IT services reform 
including aggregation of faculty IT service 
units and transition of selected services 
to shared and federal delivery model

>  Engage consultants to evaluate the 
implementation of Themis

>  Establish service framework for IT 
support services

AChIeVements

Information technology is the backbone of 
the University’s knowledge management 
capability, critical to developing closer links 
between Research and Research Training, 
Learning and Teaching, and Knowledge 
Transfer. Key IT issues for the University 
Administration in 2007 were improving 
the efficiency and effectiveness of the IT 
Shared Services project, the completion 
of the Academic Administration project, 
including the implementation of the new 
student system, overall improvements to 
the Themis system, the introduction of the 
Themis Research Profile and the successful 
integration of the VCA into the University as 
a faculty. 

During 2007 the information technology 
shared services initiatives concentrated 
on improving IT infrastructure across the 
University, which included the rollout of 
a common email and calendaring system 
(essential for the successful operations 
of the Student Centres), upgrade and 
renewal of the University’s network, and 
consolidation of storage and servers. As 
part of the overall strategy, two faculties 
consolidated their information technology 
support and provision into a single service 
group. During 2007, improved coordination 
between marketing and recruitment groups 
was established through regular meetings 
and information exchange, adoption of a 
common approach to branding and the 
introduction of detailed branding procedures.

Though service agreements have been 
established with faculties for some services 
(e.g. enrichment services) full rollout of 
the service framework was suspended 
pending development of the new service 
delivery models by the Melbourne Model 
Implementation Committee. 

As part of the reconfiguring of student 
services and support, a Student Portal was 
developed, the new Learning Management 
System became fully operational, and 
the University increased wireless access 
to cover the whole campus. Further 
information on these initiatives is provided 
on page 41 in the Learning and Teaching 
section of this report. Implementation of 
the new student system purchased from 
Technology One continued during the year 
under the stewardship of a steering group 
and major implementation team. This $22 
million project is due for implementation 
in 2008. A review of the University’s 

information system, Themis, was completed 
by IBM during the year. A number of 
recommendations have been implemented, 
with a subsequent internal consultation 
process due for completion by early 2008. 

planninG 

ConsolIdAte And 
AdjUst PlAnnIng And 
BUdget PRoCesses whICh 
sUPPoRt the UnIVeRsIty’s 
stRAtegIC dIReCtIon

tasKforCes

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Ensure that transitional committees 
and taskforces, including MM08 
Implementation and RQF Taskforce, are 
in place to provide efficient and effective 
decision making

AChIeVements

The Melbourne Model 08 Taskforce 
operated effectively during 2007 as the 
complicated process of transition to the 
Melbourne Model took shape. The MM08 
Taskforce acted as the steering committee 
for the BCG project reviewing the model 
for delivery of student services. On 
acceptance of the recommendations of the 
BCG Report, the Taskforce was superceded 
by the Melbourne Model Implementation 
Taskforce (MMIT), and charged with 
establishing the process for bringing the 
recommendations into effect. Though the 
MMIT has now completed much of its work 
it will continue to meet for at least part of 
2008 to review remaining implementation 
issues and monitor progress. Responsibility 
for student services is now consolidated 
under the Provost.

The activities of the RQF Taskforce are 
detailed in the Research section of this 
Report on page 25-26. 

neW planninG proCesses

stRAtegIC PRIoRItes

>  Implement a simplified Planning 
Framework as set out in the Ensuring 
Accountability 2007-2008 document 

>  Complete the faculty business planning and 
Growing Esteem transition fund processes

AChIeVements

The planning and budget process has been 
crucial to implementing Growing Esteem, 
a strategy which poses significant planning 
challenges to the University. The large scale 
of change inherent in the introduction of the 



Melbourne Model and Knowledge Transfer, 
or in responding strategically to the highly 
competitive landscape of research and in 
reforming administration has created new 
pressure points and issues. 

These changes have called for greater 
integration between planning and budgeting 
and have made it necessary for the 
University to look much further ahead.

In response, the University released the 
University Plan early in the previous year to 
inform the detailed work of faculty business 
planning and other processes. 2007 saw 
an overhaul of the University’s planning 
processes and requirement for the first 
time for each budget division to produce 
a major business plan aligning strategy 
and funding over the next three years. The 
University has instituted annual business 
planning in all divisions as a means of 
addressing strategic and more operational 
issues. Planning and forecasting tools have 
been developed to support faculties in this 
process, and significant progress has been 
made in building a University management 
information system which can provide a 
timely and consistent set of data on which 
planning and budgeting can proceed. 
The revised framework has been rolled 
out, to ensure stronger sequencing and 
linkage between University and divisional 
levels, and between planning, budgeting, 
risk management, quality assurance and 
reporting. Full implementation will occur 
over 2008-2009.

risK

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Improve management of risk, including 
compliance with the new ACRCR, 
revised SafetyMap, EHS and ESOS Act 
obligations and Crisis Management and 
Business Continuity Planning.

AChIeVements

A Strategic Risk Framework and 
Program, focussing on identification, 
rating, mitigation and reporting has been 
established. The Program embeds risk 
management in business planning and 
review. The Risk Management Committee 
was re-constituted in December 2007 in 
order to provide greater strategic focus on 
risk management.

A Crisis Management Plan, designed 
to establish a framework for business 
operations continuity during a sustained 
emergency, was developed in 2007, 
complementing the Emergency 
Management Plan. The Emergency 

Management Plan was tested when a gas 
leak forced the successful evacuation of a 
quarter of the Parkville campus. An exercise 
testing the Crisis Management Plan while 
overall successful, highlighted need for 
modification of the Plan and further training.

serViCe aGreeMents 

stRAtegIC PRIoRIty

>  Expand service agreements to all faculties

AChIeVements

Development of templates for service 
agreements was postponed pending 
completion of various change programs 
underway including planning for the new 
student services model. The framework 
may be incorporated into the University’s 
administrative business plan at a later date 
to describe how the University conducts 
its support services for students, staff and 
external stakeholders.

Challenges for 2008 will be to improve 
management reporting, quality assurance 
around introduction of the Melbourne 
Model, deliver the first significant 
functionality from the University MIS and to 
more tightly integrate the business planning 
process as between faculties, University 
Services the new Office of the Provost. 

outlooK

The focus in 2008 will continue to 
be rationalisation of the provision of 
information services, cost containment, 
the reshaping of the service delivery model 
for administrative services in general and 
finance and human resources in particular 
and the development of a revised planning 
and budget framework as part of a major 
overhaul of the University’s governance and 
management processes and structures.
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PRoFessoR 
KEN HINCHCLIFF 
The newly appointed Dean of the 
Faculty of Veterinary Science, Professor 
Ken Hinchcliff, is internationally 
recognised as a scholar of veterinary 
internal medicine and exercise 
physiology.  In 2007 he was presented 
with the Charles Capen Award for 
excellence in graduate education from 
the College of Veterinary Medicine at 
the Ohio State University.

He has been a driving force in research 
on exercise-related conditions with 
horses, which has provided critical 
information for policy-makers in the 
horse racing industry throughout the 
world. It has also been beneficial in 
helping veterinarians and horsemen to 
make prudent and informed decisions.

Professor Hinchcliff has an extensive 
publication record including over 150 
scientific publications in professional 
journals.  He is also the co-editor of 
the recently published book Equine 
Exercise Physiology: The Science of 
Exercise in the Athletic Horse and of 
one of the world’s leading veterinary 
publications – the Journal of Veterinary 
Internal Medicine.

PROFILE



UNIVERSITY 
 GOVERNANCE



uniVersity GoVernanCe 

our obJeCtiVes

Pursuant to Section 4A of the Melbourne University Act 1958, the objectives of the University are to:

(a) provide and maintain a teaching and learning environment of excellent quality offering higher education at an international standard;

(b)  undertake scholarship, research and research training of international standing and to apply that scholarship and research to the 
advancement of knowledge and to the benefit of the well-being of the Victorian, Australian and international communities;

(c) equip graduates of the University to excel in their chosen careers and to contribute to the life of the community;

(d) serve the Victorian, Australian and international communities and the public interest by:

(i) enriching cultural and community life;

(ii) elevating public awareness of educational, scientific and artistic developments;

(iii) promoting critical enquiry, informed intellectual discourse and public debate within the University and in the wider society;

(e) confering degrees and granting diplomas, certificates and other awards.
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ConVoCation

senior exeCutiVe � 
ViCe-ChanCellor & 
prinCipal

aCaDeMiC boarD
Melbourne business 
sChool

asialinK

ian potter MuseuM 
of art

Melbourne theatre 
CoMpany

Melbourne uniVersity 
booKshop

aDMinistratiVe 
DepartMents

faCulties, sChool 
of GraDuate 
stuDies, bio2� 
MoleCular sCienCe 
& bioteChnoloGy 
institute

aCaDeMiC DepartMents

Deans 2

heaDs of DepartMents

Subsidiary 
Companies

australian 
international 
health institute 
(the uniVersity of 
Melbourne) ltD

australian MusiC 
exaMinations boarD 
(ViC) ltD

australian national 
aCaDeMy of MusiC ltD

MeanJin CoMpany ltD

uMee ltD

Melbourne uniVersity 
publishinG pty ltD

Melbourne Ventures 
pty ltD

Mu stuDent union ltD

Corporate struCture

�  The Senior Executive includes the Vice-Chancellor and Principal, the Provost, the Deputy Vice-
Chancellors, Senior Vice-Principal, the Pro Vice-Chancellors and the Vice-Principal and Head of 
University Services and other Vice-Principals.

2 For full details of Deans, refer to page 76-77



proVostsenior ViCe-prinCipal

ViCe-prinCipal & 
General Counsel 

Mr Christopher penMan

LLB Syd LLM Lon 

GDipNatRes Melb

ViCe-prinCipal & 
aCaDeMiC reGistrar 

Ms Gillian luCK

Bus USQ M PuPol Griff 

DipComp

other aDMinistratiVe 
DireCtors & Deputy 
prinCipals

ViCe ChanCellor

senior aDMinistration

ViCe-prinCipal & 
Chief finanCial 
offiCer

Mr DaViD perCiVal

BFc Adel MBA Adel 

FCPA FCIS FAKD

ViCe-prinCipal 
huMan resourCes

Mr niGel WauGh

BA Syd GDipl 

R/HRM Canberra

ViCe-prinCipal 
inforMation 
serViCes

Ms linDa o’brien

BEd Syd MPA 

Canberra

ViCe-prinCipal 
MarKetinG & 
CoMMuniCations

Mr patriCK 
freelanD-sMall

BA Monash 

GDipAppPsych

ViCe-prinCipal 
researCh

Dr Glenn 
sWafforD

BA MPol Law 

LaTrobe PhD Fin 

MACF

ViCe-prinCipal 
CoMMerCialistion

Mr allan tait

BSoc Sci (Hons) 

Birm ACAACEW

ViCe-prinCipal 
property & 
CaMpus serViCes

Mr russel elliott

BSc Melb Med 

Melb

ViCe-prinCipal & heaD of 
uniVersity serViCes

Ms elizabeth barÉ 

BA Melb DipLib NSW 

GDipBus

Professor Mark Considine, Dean of the Faculty of Arts and Professor Fred D’Agostino, Faculty of Arts, University of Queensland, chair of the review panel, discuss the review of the 
Arts Faculty.



2007 CounCil MeMbers attenDanCe at CounCil anD CounCil CoMMittees DurinG the year
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Alexander, ms e 12 9 9 9 5 2

Allen, Associate Professor l 12 11 6 6

Briggs, mr P 12 7 4 2

Chernov, the hon justice A 12 10 6 6 5 1 4 2 5 4

Coyle, mr mF 12 11 7 6

davis, Professor g 12 11 9 5 5 5 4 3 5 3

doig, dr m 11 10 4 2 4 4

elgar, Professor mA 12 12 9 9 4 3 5 2 4 3  

giles, ms j 12 10 7 3

johanson, mr R 11 9 9 7 5 3

landy, mrs l 12 12 4 3

lawson, judge I 12 9 5 2

mansour, dr V 6 5 1 0 2 2

Pattison, Professor P 12 9 6 5 9 7 4 4 7 4 5 3 4 2

Renard, mr IA 12 9 5 5 4 4 5 3

Ritchie, ms ens 12 8 5 1

sloss, ms m 12 11 6 5 7 7 5 5

storelli, ms R 12 9 4 1 5 3 4 3 

white, the hon mr dR 12 10 6 3 9 8 4 4

williams, mr A 12 11 6 6

e – Eligible to attend; a – Attended [Note: In April 2006, Council resolved that its judicial members will be granted leave of absence for those meetings which coincide with the 
members’ obligations to complete court sittings.

Of the 12 meetings recorded in 2007, three were ‘Special Meetings’ held to consider urgent business at the same time as an information briefing, and one was a circular resolution 
held in accordance with section 14A of the Melbourne University Act 1958.

inDeMnity for CounCil

Pursuant to Section 16A of the Melbourne University Act 1958, the University indemnifies members of Council and University committees 
in respect of acts or omissions in good faith in the exercise of their powers or duties.

auDit & risK CoMMittee 
hon D White 
MeMber of CounCil 
(Chairperson)

builDinGs & estates 
CoMMittee 
hon JustiCe a ChernoV 
Deputy ChanCellor 
(Chairperson)

finanCe CoMMittee 
Ms e alexanDer 
MeMber of CounCil 
(Chairperson)

honours CoMMittee 
Mr i renarD 
ChanCellor 
(Chairperson)

reMuneration 
& eMployMent 
ConDitions CoMMittee 
Mr i renarD 
ChanCellor 
(Chairperson)

leGislation & trusts 
CoMMittee 
Ms M sloss sC 
MeMber of CounCil 
(Chairperson)

CounCil noMinations 
& GoVernanCe 
CoMMittee 
Mr i renarD 
ChanCellor 
(Chairperson)

uniVersity relations 
CoMMittee 
Ms r storelli 
Deputy ChanCellor 
(Chairperson)

CounCil

CounCil anD its CoMMittees
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GoVernanCe CoMMittees

auDit anD risK CoMMittee

The Audit and Risk Committee advises 
Council and its Finance Committee on the 
policy direction and effectiveness of both 
internal and external audit investigations 
and reviews on the effectiveness and 
efficiency of internal control systems, 
and on risk and processes relating to the 
governance of the management of risk.

The Committee consists of six members 
appointed by Council at least three of 
whom are members of Council and at 
least five of whom must be external 
members. Representatives of the Victorian 
Auditor General’s Office are invited to 
attend meetings of the Committee.  The 
chairperson is appointed by Council from 
among the members of Council. 

Membership at 31 December 2007 
comprised:

THE HON. DAVID WHITE (Chairperson) 
BCom LLB Melb. FCA FCPA

DR MEREDITH DOIG 
BA MEdStud Monash PhD RMIT DipEd Melb. 

GradDipMgt RMIT

PROFESSOR MARK ELGAR 
BSc Griff. PhD Camb.

MR PAUL BARKER 
BBus RMIT DipAccounting Swinburne FCA ACIS

MS MARGARET CROSSLEY 
FCA CPA

MS ALISON KITCHEN 
BA(Hons) Sheff. FCA CPA

builDinG anD estates CoMMittee

The Building and Estates Committee 
exercises governance responsibilities on 
behalf of Council in the oversight of the 
planning, development and stewardship of 
the University’s real property and physical 
assets. The chairperson is an external 
member of Council.

FInAnCe CommIttee

The Finance Committee exercises 
governance responsibilities in the oversight 
of the University’s financial and business 
affairs and, within delegated authority, 
acts on behalf of Council on those matters. 
The committee reviews and makes 
recommendations to Council on the 
University’s financial policies, performance 
and reporting obligations, risk management, 
and policies and procedures relating to the 
University’s commercial activities. The 

committee consists of 13 members. The 
chairperson and the vice-chairpersons are 
all external members of Council who have 
financial expertise.

honoURs CommIttee

The Honours Committee exercises 
governance responsibilities on behalf of 
Council in considering appointments of 
special distinction and also recommends 
and advises on honours and awards in 
recognition of service to the University or 
the community generally. The chairperson 
is the Chancellor.

RemUneRAtIon And emPloyment 
CondItIons CommIttee

The Remuneration and Employment 
Conditions Committee exercises 
governance responsibilities in the oversight 
of remuneration, staff conditions and 
benefits, and other matters relating to 
employment policy. Within its delegated 
authority, the Committee also acts on 
behalf of Council on those matters. 
The chairperson is the Chancellor.

legIslAtIon And 
tRUsts CommIttee

The Legislation and Trusts Committee 
advises Council on the appropriate form for 
draft Statutes and Regulations of Council 
and oversees the University’s stewardship 
of endowments and trusts. The committee 
consists of 13 members including three 
members of Council, one of whom is 
elected as chairperson, and the Vice-
Principal and General Counsel.

CoUnCIl nomInAtIons And 
goVeRnAnCe CommIttee

The Council Nominations and Governance 
Committee advises Council on matters 
relating to the selection and appointment of 
members of Council, policy matters relating 
to the membership of Council, proposed 
amendments to the University Act and other 
governance issues raised by Council. The 
Committee is chaired by the Chancellor.

UnIVeRsIty RelAtIons CommIttee

The University Relations Committee 
exercises on behalf of Council a key role in 
advocacy for the University of Melbourne’s 
strategic priorities through oversight of the 
governance of key relationships with its 
external communities. The committee is 
chaired by an external member of Council.

CoMMittee of ConVoCation

The Committee of Convocation 
represents graduates of the University 
and consists of members elected in 
proportion to the number of graduates 
in each faculty. In 2007 the Committee 
of Convocation celebrated 140 years of 
graduate representation at the University 
of Melbourne with the presentation to 
the University of a replica of the original 
University foundation stone. 

Membership at 31 Decemeber 2007 
comprised:

MS LESLEY BOSTON 
(President of Convocation) 
BA BEd Melb. MACE

DR LAURENCE SIMPSON 
(Deputy President) 
MD BS Melb. FRACS FCCP

Representatives of the Graduates in: 
Architecture, Building and Planning; 
Arts and Social Work; Economics and 
Commerce and the Melbourne Business 
School; Education and Music; Engineering; 
Land and Food Resources and in Veterinary 
Science; Law; Medicine, Dentistry and 
Health Sciences; and Science.

aCaDeMiC anD resourCe 
ManaGeMent

PlAnnIng And BUdget CommIttee

Planning and Budget Committee provides 
policy advice and strategic analysis to the 
Board, the Vice-Chancellor, and to Council. 
The committee is the major planning and 
budgeting body for the University and is 
the vehicle for the submission of major 
planning documents through the Board 
to Council. It brings together the senior 
academic and professional officers of 
the University, making them collectively 
responsible to Council for operational 
planning, resources management and 
performance monitoring. The committee is 
chaired by the Vice-Chancellor. 

CommIttee oF deAns

The Committee of Deans was established 
in December 2007 and is responsible to the 
Vice-Chancellor for integrating academic 
and administrative dimensions of the 
Growing Esteem Strategy in general and 
the Melbourne Model in particular. The 
Committee also oversees and coordinates 
the collective operations of academic units 
of the University and the administrative 
units that support them. The Committee 
includes in its composition senior academic 
officers of the University and the Senior 
Vice-Principal.



ACAdemIC BoARd

The Academic Board is established 
under the University Act and in Statute 
4.1 – Academic Board. It reports directly 
to Council and its primary functions are 
‘… the supervision and development of 
all academic activities of the University, 
including the maintenance of high 
standards in teaching and research; 
and communication with the academic 
community through the faculties and 
departments...’ The President of the 
Academic Board is an elected position with 
a term of office of two years.

The Standing Committees of the Board 
report to the Board on matters relating to 
their terms of reference after each meeting. 
The Academic Board meets on a monthly 
basis and in 2007 met eleven times from 
February to December. 

CoRPoRAte ChAnges

Since the 1990s the structure of the 
University has undergone profound change, 
commencing with an amalgamation 
between the University and the Melbourne 
College of Advanced Education followed 
later by the integration of the Hawthorn 
Institute of Education into the Faculty of 
Education. In 1992, the Victorian College 
of Agriculture and Horticulture affiliated 
with the University and over the course of 

2005, the University finalised arrangements 
to relinquish the teaching of Vocational 
Education and Training courses, previously 
offered through the Institute and Faculty, 
to specialist TAFE providers at various 
campuses. The Faculty of Land and Food 
Resources now concentrates its efforts on 
the delivery of higher education teaching 
and research programs.

The Victorian College of the Arts (VCA) 
became a faculty of the University with 
effect from 1 January 2007, having been 
affiliated with the University since 1991. 
Until 2007, it was a largely autonomous 
institution with its own Act of Parliament, 
Council and Director (Chief Executive), 
although its students were enrolled in 
courses approved by the University’s 
Academic Board and received degrees from 
the University.

Both parties, the University and the VCA, 
are signatories to a Heads of Agreement 
which sets out at a high level the basis 
on which any integration is to proceed 
including a guarantee of previous 
funding levels over the first five years of 
integration. An Integration Implementation 
Committee maintained oversight of 
progress towards integration during 2007 
and made a favourable final report to the 
DEST Collaboration and Structural Reform 
Fund in September 2007 against key 
performance indicators. The University 

Council established a VCA Integration 
Committee to continue to monitor progress 
and it reported to the University’s Council 
in December 2007 that the integration 
process had been completed on time and 
was successful at the operational level. 
Some outstanding strategic planning 
matters remain to be addressed at a later 
date which will be monitored by the VCA 
Integration Committee. In the course 
of the last two years the University has 
divested its various Hawthorn English 
Language Schools on the basis that 
they were no longer considered as core 
business. Towards the end of 2007, the 
University concluded negotiations for 
the sale by UMEE Ltd of the last of the 
Hawthorn English Language teaching 
businesses. The sale comprised the 
Hawthorn-Melbourne School and a 
franchise in Oman. The franchise in 
Singapore was discontinued.

FACUltIes 

In 2007, the University comprised 12 
faculties together with a School of Graduate 
Studies, the School of Enterprise and the 
Melbourne Business School (the latter 
being an affiliated institution).

CounCil

aCaDeMiC boarD

unDerGraDuate proGraMs 
CoMMittee

postGraDuate CourseWorK 
proGraMs CoMMittee

teaChinG & learninG quality 
assuranCe CoMMittee

seleCtion proCeDures 
CoMMittee

libraries CoMMittee

teaChinG & learninG 
(MultiMeDia & eDuCational 
teChnoloGies) CoMMittee 

other aCaDeMiC CoMMittees

planninG & buDGet 
CoMMittee

aDVanCeMent CoMMittee

huMan resourCes aDVisory 
CoMMittee

international CoMMittee

Melbourne experienCe 
CoMMittee

equity & DiVersity CoMMittee

risK ManaGeMent CoMMittee

uniVersity infrastruCture 
CoMMittee

KnoWleDGe transfer 
CoMMittee

offiCe of the 
ViCe-ChanCellor

researCh & researCh traininG

aCaDeMiC & resourCe ManaGeMent

CoMMittee of Deans 
(froM 2007)

aCaDeMiC proGraMs 
ManaGeMent CoMMittee

researCh traininG 
ManaGeMent CoMMittee

Melbourne experienCe 
CoMMittee

The University of Melbourne Annual Report 2007 7�

UnIVeRsIty 
goVeRnAnCe



The University offers over 90 bachelor 
degrees. In most disciplines in which 
there is a bachelor degree, the degrees 
of master and Doctor of Philosophy are 
available. The University also offers 
professional doctorates which differ 
from the Doctor of Philosophy degree in 
that they include specifically designed 
coursework as well as a research thesis in 
the professional speciality.

Postgraduate and graduate certificates and 
diplomas, which may be articulated into a 
wide range of masters degrees, are offered 
in all faculties. 

arChiteCture, builDinG 
anD planninG

Dean

Professor Tom Kvan 
MA Camb. MArch Calif PhD Open(UK) AHKIA AAIA 

The Faculty of Architecture Building 
and Planning is structured as a single-
department faculty offering courses 
in Architecture, Architectural Studies, 
Building, Building Surveying, Landscape 
Architecture, Planning and Design, Property 
and Construction, Urban Design, Urban 
Planning and Development. 

arts

Dean 

Professor Belinda Probert 
BSc Lond. PhD Lanc. (until September 2007)

Professor Mark Considine 
BA PhD Melb. (from September 2007)

The Faculty of Arts includes the following 
Schools and centres:

> Asia Institute
>  School of Social and Environmental 

Enquiry
> School of Culture and Communication
> School of Historical Studies
> School of Languages and Linguistics
>  School of Political Science, Criminology 

and Sociology
> School of Philosophy
> School of Social Work

eConoMiCs anD CoMMerCe
Dean
Professor Margaret Abernethy 
BEc PhD LaTrobe

The Faculty of Economics and Commerce 
includes the following departments:

>  Accounting and Business Information 
Systems

> Economics
> Finance
> Management and Marketing
> Centre for Actuarial Studies

eDuCation

Dean
Professor Field Rickards 
BSc MEd Manc. PhD Melb.

The Faculty of Education is structured as a 
single-department faculty offering a range of 
teacher education courses in Early Childhood 
Education and Development, Primary and 
Secondary Teaching and Education. 

enGineerinG

Dean 

Professor Jannie van Deventer 
(until May 2007) 

PhD DCom DEng Stellenbosch FIChemE FIEAust CEng

Professor Iven Mareels (from June 2007) 
ir (electro-mechanical engineering) Ghent PhD ANU 

CPEng SMIEEE

The Faculty of Engineering has six 
departments:

> Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering
> Civil and Environmental Engineering
>  Computer Science and Software 

Engineering
> Electrical and Electronic Engineering
> Geomatics
>  Mechanical and Manufacturing 

Engineering

lanD anD fooD resourCes

Dean

Professor Rick Roush 
PhD UCal

The Faculty operates out of four campuses, 
Burnley, Creswick, Dookie and Parkville. It 
is structured into three schools:

> Agriculture and Food Systems
> Forest and Ecosystem Science
> Resource Management

laW
Dean
Professor Michael Crommelin 
BA LLB Qld LLM PhD BrColl

The Faculty of Law is a single-department 
faculty.

MeDiCine, Dentistry anD 
health sCienCes

Dean

Professor James Angus 
BSc PhD Syd. FAA

The Faculty of Medicine, Dentistry and 
Health Sciences includes the following 
schools:

> Behavioural Science: Psychology
> Dental Science
> Medicine
> Nursing
> Physiotherapy
> Population Health
> Rural Health

Faculty teaching 
load – 2007 
estimates

loAd 
(eFtsl)

% Female

Architecture, 
Building & Planning

1,618 48.2%

Arts 6,178 68.3%

economics & 
Commerce

5,456 50.5%

education 2,601 79%

engineering 3,080 23.4%

land & Food 
Resources

 891 54.1%

law 2,012 53.9%

medicine, dentistry 
& health sciences

6,000 63.7%

music 493 64.2%

science 3,805 46.9%

Veterinary science 471 75.8%

Victorian College of 
the Arts

1,010 56.7%

school of enterprise 235 26.8%

school of graduate 
studies 

22 60.5%

other* 269 63.7%

Affiliated teaching 
institutions -

melbourne Business 
school

579 30.1%

total** 34,720 55.8%

*Other includes ‘unallocated’ 
(student on exchange) load.

**Total includes load at 31 October 2007 
and includes Study Abroad student load.

faCulties, DepartMents 
anD sChools



MusiC

Dean

Professor Cathy Falk 
BA PhD Monash

Music is a single-department faculty.

sCienCe

Dean

Professor Peter Rathjen 
BSc Adel. PhD Oxon

The Faculty of Science includes the 
following schools and departments:

> School of Botany
> School of Chemistry
> School of Earth Sciences
> School of Physics
> Department of Genetics
> Department of Information Systems
>  Department of Mathematics and 

Statistics
>  Department of Optometry and Vision 

Sciences
> Department of Zoology

Veterinary sCienCe

Dean 
Professor Glen Browning 
BVSc Melb. PhD Melb. DipVCS Syd. (until August 2007)

Professor Ken Hinchcliff 
BVSc Melb. PhD Ohio DACVIM (from August 2007)

The Faculty of Veterinary Science has two 
departments:

> Veterinary Science
> Veterinary Clinic and Hospital

ViCtorian ColleGe of the arts

Dean
Professor Andrea Hull 
AO BA DipEd Syd. FAIM

The VCA consists of six academic 
disciplines:

> Art
> Dance
> Drama
> Music
> Film and Television
> Production
The VCA has two specialist centres – the 
Centre for Ideas and the Wilin Centre for 
Indigenous Arts and Cultural Development.

sChool of enterprise

executive Dean

Ms Mariann Fee 
BA Grad Dip (Educational Administration)

The School of Enterprise was established 
under the University subsidiary UMEE and 
is the academic school through which its 
teaching and learning activities occur. The 
school delivers customised corporate award 
and non award programs and provides 
consultancy development and management 
services to the staff of the University to 
assist their accessibility to external clients.

sChool of GraDuate stuDies

Dean and pro Vice-Chancellor 
(research training) 

Professor Barbara Evans 
BSc Melb. PhD Melb. DipPhEd TSTC 

The position was restructured and renamed 
in the latter part of 2007 to:

pro Vice-Chancellor 
(Graduate research)
Professor Richard Strugnell 
BSc PhD Monash FASM 

(appointed from December 2007)

The School of Graduate Studies provides 
a range of enrichment activities and 
support mechanisms that contribute to the 
success of postgraduate research students 
and consequently enhance the research 
reputation of the University.

Melbourne business sChool
Dean
Professor John Seybolt 
BA Yale MBA Utah PhD Cornell

The Melbourne Business School offers 
postgraduate business education programs, 
and research activities with key centres for 
excellence in executive education, business 
and public policy.

bio2� MoleCular sCienCe anD 
bioteChnoloGy institute
Director 
Professor Dick Wettenhall 
BSc Melb. PhD Monash 

The Bio21 Molecular Science and 
Biotechnology Institute (Bio21 Institute) 
is a multidisciplinary research centre, 
specialising in medical, agricultural and 
environmental biotechnology. 

PRoFessoR 
PETER MCPHEE
Professor Peter McPhee, previously 
Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Academic), 
was appointed Melbourne’s inaugural 
Provost in 2007.

The Office of the Provost has been 
established to provide the University-
wide oversight of course planning and 
delivery necessary on introduction 
of the Melbourne Model. It fosters 
collaboration across the University, 
managing changes in academic policies 
and practices that affect the University 
as a whole and ensuring that high 
quality, consistent support services are 
provided to students. The Provost is the 
standing deputy to the Vice-Chancellor.

In 2007 the Provost had particular 
responsibilities for implementation of 
the University’s new Melbourne Model 
curriculum structure. 

Professor McPhee represented the 
University in a wide range of forums 
through 2007, communicating the 
features and educational benefits of 
the Melbourne Model to community 
groups including media representatives, 
secondary schools, parents of 
prospective students, local and 
overseas alumni, recruitment agents, 
and international universities.

Professor McPhee is also Chair of the 
Victorian Curriculum and Assessment 
Authority Board.  

PROFILE
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statutory reportinG

�. enVironMental sustainability

The University of Melbourne is committed 
to continuing to strive to be a leader in 
sustainability both through its role as an 
educational institution and as one of the 
largest public organisations in Victoria.

university environmental policy

Throughout 2007 the University continued 
to implement the University Environmental 
Policy. The principal environmental 
challenges recognised in the policy include, 
improved efficiency of resource use, 
minimising waste generation and reducing 
discharges to the environment from 
University activities.

Through the Environmental Health and 
Safety Unit and other dedicated staff, the 
University has a number of programs in 
place for:

�. Moving towards Carbon neutrality 
2. sustainable office/laboratory 
�. Water Conservation 
4. recycling and Waste Management

Ongoing sustainability activities undertaken 
during 2007 included:

>  recycling programs for office waste, 
paper, cardboard, commingle, toner 
cartridges and batteries

>  hazardous waste collection with recycling 
of the hazardous waste, or if necessary, 
disposal in accordance with Environment 
Protection Authority requirements

>  engagement of all faculties and divisions 
of the University in achieving the goals 
of the Environmental Policy, strategic 
objectives and legislative compliance

>  establishment of sustainability objectives 
and targets for 2007. Objectives and 
Achievements are summarised in Table 1

�.Moving towards Carbon neutrality

The University engaged external 
consultants to undertake a comprehensive 
Type 3 Energy Audit in accordance with 
AS 3598:2000. The audit included 13 
faculties containing 70 buildings within 
the Parkville Campus. The University has 
allocated funding to implement the energy 
savings recommendations identified in 
the energy audit. Once implemented 
these energy savings will equate to an 
approximate reduction in CO2 emissions 
of 25,735 tonnes per annum, which 
represents 20 per cent of the total CO2 
emissions for the Parkville Campus.

A report entitled ‘Moving Towards 
Carbon Neutrality’ was prepared for and 
accepted by University Council. The report 
recommended University wide targets for 
carbon footprint reductions for 2008 to 
2010 and for carbon neutrality by 2030. 
These targets are set out in Table 2.

Students gather in the South Lawn square, in front of the remarkable Old Arts Tower.



table �

objective Achievement

1. Reduce the occurrence or re-occurrence 
of environmental incidents and reduce the 
University’s environmental impact. 

> Trade waste license in place for all applicable University controlled facilities.

> Centralised hazardous waste management system for all University entities.

> Appropriate level of training is provided to staff and students who store, handle or use chemicals.

>  New Risk Management Procedure and Electronic Incident Reporting System facilitate management of 
environmental risks and reporting of incidents.

>  Trials of lighting controlled systems commenced. Energy efficient lighting lamps (T5) purchased to replace 
current lamps (T8).

> University’s centrally managed vehicle fleet is signed to GreenFleet.

> Battery recycling via mail room and collected with monthly pick of hazardous waste collection.

>  The University recycles 95% of general and office waste from the Parkville, Werribee, Burnley, Abbotsford 
and VCA campuses. During 2007, the University diverted 538 tonnes of general and office waste from land fill 
through this recycling program.

>  Approximately 168 m3 of computers, monitors and other electronic equipment was recycled through an E-waste 
recycler.

> There are no longer recycling facilities for overhead transparencies within Australia. 

2. Continually improve compliance with 
environmental legislation and conformance 
to Iso 14001:2004.

> Review of Dangerous Goods signage complete; installation of signage to occur in 2008.

>  Regular reports on results of EMS audits and regulators’ activity were provided to the Risk Management 
Committee.

>  Review of emergency response management completed. Additional spill control kits in place throughout 
Parkville campus and VCA.

3. Improve environmental sustainability lead-
ership and culture throughout the University.

>  A Staff Environment Advocates (SEAs) list has been reviewed and updated, approximately 90 staff on the list.  
Training session conducted for SEAs. 

>  Two meetings for SEAs in 2007, and regular direct communication, supplied information on objectives and 
targets and progress of sustainability projects.

>  A brief and plan were developed during 2007 with Marketing and Communication Division for an environment 
and sustainability campaign for implementation in 2008. 

> Reported on Tailloires Declaration progress to Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Innovation & Development).

4. Provide high quality, consistent and practi-
cal environmental sustainability information 
and advice to the University community.

> Gap Analysis of procedures between the EHS Manual and ISO 14001:2004 completed.

>  An EMS draft register for Environmental Aspects and Impacts was completed and published in 2007 for 
consultation with staff.

> An EMS draft register for Legal and Other Obligations completed, to be published in 2008.

> Network of key staff established in high risk areas.

5. Reduce greenhouse gas emissions pro-
duced by the University.

> Energy Efficiency progress report to be published in 2008. 

> Greenhouse Challenge Plus Programme papers ready for signing in 2008.

table 2

Reduction strategy year

2008 2009 2010 2030

Reduction in energy Use 10% 15% 20% >20% 

Certified green energy 10% 15% 20% >20% 

Abatement measures 5% 10% 10% To be determined  

total Reduction in Co2 25% 40% 50% 100% 
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These figures represent reductions in 
energy consumption and increases in 
certified Green Energy or Abatement 
Measures from a 2006 base. 

In addition the University of Melbourne has 
committed to purchasing 100 per cent Green 
Energy for electricity at Dookie, Creswick and 
Burnley campuses commencing in 2008.

2. sustainable office/laboratory

The University commenced trials of 
automated lighting control systems, 
voltage reduction systems for existing 
lighting and more efficient T5 fluorescent 
lighting systems. The results of these 
trails will be assessed and utilised in 
implementing a University-wide energy 
efficient lighting installations.

�. Water Conservation

The Maintenance section of Property and 
Campus Services has in place a Water 
Conservation Management Plan. As part 
of this plan the following initiatives, were 
implemented during 2007:

Grounds initiatives:

>  irrigation measures – commissioned 
recycled water supply at Werribee 
Campus;

>  continued installation of drip irrigation;

>  reduced schedules;

>  enhanced automation;

>  plants – mulching of trees and garden 
beds, increased planting of drought 
tolerant plants, use of drought tolerant 
grass on the main sports oval;

>  installation of roof water retention tanks at 
Creswick and Burnley Campuses;

>  installation of a rain garden to capture and 
treat local stormwater run off, Victorian 
College of the Arts (VCA) Campus; and

>  arrangement with City West Water to 
undertake leak detection field monitoring 
at the Parkville campus.

building initiatives:

>  increased monitoring and metering of 
water consumption in buildings;

>  significant investment in Building 
Automated System (BAS) technology 
to improve water efficiency of plant and 
equipment;  

>  introduction of manual ‘local’ run-on 
timers for A/C in some locations; and

>  improved water efficiency of a significant 
number of toilets and bathrooms.

4. recycling and Waste Management

As part of the University’s Recycling and 
Waste Management Program the volume 
of polystyrene waste generated by the 
University has been minimised through;

>  elimination of polystyrene packaging 
supplied to the University;

>  requesting suppliers to reclaim their 
polystyrene packaging;

>  reuse the polystyrene within the 
University; and

>  recycling the polystyrene through 
a polystyrene recycling facility, 
approximately 70m3 of polystyrene was 
recycled by the University in 2007.

The University continues to produce 
approximately 5m3 of un-compacted waste 
polystyrene per week. 

During 2007 a polystyrene compactor 
was purchased by the EHS Unit and 
installed in the Bio21 Institute. The 
machine reprocesses the polystyrene 
and compresses the waste to 1/40th 
of its original size, making storage and 
transport of polystyrene for recycling more 
economically feasible. There are plans for 
an additional compactor to be located on 
the main Parkville campus. 

The University continued diverting waste 
plastic and metal from landfill by reusing 
and recycling empty toner cartridges. 

audit and Compliance

regulatory activity

Melbourne City Council investigated an 
allegation of visual pollution emanating 
from the David Penington Building, Bio21 
Institute. The investigation confirmed the 
facility operated in accordance with the 
requirements of Environment Protection 
Regulations 2007. 

environmental Management system 
(eMs) and external audits

The University’s Environmental 
Management System (EMS) continued to 
be maintained through out the University, 
including all campuses and the University’s 
operations and subsidiaries. 

The University’s EMS was subjected 
to a significant recertification audit in 
August–September 2007. The University 
received re-certification of ISO 14001:2004 
Environmental Management System. There 
were no major non-conformances found.

independent environmental 
Compliance review

An independent consultant was engaged in 
August 2007 to conduct an environmental 
compliance review in three high risk areas. 
These included Anatomy and Cell Biology, 
Faculty of Medicine, Dentistry and Health 
Sciences, Bio21 Institute and Veterinary 
Science Clinical Centre, Werribee. Minor 
observations were made for all three sites 
and one non-compliance finding across 
the University was issued in relation to an 
absence of a formal agreement between 
the University’s prescribed waste contractor 
and the University. Subsequently a formal 
agreement was signed by the two parties. 

internal environmental Management 
system (eMs) audits

A program of internal audits of the 
University’s EMS continued throughout 
2007. The local EMS is internally audited 
against the criteria of ISO 14001:2004 in 
all academic and administrative divisions 
of the University and a number of its 
controlled entities. 

During 2007 over 355 criteria were audited 
across the University. The University 
achieved two per cent non-conformances: 
a one percentage point improvement from 
2006.

eDuCatinG the uniVersity 
anD the WiDer CoMMunity

In 2007, the new Bachelor of Environments 
undergraduate degree was developed in 
preparation for its commencement in 2008. 
Drawing on the resources and expertise of 
five faculties, the Bachelor of Environments 
is an innovative degree that will give a 
thorough understanding of the factors that 
shape our environments. 

A new University breadth subject, 
Introduction to Climate Change, will provide 
students with a fundamental understanding 
of the science, environmental impacts, 
economic, social, political and legal issues 
associated with climate change. There is 
an emphasis on international and global 
implications.

The Office for Environmental Programs 
(OEP) continued to administer the 
successful Graduate Environmental 
Program (GEP), which offers cross-faculty, 
interdisciplinary postgraduate training. 
The Program is delivered via 10 faculties 
across the University, and in 2007 included 
a tailored stream and nine specialist 
streams in the areas of Development; 
Integrated Catchment Management; 
Waste Management; Energy Studies; 
Education; Public Health; Governance, 



Policy and Communication; Conservation, 
Restoration and Landscape Management; 
and Sustainable Cities, Sustainable 
Regions. The success of the program 
has been demonstrated by a dramatic 
increase in enrolments during 2007, from 
both domestic and international students. 
The OEP has continued to promote 
sustainability by involving its academic 
staff and students in policy formation and 
advice to government, local government 
and industry. 

external Conferences

The University of Melbourne was 
represented and participated at the 
annual Australasian Campuses Towards 
Sustainability (ACTS) conference. Three 
staff members were sponsored by the EHS 
Unit to attend the Conference. Following 
the Conference a report was presented to 
Staff Environment Advocates.

New large initiatives focussing on the 
environment have also been launched in 
2007. In April, the University of Melbourne 
and Monash University joined forces in 
Uniwater, a major research-driven response 
to the current water crisis, in which each 
university will contribute more than $1 
million over three years. The School 
of Forest and Ecosystem Science also 
began a $1 million program of research for 
Melbourne Water to look at the potential 
impacts of bushfire on our water supply 
catchments.

2. freeDoM of inforMation

In the period from 1 July 2006 to 30 June 
2007, 24 new requests for documents were 
received. These comprised 10 requests 
for personal documents and 14 requests 
for non-personal documents. Access in 
full was given to nine requests, partial 
access to seven requests, in two cases the 
advice was that no documents were found, 
one request was denied and five were 
unresolved within the reporting period.

The Principal Officer of the University is the 
Vice-Chancellor. The Senior-Vice Principal 
is the formally designated Freedom of 
Information Manager of the University.

All formal requests for access to 
documents of the University, under the 
provisions of the Freedom of Information 
Act, are made in writing to:

The Senior Vice-Principal 
The University of Melbourne 
Parkville Vic 3010

Where access is granted to inspect, obtain 
or purchase material, arrangements will be 
made during normal office hours, Monday 
to Friday, 8.45am to 5.00pm.

Enquiries on any aspect of the Freedom of 
Information legislation, or for assistance 
that may be required to identify documents 
of the University available under Freedom 
of Information, should be directed to:

Ms Janet White 
University Secretary 
The University of Melbourne 
Parkville Vic 3010 
Tel. (03) 8344 4000

A request for access to a document of 
the University should include sufficient 
information about that document to enable 
it to be identified. Assistance will be 
provided by an officer of the University 
in cases where details supplied about 
a document are not sufficiently clear to 
identify that document.

Charges for access to documents of 
the University under the provisions of 
the Freedom of Information Act are in 
accordance with the standard provisions 
of the Freedom of Information (Access 
Charges) Regulation 1993.

A. CAtegoRIes oF doCUments

Major Information Series:

1. University Council Minutes 1853–

2.  Academic Board (formerly Professorial 
Board) Minutes 1853–

3. Central Administration Correspondence

4. Staff Correspondence Files

5. Faculty Records

6. Academic Department Records

7. Computer Records and Systems

Computer-based systems have been 
developed to assist the University’s 
administrative processes in the following 
major areas of activity:

> Student Administration

> Human Resources

> Financial Accounting

> Budgeting

> Research Administration

A wide range of smaller systems has 
also been developed. Within this overall 
structure, a vast range of individual 
computer reports is produced to meet the 
needs of University Administration, faculties, 
academic departments and students.

B. doCUments ContAInIng 
PolICIes, PRoCedURes And 
gUIdelInes

Documents listed within this section 
cover University publications that include 
details of policies, operating procedures 
and/or guidelines that may have an effect 
or impact on members of the public in 
their dealings with the University. All 
documents listed may be inspected on 
application to the University Secretary, 
where not otherwise available in the 
Melbourne University Bookshop or other 
public venues. Many documents are 
available on the web at www.unimelb.
edu.au/policyprocs/.

�. university act, statutes and 
regulations

The University Act, Statutes and 
Regulations are detailed in the Calendar 
and on the web. Regulations dealing with 
courses, scholarships and endowments 
are available on the web at http://www.
unimelb.edu.au/unisec/calendar/. 

2. standing resolutions of Council

Standing Resolutions of Council codify 
the terms of reference, membership and 
functions of committees of Council and 
collect together all Council resolutions on 
meeting procedures etc. and are available 
on the web at: www.unimelb.edu.au/
unisec/Srvol1/. 

�. Manuals/rules of procedure

Rules and practices affecting members 
of the public in their dealings with the 
University will be found, in the first instance, 
in the following online or paper publications:

>  Calendar (A register of academic staff and 
list of key University activities) 
www.unimelb.edu.au/unisec/calendar/ 

>  Campus Filming Guidelines 
www.marcom.unimelb.edu.au/media/
campus_filming.html

>  Compliance Manual 
www.unimelb.edu.au/compliance/
manual/index.html 

>  Copyright 
www.unimelb.edu.au/copyright/

>  Cultural Diversity 
www.unimelb.edu.au/diversity/

>  Environmental Health and Safety Manual 
www.unimelb.edu.au/ehsm/ 

>  Finance Policy and Procedures 
www.unimelb.edu.au/FinPPM/
FPP0home.htm 
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>  Freedom of Information 
www.unimelb.edu.au/unisec/foi.html

>  Intellectual Property Policy 
www.research.unimelb.edu.au/ridg/ip/

>  IT Policy Strategies and Procedures Guide 
www.infodiv.unimelb.edu.au/itpp/ 

>  Personnel Policy and Procedures 
www.unimelb.edu.au/ppp/docs/ 

>  Privacy Policy 
www.unimelb.edu.au/unisec/privacy/
index.html

>  PhD Handbook – Guide to Rules and 
Regulations 
www.gradstudies.unimelb.edu.au/phd/
enrolcandid/phdhbk/ 

>  Records Management Policy and 
Procedures Manual 
www.unimelb.edu.au/records/manual.
html

>  Research Management and Policy 
www.research.unimelb.edu.au/policy/
index.html

>  Security Policy 
www.unimelb.edu.au/policyprocs/docs/
Security_Policy_TT1107.pdf

>  Student Discipline 
www.services.unimelb.edu.au/policy/
discipline/index.html

>  Student Expectations and Responsibilities 
www.services.unimelb.edu.au/policy/
expectations/index.html

>  Undergraduate Studies Handbook 
www.unimelb.edu.au/HB/index.html 

>  Whistleblowers Protection Policy 
www.hr.unimelb.edu.au/advicesupport/
whistleblowers

C. PUBlICIty seRVICes And 
RePoRt lIteRAtURe

The University issues a large number 
and range of publications. A list of official 
publications is available on the web at 
www.unimelb.edu.au/publications/.  The 
list includes:

>  Growing Esteem: The University of 
Melbourne Plan 2007 

> Investment Report

>  Learning and Teaching Management 
Plan 2006

>  Research and Research Training Plan 
2006

> Towards Environmental Sustainability

>  The University of Melbourne Annual 
Report 2006

>  The University of Melbourne Annual 
Budget 2006

>  The University of Melbourne Research 
Report

>  The University of Melbourne Research 
Performance

�. WHisTLebLoWers proTecTion 
acT 2001

The University is committed to ensuring full 
compliance with the aims and objectives 
of the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 
(The Act). It tolerates neither improper 
conduct by University staff and Council 
members nor the taking of reprisals against 
those who come forward to disclose such 
conduct.

The University recognises the value of 
transparency and accountability in its 
administrative and management practices 
and supports the making of disclosures 
that reveal corrupt conduct, conduct 
involving a substantial mismanagement of 
public resources, or conduct involving a 
substantial risk to public health and safety 
or the environment.

The University will take all reasonable 
steps to protect people who make such 
disclosures from any detrimental action in 
reprisal for making the disclosure. It will 
also afford natural justice to any person 
who is the subject of the disclosure.

The University’s procedures for reporting 
disclosures of improper conduct or 
detrimental action by the University, its 
staff or members of Council were updated 
in October 2007, and can be viewed at 
www.hr.unimelb.edu.au/advicesupport/
whistleblowers.

The procedures enable disclosures to 
be made to the Protected Disclosure 
Coordinator or to one of the nominated 
Protected Disclosure Officers listed on 
the website. Disclosures may be made by 
students, staff members or by members of 
the public.

>  The number and types of disclosures 
made to the public body during the 
year: Nil.

>  The number of disclosures referred 
during the year by the public body to 
the Ombudsman for determination as 
to whether they were public interest 
disclosures: One public interest 
disclosure, reported in 2006, was 
resolved in 2007 to the satisfaction of 
the Ombudsman.

>  The number and types of disclosed 
matters referred to the public body during 
the year by the Ombudsman: Nil.

>  The number and types of disclosed 
matters referred during the year by 
the public body to the Ombudsman to 
investigate: Nil.

>  The number and types of investigations 
of disclosed matters taken over by the 
Ombudsman from the public body during 
the year: Nil.

>  The number of requests made under 
section 74 during the year to the 
Ombudsman to investigate disclosed 
matters: Nil.

>  The number and types of disclosed 
matters the public body had declined to 
investigate during the year: Nil.

>  The number and types of disclosed 
matters substantiated on investigation 
and the action taken on completion of the 
investigation: Nil.

>  The number of recommendations of the 
Ombudsman under this Act that related 
to the public body: In relation to one 
protected disclosure which commenced 
in 2006, the Ombudsman found no 
evidence of detrimental action by the 
University, but made recommendations 
on procedures for handling complaints, 
which the University has implemented.

Grievance procedures

The University developed a set of student 
grievance procedures in 2003, taking into 
account comments from the Victorian 
Government review of governance 
in universities. The procedures were 
reviewed again in early 2004 in the 
light of some experience at using them 
and were amended to include some 
clarification about further processes of 
appeal to outside bodies. The current 
student grievance procedures are on the 
University’s web site at 
www.services.unimelb.edu.au/grievances/

The grievance procedures in the University 
of Melbourne 2006 Enterprise Bargaining 
Agreement apply to all staff grievances, 
except where specific procedures exist. 
Specific processes exist for handling 
grievances relating to sexual harassment 
or unlawful discrimination. Staff members 
may also be aggrieved by decisions made 
by the University in relation to promotion, 
reclassification of general staff positions 
and disciplinary penalties for misconduct 
and unsatisfactory performance. Specific 
review committees exist to handle each 
of these issues. Current staff grievance 
procedures are on the University’s 
web site at www.hr.unimelb.edu.au/
advicesupport/grievance.



The University continues to monitor the 
effectiveness and accessibility of its 
grievance procedures making adjustments 
as required and reports key data on 
grievances to its Council annually.

4. stateMent on the uniVersity’s 
risK ManaGeMent strateGy

The management of risk is a core framework 
component of the University’s Accountability 
Structure which integrates annual cycles of 
strategic and operational planning, reporting 
and quality assurance. The University seeks 
to alert staff to the ongoing importance of 
monitoring and addressing risk in all areas of 
University activity.

A number of structures and processes are 
in place for identifying and managing risk. 
Senior Officers are assigned accountability 
for designated areas of risk. The Risk 
Management Committee has responsibility 
for monitoring the performance of University 
Officers in managing risk and for ensuring 
risk is managed in a coordinated manner. 
Several Council Committees exercise a 
governance role on behalf of Council in 
ensuring that designated risk accountabilities 
are being properly exercised. 

The Audit and Risk Committee which 
reports directly to both the University’s 
Finance Committee and Council, continues 
to encompass the governance responsibility 
for broad monitoring of the handling of 

University risk.  The membership of this 
committee comprises external members of 
Council and other external appointees with 
expertise in audit and risk management.

In carrying out its oversight role over 
University subsidiary companies and 
controlled entities, the Subsidiaries Sub-
Committee, a Committee reporting to 
the Finance Committee, reviews annual 
budgets and business plans, including risk 
management plans, and regularly monitors 
performance against budget and plan.

Two other University committees 
exercising significant risk management 
accountabilities are:

uniVersity ControlleD entities – leVels of finanCial anD reputational risK

CoRPoRAte VehICles PRInCIPAl oBjeCtIVes leVel oF 
FInAnCIAl RIsK
(hIgh, medIUm 
oR low)

leVel oF 
RePUtAtIonAl 
RIsK (hIgh, 
medIUm oR low)

Australian International health 
Institute ltd (the University of 
melbourne) limited

To undertake research, development, education, training, consultancy and other 
activities in regard to medicine, dentistry, health, health science and related 
areas.

To provide facilities for study, research and education.

Medium Low

Australian music examinations 
Board (Vic) limited

To represent in Victoria the Australian Music Examinations Board as the State 
Committee for the purposes of the conduct within the State of Victoria and 
elsewhere of music examinations.

To aid, promote and assist music, music education and the appreciation of music.

Low Low

Australian national Academy of 
music limited

To operate as a national centre of excellence in practical music education and 
training.

To provide practical music education and training for outstandingly talented 
music students.

Low Low

Umee limited (formerly 
melbourne University Private 
limited)

To commercialise educational services. 

To conduct English Language teaching.

Low Low

melbourne Business school 
limited

To undertake the education of University graduates and others in management 
studies.

To conduct post-experience courses for practising managers.

To conduct postgraduate research programs into management and related areas, 
and to promote, licence, develop and apply the results of research activities.

Low Low

melbourne University Publishing 
limited

To publish the best scholarly writing from Australia and overseas, both within and 
independent of the tertiary sector.

To develop and disseminate text and image-based intellectual property in a 
variety of formats and media.

To retain and develop Melbourne University Press and the Miegunyah Press as 
imprints of the company.

Medium Low

melbourne Ventures Pty limited To create a valuable portfolio of successfully commercialised University of 
Melbourne technologies by making available to University staff the requisite 
skills and resources to ensure that technologies developed by the University are 
given the best possible opportunity to succeed in the commercial marketplace.

Low Low

mU student Union limited To advance the education of students of the University by providing amenities, 
services and facilities for the benefit of students, utilising the Amenities and 
Services Fee funding and such other revenue or reserves of the company as may 
be appropriate in the circumstances.

Medium Low

the meanjin Company limited To publish Meanjin, a quarterly literary magazine reflecting the breadth of 
contemporary thinking in literature and other art forms or broader issues of the 
times.

Low Low 

Victorian Institute for Chemical 
sciences limited

To advance chemical sciences in Victoria Low Low
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> Finance Committee 

>  oversight of financial risks of the 
University 

>  oversight of University Companies and 
other major incorporated entities; and

> Investment Management Committee 

>  oversight of the external placement of the 
University’s investment portfolio.

A number of operational units have specific 
risk mitigation programs, such as Property 
and Campus Services, which oversees the 
University’s environment health and safety 
program. The University’s Compliance 
Officer reports regularly to the University 
Council on matters relevant to compliance 
with the University’s statutory obligations.

The University has an integrated 
strategic risk assessment model to 

address University risks in addition to 
those identified by the academic and 
administrative departments and this now 
forms part of the Annual Planning Cycle.

Under revised terms of reference the 
University’s Risk Management Committee 
monitors identification of strategic risks 
and the implementation of action plans 
developed to address risks with a high 
residual risk rating. 

uniVersity business operations – leVels of finanCial anD reputational risK

PRInCIPAl oBjeCtIVes leVel oF 
FInAnCIAl RIsK
(hIgh, medIUm 
oR low)

leVel oF 
RePUtAtIonAl 
RIsK (hIgh, 
medIUm oR low)

melbourne University Bookshop To work closely with departments to supply students with teaching and text 
materials to meet course and research requirements at affordable prices.

To maintain a high quality campus bookstore website and provide new services 
electronically as they evolve.

To operate on a commercial basis and return a surplus to the University.

Low Low

melbourne theatre Company To develop new Australian writing by the presentation of first-rate productions of 
new work, as well as by a program of commissions, workshops and dramaturgy.

To promote the development of an Australian repertoire.

To present first class and original productions of classic works from the past.

To operate on a commercial basis and as a professional theatre company.

Low Low

Veterinary Clinic and hospital To provide teaching material for undergraduate and postgraduate students in 
veterinary science. 

Medium Low

International house To be a place of residence, education and corporate life for students and for the 
purpose of encouraging international understanding and friendship among students.

Low Low

medley hall To be a place of residence, education and corporate life for students and for the 
purpose of encouraging understanding and friendship among students.

Medium Low

w t Kendall hall To be a residence for students in the third and fourth years of Veterinary Science. Low Low

external inVestMents – leVels of finanCial anD reputational risK

PRInCIPAl oBjeCtIVes leVel oF 
FInAnCIAl RIsK
(hIgh, medIUm 
oR low)

leVel oF 
RePUtAtIonAl 
RIsK (hIgh, 
medIUm oR low)

Universitas 21 lBg To provide a pre-eminent brand for educational services supported by a strong 
quality assurance framework. 

To allow member universities to pursue significant global initiatives that would be 
beyond their individual capabilities.

Low Low

Universitas 21 global  Pte ltd
(joint venture between Uni-
versitas 21 lBg and thomson 
learning) 

To be an e-University that provides leading-edge access to educational programs 
designed to meet the needs of the individuals and corporations in the information 
economy of the 21st century.

To build academic programs that incorporate the traditions and strengths of its 
founders and add the value of the internet as a powerful educational medium.

Medium Medium

Universitas 21 equity ltd To hold part of the issued share capital of Universitas 21 Global Pty Ltd (Joint 
venture between Universitas 21 LBG and Thomson learning). 

Medium Medium

Bio21 Australia limited To develop and enhance the reputation of Victoria as a leading academic centre for 
the advancement of knowledge in fundamental areas of biology, medicine, science 
and technology.

In cooperation with other universities, other educational and scientific institutions 
and other persons to conduct world class training, financially viable biotechnology 
research and to facilitate the development and research and to facilitate the 
development and commercialisation of the results of that research.

Low Low
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neurosciences Victoria  ltd To organise and focus neuroscience research  so that the social and economic 
potential offered by Australian neuroscience is realised.

To promote and mediate large-scale collaborative research programs that will result 
in discoveries and technologies for the management of neurological and psychiatric 
disorders.

Low Medium

UIIt Pty ltd To provide seed funding to further develop promising research outcomes.

To assist with the commercialisation of such research outcomes.

Low Low

Uniseed management Pty ltd To provide management services to UIIT Pty Limited. Low Low

�. stateMent on oCCupational health anD safety (ohs) Matters

The University has a broad OHS risk profile, including specific risks associated with laboratory operations, workshop operations, chemical 
storage, handling and use, and manual handling. 

The University’s OHS Policy requires the University to take all reasonable precautions to provide and maintain, so far as is practicable, 
an environment that is safe and without risks to health for employees, students and visitors. A new OHS Strategic Plan for 2007–2010 
developed in 2006 was endorsed during 2007.  The University OHS Strategic Plan 2007–2010 sets OHS goals by detailing four strategic 
objectives. Table 1 provides a summary of significant achievements during 2007 towards meeting these objectives.

table �. oCCupational health anD safety strateGiC plan suMMary of aChieVeMents – 2007 

objective Achievements towards objective

Reduce the occurrence or re-occurrence 
of workplace injuries and illnesses.

Developed and/or implemented improved procedure for high consequence operations including:

> Working in confined spaces 

> Interaction between vehicles and pedestrians

> High risk plant (pressure vessels)

> High risk plant (lifts)

Continued implementation of new risk management procedures.

Continued implementation of incident reporting and investigation procedures that identify root causes of incidents and 
monitor corrective actions.

Continually improve compliance with 
health and safety legislation and 
conformance to safetymAP.

Improved health and safety related maintenance, and upgrading of University-maintained building infrastructure – the 
Asset Protection Program.

Undertook program of retrofitting guarding to plant in building plant rooms, and plant controlled by the Faculties of 
Engineering and VCA.

Improved contractor health and safety management systems monitoring in Property and Campus Services through 
implementation of a new contractor database.

Developed and implemented new EHS purchasing procedures.

Internal SafetyMAP auditing program began to include monitoring of corrective action plans and review of all adverse 
audit findings. 

Significant reduction in number of non-conformance findings from internal SafetyMAP audits.

Internal SafetyMAP audit results reported to and monitored by both the Risk Management Committee and the Audit 
and Risk Committee.

Regulatory activity reports provided to and monitored by both the Occupational Heath and Safety Committee and the 
Risk Management Committee

Significant reduction in the number of Improvement Notices and/or Prohibition Notices issued by WorkSafe. 

Introduction of multi-building emergency exercises.

Improve health and safety leadership and 
culture throughout the University.

Financial incentive scheme implemented based upon SafetyMAP internal audit findings. 

Executive EHS Roles and Responsibilities Training program commenced.

Provide high quality consistent and 
practical health and safety information 
and advice to the University community.

Continued review of the Environment Health and Safety (EHS) Manual resulting in the publication of 17 new/revised 
EHS procedures.

New templates and examples of critical health and safety documents developed and published, including Health and 
Safety Management Plans, Safety Bulletins and Safety Alerts.

University-wide network of health and safety professionals in high risk faculties/budget divisions established.



occupational health and safety 
Management system (ohsMs)

The University’s OHSMS, encompassing 
the Environment, Health and Safety 
(EHS) Manual, has been subject to a 
major review since 2005, and this review 
continued throughout 2007. New or revised 
procedures published in the EHS Manual 
during 2007 include:

Communication, Confined Spaces, 
Consultation, Cooling Tower Management, 
EHS Legal Requirements, EHS 
Management Plans, Objectives and 
Targets, EHS Management Systems Audit, 
EHS Purchasing Requirements, EHS 
Representation and EHS Committees, 
EHS Signage, EHS Workplace Inspection, 
Electrical Inspection and Testing, 
Emergency Preparedness and Response, 
First Aid, Hot Work, Smoking in the 
Workplace  and Waste Management.

Revised health and safety policies and 
procedures developed during 2007 and 
awaiting publication include International 
Travel Policy and Procedure; and Travel and 
Off Campus Risk.

environment, health and 
safety resources

During 2007, EHS advisers continued 
providing services to Faculties and 
Budget Divisions for all EHS matters.  
Complementing the central EHS advisers, 
additional permanent Faculty/Budget 
Division based EHS Managers and temporary 
Faculty EHS Managers were appointed.  

training

Over 3800 attendees undertook OHS 
related training throughout 2007. Table 2 
provides a summary of some of the training 
and the number of attendees for each type.

table 2. oCCupational health anD 
safety traininG proViDeD – 2007 

training Course type no of Attendees

executive Roles and 
Responsibilities 74

supervisor Roles and 
Responsibilities 825

Roles and Responsibilities 791

manual handling and 
ergonomics 640

Risk management 426

Chemical safety 305

msds database 40

Personal Protective 
equipment 155

Radiation safety 69

Compressed gas safety 108

health, wellbeing & 
Psychosocial 35

emergency management 207

First Aid 42

health and safety 
Representative 5

emergency preparedness and response 

The University’s emergency preparedness 
and response procedures are overseen and 
monitored by the Emergency Planning Group 
(EPG), and chaired by the Vice-Chancellor.  
The EPG met on three occasions during 
2007. A program of emergency exercises 
and follow up measures was carried out 
throughout the year.

RegUlAtoRy ACtIVIty

Worksafe Victoria

The University continued to work 
cooperatively with OHS regulators. 
WorkSafe Victoria was the most active 
OHS regulator at the University during 
2007. Table 3 provides a summary of 
WorkSafe activity at the University.

table �. WorKsafe ViCtoria 
aCtiVity – 2007

Action Number

Visits to the University’s 
workplaces by worksafe 30

occupational health and 
safety Convictions Nil

Prohibition notices issued 
by worksafe Nil

Improvement notices 
issued by worksafe 3

worksafe Intervention 
Projects 3

Improvement Notices:

The improvement notices, which have 
since been complied with, related to: 

>  Allegations of work related stress due to 
payroll irregularities, Parkville.

>  Training for specific staff in dealing with 
difficult customers, Parkville.

>  Training for laboratory staff and 
students in chemical storage and 
handling, Parkville. This notice was set 
aside through the WorkSafe internal 
review process.

WorkSafe Intervention Projects: 

The University participated in the WorkSafe 
programs:

> High-risk plant (Pressure vessels)

> Scheduled carcinogens compliance 

> Universities intervention project 

The University’s intervention project 
commenced during 2007 and is scheduled 
to continue during 2008.

energy safe Victoria 

Energy Safe representatives investigated 
a gas leak which occurred at the Parkville 
campus during 2007.  The University 
subsequently agreed to undertake a risk 
assessment of the underground gas assets 
located at the Parkville Campus.

australian safeguards and 
non-proliferation organisation 

Australian Safeguards and Non-proliferation 
Organisation (ASNO) undertook a routine 
inspection to review compliance with 
Commonwealth legislative requirements for 
non-proliferation during 2007. The ASNO 
representatives were satisfied with the 
University’s compliance. 

oCCupational health anD 
safety perforManCe

As a component of an objective to provide 
a safer work environment, Occupational 
Health and Safety performance reports 
are provided to deans and vice-principals 
annually to assist managers in identifying 
problem areas, resource requirements and 
training needs in their workplace.

Table 4 below sets out the indicators 
the University uses to monitor OHS 
performance. All significant incidents are 
reviewed in detail and, where appropriate, 
action plans are put in place to minimise the 
risk of recurrence. 
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table 4. oCCupational health anD safety inCiDent statistiCs 200�-2007

Performance indicator 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Reported Incidents (including Injury and Illness) 775 922 1066 1063 1174

Incidence Rate 12.47 14.84 14.65 14.02 16.80

number of workCover Claims 155 130 135 110 120

number of lost time Incidents 53 52 44 26 34

lost time Incident Rate 0.86 0.84 0.61 0.34 0.49

days lost due to Reported Injuries - 947 829 800 814

work Related Fatalities nil nil nil nil nil

inCiDents requirinG 
notifiCation to WorKsafe

The University reported six dangerous 
occurrences and 19 serious injuries to 
WorkSafe Victoria in accordance with the 
incident notification requirements of the 
Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004 (Vic).

Table 5 provides a summary of notifiable 
dangerous occurrences and Table 6 
provides a summary of notifiable serious 
injuries which occurred at the University 
during 2007.

table �. DanGerous oCCurrenCes 
requirinG notifiCation to 
WorKsafe – 2007

dangerous occurrence type Number

Uncontrolled fall or release 
from height any plant, 
substance or object 3

Uncontrolled implosion, 
explosion or fire 2

Uncontrolled escape spillage or 
leakage of any substance 1

table 6. serious inJuries 
requirinG notifiCation to 
WorKsafe – 2007

serious Injury type number

Immediate medical treatment re-
sulting from a serious laceration 6

Immediate treatment as an inpa-
tient in hospital 4

Immediate medical treatment 
resulting from temporary loss of 
bodily function 4

medical treatment within 48 hours 
of exposure of (or potential expo-
sure to) a substance 3

Immediate medical treatment re-
sulting from an electric shock 1

Fatality (due to natural causes) 1

Each of these incidents has been 
investigated and corrective and preventative 
actions have been instigated to prevent or 
reduce the risk of reoccurrence.

external occupational health 
and safety Management system 
(ohsMs) audits

Certification of the University’s OHSMS 
to Initial Level SafetyMAP (4th edition) is 
one of the requirements of the University’s 
workers’ compensation self-insurance 
license which is regulated by WorkSafe 
Victoria.  During 2007 Lloyds Register 
Quality Assurance conducted two external 
audits to verify that the University’s 
OHSMS conforms to the requirements 
of SafetyMAP. A scheduled nine-monthly 
surveillance audit was undertaken in 
February 2007.  

A second three-yearly re-certification audit 
was undertaken in August–September 2007.  
The auditors reviewed the University’s 
operations located at Parkville, Burnley, 
Creswick, Shepparton and Southbank. No 
University-wide non-conformances were 
issued during this audit. Ten local non-
conformances were issued in relation to 
inadequate local implementation of the 
University’s OHSMS.

All local non-conformances against 
SafetyMAP audit criteria were brought back 
into conformance in December 2007 and 
the University was issued a new SafetyMAP 
certificate valid until September 2010.

internal occupational health and safety 
Management system (ohsMs) audits

A program of internal audits of the 
University’s OHSMS against the criteria 
of Initial Level SafetyMAP (4th edition) 
continued throughout 2007. During 2007 
over 1900 criteria were audited across 
all academic and administrative divisions 
of the University and a number of its 
controlled entities. Overall the University 
achieved less than two per cent non-
conformances and three per cent requires 
correction findings. Auditees were required 
to develop action plans to address all 
adverse audit findings, and progress was 
monitored by the internal auditors.

Consultative framework

Employees continue to be represented 
by elected and trained employee Health 
and Safety Representatives in designated 
workgroups across the University. There 
were approximately 80 elected employee 
Health and Safety Representatives 
holding office during 2007. Each Faculty 
and Budget Division has an established 
Environment Health and Safety (EHS) 
Committee. Membership of these 
committees includes both employer and 
employee representatives. The employee 
representatives on Faculty and Budget 
Division EHS Committees are generally 
elected Health and Safety Representatives.

The University-wide Occupational 
Health and Safety Committee (OHSC) 
membership consists of equal numbers 
employer and employee representatives 
elected from the University’s Health and 
Safety Representatives. One new Health 
and Safety Representative was elected 
to the OHSC during 2007. The OHSC met 
four times during 2007, with minutes of 
the meetings published on the University’s 
web site.

6. suMMary of reGulations 

The University administers Statutes 
and Regulations of the University and 
Resolutions of the Council, in accordance 
with the provisions of the Melbourne 
University Act 1958. The Statutes, 
Regulations and Resolutions are substantial 
and varied and too numerous to summarise. 
They are recorded in three volumes of 
University publications. A copy of the 
Statutes, Regulations and Resolutions may 
be inspected in the Baillieu Library of the 
University, or may be viewed on the web at 
www.unimelb.edu.au\Statutes



The following Statutes were enacted, repealed and amended during 2007

statute 1.1 Preliminary Amended

statute 1.5 seal of the University Amended

statute 2.4 the Vice-Chancellor Amended

statute 2.5 deputy Vice-Chancellors and Pro Vice-Chancellors Amended

statute 2.6 the Vice-Principals and the University secretary Amended

statute 3.1 Convocation and its Committee Amended

statute 4.1 the Academic Board Amended

statute 5.1 the Faculties Amended

statute 5.2 the University of melbourne school of graduate studies Amended

statute 5.3 the deans and other officers Amended

statute 5.4 Courses and subjects Amended

statute 6.1 Academic departments and schools – general Amended

statute 7.1 Academic and general staff Amended

statute 9.49 Australian Antarctic division Amended

statute 9.9 Ridley College Repealed

statute 10.1 Fees and Charges Amended

statute 11.1 entry Quotas and Admission Amended

statute 11.2 enrolment – general Provisions Amended

statute 11.4 exclusion for health Reasons Amended

statute 11.5 Unsatisfactory Progress Amended

statute 12.3 Conduct of Assessment Amended

statute 12.4 Additional Assessment Amended

statute 12.6 Admission to degrees and granting of diplomas After examination Amended

statute 15.1 UmsU Incorporated Amended

statute 15.2 the melbourne University sports Association Amended

statute 15.3 University of melbourne Postgraduate Association Incorporated Amended

Loss of Control: Dr Murat Yucel (right) and Dr Dan Lubman with brain images showing difference related to use and non-use of opiates.



7. ConforMity With the 
builDinG aCt ����

Major projects (new and existing 
building works)

The following mechanisms have been 
implemented to ensure that new buildings 
and works on existing buildings conform 
with building standards:

>   Property and Campus Services closely 
examine each major project prior to the 
selection of a project team.

>  The selected design consultants for 
each project are University-registered or 
Department of Infrastructure-registered 
consultants.

>  All design and management of project 
works is undertaken in accordance with 
the University’s Project Management 
and Design Manual.  The Manual has 
been developed to advise consultants of 
the management procedures and design 
standards required by the University 
and includes procedures covering 
environmental and occupational health 
and safety matters.

>  The University has promulgated procedures 
similar to those required by the private 
sector for the issue of building permits.

>  Where required by the Building Code of 
Australia, an external building surveyor is 
appointed for each project to give advice 
regarding planning and building permits, 
certification of final inspection and 
occupancy permits.

>  The University ensures that an asbestos 
audit is carried out for each project prior to 
the commencement of construction work.

>  All projects are monitored by the 
University project managers and appointed 
consultants, in order to ensure that the 
projects comply with current building 
regulations and statutory requirements.

>  The Project Management Procedures 
Manual is used by University project 
managers to ensure that University 
policy and procedures are followed in 
relation to works.

>  Eighty-seven projects, each with a value 
of more than $50,000 were completed 
in 2007.  Each project was carried out in 
accordance with building regulations and 
statutory requirements.

>  An Occupancy Permit or Certificate of 
Final Inspection is obtained for every 
project for which there is a building permit.

In addition, 43 projects were not subject to 
Certification of Plans or Building Surveyor 
involvement during construction.

These included:

> infrastructure upgrades (seventeen)

> equipment upgrades (twenty)

> minor works (six)

None of these projects comes within the 
jurisdiction of the conformity with the Building 
Act 1993 or required structural change 
necessitating building surveyor inspections.

8. national CoMpetition 
poliCy anD CoMpetitiVe 
neutrality requireMents

The University has established policies 
and procedures to ensure adherence to its 
obligations under the Trade Practices Act 1974 
and to practice competitive neutrality in relation 
to relevant significant business activities.

Detailed information and guidelines may 
be obtained online from websites of the 
Melbourne Research Office, Financial 
Operations Department and the University’s 
Compliance Management Program. 
Advice on the law of trade practices and 
competitive neutrality is provided by each of 
these areas.

�. CoMplianCe With the 
eDuCational serViCes for 
oVerseas stuDents aCt 

(ESOS Act) 2000

The University has established policies and 
procedures and student support services 
to facilitate compliance with the Education 
Services for Overseas Students Act 2000 
and the 2007 National Code of Practice for 
Registration Authorities and Providers of 
Education and Training to Overseas Students. 

�0. stateMent ConCerninG 
CoMpulsory non-aCaDeMiC fees, 
subsCriptions anD CharGes

Following the introduction of the Higher 
Education Support Amendment (Abolition 
of Compulsory Up-Front Student Union 
Fees) Act 2005, effective 1 July 2006, 
the University is no longer able to charge 
a compulsory Amenities and Services 
Fee to students. To maintain essential 
services, the University of Melbourne will 
provide transitional funding to University 
associations until 2009.

��. further inforMation

The University has the following information 
available on request:

> declarations of pecuniary interests;

>  details of shares held beneficially by 
senior officers as nominees of a statutory 
authority or subsidiary;

> details of publications produced;

>  details of major promotional, public 
relations and marketing activities;

>  details of changes in prices, fees, charges, 
rates and levies charged;

> details of major external reviews;

> details of overseas visits;

>  occupational health and safety 
assessments and measures; and

> a list of major committees.

Enquiries regarding the above should be 
addressed to:

Ms Janet White 
University Secretary 
The University of Melbourne 
Parkville Vic 3010 
Tel. (03) 8344 4000
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A ‘great race’ testing physical and mental abilities 
challenged students from Victorian regional and border 
areas who visited the Parkville Campus for a two-day 
UniExperience program. 



finanCials

auDitor-General’s qualifiCation

The Auditor-General has qualified the University’s financial report on the grounds that the payments from the National Health and 
Medical Research Council and the Australian Research Council received in advance as at 31 December 2007 have been treated as 
Income in Advance and recognised as a liability in the Balance Sheet.

The University’s treatment of these payments is in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 118 Revenue.  Both the 
National Health and Medical Research Council and the Australian Research Council are Commonwealth Government agencies.

The University regards the receipt of these payments from the National Health and Medical Research Council and from the Australian 
Research Council as a reciprocal transfer, as the University is required to undertake specific research in return for the research grants.  
Where the University fails to undertake the specific research, or to fully expend the research grant, the research grant or part thereof 
is required to be returned to the Commonwealth.

Under these conditions the payment received in advance may not be recognised until the University meets its obligations in the 
relevant year.

The Auditor-General has taken the view that these payments should be treated as income in the actual year of receipt and for that 
reason has qualified the University’s financial report.  The University does not agree with the interpretation of the nature of the 
income. 

The University has sought external advice which confirms the University’s interpretation of the standards.

ConsolIdAted ResUlts

The University of Melbourne and its subsidiaries recorded an operating surplus after tax of $96.246 million for the year ended 31 
December 2007.  The consolidated results include the operations of a group which, apart from the University itself, comprises nine 
subsidiaries.  The major entities in the University of Melbourne Group are the Melbourne Business School Limited and UMEE Ltd.

soURCes oF InCome

Combined operating income at $1.433 billion increased by $150.380 million or 11.7 per cent on 2006 with the most significant 
improvements being recorded in income from Australian Government Financial Assistance ($73.180 million), Fees and Charges 
($35.537 million) and Investment Income ($53.625 million).

*  Australian Government Recurrent Financial Assistance includes funding for the Commonwealth Grants Scheme, Institutional Grants 
Scheme, Research Training Scheme and Research Infrastructure Block Grants.

exPendItURes

Operating expenditure of the combined University for 2007 totalled $1.336 million, full details of which appear in the supporting notes 
to the Income Statement and in Note 46.  Of these expenditures 53.3 per cent was spent on salaries and other staff costs (53.2 per 
cent in 2006).

Employee Benefits and On Costs 53.3%

Depreciation and Amortisation 6.1%

Repairs and Maintenance 4.6%

Scholarships 4.0%

Other Expenses 32.0%

Australian Government Recurrent Financial Assistance* 22.2%

Other Australian Government Financial Assistance 16.6%

HECS-HELP 7.5%

FEE-HELP 2.1%

State Government Financial Assistance 2.2%

Investments, Fees and Charges and Other Income 45.0%

Grants, Donations and Bequests 4.4%



FInAnCIAl PosItIon

The following events are recorded in the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2007.

Victorian College of the arts

On 29 August 2006 the Victorian Governor in Council assented to the Melbourne University (Victorian College of the Arts) Act 2006 which 
enacted the integration of the Victorian College of the Arts (VCA) as a faculty of the University of Melbourne with effect from 1 January 
2007. The legislation was gazetted and proclaimed on 31 August 2006. As a result all assets and liabilities of the VCA were assumed 
by the University from 1 January 2007, and the VCA ceased to exist as a separate reporting entity from that date. The University has 
recorded $103.919 million as a gain (representing the net asset position of the VCA at the date of transfer) in the Income Statement. At the 
consolidated level, the gain recognised on transition has been eliminated.

Melbourne Ventures pty ltd

On 30 June 2007, the shares held by the University in Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd were sold to UMEE Ltd, a subsidiary of the University. 
From this date Melbourne Ventures became a subsidiary of UMEE Ltd.

There were no other significant changes in the financial position of the University and its subsidiaries. 

eVent oCCURRIng AFteR RePoRtIng dAte

Subsequent to balance date, there has been a downturn in global equity markets which has resulted in a reduction in the investment values 
shown in the Balance Sheet. Based on information available as at 29 February 2008, the decline in the value of the investment portfolio 
was $110.4 million or 8.3 per cent.

the UnIVeRsIty oF melBoURne

This represents the University’s teaching, research and administrative activities, but excludes the activities conducted by its subsidiaries.  
The University of Melbourne recorded an operating surplus of $79.459 million excluding the gain recognised from the VCA integration.

the UnIVeRsIty oF melBoURne geneRAl

The University General, comprising the teaching and research activities only, recorded a surplus of $70.262 million, which was used to 
partly fund items of capital expenditure with the balance of capital funding being provided from University reserves.  During the year the 
University General spent $90.917 million on Land and Buildings, $29.276 million on Equipment and Motor Vehicles and $12.288 million on 
Library Purchases.

tRUst FUnds

The University’s activities are supported by funds from endowments, bequests and the income earned on these funds.  A substantial 
portion of these Trust Funds is held to provide scholarships and to fund specific purposes.  These funds generally are not available to meet 
the normal operating cost of the University.  Income received during the year included $28.565 million earned from investments.  Total 
assets of the Trust Funds amounted to $515.754 million as at 31 December 2007.

AUxIlIARy oPeRAtIons

The following operations encompass activities related to the University which are managed as business operations.  The operating deficit 
for the year of $0.029 million is represented by:

auxiliary operations surplus/(Deficit)

$’000

Child Care Services (81)

Halls of Residence

- International House (242)

- Kendall Hall 52

- Medley Hall -

Melbourne Theatre Company 175

Melbourne University Bookshop 604

Sport and Physical Recreation Centre (260)

The Ian Potter Museum of Art 234

Veterinary Clinic and Hospital (511)

(2�)
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sUBsIdIARIes

These are statutory entities which are incorporated under the Corporations Act.  The activities of these entities are represented in the 
consolidated University.  Additional financial information for each subsidiary is contained in Notes 42 and 43.  The operating result after tax 
for the year of $14.654 million is represented by:

subsidiary surplus/(Deficit)

$’000 

Australian International Health Institute (University of Melbourne) Limited (157)

Australian Music Examinations Board (Victoria) Limited 276

Australian National Academy of Music Limited 14

Meanjin Company Limited 38

Melbourne Business School Limited Group 16,242

Melbourne University Publishing Limited (195)

MU Student Union Limited (495)

UMEE Ltd Group   251

The Victorian Institute for Chemical Sciences Limited (1,320)

�4,6�4

FIVe yeAR FInAnCIAl sUmmARy the UnIVeRsIty oF melBoURne And Its sUBsIdIARIes

2007 2006 200� 2004 200�#

income and expense ($’000)

Income 1,432,946 1,282,566 1,211,907 1,166,332 1,006,646 

Expenses 1,336,270 1,192,560 1,134,934 1,072,845 944,305 

Profit/(Loss) Before Income Tax 96,676 90,006 76,973 93,487 62,341 

Income Tax (Expense) / Benefit  (430)  1  17  (51)  2,015 

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER INCOME TAX �6,246 �0,007 76,��0 ��,4�6 64,��6 

balance sheet ($’000)

Reserves 2,581,805 2,553,953 2,422,438 2,321,596 2,237,905 

Retained Surplus/(Deficit) 1,123,664 1,034,332 742,867 683,136 601,060 

total equity �,70�,46� �,�88,28� �,�6�,�0� �,004,7�2 2,8�8,�6� 

Current Liabilities * 297,136 285,530 249,530 159,031 167,039 

Non-Current Liabilities 283,105 273,600 268,861 311,410 284,190 

equity and liabilities 4,28�,7�0 4,�47,4�� �,68�,6�6 �,47�,�7� �,2�0,��4 

Current Assets 288,830 261,993 237,307 254,504 189,859 

Non-Current Assets 3,996,880 3,885,422 3,446,389 3,220,670 3,100,334 

total assets 4,28�,7�0 4,�47,4�� �,68�,6�6 �,47�,�74 �,2�0,��� 

Cash flows ($’000) 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities including Government Funding:

-  Inflows 1,370,148 1,259,935 1,217,986 1,148,556 987,848 

-  Outflows 1,214,100 1,087,023 1,020,549 977,254 859,062 

net Cash inflow from operating activities ��6,048 �72,��2 ��7,4�7 �7�,�02 �28,786 

* A change in accounting standards in 2006 has required certain employee entitlements previously categorised as non-current liabilities, 
to be classified as current liabilities. This change has been applied from 2005 onwards.

# From 1 January 2005 the University of Melbourne was required to prepare Financial Statements using Australian equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS).  Financial Statements of the University of Melbourne until 31 December 2004 had 
been prepared in accordance with previous Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (AGAAP). AGAAP differs in certain respects from 
AIFRS as such certain accounting, valuation and consolidation methods applied using AGAAP were amended to comply with AIFRS. The 
2003 year has not been restated to reflect these adjustments and therefore represents the treatment under AGAAP.



FIVe yeAR FInAnCIAl sUmmARy the UnIVeRsIty oF melBoURne And Its sUBsIdIARIes

2007 2006 200� 2004 200�#

sources of income ($’000)

Australian Government Recurrent Financial Assistance ** 318,019 301,153 274,818 265,102 242,255 

Other Australian Government Financial Assistance 237,541 187,134 178,534 153,150 137,030 

HECS-HELP:

-  HECS-HELP Australian Government Payments 79,626 75,655 70,445 69,204 69,635 

-  HECS-HELP Student Payments 27,519 25,272 24,703 20,477 19,011 

FEE-HELP 30,107 28,171 24,120 21,801 16,129 

State Government Financial Assistance 31,684 48,098 39,031 37,598 33,533 

Investments, Fees and Charges and Other Income 644,762 543,184 529,134 529,780 419,674 

Grants, Donations and Bequests 63,688 73,899 71,122 69,220 69,379 

total income �,4�2,�46 �,282,�66 �,2��,�07 �,�66,��2 �,006,646 

expenditures ($’000)

Employee Benefits and On Costs 712,625 634,916 593,607 555,340 489,210 

Depreciation and Amortisation 82,135 75,362 75,959 72,786 74,365 

Repairs and Maintenance 61,240 44,233 38,513 37,280 41,841 

Scholarships 52,922 50,768 47,899 43,393 38,352 

Other Expenses 427,348 387,281 378,956 364,046 300,537 

total expenditure �,��6,270 �,��2,�60 �,��4,��4 �,072,84� �44,�0� 

Key ratios

Australian Government Recurrent Grants including

payments from HECS-HELP and

HECS-HELP Student Payments 425,164 402,080 369,966 354,783 330,901 

Other University Income 1,007,782 880,486 841,941 811,549 675,745 

total university income ($’000) �,4�2,�46 �,282,�66 �,2��,�07 �,�66,��2 �,006,646 

Australian Government Recurrent Grants and HECS-HELP

as a % of Total University Income 30 31 31 32 33 

Number of Students (EFTSL) 34,720 33,934 34,008 33,612 32,870 

Average Australian Government Recurrent Grants

(Including HECS-HELP) per Student $ 12,246 11,849 10,879 11,150 10,067 

DEEWR Funded Student Load 21,391 20,541 21,379 20,942 21,199 

Average Australian Government Recurrent Grants **

per DEEWR funded position   $ 14,867 14,661 12,855 13,614 11,428 

** Includes funding for the Commonwealth Grants Scheme, Institutional Grants Scheme, Research Training Scheme and Research 
Infrastructure Block Grants.

# From 1 January 2005 the University of Melbourne was required to prepare Financial Statements using Australian equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS).  Financial Statements of the University of Melbourne until 31 December 2004 had 
been prepared in accordance with previous Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (AGAAP). AGAAP differs in certain respects from 
AIFRS as such certain accounting, valuation and consolidation methods applied using AGAAP were amended to comply with AIFRS. 
The 2003 year has not been restated to reflect these adjustments and therefore represents the treatment under AGAAP.
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CONSOLIDATED UNIVERSITY

2007 2006 2007 2006

NOTE $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Income from Continuing Operations

Australian Government Financial Assistance

Australian Government Grants 2 555,560 488,287 552,606 485,213 

HECS-HELP Australian Government Payments 2 79,626 75,655 79,626 75,655 

FEE-HELP 2 30,107 28,171 30,107 27,076 

State Government Financial Assistance 3 31,684 48,098 31,669 47,725 

HECS-HELP Student Payments 27,519 25,272 27,519 24,372 

Fees and Charges 4 398,905 363,368 324,435 295,413 

Investment Income 5 167,650 114,025 141,856 104,304 

Royalties, Trademarks and Licences 6 3,908 5,066 3,127 5,054 

Consultancy and Contract Research 7 25,857 24,388 25,857 24,040 

Other Income 8 120,475 115,669 108,299 102,025 

Deferred Government Superannuation Contributions (8,345) (5,433) (8,345) (4,667)

Total Income from Continuing Operations 1,432,946 1,282,566 1,316,756 1,186,210 

Expenses from Continuing Operations

Employee Benefits and On Costs 9 712,625 634,916 663,491 574,063 

Depreciation and Amortisation 10 82,135 75,362 76,174 68,628 

Repairs and Maintenance 11 61,240 44,233 60,023 41,437 

Finance Costs 12 11,552 10,887 11,423 10,767 

Bad and Doubtful Debts 13 887 546 539 517 

Accounting and Auditing Services 14 717 755 397 390 

Other Expenses 15 475,459 431,294 433,595 410,644 

Deferred Employee Benefits for Superannuation (8,345) (5,433) (8,345) (4,667)

Total Expenditure from Continuing Operations 1,336,270 1,192,560 1,237,297 1,101,779 

Operating Result from Continuing Operations

before related Income Tax Expense 96,676 90,006 79,459 84,431 

Income Tax (Expense) / Benefit 17 (430) 1 - -

Subtotal - Net Operating Result for the Year before

VCA Integration 96,246 90,007 79,459 84,431 

Income recognised on Integration of the VCA 40 - - 103,919 -

Net Result for the Year 96,246 90,007 183,378 84,431 

The above Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

THE UNIVERSITY OF MELBOURNE 
INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007



CONSOLIDATED UNIVERSITY

2007 2006 2007 2006

NOTE $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 18 99,310 68,435 83,680 36,494 

Receivables 19 80,303 75,189 68,350 63,338 

Inventories 20 6,310 7,083 4,794 5,501 

Other Financial Assets at Fair Value 21 93,840 101,900 82,435 84,458 

Other Non-Financial Assets 22 8,395 9,386 7,263 7,620 

Assets Classified as Held-for-Sale 1.15 672 - - -

Total Current Assets 288,830 261,993 246,522 197,411 

Non-Current Assets

Receivables 19 139,981 148,626 139,981 134,825 

Investments Accounted for using the Equity Method 42 - - -

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets 23 1,329,105 1,266,499 1,239,750 1,186,107 

Other Financial Assets 24 4,145 4,145 23,273 23,674 

Property, Plant and Equipment 25 2,522,692 2,465,606 2,415,726 2,268,460 

Intangible Assets 26 810 475 115 50 

Other Non-Financial Assets 105 71 - -

Total Non-Current Assets 3,996,880 3,885,422 3,818,845 3,613,116 

Total Assets 4,285,710 4,147,415 4,065,367 3,810,527 

Current Liabilities

Payables 27 67,534 69,120 54,895 59,890 

Borrowings 28 3,577 3,317 2,750 2,448 

Provisions 29 120,870 111,587 114,784 103,655 

Other Current Liabilities 30 101,955 101,506 92,548 90,283 

Liabilities Associated with Assets Classified as Held-for-Sale 1.15 3,200 - - -

Total Current Liabilities 297,136 285,530 264,977 256,276 

Non-Current Liabilities

Payables 27 12,000 12,000 12,000 12,000 

Borrowings 28 155,416 138,796 154,616 137,365 

Provisions 29 115,592 122,720 114,840 107,422 

Other Non-Current Liabilities 97 84 - -

Total Non-Current Liabilities 283,105 273,600 281,456 256,787 

Total Liabilities 580,241 559,130 546,433 513,063 

Net Assets 3,705,469 3,588,285 3,518,934 3,297,464 

Equity

Statutory Funds - - - -

Reserves 31(a) 2,581,805 2,553,953 2,493,919 2,360,939 

Retained Surplus 31(b) 1,123,664 1,034,332 1,025,015 936,525 

Total Equity 3,705,469 3,588,285 3,518,934 3,297,464 

The above Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

THE UNIVERSITY OF MELBOURNE 
BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2007



CONSOLIDATED UNIVERSITY

2007 2006 2007 2006

NOTE $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Total Equity at the Beginning of the Financial Year 3,588,285 3,165,305 3,297,464 2,899,255 

Impairment Gains / (Losses) on Land and Buildings Taken to 
Equity, Net of Tax

31(a) 2,917 6,088 2,917 6,088 

Gain/(Loss) on Revaluation of Land and Buildings, Net of Tax 31(a) - 191,601 - 177,380 

Gain/(Loss) on Revaluation of Works of Art, Net of Tax 31(a) - 10,310 - 9,603 

Gain/(Loss) on Revaluation of Other Collections, Net of Tax 31(a) - 6,225 - 6,225 

Available-for-Sale Investments: 

- Valuation Gains/(Losses) Taken to Equity 31(a) 30,844 119,155 35,175 114,482 

- Transferred to Profit and Loss on sale, Net of Tax 31(a) (12,817) (512) - -

Exchange Differences on Translation of Foreign Operations 31(a) (214) 106 - -

Transfer of Melbourne Business School Building Fund Reserve (67) - - -

Capital Contribution 275 - - -

Net Income Recognised Directly in Equity 20,938 332,973 38,092 313,778 

Net Result for the Year 96,246 90,007 183,378 84,431 

Total Recognised Income and Expense for the Year 117,184 422,980 221,470 398,209 

Total Equity at the End of the Financial Year 31 3,705,469 3,588,285 3,518,934 3,297,464 

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED UNIVERSITY

2007 2006 2007 2006

NOTE $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities -

Australian Government -

-  CGS, Research and Other DEEWR Grants 541,652 509,998 541,424 510,206 

-  Higher Education Loan Programmes 109,733 103,826 109,733 102,731 

-  Other Australian Government Grants 4,419 4,061 1,684 731 

State Government Grants 31,689 30,098 31,669 29,724 

HECS-HELP - Student Payments 27,519 25,272 27,519 24,372 

Dividends Received 113,586 96,831 111,617 93,560 

Interest Received 17,790 18,259 15,903 15,040 

Receipts of Student and Other Fee-for-Service Activities 354,392 337,347 279,160 266,301 

Other Inflows 165,645 134,243 171,014 120,098 

Payments to Employees (690,301) (627,914) (645,524) (564,024)

Payments to Suppliers (inclusive of Goods and Services Tax (GST)) (369,342) (307,344) (322,830) (265,571)

Interest Paid (11,552) (10,860) (11,423) (10,767)

GST - Net Cash Flows from/(to) Australian Taxation Office 3,723 (5,992) 4,190 (5,101)

Other Outflows (142,905) (134,913) (148,274) (152,460)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities 45 156,048 172,912 165,862 164,840 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities -

Proceeds from Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 2,106 2,218 2,064 1,412 

Proceeds from Sale of Available-for-Sale and Other Investments 1,089,832 855,941 1,008,731 800,420 

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment (139,739) (90,020) (132,671) (84,773)

Purchase of Available-for-Sale and Other Investments (1,094,273) (942,236) (1,014,293) (895,333)

Purchase of Intangible Assets (120) (129) (95) (32)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities (142,194) (174,226) (136,264) (178,306)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities -

Proceeds from Borrowings 20,268 1,040 20,268 2,290 

Other Inflows 10 25 - -

Loans Granted (232) (802) (232) (802)

Repayment of Borrowings (3,069) (3,196) (2,448) (2,354)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 16,977 (2,933) 17,588 (866)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 30,831 (4,247) 47,186 (14,332)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Year 68,435 72,576 36,494 50,826 

Effect of Foreign Exchange Rate on Cash and Cash Equivalents 44 106 - -

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year 18 99,310 68,435 83,680 36,494 

The above Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

THE UNIVERSITY OF MELBOURNE  
CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007



NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted by the University of Melbourne in the preparation of the financial report for the year ended 
31 December 2007 are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated. The financial report includes separate financial statements for the University as an individual entity and the consolidated entity 
consisting of the University and its subsidiaries. The University and its subsidiaries are referred to in this financial report as the Group or 
the consolidated entity.

1.1 Basis of Preparation

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian 
equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS’s)), the Financial Management Act 1994, AASB Interpretations and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The financial statements have also been prepared in 
accordance with the guidelines issued by the Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations (DEEWR) (formerly the 
Department of Education, Science and Training (DEST)) applicable to the 2007 year. 

Compliance with IFRSs

Australian Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). The University and 
its subsidiaries are considered to be not-for-profit entities, as such the financial report has been prepared in accordance with the not-for-
profit requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards. In some cases, these requirements are inconsistent with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Reporting Basis and Conventions

The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on the historical cost convention as modified by the 
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and certain classes of 
property, plant and equipment.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. The resulting accounting estimates will by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. Estimates and judgments are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a higher risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include:

(i)   Key Estimates - Impairment 
The Group assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group that may lead to impairment of 
assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the assets is determined.

(ii)  Key Estimates – Determination of Fair Values 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes.

  The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The 
quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. The determination of fair values for financial 
assets and financial liabilities for which there is no observable market price requires the use of valuation techniques. 

  For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires varying 
degrees of judgement depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks 
affecting the specific instrument.

(iii)  Key Judgements – Financial Asset and Liability Classification 
The Group’s accounting policies provide scope for assets and liabilities to be designated on inception into different accounting 
categories in certain circumstances:

  a) In designating financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, the Group has determined that it has met one of the criteria for 
this designation set out in Note 1.9.

  b) The Group classifies financial assets as held-to-maturity where it has determined that it has both the positive intention and ability 
to hold the assets until their maturity date as required in Note 1.9.

1.2 Principles of Consolidation

The Financial Statements consist of a consolidated Income Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity and a Cash 
Flow Statement. The consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of the University as at 31 
December 2007, and their results for the year then ended. 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the University has the power to govern the financial and operating policies, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are 
currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the University controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the University. They are de-consolidated from the date 
that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between consolidated entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses 
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries 
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the University.

The Financial Statements show “University” in addition to “Consolidated” information.  The term “University” in this context covers all 
aspects of total operations with the exclusion of the subsidiaries (see (5) below). 
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 In order to provide further information on the University, a detailed Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement (see 
Notes 46, 47 and 48) have been prepared in columnar form.

The activities and entities that make up the University and Consolidated information are as follows:

University

(1) University General Activities

  A summary of the University’s Teaching, Research and Administrative activities.

(2) University Trust Activities

   A summary of University activities supported by funds derived from endowments and bequests and income earned thereon. A 
major part of trust monies is received for, and can only be applied to, restricted purposes. For this reason Trust Funds are separately 
identified.

(3) University Auxiliary Operations

   A summary of the activities of the University’s Auxiliary Operations Group which encompasses the University’s semi-independent 
enterprises who operate on a commercial basis in support of core University activities. This group comprises the following 
organisations:

  Child Care Services 

  Halls of Residence:

   - International House 

   - Kendall Hall

   - Medley Hall

  Melbourne Theatre Company

  Melbourne University Bookshop

  Sport and Physical Recreation Centre

  The Ian Potter Museum of Art

  Veterinary Clinic and Hospital

(4) University [being the aggregation of (1), (2) and (3)]

(5) Subsidiaries

  The subsidiaries of the University are:

  Australian International Health Institute Ltd ACN 084 268 655 

  Australian Music Examinations Board (Vic) Ltd ACN 050 464 634

  Australian National Academy of Music Ltd ACN 067 405 190 and its subsidiary:

  - ANAM Foundation Ltd ACN 110 698 550

  UMEE Ltd ACN 081 182 685 and its subsidiaries:

  -  Melbourne Enterprises International Ltd ACN 073 950 062 *

  -  MUP Services Pty Ltd ACN 082 978 578 *

  -  MU Private (NZ) Ltd

  -  Melbourne Information Management Pty Ltd  ACN 087 644 595*

  -  UMEE UK Ltd (formerly Hawthorn Edinburgh Ltd) *

  -  Hawthorn English Language Centres (Canada) Ltd *

  -  Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd ACN 106 845 783 and its subsidiary: **

   - UM Commercialisation Pty Ltd ACN 122 930 269 

  Melbourne Business School Ltd ACN 007 268 233 and its subsidiaries:

  -  The Melbourne Business School Foundation

  -  The Melbourne Business School Foundation Ltd ACN 057 776 711

  -  Mt Eliza Graduate School of Business and Government Limited ACN 008 394 732

  -  Melbourne Business School Building Fund (Ceased operations 30 June 2007)

  Melbourne University Publishing Ltd ACN 103 214 713

  MU Student Union Ltd ACN 107 286 706 
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  The Meanjin Company Ltd ACN 005 097 325

  The Victorian Institute for Chemical Sciences Limited ACN 107 013 936 ***

* Not Operational during the year.

** On 30 June 2007, the shares held by the University in Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd were sold to UMEE Ltd, a subsidiary of the 
University. From this date Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd became a subsidiary of UMEE Ltd.

*** The Victorian Institute for Chemical Sciences Limited (VICS) operated on a June financial year-end until 30 June 2006. In March 2007, 
the Board of VICS approved the change of the financial year to a December year-end in order to align its reporting to the University. The 
results for VICS included within the Financial Report relate to an eighteen month period from 1 July 2006 to 31 December 2007.

The companies listed, with exception of the overseas subsidiaries in UMEE Ltd, are all incorporated in the State of Victoria.  The University 
has more than 50% of the voting rights in each of these companies with the exception of Melbourne Business School Ltd (45%) and the 
Victorian Institute for Chemical Sciences Limited (33%). These companies are deemed to be subsidiaries for the purpose of this report.  

In accordance with AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements the financial statements of each of the above subsidiaries 
have been included in the Consolidated Statements. However, summary information is provided in Notes 42 and 43.

Integration of the Victorian College of the Arts

On 29 August 2006, the Victorian Governor in Council assented to the Melbourne University (Victorian College of the Arts) Act 2006, which 
enacted the integration of the Victorian College of the Arts (VCA) as a faculty of the University of Melbourne with effect from 1 January 
2007. Prior to this date, the VCA was treated as a subsidiary of the University. The legislation was gazetted and proclaimed on 31 August 
2006. As a result, all assets and liabilities of the Victorian College of the Arts (VCA) were assumed by the University from 1 January 2007, 
and the VCA ceased to exist as a separate reporting entity from that date. Further details about the integration are included in Note 40 to 
the Financial Statements. 

1.3 Foreign Currency Translation

(i)  Functional and Presentational Currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars, which is the University’s functional and presentational currency. 

(ii)  Transactions and Balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions are recognised in the Income Statement. 

  Transactions in foreign currencies which are carried out by the library for book purchases are converted to Australian currency at the 
rate of exchange on the date on which the currency is purchased. The University hedges its foreign currency exposure in respect of 
major purchases of equipment from overseas countries. At the reporting date there were no such hedges in place (2006, Nil).

(iii)  Group Companies 
The assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiaries are translated at year-end rates and operating results are translated at the rates 
ruling at the date of transactions. 

1.4 Income Recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Income is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

(i)  Government Financial Assistance 
Government grants are recognised at their fair value when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group has 
complied with the attached conditions. Such grants are treated as non-reciprocal transfers in accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions.

  Government grants which have outstanding performance or return conditions are recognised in accordance with AASB 118 Revenue 
with reference to the percentage of completion method. Australian Government Research Project income is recognised in 
accordance with this standard. The stage of completion is measured by reference to total expenditure incurred to date compared 
with the funding provided. The University regards the receipt of such income as a reciprocal transfer as the University is required to 
provide the necessary services in return for grant funding. A liability is recognised in the Balance Sheet in respect of Research Project 
Income which is unearned at the balance date. AASB 118 Revenue requires revenue to be recognised in the reporting periods in 
which the services are rendered. 

(ii)  Fees and Charges 
Fee for service revenue is recognised upon the delivery of the service. Where revenue of a reciprocal nature has been clearly 
received in respect of programs or services to be delivered in the following year, such amounts are deferred and disclosed as revenue 
in advance in accordance with AASB 118 Revenue.

(iii)  Investment Income 
Dividends are taken into income when the shares are declared ex dividend. Interest income is recognised on an accruals basis taking 
into account the interest rates applicable to the financial assets.

(iv)  Other 
Income from the sale of goods is recognised upon the delivery of goods to customers.

 Income in the form of endowments and bequests is brought to account as revenue when received.

 All income is stated net of Goods and Services Tax (GST).
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 1.5 Income Tax

The University of Melbourne and its subsidiaries, with the exception of some of the wholly owned subsidiaries of UMEE Ltd, are exempt 
from income tax pursuant to Part 50.1 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. The overseas subsidiaries of UMEE Ltd are subject to 
income tax in the relevant tax jurisdictions. 

The balance sheet method of tax-effect accounting is adopted.

1.6 Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at bank, at-call deposits and bank bills 
with a maturity of 90 days or less.

1.7 Trade Receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost less any provision for impairment. 
Trade receivables are due for settlement no more than 30 days from the date of recognition.

Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision 
for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the original terms of receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade 
receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted as the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
The amount of the provision is recognised in the Income Statement.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the 
Income Statement in Note 13. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses in the Income Statement.

1.8 Inventories

Annual stocktakes of inventories are undertaken at all locations. 

Inventories comprising Finished Goods, Raw materials, Work in progress, Fodder and Hay stocks are measured at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value, with adjustments made to take account of obsolescence.

The Group’s livestock, orchards and picked fruit are measured at their fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs in accordance with AASB 
141 Agriculture. The fair value of these items is determined based on market prices in the local area.

Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of the first-in, first-out method.

1.9 Financial Instruments

AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement has four categories of financial instruments including: financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets. The 
classification of investments depends on the purpose for which they were acquired. The classification of investments is determined by 
management at initial recognition and is re-evaluated at each reporting date.

(i)   Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or loss on 
initial recognition. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if 
so designated by management. Derivatives are categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this 
category are classified as current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within twelve months of the 
balance sheet date. Realised and unrealised gains and losses are included in the Income Statement in the period in which they arise.

   Commercial paper, floating rate notes and corporate securities were designated at the date of transition to AIFRS as financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are included in the Income Statement in the period in which they arise. 

(ii)  Loans and Receivables 
Loans and receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
They arise when an entity provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of selling the receivable. They 
are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than twelve months after the balance sheet date, which are 
classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

(iii)  Held-to-Maturity Investments 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities where 
management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.  At the reporting date, the Group did not hold any financial assets in this category (2006, Nil).

(iv)  Available-for-Sale Financial Assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either designated 
in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends 
to dispose of the investment within twelve months of the balance sheet date. 

  Shares, convertible notes and listed income securities were designated at the date of transition to AIFRS as available-for-sale 
financial assets. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value are recognised in equity in the available-for-sale 
investments revaluation reserve. When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value 
adjustments are included in the Income Statement as unrealised gains and losses from investment securities.
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  Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the 
asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through 
profit or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have 
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

1.10 Other Financial Assets

Investments in other entities are in the main carried at fair value. Where a fair value is not readily available, investments are carried at the 
lower of cost or recoverable amount. 

1.11 Property, Plant and Equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.

The University has a policy of capitalising property, plant and equipment costing $10,000 or more. Items under $10,000 are expensed. 
Some subsidiaries have lower capitalisation thresholds. The overall effect of these is considered to be immaterial in accordance with AASB 
1031 Materiality. There has been no change to the capitalisation rate from the prior year. 

(i) Land and Buildings 
 Land and Buildings are recorded in the Balance Sheet at fair value at either:

  Cost 
On initial recognition Land and Buildings are measured at cost. Capital expenditure on refurbishment of buildings which adds to their 
value rather than maintaining their value is recorded in the Balance Sheet at cost.

 Independent Valuation 
  Subsequent to initial recognition, Land and Buildings are valued by an external valuer on a cyclical basis unless there is a material movement 

between valuations. These assets are disclosed as measured at fair value. At the date of revaluation any accumulated depreciation is 
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset. The net value is then restated to the revalued amount of the asset. 

  An independent valuation of Land and Buildings belonging to the University, Victorian College of the Arts and Melbourne Business 
School Ltd was carried out as at 31 December 2006 by Cunningham Property Consultants Pty Ltd.  Properties held by the Victorian 
College of the Arts were transferred to the University on integration at fair value.

  A Director’s valuation of Land and Buildings belonging to UMEE Ltd was carried out as at 31 December 2006 by the directors of the 
company. 

 The current value of Land and Buildings are disclosed in Note 25. The amount of revaluation is disclosed in Note 31.

 (ii)  Library Collection 
The University’s general collection which excludes the rare book collection is recorded at cost less any accumulated depreciation and 
where applicable, any impairment losses. 

(iii)  Other Collections 
Other collections include the University’s Rare Book Collection, Archives and the Percy Grainger Collection. Other Collections are 
measured on a fair value basis and are valued on cyclical basis unless there is a material movement between valuations. Collections 
are valued by management relying on both internal and independent valuations.

  A valuation of Other Collections was carried out as at 31 December 2006. Valuations were undertaken by management based on 
both internal and independent expertise provided by Leonard Joel Australia (Valuers) and Kenneth Hince Old and Fine Books.

(iv)  Works of Art 
The University’s Art Collection is measured on a fair value basis and is valued on a cyclical basis unless there is a material movement 
between valuations. Collections are valued by management relying on both internal and independent valuations.

  A valuation of Works of Art held by the University was carried out as at 31 December 2006. Valuations were undertaken by 
management based on both internal and independent expertise provided by Leonard Joel Australia (Valuers), Deutcher-Menzies Pty 
Ltd, Joshua McClelland and Jan Martin.

  An independent valuation of Works of Art held by the Victorian College of the Arts was carried out as at 31 December 2006 by 
Leonard Joel Australia (Valuers). Works of Art held by the Victorian College of the Arts were transferred to the University on 
integration at fair value.

 The amount of revaluation is disclosed in Note 31. 

(v)  Items of Cultural Significance 
The University has identified and is in the process of cataloguing items of cultural significance. These items are varied in nature. 
Apart from Other Collections and Works of Art (referred to above) these collections have not been valued as there is no ready market 
or reliable valuation basis for these items.

(vi)  Motor Vehicles 
Recorded in the Balance Sheet at cost less depreciation and where applicable, any impairment losses. Gains or losses in respect of 
the sale or trade-in of motor vehicles are included in Notes 16 and 25.

(vii)  Furniture and Equipment 
Recorded in the Balance Sheet at cost less depreciation and where applicable, any impairment losses. Gains or losses in respect of 
disposals are included in Notes 16 and 25.
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 (viii)  Leasehold Improvements 
Recorded in the Balance Sheet at cost less amortisation and where applicable, any impairment losses. Improvements costing 
$10,000 or more are capitalised with expenditure less than $10,000 being expensed.

(ix)  Construction in Progress 
Recorded in the Balance Sheet at cost.  

(x)  Subsequent Costs 
The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the Income Statement in the period in which 
they are incurred.

(xi)  Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis on all tangible fixed assets other than Land, Construction in Progress, Works of Art 
and Other Collections none of which are depreciated.  

   Major Depreciation Rates are:

   Buildings  3%

   Motor Vehicles 20%

   Furniture and Equipment

  - Furniture, Fixtures and Fittings 10%

  - Communications Equipment 12½%

  - General Equipment 25%

  - Scientific and Computing Equipment

   - Large Research Equipment 20%

   - Other Scientific and Computing Equipment 33 %

   Leasehold Improvements (amortised over the term of the lease)

   Library Collection: 

  - Monographs 2½%

  - Periodicals  2%

   These rates have been consistently maintained and there has been no change from rates applied in prior years with exception to 
Large Research Equipment as disclosed in Note 1.25. Depreciation rates used by some subsidiaries vary slightly from the rates 
stated above.  

   Acquisitions are depreciated from the date of purchase; disposals are depreciated up to the date of sale or when classified as held-
for-sale (refer to Note 1.15).

1.12 Intangible Assets

(i)   Research 
 Expenditure on research activities is recognised in the Income Statement as an expense when it is incurred.

(ii)  Goodwill 
Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the acquirer’s interest 
in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at 
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  At 31 December 2007, the consolidated entity had no goodwill (2006, Nil).

 (iii)  Software 
Major computer software is recorded in the Balance Sheet at cost less amortisation and where applicable, any impairment losses. 
Only the cost of the software is capitalised, installation costs are expensed in the Income Statement in the year they are incurred. 
Amortisation is provided on a straight line basis at the rate of 33 %. There has been no change in the amortisation rate from the 
prior year.

1.13 Revaluation of Non Current Assets

AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment requires reporting entities to measure assets within each class of non-current asset on either the 
cost basis or on a fair value basis.  Subsequent to initial recognition, non-current physical assets, other than furniture and equipment, motor 
vehicles, leasehold improvements, the library collection and intangible assets, are measured at fair value.  

In accordance with the not-for-profit requirements of AASB 116,  revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation 
reserve, except that, to the extent that an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that class of asset previously 
recognised as an expense in the net result, the increment is recognised as income in the net result.

Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as expenses in the net result, except that, to the extent that a credit balance exists in 
the asset revaluation reserve in respect of the same class of assets, they are debited directly to the asset revaluation reserve.

Revaluation increments and decrements relating to individual assets within a class of property, plant and equipment are offset against one 
another within that class but are not offset in respect of assets in different classes.  Revaluation reserves are not transferred to retained 
earnings on derecognition of the relevant asset.
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 1.14 Impairment of Assets

At each reporting date, all assets except for those held at fair value including, inventories, assets arising from employee benefits and 
financial instrument assets are assessed to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If there is an indication of impairment, 
the assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the difference is written-off by a 
charge to the Income Statement except to the extent that the write-down can be debited to an asset revaluation reserve applicable to that 
class of asset.

At each reporting date, assets previously determined to be impaired are assessed for circumstances indicating that an impairment loss 
recognised in prior periods no longer exists or may have decreased. If there is an indication that the impairment loss has been reversed, the 
assets concerned are tested as to whether the recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount. The difference not exceeding the original 
impairment is credited to the Income Statement, except for revalued assets, which are credited to an asset revaluation reserve.

Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill. Impairment losses are taken to the Income Statement and cannot be reversed.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the University estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

1.15 Non-Current Assets (or Disposal Groups) Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

In the event that the Group identified a non-current asset (or disposal group) to be classified as held for sale, the asset (or disposal group) 
would be stated at the lower of the carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, if the carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and 
the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less costs to sell. 
A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any 
cumulative impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current asset 
(or disposal group) is recognised at the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held for 
sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be recognised.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from 
the other assets in the Balance Sheet. The liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from other 
liabilities in the Balance Sheet.

In June 2005, the University Council decided that it would cease the delivery of Vocational Education and Training (VET) programs. This 
involves the progressive withdrawal from the delivery of agriculture-related education on the campuses at Gilbert Chandler, Longerenong, 
Glenormiston and McMillan. The closure of these campus operations does not meet the definition of a discontinued operation under 
AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations as the campuses are not considered to be a separate major line of 
business of the University. Land and Buildings associated with the campuses were impaired as it is likely that they will be returned to the 
State Government free of charge. In 2007, the University terminated the lease with the Department of Primary Industries for the Gilbert 
Chandler campus. The impairment on the Gilbert Chandler buildings was subsequently reversed.

On 2 January 2008, UMEE Ltd sold its English language centre business in Melbourne, Hawthorn-Melbourne, and its rights under the 
franchise agreement with Hawthorn-Muscat to Hawthorn Learning Pty Ltd. In addition, the company entered into an agreement on 
17 January 2008 to terminate the Hawthorn-Singapore franchise agreement effective 31 December 2007. Consequently, effective 2 
January 2008, UMEE Ltd ceased to operate any English language teaching activities. Assets and Liabilities associated with the franchise 
agreement are disclosed on the face of the Balance Sheet as Assets Classified as Held-for-Sale and Liabilities Associated with Assets 
Classified as Held-for-Sale. 

1.16 Payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year, which are unpaid. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days commencing from the month following recognition. 

1.17 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the Income Statement 
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 

Borrowings are removed from the Balance Sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
twelve months after the balance sheet date.

1.18 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs including those incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are expensed during the period of time that is required 
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. 

1.19 Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees at the reporting date. Employee 
benefits which are short term in nature and are expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to 
be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on costs. Employee benefits payable later than one year and which are long term in nature 
have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits.
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(i)   Recreation Leave 
Liabilities for recreation leave have been determined in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. The liability is broken down 
into the amount expected to be settled within twelve months of the reporting date and that which is expected to be settled after 
twelve months of the reporting date.

(ii)  Long Service Leave 
Liabilities for long service leave are measured using the projected unit credit method which measures the present value of expected 
future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. The current portion of the liability 
is the amount expected to be settled within twelve months of the reporting date plus the amount over which the University does not 
have a right of deferral.

(iii)  Superannuation 
Employee contributory superannuation funds managed outside of the University exist to provide benefits for the Group’s employees 
and their dependents on retirement, disability or death of the employee. The contributions made to these funds are recorded in the 
Income Statement.  Further details are provided in Note 36.

 (iv)  Unfunded Superannuation Liabilities 
In accordance with the 1998 instructions issued by the Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs (DETYA), now known as 
the Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations (DEEWR), the effects of the unfunded superannuation liabilities 
of the University were recorded in the Income Statement and the Balance Sheet for the first time in 1998.  Prior to this date, the 
practice had been to disclose the liabilities by way of a note to the financial statements.

   The unfunded liabilities recorded in the Balance Sheet under Provisions have been determined by the actuary of the Victorian 
Government Superannuation Office and relate to employees who transferred to the University from the former Melbourne College of 
Advanced Education (merged with the University 1 January 1989) Hawthorn Institute of Education Ltd (merged with the University 
1 January 1997), the Victorian College of Agriculture and Horticulture Ltd (merged with the University 1 July 1997) and the Victorian 
College of the Arts  (merged with the University 1 January 2007) who are members of the State Superannuation Scheme.

   An arrangement exists between the Australian Government and the State Government to meet the unfunded liability for the 
University’s beneficiaries of the State Superannuation Schemes on an emerging cost basis.  This arrangement is evidenced by the 
State Grants (General Revenue) Amendment Act 1987, Higher Education Funding Act 1988 and subsequent amending legislation. 
Accordingly the unfunded liabilities have been recognised in the Balance Sheet under Provisions with a corresponding asset 
recognised under Receivables. The recognition of both the asset and the liability consequently does not affect the year end net 
asset position of the University and its subsidiaries.

1.20 Provisions

The University is a Self Insurer for Workers’ Compensation and WorkCover. A provision is recognised representing an estimate of the 
total outstanding liability for workers’ compensation claims. The value of the provision is based on an actuarial assessment carried out at 
balance date.

1.21 Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from or payable to the 
Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is included as a current asset or liability in the Balance Sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are 
recoverable from, or payable to the ATO are presented as operating cash flows.

1.22 Leases

(i)   Operating Leases as Lessee 
The Group leases certain land and buildings.  Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership 
of the asset are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the Income Statement on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(ii)  Operating Leases as Lessor 
Lease income from operating leases is recognised in the Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(iii)   Finance Leases 
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 
finance leases. The assets acquired by way of finance lease are stated at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

 Interest charged on finance leases is charged to the Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.23 Comparatives

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current 
financial year. Such changes are disclosed in accordance with AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements.  The following changes to 
comparatives were made to the 2006 amounts:

 >  Grants from not-for-profit organisations amounting to $6.8 million were reclassified from Donations and Bequests to Non-
Government Grants in Note 8.
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 >  Advertising and Computer Software and Services have been disclosed separately. Previously these were included in other 
expenses within Note 15.

 >  Other expenditure commitments to Uniseed were reclassified from Capital Commitments to Other Expenditure Commitments in 
Note 35.

1.24 Rounding

All amounts shown in the financial statements are expressed by reference to the nearest thousand dollars unless otherwise specified.

1.25 Changes to Accounting Policy and Estimates

In 2007, the University added an additional depreciation rate of 20% for large research equipment which is included within the Scientific 
and Computing equipment asset class. Previously these items were depreciated at 33 %. The change in accounting estimate was applied 
prospectively from 1 January 2007 in accordance with AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. 

There were no changes to accounting policy during the year ended 31 December 2007.

1.26 New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board that are relevant to the operations and effective for the current annual reporting period. The adoption of these new and 
revised Standards and Interpretations have not resulted in changes to the Group’s accounting policies for the current and prior years. 
Although there were no changes to accounting policy, the introduction of AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure has resulted in a 
number of new and enhanced disclosures surrounding financial instruments.

At the date of this report certain new accounting Standards and Interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the financial 
year ending 31 December 2007. They are available for early adoption, but have not been applied in preparing this financial report. The 
Group’s assessment of the impact of the new standards and Interpretations relevant to the Group is set out below:

 > AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements was revised amending the name and disclosure requirements of the three primary 
statements to Statement of Comprehensive Income (previously Income Statement), Statement of Financial Position (previously 
Balance Sheet) and Statement of Cash Flows (previously Cash Flow Statement). The changes will not affect any of the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements. The revised standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009.

 > AASB 123 Borrowing Costs was revised removing the option to immediately recognise borrowing costs as an expense. Borrowing 
costs on qualifying assets will be required to be capitalised up until the date the asset is ready for use. The revised standard 
is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. At this date, the University will be required to 
change the accounting policy in relation to borrowing costs as the current policy allows for all borrowing costs to be expensed. 
In accordance with the transitional provisions of AASB 123, the revised standard will be applied prospectively. The change is not 
expected to impact the Group’s results.
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2007 2006 2007 2006

NOTE $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NOTE 2: AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL 
ASSISTANCE INCLUDING HECS-HELP AND OTHER 
AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT LOAN PROGRAMMES

(a) Commonwealth Grants Scheme and Other Grants 49.1

Commonwealth Grants Scheme # 167,782 158,555 167,782 158,555 

Indigenous Support Fund 968 905 968 905 

Equity Support Programme 264 494 264 494 

Disability Support Programme 259 - 259 -

Workplace Reform Programme 2,171 2,082 2,171 2,082 

Workplace Productivity Programme 4,200 1,500 4,200 1,500 

Learning and Teaching Performance Fund 8,908 9,853 8,908 9,853 

Capital Development Pool 683 583 683 583 

Superannuation Programme 7,819 7,029 7,819 7,029 

Collaboration & Structural Reform Programme 100 208 100 208 

Total Commonwealth Grants Scheme and Other Grants 193,154 181,209 193,154 181,209 

(b) Higher Education Loan Programmes 49.2

HECS-HELP 79,626 75,655 79,626 75,655 

FEE-HELP 30,107 28,171 30,107 27,076 

Total Higher Education Loan Programmes 109,733 103,826 109,733 102,731 

(c) Scholarships 49.3

Australian Postgraduate Awards 10,931 10,560 10,931 10,560 

International Postgraduate Research Scholarship 2,179 2,388 2,179 2,388 

Commonwealth Education Cost Scholarships 1,134 786 1,134 786 

Commonwealth Accommodation Scholarships 1,870 1,365 1,870 1,365 

Total Scholarships 16,114 15,099 16,114 15,099 

(d) DEEWR - Research 49.4

Institutional Grants Scheme 35,583 33,985 35,583 33,985 

Research Training Scheme 63,502 59,907 63,502 59,907 

Systemic Infrastructure Initiative - 2,016 - 2,016 

Research Infrastructure Block Grants 25,780 26,052 25,780 26,052 

Implementation Assistance Programme 162 - 162 -

Australian Scheme for Higher Education Repositories 241 - 241 -

Commercialisation Training Scheme 603 - 603 -

Total DEEWR - Research Grants 125,871 121,960 125,871 121,960 

(e) Voluntary Student Unionism 49.5

VSU Transition Fund 1,500 - 1,500 -

Total VSU 1,500 - 1,500 -

# Includes the basic Commonwealth Grants Scheme (CGS), CGS-Regional Loading, CGS-Enabling Loading and HEFA Transition Fund.
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NOTE 2: AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL 
ASSISTANCE INCLUDING HECS-HELP AND OTHER 
AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT LOAN PROGRAMMES 
(CONTINUED)

(f) Australian Research Council 49.6

(f) (i) Discovery 49.6(a)

Project 29,131 30,483 29,131 30,483 

Fellowships 4,185 2,934 4,185 2,934 

Indigenous Researchers Development 71 170 71 170 

Total Discovery 33,387 33,587 33,387 33,587 

(f)(ii) Linkages 49.6(b) 

Special Research Initiatives 147 447 147 447 

Infrastructure 3,544 1,765 3,544 1,765 

International 294 154 294 154 

Projects 9,997 5,025 9,997 5,025 

Total Linkages 13,982 7,391 13,982 7,391 

(f)(iii) Networks and Centres 49.6(c) 

Research Networks 1,868 1,329 1,868 1,329 

Centres 9,415 6,882 9,415 6,882 

Total Networks and Centres 11,283 8,211 11,283 8,211 

(g) Other Australian Government Financial Assistance

Department of Health & Ageing 27,471 26,795 27,471 26,795 

Co-operative Research Centres 11,447 8,324 11,447 8,324 

National Health & Medical Research Council 73,940 61,372 73,940 61,372 

Other Commonwealth Research 37,407 5,796 37,407 5,796 

Other Funding 10,004 18,543 7,050 15,469 

Total Other Australian Government Financial Assistance 160,269 120,830 157,315 117,756 

Total Australian Government Financial Assistance 665,293 592,113 662,339 587,944 

Reconciliation

Australian Government Grants [a + c + d + e + f + g] 555,560 488,287 552,606 485,213 

HECS-HELP - Australian Government Payments 79,626 75,655 79,626 75,655 

Other Australian Government Loan Programmes [FEE-HELP] 30,107 28,171 30,107 27,076 

Total Australian Government Financial Assistance 665,293 592,113 662,339 587,944 

NOTE 3: STATE GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

Recurrent Funding 1,019 2,930 1,019 2,891 

Research Funding 20,995 17,510 20,995 17,510 

Microbiological Diagnostic Unit 4,674 4,389 4,674 4,389 

Support to the Arts (Arts Victoria) 375 411 375 411 

MTC Theatre Development Funding - 18,000 - 18,000 

Miscellaneous Purposes 4,621 4,858 4,606 4,524 

Total State Government Financial Assistance 31,684 48,098 31,669 47,725 
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2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NOTE 4: FEES AND CHARGES

Course Fees and Charges 

Fee-Paying Overseas Students 231,970 203,857 221,804 191,638 

Continuing Education 11,507 8,275 2,108 2,188 

Fee-Paying Domestic Postgraduate Students * 28,740 24,675 13,736 11,835 

Fee-Paying Domestic Undergraduate Students * 19,936 19,218 19,936 19,218 

Other Domestic Course Fees and Charges 28,858 24,971 1,354 1,459 

Sundry Fees 4,232 3,681 4,186 3,603 

Total Course Fees and Charges 325,243 284,677 263,124 229,941 

TAFE Tuition 256 303 256 303 

Other Non-Course Fees and Charges

Amenities and Service Fees - 12,212 - 12,212 

Examination Fees 2,217 1,949 305 95 

Library Fees 352 366 352 366 

Excursions 833 1,001 833 1,001 

Rent/Use of Facilities Charges 9,195 7,840 4,497 3,408 

Student Accommodation Charges 6,436 5,890 6,436 5,890 

Parking Fees 4,343 3,441 4,343 3,440 

Seminar, Conference and Course Fees 3,778 4,304 3,546 4,026 

Copying Charges 38 81 38 61 

Testing and Servicing 15,486 11,031 15,441 11,031 

Hire of Apparatus and Laboratory Fees - 52 - -

Fines 69 51 69 51 

Membership Fees 730 3,027 125 201 

Other Fees and Charges for Services Provided 29,929 27,143 25,070 23,387 

Total Other Non-Course Fees and Charges 73,406 78,388 61,055 65,169 

Total Fees and Charges 398,905 363,368 324,435 295,413 

* Domestic Course Fees and charges are net of FEE-HELP 
payments which are disclosed in Note 2 (b) of the financial 
statements

NOTE 5: INVESTMENT INCOME

Interest Received and Receivable 16,164 17,866 14,290 14,632 

Dividends 120,719 97,296 108,404 94,025 

Realised Gains/ (Losses)# 14,983 (2,610) 16,205 (5,296)

Unrealised Gains/ (Losses) 1,309 452 1,299 434 

Transfer from Available-for-sale Revaluation Reserve 12,817 512 - -

Other 1,658 509 1,658 509 

Total Investment Income 167,650 114,025 141,856 104,304 
# Losses for 2006 resulted from trading activities and included 
the University’s participation in Share Buyback schemes. These 
are offset by gains in Dividends and imputation credits.

NOTE 6: ROYALTIES. TRADEMARKS AND LICENCES

Copyright and Royalty 3,908 5,066 3,127 5,054

Total Royalties, Trademarks and Licences 3,908 5,066 3,127 5,054
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NOTE 7: CONSULTANCY AND CONTRACT RESEARCH

Consultancy 6,537 6,996 6,537 6,648 

Contract Research 19,320 17,392 19,320 17,392 

Total Consultancy and Contract Research 25,857 24,388 25,857 24,040 

NOTE 8: OTHER INCOME 

Donations and Bequests 18,274 16,904 18,213 15,825 

Publishing and Book Sales 16,015 15,196 12,517 12,319 

Box Office Receipts 9,613 9,744 9,595 9,609 

Computer Sales 7,173 7,285 2,591 2,640 

Subscriptions to University Societies 1,565 1,254 1,527 1,203 

Sale of Produce and Livestock 1,174 2,127 1,174 2,127 

Research/Project Income other than the Australian Government 5,582 5,311 - -

Non-Government Grants 45,414 56,995 45,114 54,595 

Scholarships and Prizes 100 100 100 100 

Miscellaneous Income 15,565 753 17,468 3,607 

Total Other Income 120,475 115,669 108,299 102,025 

NOTE 9: EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND ON COSTS

Academic

Salaries 305,102 272,757 301,131 260,035 

Contributions to Superannuation and Pension Schemes:

Emerging Cost 8,239 7,894 8,239 7,120 

Funded 39,912 36,337 39,599 34,878 

Payroll Tax 17,559 16,280 17,337 15,587 

Worker’s Compensation 1,698 1,534 1,684 1,481 

Long Service Leave Expense 2,711 2,759 2,532 2,649 

Annual Leave 4,403 2,138 4,227 2,044 

Other 7,576 4,754 7,528 4,716 

Total Academic 387,200 344,453 382,277 328,510 

Non-Academic

Salaries 265,840 235,402 227,871 197,154 

Contributions to Superannuation and Pension Schemes:

Emerging Cost - 231 - -

Funded 34,457 30,970 31,260 27,378 

Provisions for Future Emerging Costs - - - -

Payroll Tax 14,135 13,062 12,722 11,494 

Worker’s Compensation 1,385 1,220 1,243 1,091 

Long Service Leave Expense 2,216 2,569 1,830 2,061 

Annual Leave 1,342 1,689 643 1,427 

Other 6,050 5,320 5,645 4,948 

Total Non-Academic 325,425 290,463 281,214 245,553 

Total Employee Benefits and On Costs 712,625 634,916 663,491 574,063
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NOTE 10: DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

Depreciation and Amortisation by Class of Assets

Depreciation

Buildings 44,715 43,045 43,092 40,278 

Buildings - Fixtures and Fittings 39 15 39 15 

Leasehold Improvements 788 503 570 218 

Scientific and Computing Equipment 19,677 14,658 17,791 13,670 

Works of Art 2 2 - -

General Equipment 4,339 5,166 3,944 4,232 

Communications Equipment 166 200 164 196 

Furniture 549 519 103 106 

Motor Vehicles 1,424 1,494 1,400 1,446 

Library Collection 9,301 8,808 9,041 8,466 

Assets Under Finance Lease 880 692 - -

Total Depreciation 81,880 75,102 76,144 68,627 

Amortisation

Software 255 260 30 1 

Total Amortisation 255 260 30 1 

Total Depreciation and Amortisation 82,135 75,362 76,174 68,628 

NOTE 11: REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE

Buildings 46,976 33,941 46,082 32,077 

Plant and Equipment 14,264 10,292 13,941 9,360 

Total Repairs and Maintenance 61,240 44,233 60,023 41,437 

NOTE 12: FINANCE COSTS

Interest Expense 11,423 10,767 11,423 10,767 

Finance Charges Payable under Finance Leases 129 120 - -

Total Finance Costs Expensed 11,552 10,887 11,423 10,767 

NOTE 13: BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS

Bad Debts Written Off 2,603 681 2,563 506 

Increase/(Decrease) in Allowance for Doubtful Debts (1,716) (135) (2,024) 11 

Total Bad and Doubtful Debts 887 546 539 517 

NOTE 14: ACCOUNTING AND AUDITING SERVICES

Auditing and Review of Financial Reports and Other Work -

Victorian Auditor-General 313 270 245 190 

Other Auditors 394 427 142 192 

Accounting Services 10 58 10 8 

Total Accounting and Auditing Services 717 755 397 390 
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NOTE 15: OTHER EXPENSES

Scholarships 52,922 50,768 52,531 49,511 

Equipment Purchases (items not capitalised) 19,707 14,440 19,306 13,982 

Advertising 10,057 6,607 7,429 4,655 

Consumable Materials 34,161 38,059 33,460 36,840 

Travel, Staff Development and Training 39,598 37,598 35,826 33,789 

Library Materials 4,386 7,257 4,080 6,914 

Grants 86,995 77,563 93,052 93,674 

Rent and Leasing Payments 10,043 11,477 9,130 8,765 

Utilities and Services 29,287 28,829 27,606 26,378 

Contracted and Professional Services 70,031 59,458 64,253 62,873 

Printing, Publications and Stationary 13,136 11,388 10,496 9,273 

Computer Software and Services 22,765 11,747 22,059 11,117 

Insurance 5,478 5,326 5,208 5,032 

Net loss on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 16 1,594 1,691 1,440 1,718 

Program and Course Development, Preparation

and Delivery Services 15,176 11,969 - -

Course Fees Paid 3,360 5,103 3,360 5,103 

Impairment Losses * 5,042 4,970 4,989 7,970 

Other Expenses 51,721 47,044 39,370 33,050 

Total Other Expenses 475,459 431,294 433,595 410,644 

* Impairment losses for the year ended 31 December 2007 
mainly comprise of a $2.7 million (2006 $3.0 million) impairment 
of the University’s investment in U21 Equity Limited.

NOTE 16: GAIN / (LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS

Proceeds from Sale of Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 2,106 23,343 2,064 22,412 

Total Proceeds from Sale of Assets 2,106 23,343 2,064 22,412 

Carrying Amount of Disposed Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 3,700 25,034 3,504 24,130 

Total Carrying Amount of Disposed Assets 3,700 25,034 3,504 24,130 

Net Gain / (Loss) on Disposal of Assets (1,594) (1,691) (1,440) (1,718)

NOTE 17: INCOME TAX (EXPENSE) / BENEFIT

The prima facie tax on the operating result from continuing 
operations is reconciled to the income tax provided in the 
Financial Statements as follows:

Prima facie tax on operating profit/(loss) of tax paying 
Subsidiaries before Income Tax:

16 55 - -

Income Tax effect of -

Non-Deductible Expenditure (1) (56) - -

Settlement of Melbourne Enterprises International Ltd tax Liability (439) - - -

Other (6) 2 - -

Income Tax (Expense)/Benefit (430) 1 - -
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NOTE 18: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash 94,263 50,496 83,442 36,320 

Petty Cash Floats 279 201 238 174 

Deposits at Call/Term Deposits 4,768 6,613 - -

Bank Bills (maturity < than 90 days) - 11,125 - -

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 99,310 68,435 83,680 36,494 

The above figures represent the cash at the end of the year 
as shown in the Cash Flow Statement.

NOTE 19: RECEIVABLES

Current

Trade Receivables 51,706 40,105 44,553 35,211 

Sundry Debtors 18,496 24,642 14,512 19,253 

Less: Allowance for Doubtful Debts (1,082) (540) (632) (398)

69,120 64,207 58,433 54,066 

Student Loans 1,834 1,735 1,834 1,735 

Less: Allowance for Doubtful Debts (50) (50) (50) (50)

1,784 1,685 1,784 1,685 

Deferred Government Contributions for Superannuation 8,130 7,855 8,130 6,922 

Other 1,269 1,442 3 665

Less: Allowance for Doubtful Debts - - - -

Total Current Receivables 80,303 75,189 68,350 63,338 

Non-Current

Student Loans - 1 - -

Deferred Government Contributions for Superannuation 88,981 97,601 88,981 83,801 

State Government of Victoria (MTC Development) 51,000 51,000 51,000 51,000 

Other - 2,282 - 2,282 

Less: Allowance for Doubtful Debts - (2,258) - (2,258)

Total Non-Current Receivables 139,981 148,626 139,981 134,825 

(a) Deferred Government Contributions to Superannuation 
The University recognises a receivable for the amount expected to be received from the Australian Government in respect of unfunded 
superannuation schemes operated by the State Government. The total consolidated amount owing in respect of these schemes at 
30 June 2007 is recorded at $97.1 million (2006 $105.5 million). Refer Notes 1.19(iv), 29 and 36.

(b) Melbourne Theatre Company Development 
The University has entered into an agreement with the State Government of Victoria for the development of a 500 seat theatre for the 
Melbourne Theatre Company. The $51.0 million receivable represents the total value of the theatre to be received by the University on 
completion.

(c) Effective Interest Rates and Credit Risk 
Information concerning the credit risk of both current and non-current receivables is set out in Note 32.

(d) Ageing of Receivables 
Included in the Group’s Receivables balance are $1.1 million of debtors which are considered to be impaired and for which a provision 
has been provided (2006, $4.0 million).  Of the Group’s impaired receivables in 2007, 44% were between three and six months past due 
(2006, 11%) and 53% were more than six months overdue (2006, 89%).  The 2006 balance included one $2.6 million debtor that was 
overdue by more than six months, which was written off in 2007.

Also included in the Group’s Receivables balance are debtors that are past due at the reporting date which are not considered to be 
impaired.  Four percent of total receivables were past due but not impaired in 2007 (2006, 4%). The Group has not provided for these 
receivables as it is considered that these amounts are still recoverable.
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NOTE 20: INVENTORIES

Finished Goods 4,920 5,260 3,570 3,855 

Raw Materials 429 180 429 180 

Work in Progress 166 177 - -

Livestock and Other 795 1,466 795 1,466 

Total Inventories 6,310 7,083 4,794 5,501 

NOTE 21: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

Current

Bank and Term Deposits (> 90 days) 51,568 17,444 40,163 2 

Commercial Paper 26,610 27,343 26,610 27,343 

Debentures 13,334 35,866 13,334 35,866 

Unit Trusts 2,328 21,247 2,328 21,247 

Total Other Financial Assets at Fair Value 93,840 101,900 82,435 84,458 

NOTE 22: OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (CURRENT)

Prepaid Expense 6,239 6,967 6,076 6,504 

Accrued Income/Other 2,156 2,419 1,187 1,116 

Total Other Non-Financial Assets 8,395 9,386 7,263 7,620 

NOTE 23: AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Non-Current

Shares, Equities and Convertible Notes* 1,064,627 1,060,822 1,064,347 1,008,046 

Listed Income Securities/Unit Trusts 264,478 186,206 175,575 178,133 

International and Domestic Bonds - 19,381 - -

Mortgage Loans - 90 - 90 

Units in Pool** - - (172) (162)

Total Available-for-Sale Financial Assets 1,329,105 1,266,499 1,239,750 1,186,107 

* A portion of this balance is pledged as security over the Group’s 
long-term borrowings. Refer to Note 29 for further details.

** Represents the ownership of Units in the University’s 
Investment Pool held by Subsidiaries

NOTE 24: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Non-Current

Investment in Subsidiary Companies - - 22,148 25,348 

Other Investments 32,802 27,170 32,802 27,170 

Provision for Accumulated Impairment (28,677) (23,045) (31,677) (28,844)

Other 20 20 - -

Total Other Financial Assets 4,145 4,145 23,273 23,674 
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NOTE 25: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land

At Fair Value 554,082 545,723 505,517 452,158 

554,082 545,723 505,517 452,158 

Buildings 

At Fair Value 1,507,645 1,459,094 1,459,012 1,369,026 

Provision for Depreciation (44,604) - (42,981) -

1,463,041 1,459,094 1,416,031 1,369,026 

Library Collection

At Cost 367,297 358,083 365,949 353,661 

Provision for Depreciation (115,107) (108,521) (114,507) (105,466)

252,190 249,562 251,442 248,195 

Other Collections

At Fair Value 58,830 58,830 58,830 58,830 

58,830 58,830 58,830 58,830 

Works of Art

At Cost 36 36 - -

At Fair Value 56,054 56,027 55,745 53,266 

Provision for Depreciation (31) (29) - -

56,059 56,034 55,745 53,266 

Motor Vehicles

At Cost 8,980 9,553 8,861 9,081 

Provision for Depreciation (5,302) (5,027) (5,202) (4,675)

3,678 4,526 3,659 4,406 

Furniture, Fixtures & Fittings

At Cost 6,534 5,759 1,253 1,233 

Provision for Depreciation (4,643) (3,724) (738) (634)

1,891 2,035 515 599 

Scientific and Computing Equipment

At Cost 186,257 165,864 179,457 158,185 

Provision for Depreciation (150,444) (136,640) (144,489) (130,132)

35,813 29,224 34,968 28,053 

Communications Equipment

At Cost 5,610 5,919 5,592 5,600 

Provision for Depreciation (5,157) (5,377) (5,151) (5,084)

453 542 441 516 

General Equipment

At Cost 60,640 64,009 51,274 49,730 

Provision for Depreciation (51,122) (52,611) (43,541) (40,703)

9,518 11,398 7,733 9,027 

Leasehold Improvements

At Cost 22,008 21,461 19,220 19,161 

Provision for Amortisation (2,871) (2,202) (1,931) (1,433)

19,137 19,259 17,290 17,728 
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NOTE 25: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(CONTINUED)

Assets Under Finance Lease

At Cost 4,046 3,901 - -

Provision for Depreciation (2,983) (2,172) - -

1,063 1,729 - -

Construction in Progress

At Cost 66,937 27,649 63,554 26,656 

Total Property, Plant & Equipment

At Cost 728,345 662,235 695,160 623,307 

At Fair Value 2,176,611 2,119,674 2,079,104 1,933,280 

2,904,956 2,781,909 2,774,264 2,556,587 

Provision for Depreciation and Amortisation

At Cost (337,660) (316,303) (315,557) (288,127)

At Fair Value (44,604) - (42,981) -

(382,264) (316,303) (358,538) (288,127)

Total Written-Down Value 2,522,692 2,465,606 2,415,726 2,268,460 
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Movement in Carrying Amounts

Movement in the carrying amount for each class of Property, Plant and Equipment between the beginning and end of the reporting period

(A) CONSOLIDATED - 2007 Land Buildings Library 
Collection

Other 
Collections

Works of Art

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at Beginning of Year 545,723 1,459,094 249,562 58,830 56,034 

Reclassification - 124 - - -

Additions 8,359 38,691 12,052 - 27 

Disposals - (2,891) (123) - -

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements) - - - - -

Depreciation Expense - (44,754) (9,301) - (2)

Assets Classified as Held for Sale - - - - -

Impairment Gains / (Losses) - 2,917 - - -

Transfer from Construction in Progress - 9,860 - - -

Write-Ups/Transfers/ (Write-Offs) - - - - -

Carrying Amount at End of 
Reporting Period

554,082 1,463,041 252,190 58,830 56,059 

Motor Vehicles Furniture, 
Fixtures & 

Fittings

Equipment 
Scientific & 
Computing

Equipment 
Communication

Equipment 
General

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at Beginning of Year 4,526 2,035 29,224 542 11,398 

Reclassification - (786) - - 839 

Additions 1,216 109 26,357 88 2,995 

Disposals (618) (41) (22) - (5)

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements) - - - - -

Depreciation Expense (1,424) (549) (19,677) (166) (4,339)

Assets Classified as Held for Sale (22) - (53) - (106)

Impairment Gains / (Losses) - - - - -

Transfer from Construction in Progress - 1,135 42 - (833)

Write-Ups/Transfers/ (Write-Offs) - (12) (58) (11) (431)

Carrying Amount at End of 
Reporting Period

3,678 1,891 35,813 453 9,518 

Leasehold 
Improvements

Assets Under 
Finance Lease

Construction In 
Progress

Total 
2007

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at Beginning of Year 19,259 1,729 27,649 2,465,606 

Reclassification (177) - - -

Additions 533 214 50,053 140,694 

Disposals - - - (3,700)

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements) - - - -

Depreciation Expense (788) (880) - (81,880)

Assets Classified as Held for Sale - - - (182)

Impairment Gains / (Losses) - - - 2,917 

Transfer from Construction in Progress 310 - (10,514) -

Write-Ups/Transfers/ (Write-Offs) - - (251) (763)

Carrying Amount at End of 
Reporting Period

19,137 1,063 66,937 2,522,692 
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(B) UNIVERSITY - 2007 Land Buildings Library 
Collection

Other 
Collections

Works of Art

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at Beginning of Year 452,158 1,369,026 248,195 58,830 53,266 

Reclassification - 124 - - -

Additions 53,359 80,829 12,288 - 2,479 

Disposals - (2,891) - - -

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements) - - - - -

Depreciation Expense - (43,131) (9,041) - -

Assets Classified as Held for Sale - - - - -

Impairment Gains / (Losses) - 2,917 - - -

Transfer from Construction in Progress - 9,157 - - -

Write-Ups/Transfers/ (Write-Offs) - - - - -

Carrying Amount at End of 
Reporting Period

505,517 1,416,031 251,442 58,830 55,745 

Motor Vehicles Furniture, 
Fixtures & 

Fittings

Equipment 
Scientific & 
Computing

Equipment 
Communication

Equipment 
General

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at Beginning of Year 4,406 599 28,053 516 9,027 

Reclassification - - - - 53 

Additions 1,246 19 24,725 89 2,598 

Disposals (593) - (19) - (1)

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements) - - - - -

Depreciation Expense (1,400) (103) (17,791) (164) (3,944)

Assets Classified as Held for Sale - - - - -

Impairment Gains / (Losses) - - - - -

Transfer from Construction in Progress - - - - -

Write-Ups/Transfers/ (Write-Offs) - - - - -

Carrying Amount at End of 
Reporting Period

3,659 515 34,968 441 7,733 

Leasehold 
Improvements

Assets Under 
Finance Lease

Construction In 
Progress

Total 
2007

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at Beginning of Year 17,728 - 26,656 2,268,460 

Reclassification (177) - - -

Additions - - 46,365 223,997* 

Disposals - - - (3,504)

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements) - - - -

Depreciation Expense (570) - - (76,144)

Assets Classified as Held for Sale - - - -

Impairment Gains / (Losses) - - - 2,917 

Transfer from Construction in Progress 310 - (9,467) -

Write-Ups/Transfers/ (Write-Offs) - - - -

Carrying Amount at End of 
Reporting Period

17,290 - 63,554 2,415,726 

* On integration of the Victorian College of the Arts, Property, Plant and Equipment of $92.0 million was recognised by the University. All 
assets were transferred free of charge and therefore had no impact on the cash reserves of the University.
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NOTE 25: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Movement in Carrying Amounts 

Movement in the carrying amount for each class of Property, Plant and Equipment between the beginning and end of the reporting period

(C) CONSOLIDATED - 2006 Land Buildings Library 
Collection

Other 
Collections

Works of Art

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at Beginning of Year 508,307 1,327,494 247,764 52,605 45,493 

Reclassification - (579) - - -

Additions 12,575 7,917 10,606 - 233 

Disposals (21,000) (1,994) - - -

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements) 45,889 145,712 - 6,225 10,310 

Depreciation Expense - (43,060) (8,808) - (2)

Assets Classified as Held for Sale - - - - -

Impairment Gains / (Losses) (48) 6,136 - - -

Transfer from Construction in Progress - 17,468 - - -

Write-Ups/Transfers/ (Write-Offs) - - - - -

Carrying Amount at End of 
Reporting Period

545,723 1,459,094 249,562 58,830 56,034 

Motor Vehicles Furniture, 
Fixtures & 

Fittings

Equipment 
Scientific & 
Computing 

Equipment 
Communication

Equipment 
General

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at Beginning of Year 5,016 2,415 25,033 580 11,296 

Reclassification 21 26 (88) 75 22 

Additions 2,076 250 19,490 87 5,395 

Disposals (1,093) (137) (548) - (71)

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements) - - - - -

Depreciation Expense (1,494) (519) (14,658) (200) (5,166)

Assets Classified as Held for Sale - - - - -

Impairment Gains / (Losses) - - - - -

Transfer from Construction in Progress - - - - (78)

Write-Ups/Transfers/ (Write-Offs) - - (6) - -

Carrying Amount at End of 
Reporting Period

4,526 2,035 29,224 542 11,398 

Leasehold 
Improvements

Assets Under 
Finance Lease

Construction In 
Progress

Total

2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at Beginning of Year 1,572 1,473 26,306 2,255,355 

Reclassification 523 - - -

Additions 1,748 1,139 34,652 96,169 

Disposals - (191) - (25,034)

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements) - - - 208,136 

Depreciation Expense (503) (692) - (75,102)

Assets Classified as Held for Sale - - - -

Impairment Gains / (Losses) - - - 6,088 

Transfer from Construction in Progress 15,919 - (33,309) -

Write-Ups/Transfers/ (Write-Offs) - - - (6)

Carrying Amount at End of 
Reporting Period

19,259 1,729 27,649 2,465,606 
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(D) UNIVERSITY - 2006 Land Buildings Library 
Collection

Other 
Collections

Works of Art

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at Beginning of Year 422,622 1,242,702 246,427 52,605 43,618 

Reclassification - (579) - - -

Additions 12,574 6,216 10,234 - 45 

Disposals (21,000) (1,994) - - -

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements) 38,010 139,370 - 6,225 9,603 

Depreciation Expense - (40,293) (8,466) - -

Assets Classified as Held for Sale - - - - -

Impairment Gains / (Losses) (48) 6,136 - - -

Transfer from Construction in Progress - 17,468 - - -

Write-Ups/Transfers/ (Write-Offs) - - - - -

Carrying Amount at End of 
Reporting Period

452,158 1,369,026 248,195 58,830 53,266 

Motor Vehicles Furniture, 
Fixtures & 

Fittings

Equipment 
Scientific & 
Computing 

Equipment 
Communication

Equipment 
General 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at Beginning of Year 4,887 672 23,224 567 8,605 

Reclassification - - (18) 59 32 

Additions 2,039 33 18,534 86 4,751 

Disposals (1,074) - (11) - (51)

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements) - - - - -

Depreciation Expense (1,446) (106) (13,670) (196) (4,232)

Assets Classified as Held for Sale - - - - -

Impairment Gains / (Losses) - - - - -

Transfer from Construction in Progress - - - - (78)

Write-Ups/Transfers/ (Write-Offs) - - (6) - -

Carrying Amount at End of 
Reporting Period

4,406 599 28,053 516 9,027 

Leasehold 
Improvements

Assets Under 
Finance Lease

Construction In 
Progress

Total

2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at Beginning of Year 95 - 26,306 2,072,329 

Reclassification 506 - . -

Additions 1,427 - 33,659 89,598 

Disposals - - - (24,130)

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements) - - - 193,208 

Depreciation Expense (218) - - (68,627)

Assets Classified as Held for Sale - - - -

Impairment Gains / (Losses) - - - 6,088 

Transfer from Construction in Progress 15,919 - (33,309) -

Write-Ups/Transfers/ (Write-Offs) - - - (6)

Carrying Amount at End of 
Reporting Period

17,728 - 26,656 2,268,460 
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2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NOTE 26: INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software 6,704 6,859 5,002 4,907

Provision for Amortisation (5,894) (6,384) (4,887) (4,857)

Total Intangible Assets 810 475 115 50 

Movement in Carrying Amounts

Balance at Beginning of Year 475 587 50 -

Additions 630 148 95 51 

Reclassification (40) - - -

Amortisation Expense (255) (260) (30) (1)

Carrying Amount at End of Year 810 475 115 50 

NOTE 27: PAYABLES

Current:

Trade Creditors 29,441 36,715 25,411 33,514 

Sundry Creditors and Accrued Expenses 38,093 32,405 29,484 26,376 

Total Current Payables 67,534 69,120 54,895 59,890 

Non-Current:

Sundry Creditors 12,000 12,000 12,000 12,000 

Total Non-Current Payables 12,000 12,000 12,000 12,000 

Total Payables 79,534 81,120 66,895 71,890 

NOTE 28: BORROWINGS

Current:

Secured Bank Borrowings 2,750 2,448 2,750 2,448 

Finance Lease Liabilities 827 869 - -

Total Current Interest Bearing Liabilities 3,577 3,317 2,750 2,448 

Non-Current:

Secured Bank Borrowings 154,616 137,365 154,616 137,365 

Finance Lease Liabilities 800 1,431 - -

Total Non-Current Interest Bearing Liabilities 155,416 138,796 154,616 137,365 

Total Borrowings 158,993 142,113 157,366 139,813 

Secured Bank Borrowings are for the construction of two educational facilities. The first, University Square comprises of three academic 
buildings with a small retail component and was substantially completed in 2001. The total loan facility was initially for $150.0 million 
with repayments extending until 2029. The second Secured Bank Borrowing is for the construction of a new Economics and Commerce 
building. The total loan facility is $60.0 million of which $20.0 million has been drawn down at balance date. 

The University has also established a standby bill facility of $10.0 million with the National Australia Bank. This is to provide short term cash 
should the need arise. As at 31 December 2007, this facility was not utilised.

Assets Pledged as Security

The University’s Bank Borrowings are secured by registered first mortgage over certain freehold property and a registered equitable 
mortgage of securities held by the University.

The University is required to maintain a security deposit for its Borrowings of at least $75.0 million under the terms of the loan agreement. 
At the reporting date, the carrying value of securities amounted to $105.7 million (2006, $91.8 million).
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2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NOTE 29: PROVISIONS

Current:

Current provisions expected to be settled within 12 months

Employee Benefits -

Annual Leave 38,380 34,842 35,318 31,044 

Long Service Leave 11,569 10,151 9,761 9,143 

Deferred Government Benefits for Superannuation 8,130 7,855 8,130 6,922 

WorkCover Claims 1,266 1,273 1,266 1,273 

Taxation 36 30 - -

Other 1,224 1,041 65 68 

60,605 55,192 54,540 48,450 

Current provision expected to be settled after more than 12 months

Employee Benefits -

Annual Leave 13,722 12,513 13,701 12,513 

Long Service Leave 46,543 43,882 46,543 42,692 

60,265 56,395 60,244 55,205 

Total Current Provisions 120,870 111,587 114,784 103,655 

Non-Current:

Employee Benefits -

Long Service Leave 22,225 21,330 21,473 19,832 

Deferred Government Benefits for Superannuation 88,981 97,601 88,981 83,801 

WorkCover Claims 4,386 3,789 4,386 3,789 

Total Non-Current Provisions 115,592 122,720 114,840 107,422 

Total Provisions 236,462 234,307 229,624 211,077 

Employee Benefits

Provision for Employee Benefits - Current 118,344 109,243 113,453 102,314 

Provision for Employee Benefits - Non-Current 111,206 118,931 110,454 103,633 

Aggregate Employee Benefits 229,550 228,174 223,907 205,947 

Employee Numbers

Full-time Equivalent Academic and Non-Academic Staff 6,797 6,528 6,297 5,822 

State Superannuation Fund

AASB 119 Employee Benefits requires that the estimated present value of superannuation obligations recognised in the financial 
statements be determined as at balance date. These financial statements recognise estimated superannuation obligations in respect of 
the State Superannuation Fund using an actuarial estimate as at 30 June 2007. As there is no net impact on the Balance Sheet or Income 
Statement from these superannuation obligations (due to recognition of a corresponding receivable), the costs of providing an actuarial 
assessment at balance date (31 December 2007) outweigh the benefits. The University has therefore elected not to obtain an estimate of 
its superannuation obligations as at balance date. Consequently superannuation obligations (and the corresponding receivable) are stated in 
the financial statements based on estimates prepared six months in arrears.
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2007 2006 2007 2006
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NOTE 30: OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Income in Advance

Australian Government Financial Assistance:

National Youth Mental Health Foundation 21,807 13,993 21,807 13,993 

Other Australian Government Financial Assistance 780 9,174 771 9,106 

Research Project Income 39,629 40,261 39,629 40,261 

Student Fees 24,069 26,130 17,188 17,490 

Other 15,266 11,654 12,854 9,235 

101,551 101,212 92,249 90,085 

Deposits and Funds Lodged 404 294 299 198 

Total Other Current Liabilities 101,955 101,506 92,548 90,283 

NOTE 31: RESERVES AND RETAINED SURPLUS

NOTE 31 (A): RESERVES

Reserves at End of Year Comprise -

Trust Fund Reserve 270,713 253,144 270,713 253,144 

General Reserve 39,512 39,556 39,339 39,316 

Land Asset Revaluation Reserve 487,894 487,894 439,340 394,340 

Building Asset Revaluation Reserve 1,121,812 1,118,895 1,121,351 1,088,458 

Other Collections Asset Revaluation Reserve 58,830 58,830 58,830 58,830 

Works of Art Asset Revaluation Reserve 55,388 55,388 55,388 53,173 

Available-for-Sale Revaluation Reserve 492,045 474,164 496,118 460,943 

Special Purpose Reserve 12,918 23,451 12,840 12,735 

Members Capital Reserve 30,405 30,130 - -

Contributed Equity 12,339 12,339 - -

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (50) 164 - -

Total Reserves 2,581,805 2,553,953 2,493,919 2,360,939 

MOVEMENTS IN RESERVES

Trust Fund Reserve

Balance Beginning of Year 253,144 237,465 253,144 237,465 

Transfer from/(to) Special Purpose Reserve 8,061 - - -

Transfer from/(to) Available-for-Sale Revaluation Reserve - 166 - 166 

Transfer from Retained Surplus 9,508 15,513 17,569 15,513 

Balance End of Year 270,713 253,144 270,713 253,144 

General Reserve

Balance Beginning of Year 39,556 39,411 39,316 39,312 

Transfer from Retained Surplus - 145 - 4 

Transfer from/(to) Special Purpose Reserve 23 - 23 -

Transfer to Profit and Loss (67) - - -

Balance End of Year 39,512 39,556 39,339 39,316 
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NOTE 31: RESERVES AND RETAINED SURPLUS (CONTINUED)

Land Asset Revaluation Reserve

Balance Beginning of Year 487,894 442,053 394,340 356,378

Changes due to Revaluation - 45,889 - 38,010 

Impairment Losses on Revalued Assets - (48) - (48)

Re-establishment of Reserve on Integration of the VCA - - 45,000 -

Balance End of Year 487,894 487,894 439,340 394,340 

Building Asset Revaluation Reserve

Balance Beginning of Year 1,118,895 967,047 1,088,458 942,952 

Changes due to Revaluation - 145,712 - 139,370 

Impairment Gains / (Losses) on Revalued Assets 2,917 6,136 2,917 6,136 

Re-establishment of Reserve on Integration of the VCA - - 29,976 -

Balance End of Year 1,121,812 1,118,895 1,121,351 1,088,458 

Other Collections Asset Revaluation Reserve

Balance Beginning of Year 58,830 270,771 58,830 270,771 

Changes due to Revaluation - 6,225 - 6,225 

Transfer from/(to) Retained Surplus - (218,166) - (218,166)

Balance End of Year 58,830 58,830 58,830 58,830 

Works of Art Asset Revaluation Reserve

Balance Beginning of Year 55,388 45,078 53,173 43,570 

Changes due to Revaluation - 10,310 - 9,603 

Re-establishment of Reserve on Integration of the VCA - - 2,215 -

Balance End of Year 55,388 55,388 55,388 53,173 

Available-for-Sale Revaluation Reserve

Balance Beginning of Year 474,164 355,691 460,943 346,627

Transfer from/(to) Trust Fund Reserve - (166) - (166)

Transfer from/(to) Retained Surplus (145) (4) - -

Transfers to Profit and Loss on Sale (12,817) (512) - -

Changes due to Revaluation of Investments 30,844 119,155 35,175 114,482 

Balance End of Year 492,045 474,164 496,118 460,943 

Special Purpose Reserve

Balance Beginning of Year 23,451 22,397 12,735 12,630 

Transfer from/(to) Trust Fund Revaluation Reserve (8,061) - - -

Transfer from/(to) Retained Surplus (2,472) 1,054 105 105 

Balance End of Year 12,918 23,451 12,840 12,735 

Members Capital Reserve

Balance Beginning of Year 30,130 30,130 - -

Capital Contribution 275 - - -

Balance End of Year 30,405 30,130 - -
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NOTE 31: RESERVES AND RETAINED SURPLUS (CONTINUED)

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Balance Beginning of Year 164 58 - -

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (214) 106 - -

Balance End of Year (50) 164 - -

Summary of Transfers

(excluding Members Capital Reserve)

Land Asset Revaluation Reserve - - 45,000 -

Building Asset Revaluation Reserve - - 29,976 -

Other Collections Asset Revaluation Reserve - (218,166) - (218,166)

Works of Art Asset Revaluation Reserve - - 2,215 -

Available-for-Sale Revaluation Reserve (145) (170) - (166)

Trust Fund Reserve 17,570 15,679 17,569 15,679 

Special Purpose Reserve (10,534) 1,054 105 105 

General Reserve 23 145 23 4 

6,914 (201,458) 94,888 (202,544)

NOTE 31 (B): RETAINED SURPLUS

Balance at Beginning of Year 1,034,332 742,867 936,525 649,550 

Operating Result from Continuing Operations after related 
Income Tax Expense

96,246 90,007 183,378 84,431

Transfers from/(to) Reserves (6,914) 201,458 (94,888) 202,544 

Balance at End of Year 1,123,664 1,034,332 1,025,015 936,525 

NOTE 31(C): NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES

Trust Fund Reserve - this reserve reflects net surpluses derived from endowments and bequests which can only be applied to restricted 
purposes.

General Reserve - this reserve is maintained to cover a range of general purposes.

Asset Revaluation Reserves - these reserves arise from the revaluation of the specific assets of Land, Buildings, Other Collections and 
Works of Art.

Available-for-Sale Revaluation Reserve - this reserve arises from the revaluation of Available-for-Sale Investments.

Special Purpose Reserve - this reserve is maintained to cover a range of special purposes. The major Special Purpose Reserve is 
maintained by the University against possible future claims that may arise under the University’s self insurance licence for WorkCover. This 
reserve is in addition to the University’s statutory obligation.

Members Capital Reserve - this reserve is maintained by the Melbourne Business School Ltd, a deemed subsidiary, for the purpose of 
recording capital donations principally received from the University and other parties who have subscribed, or are invited to subscribe to the 
Memorandum of Association of the Company.

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve - this reserve is maintained by UMEE Ltd, a subsidiary, for recording the effect of foreign currency 
exchange rate movements at balance dates in respect of its non-hedged holdings of assets and liabilities of its overseas subsidiaries.

MBS Contributed Equity - represents the Net Fair Value of Assets identified upon acquisition of Mt Eliza Graduate School of Business 
and Government Limited as at 5 March 2004. 
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32.1 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The consolidated entity’s principal financial instruments consist mainly of listed and unlisted shares, unit trusts, and borrowings. The 
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance to support the Group’s activities. The Group has various other financial 
instruments such as accounts receivable and accounts payable, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group is exposed to key financial risks, including market risk (which includes interest rate risk, price risk and foreign currency risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk.  This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of these risks, and the objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk. 

The University’s Council has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. The 
Council has established:

 >  the Finance Committee, which meets regularly to monitor and evaluate the University’s financial management strategies in the 
context of the most recent economic conditions and forecasts, 

 >  the Investment Management Committee, which monitors and advises the Finance Committee on University’s short term cash 
management and long term investments, and 

 >  the Audit and Risk Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring risk management policies.

Primary responsibility for identification and control of financial risks rests with the Finance Committee, under the authority of Council.  The 
Finance Committee reviews and makes recommendations to Council in relation to the University’s financial policies and risk management 
policies and procedures.  

32.2 Risk Exposures 

The main risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are as follows:

(a)  Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the Group’s result or the value of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities. The key market risks that the Group is exposed to are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and price risk, each of which 
are discussed below.

  (i)  Interest Rate Risk 
The Group’s exposure to market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term borrowings and funds invested 
on the money market. The interest rate on the University’s long term borrowings is fixed, and therefore the Group is not 
exposed to any material interest rate risk.  The interest rate on the University’s borrowings is capped at 7.32% under a Bill 
Acceptance and Discount Facility.

   All borrowings are subject to approval by the University of Melbourne Council and the Treasurer of Victoria.

    The Group has minimal exposure to interest rate risk through its holding of cash assets and other financial assets at fair 
value.  At the reporting date, if interest rates were 1% lower/higher than the year-end rates with all other variables held 
constant, the Group’s net result for the year would have been $1,905,000 lower/higher (2006, $1,489,000 lower/higher), 
reflecting the lower/higher interest income earned on affected balances. 

    The Group manages its interest rate risk primarily through fixing its interest rate on long term borrowings and by 
maintaining a diversified investment portfolio.

  (ii)  Foreign Currency Risk 
The Group’s main exposure to foreign currency risk arises from International Shares held as part of its long term investment 
portfolio. The Group is mainly exposed to US dollars and the British Pound. At the reporting date, had the Australian Dollar 
weakened/strengthened by 10% against the relevant foreign currencies with all other variables held constant, the Group’s 
equity balance would have been $16,018,000 lower/higher (2006, $3,866,000 lower/higher), due to changes in the fair 
value of available-for-sale financial assets. There would have been no change to the net result for the year (2006, Nil).

    At times, the University will hedge large equipment purchases denominated in foreign currencies to manage foreign 
currency risk.  The University did not undertake any hedging during 2007 (2006, Nil).

  (iii)   Price Risk 
The University has a significant investment in marketable securities (included within available-for-sale financial assets), 
which exposes the Group to price risk. To limit this risk, the University has invested its funds with Fund Managers and 
maintained a diversified investment portfolio. The majority of the equity investments are of a high quality and are publicly 
traded on equity exchanges. The investments are mainly included in the S&P/ASX 200 Index.

    The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the Group’s exposure to equity prices. At the reporting date, if the 
value of marketable securities were 10% lower/higher with all other variables held constant, the Group’s equity would 
have been $132,910,000 lower/higher (2006: $126,650,000 lower/higher), due to changes in the fair value of available-for-
sale financial assets. There would have been no change to the net result for the year (2006, Nil).

(b)  Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. Credit risk arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers.

  The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables. The Group’s exposure 
to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. Receivable balances are monitored on an 
ongoing basis to ensure that the exposure to bad debts is not significant. The Group has established an allowance for doubtful debts 
that represents their estimate of incurred losses in respect of receivables.  An analysis of the ageing of the Group’s receivables at 
reporting date has been provided in Note 19.
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(c)  Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

  Liquidity risk is managed by the University’s Finance Committee through the monitoring of current forecasts and key ratios. 
Management also monitors the University’s cash position and cash flows regularly throughout the year. The University has 
established a standby bill facility of $10.0 million to provide short-term cash should the need arise.  

Maturity analysis – liquidity and interest rate risk tables

The following tables disclose the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting 
date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, including interest 
that will be incurred on those liabilities that are interest-bearing. The adjustment column represents the possible future cash flows 
attributable to the instrument included in the maturity analysis which are not included in the carrying amount of the financial liability on the 
Balance Sheet. 

2007

 Non-
Interest 
Bearing 

 Interest earning maturing in 

 Consolidated 
carrying 
amount 

as per 
Balance 

Sheet 1 year 
or less

 Between 1 
to 5 years 

 More than 
5 years  

Adjustment

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000   $’000    $’000 

Financial Liabilities 

Payables  79,534  -  -  - -  79,534 

Borrowings  -  12,680  50,599  205,082 (110,995)  157,366 

Finance Lease Liabilities  -  918  847  - (138)  1,627 

Total Financial Liabilities  79,534  13,598  51,446  205,082 (111,133  238,527 

2006

 Non-
Interest 
Bearing 

 Interest earning maturing in 

 Consolidated 
carrying 
amount 

as per 
Balance 

Sheet 1 year 
or less 

 Between 1 
to 5 years 

 More than  
5 years

Adjustment

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000      $’000 

Financial Liabilities 

Payables  81,120  -  -  -  81,120 

Borrowings  -  12,573  50,633  217,728 (141,121)  139,813 

Finance Lease Liabilities  -  1,006  1,547  - (253)  2,300 

Total Financial Liabilities  81,120  13,579  52,180  217,728 (141,374)  223,233 
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32.3 Net Fair Values

The carrying amounts and aggregate net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities at balance date are as follows:

TOTAL  CONSOLIDATED 
CARRYING AMOUNT AS PER 

BALANCE SHEET

AGGREGATE NET  FAIR VALUE

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Financial Assets 

Cash and Cash Equivalents   99,310  68,435  99,310  68,435 

Receivables   220,284  223,815  220,284  223,815 

Other Financial Assets at Fair Value   93,840  101,900  93,840  101,900 

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets  1,329,105  1,266,499  1,329,105  1,266,499 

Other Financial Assets   4,145  4,145  4,145  4,145 

Total Financial Assets  1,746,684 1,664,794  1,746,684 1,664,794

Financial Liabilities 

Payables   79,534 81,120  79,534 81,120

Borrowings  157,366 139,813  157,366 139,813

Finance Lease Liabilities  1,627 2,300  1,627 2,300

Total Financial Liabilities  238,527 223,233  238,527 223,233

Receivables, payables, borrowings and financial lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost.  All other financial instruments are 
measured at fair value.

NOTE 33: RESPONSIBLE PERSONS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

(A) NAMES OF RESPONSIBLE PERSONS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The names of each person holding the position of Member of Council during the year were: 

Mr I A Renard The Hon. D R White

Prof. G C Davis Ms E N S Ritchie

Prof. P Pattison (appointed 1 January 2007) Mrs L Landy (appointed 1 January 2007)

Ms E Alexander (term expired 31 December 2007) Dr V Mansour (appointed 9 July 2007)

Mr P A Briggs (term expired 31 December 2007) Prof. M Elgar (term expired 31 December 2007)

Judge I E Lawson (term expired 31 December 2007) Assoc. Prof L J Allen (term expired 31 December 2007)

Ms M Sloss Mr M F Coyle (elected 1 January 2007)

Dr M Doig (re-appointed 6 March 2007) Mr A Williams (elected 1 January 2007)

Mr R N Johanson (appointed 6 March 2007) Ms J Giles (elected 1 January 2007)

The Hon. Justice A Chernov (term expired 31 December 2007)

Ms R Storelli (term expired 31 December 2007)
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CONSOLIDATED UNIVERSITY

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(B)  REMUNERATION OF  MEMBERS OF 
COUNCIL/ BOARD MEMBERS

Income paid or payable, or otherwise made available, to 
Members of the University Council and to Board Members of 
Subsidiaries in the consolidated entity and related parties in 
connection with the management of affairs of the University and 
its Subsidiaries

3,324 3,864 1,420 1,105

NUMBER NUMBER

The number of Council Members and Directors of Subsidiary 
companies whose remuneration from the Group fell within the 
following bands:

2007 2006 2007 2006

Nil 75 75 6 8

$1-$10,000 2 8 1 -

$10,001-$20,000 11 10 10 10

$20,001-$30,000 3 2 - -

$30,001-$40,000 1 2 - -

$40,001-$50,000 - 1 - -

$50,001-$60,000 - 1 - -

$60,001-$70,000 1 3 - -

$70,001-$80,000 1 - - -

$80,001-$90,000 1 1 1 1

$100,001-$110,000 1 3 - -

$150,001-$160,000 - 2 - -

$160,001-$170,000 1 - - -

$170,001-$180,000 1 - - -

$180,001-$190,000 1 2 1 -

$190,001-$200,000 1 - - -

$200,001-$210,000 1 2 1 1

$270,001-$280,000 - 1 - -

$290,001-$300,000 1 - - -

$330,001-$340,000 - 1 - -

$670,001-$680,000 1 1 - 1

$760,001-$770,000 1 - 1 -

 104 115 21 21

As a responsibility of office, one executive included above occupies a residence owned by the University. The residence is required to be 
available and used regularly for official University functions and promotional activities. The value of this benefit including associated costs is 
$136,065 (2006 $135,519).

Members of the University Council are remunerated for their service. Certain members elect to donate part or all of this remuneration to 
the University.
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2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

REMUNERATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS:

Total amounts received by Executives of the Group including 
Members of Council (including accumulated benefits due to 
Executives who retired during the year).

16,247 18,383 11,195 8,926

NUMBER NUMBER

The number of Executives whose remuneration fell within the 
following bands of remuneration was:

2007 2006 2007 2006

$100,001-$110,000 3 17 1 -

$110,001-$120,000 2 6 - -

$120,001-$130,000 5 8 - -

$130,001-$140,000 1 4 - -

$150,001-$160,000 3 6 2 1

$160,001-$170,000 6 1 5 -

$170,001-$180,000 2 3 1 1

$180,001-$190,000 2 4 1 2

$190,001-$200,000 5 2 2 1

$200,001-$210,000 1 6 1 6

$210,001-$220,000 2 6 2 2

$220,001-$230,000 3 2 1 2

$230,001-$240,000 2 - 2 -

$240,001-$250,000 3 2 3 2

$250,001-$260,000 4 2 3 1

$260,001-$270,000 1 1 - 1

$270,001-$280,000 3 1 3 -

$280,001-$290,000 2 2 - 1

$290,001-$300,000 1 - 1 -

$300,001-$310,000 2 2 1 2

$310,001-$320,000 3 - 3 -

$320,001-$330,000 2 5 2 5

$330,001-$340,000 3 2 3 1

$340,001-$350,000 - 2 - 2

$350,001-$360,000 1 - 1 -

$360,001-$370,000 1 - 1 -

$410,001-$420,000 - 1 - 1

$510,001-$520,000 - 1 - -

$610,001-$620,000 1 - 1 -

$670,001-$680,000 1 1 - 1

$740,001-$750,000 - 1 - -

$760,001-$770,000 1 - 1  - 

 66 88 41 32

The decrease in the number of Executive Officers from 2006 to 2007 is primarily due to the integration of the Victorian College of the Arts 
from 1 January 2007. A total of 24 Executives are included in the consolidated column in 2006. Only one person from the Victorian College 
of the Arts as a member of the University’s Planning and Budget Committee is included in the 2007 numbers.
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NOTE 33: RESPONSIBLE PERSONS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS (CONTINUED)

(C)  MINISTER

  The responsible Minister for the reporting period was the Hon. Jacinta Allan MP (1 January 2007 to 31 December 2007). Remuneration 
of the Minister is disclosed in the financial report of the Department of Premier and Cabinet. Other relevant interests are declared in the 
Register of Member’s Interests which each member of Parliament completes.

(D)  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

  Mr I A Renard and Ms E A Alexander are Directors of CSL Limited, which has entered into a lease for space in the BIO 21 building and 
other contracts with the University on normal commercial terms and conditions.

  Other related party transactions requiring disclosure under the directions of the Minister for Finance have been considered and there are 
no matters to report.

NOTE 34: CONTINGENT ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The University and its subsidiaries have the following contingent assets and contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2007.

34.1 Contingent Assets

  34.1.1  As at 31 December 2007, the Group did not have any contingent assets (2006, Nil).

34.2 Contingent Liabilities

  34.2.1  Indemnity

   (a) The University has issued a Letter of Indemnity to the National Australia Bank to cover the Bank’s guarantee to the Victorian 
WorkCover Authority under the University’s WorkCover Self Insurance Scheme. The amount of the guarantee in place is $7,059,500 
(2006, $7,062,000) and the actuarial assessment of claims liability as at 31 December 2007 is $5,652,000 (2006, $5,062,000).

   (b) In addition, the University has provided an indemnity to cover National Australia Bank guarantee to the City of Melbourne in 
respect of a 50-year lease (signed in 2000) over a site on which the University has constructed and is operating as a car park. The 
amount of the guarantee in place is $50,000 (2006, $50,000).

  34.2.2  Student Accommodation on Swanston Street – College Square

   The University has agreed to provide a rental guarantee to the purchasers of student apartments in the College Square development 
on Swanston Street, Carlton.  The University’s rental guarantee is for the first year after settlement with a guarantee for a second 
year being provided by Becton (the developers).  The University’s obligation applies over 2006-2008 as the project has been 
delivered in two stages.  Stage 1 was delivered in 2006 with settlements occurring from the end of May while Stage 2 was 
completed in January 2007 with settlements extending from that date.  Although the majority of apartments were settled within 
months of completion, the final settlement occurred on 1st November 2007.  The maximum exposure for 2008 is estimated at 
$160,154 which will reduce as vacant apartments are let.  The actual cost of the rental guarantee for 2007 was $854,641.

  34.2.3 Tax Exempt Status – UMEE Ltd (formerly Melbourne University Private Ltd)

   This matter reported in prior years in relation to Melbourne Enterprises International Ltd (a subsidiary of UMEE Ltd) was settled 
with the Australian Taxation Office during the current financial year such that the company’s status was revised from tax exempt 
to taxable. 
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2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NOTE 35: COMMITMENTS

Note 35.1: Capital Commitments 

Commitments for the construction and acquisition of buildings, 
plant and equipment contracted for at the reporting date but not 
recognised as liabilities, payable:

Within one year 73,833 56,195 73,043 55,649 

Later than one year but not later than five years 10,888 62,240 10,848 62,200 

Later than five years - - - -

Total Capital Commitments 84,721 118,435 83,891 117,849 

Note 35.2: Lease Commitments - As Lessee 

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to 

operating leases at the reporting date but not recognised

as liabilities, payable:

Within one year 3,963 4,828 3,263 4,041 

Later than one year but not later than five years 9,592 13,007 8,226 11,126 

Later than five years 13,694 26,581 13,219 26,106 

27,249 44,416 24,708 41,273 

Representing:

Cancellable operating leases 2,336 - - -

Non-cancellable operating leases 24,913 44,416 24,708 41,273 

Total Lease Commitments - as Lessee 27,249 44,416 24,708 41,273 

Note 35.3: Lease Commitments - As Lessor

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable 
operating leases at the reporting date but not recognised as 
assets, receivable:

Within one year 4,654 2,374 3,103 863

Later than one year but not later than five years 7,578 2,590 5,571 1,380

Later than five years 1,078 1,021 140 55

Total Lease Commitments - as Lessor 13,310 5,985 8,814 2,298

The University has entered into operating leases with various 
businesses as lessor to lease retail space at Union House and 
other areas controlled by the University for the purpose of 
providing services to students. Included below is the rentals 
receivable from these properties.

Note 35.4: Other Expenditure Commitments

Within one year 3,290 4,543 3,250 4,500

Later than one year but not later than five years 4,112 4,187 4,000 4,000

Later than five years 3,000 4,000 3,000 4,000

Total Other Expenditure Commitments 10,402 12,730 10,250 12,500

Included in the above is the University’s commitment to contribute $1.0 million (2006, $2.0 million) for the Synchrotron Project and 
$9.3 million (2006, $10.5 million) to Uniseed with no specified payment plan.
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NOTE 36: SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS

36.1 University employees are members of a range of superannuation funds, which are divided into the following categories: 

(i) Those operative and open to membership:

  - UniSuper (comprising the merged SSAU - Superannuation Scheme for Australian Universities and TESS - Tertiary Education 
Superannuation Scheme)

(ii) State Government Schemes closed to future membership by University employees:

  -  State Employees Retirement Benefits Scheme

  -  State Superannuation Fund

 Some University employees receive superannuation benefits through the Superannuation Guarantee Scheme.

36.2 UniSuper Plans

UniSuper is a multi employer superannuation fund operated by UniSuper Limited as the Corporate Trustee and administered by UniSuper 
Management Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of UniSuper Limited.  The operations of UniSuper are regulated by the Superannuation 
Industry (Supervision) Act 1993.

(i)  UniSuper offers eligible members the choice of two schemes known as the Defined Benefit Division (DBD) (previously referred to 
as the Defined Benefit Plan ) or Accumulation Super (2) (previously referred to as the Investment Choice Plan ). The contribution rate 
to the schemes is 21% of member’s salary, of which the member contributes 7% and the University 14%. Members can elect to 
reduce the level of member contributions with corresponding reductions in benefits.

  The University has no investment risk in respect of the Defined Benefit Division scheme.  As such, both the Defined Benefit Division 
and the Accumulation Super (2 ) schemes are Defined Contribution Plans for the purposes of AASB119 Employee Benefits. 

(ii)  UniSuper also offers a cash accumulation productivity scheme known as Accumulation Super (1) (previously referred to as the Award 
Plus Plan (APP)). University employees have no requirement to contribute to the scheme. The University contributes the equivalent 
of 3% of base salary in respect of those employees who were members of the Defined Benefit Division or the Accumulation 
Super (2) Plan. Employees who do not qualify for membership of Defined Benefit Division or Accumulation Super (2 ) will have a 
minimum contribution of 9% of their annual salary contributed by the University to Accumulation Super (1) prescribed under the 
Superannuation Guarantee Charge Act 1992. 

  Casual and non-permanent employees, who do not qualify for membership of the Defined Benefit Division or Accumulation  
Super (2), are eligible for Accumulation Super (1). 

36.3 State Government Schemes

The University has a number of employees who are members of the State Employees Retirement Benefits Scheme and the State 
Superannuation Fund administered by the Government Superannuation Office. These schemes are defined benefits schemes and are 
closed to future University employees.

At 30 June, the State Superannuation Fund was carrying total liabilities for member benefits greater than the value of the net market value 
of the plan’s assets. As a result an unfunded superannuation liability exists and is recognised in the financial statements of the Scheme. 
The University’s portion of the unfunded liability comprises of employees who transferred to the University from the former Melbourne 
College of Advanced Education, together with those employees of the former subsidiaries Hawthorn Institute of Education Ltd, Victorian 
College of Agriculture and Horticulture Ltd and the Victorian College of the Arts. 

As at 30 June the unfunded superannuation liability determined by the Victorian Government Superannuation Office amounted to:

2007

$’000

2006

$’000

University of Melbourne 97,111 90,723

Victorian College Of The Arts - 14,733

97,111 105,456

The values as at 30 June 2007 are the values that have been included in the accounts. Funding to meet payments incurred will be 
provided to the University of Melbourne by the Australian Government.  The cost is shared between the State of Victoria and the 
Australian Government.
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 36.4 The total superannuation contributions by the University during the year in respect of the above plans were:

2007

$’000

2006

$’000

UniSuper - Defined Benefit Division, Accumulation 
Super (2) and Accumulation Super (1)

72,413 63,936

State Government Schemes 408 419

Other Superannuation Funds 8,988 7,818

81,809 72,173

There were no outstanding contributions at year end (2006, Nil).

NOTE 37: WORKCOVER - SELF INSURANCE

From 1 October 1990, the University became a Self Insurer for Workers’ Compensation and WorkCover. As part of the settlement terms 
with the Victorian Workcover Authority, the University is liable for all remaining claims in respect of the period prior to self insurance 
from 1 September 1985 up to that date. An actuarial assessment carried out as at 31 December 2007 assessed outstanding liabilities 
of the University in respect of both new claims incurred and the remaining claims from the period prior to self insurance at $5,652,000 
($5,062,000 at 31 December 2006) which are projected to increase to $5,742,000 by 31 December 2008.

NOTE 38: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)  Parent entities 
The ultimate parent entity within the Group is the University.

(b)  Subsidiaries 
The University’s Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 40.

(c)  Members of Council and Specified Executive Officers 
Disclosures relating to members of Council and specified executives are set out in Note 33.

(d) Transactions with Related Parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

CONSOLIDATED UNIVERSITY

2007

$’000

2006

$’000

2007

$’000

2006

$’000

Funding Provided to Subsidiaries  -    -    6,202  18,348 

Sale of Goods and Services to

Subsidiaries  -    -    1,721  2,886 

Other Related Parties  58  87  -    -   

Purchase of Goods from Subsidiaries  -    -    19,578  18,087 

Loans to Related Parties

Loan Repayments from Subsidiaries  -    -    -    1,250 

Interest Revenue from Subsidiaries  -    -    -    26 

Interest Expense to Subsidiaries  -    -    166  134 
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NOTE 38: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(e)  Outstanding Balances 
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties:

CONSOLIDATED UNIVERSITY

2007

$’000

2006

$’000

2007

$’000

2006

$’000

Current Receivables (sale of goods and services)

Subsidiaries  -    -    622  578 

Current Payables (purchases of goods)

Subsidiaries  -    -    1,251  1,081 

No allowance for doubtful debts was raised in 2007 (2006 Nil) for the outstanding balances disclosed above. Therefore, no expense was 
recognised for the period.

(f)  Guarantees 
No guarantees have been given to third parties in respect of related parties.

(g)  Terms and Conditions 
During the financial year, all transactions between the University and its subsidiaries were in the ordinary course of business and on 
normal arm’s length commercial terms and conditions.
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Details of consultants engaged by the University and their costs were as follows:

2007

$’000

2006

$’000

Consultancies costing less than $100,000

Payments to Consultants 2,906 2,337

Number of Consultancies Engaged – 155 in 2007 (101 in 2006)

Consultancies costing more than $100,000

Beaton Consulting Pty Ltd 

– Advice on the preparation of Faculty Business Plans 245 -

– Conduct of a Graduate Market Research Study 115 -

– Conduct of Online Postgraduate Study 119 -

– Advice on the Melbourne Model Curriculum Reform - 327

Blackboard International B V

– Strategic Planning Advice 130 -

– Advice in relation to Business Continuity Management 175 -

The Boston Consulting Group Pty Ltd

– Advice on the development of the Student Services Operating Model 825 -

– Change Management Advice to the Senior Leadership Group 138 -

Colmar Brunton Pty Ltd – Brand Health 2007 Project 193 -

Dench Consulting Pty Ltd – Advice on the preparation of Business Plans 164 -

Dimension Data Australia Pty Ltd – University Systems Exchange CAE project 186 -

Jane Frances Kelly – Advice on the preparation of the Strategic Plan and Communications Strategy - 130

Juroko Pty Ltd

– University Student Systems Project 341 -

– University Systems Project Research Management System Implementation - 152

KPMG Australia – Review of Budgeting, Planning and Forecasting Processes 275 -

LEK Consulting Pty Ltd

– Advice on the Growing Esteem Business Plan 457 -

– Advice on the University of Melbourne Business Metrics Model 250 -

– Advice on the New Generation Undergraduate Degrees 125 -

Oracle Corporation Australia Pty Ltd – University Systems Project HRMS Payroll implementation

– University Systems Project 299 -

– University Systems Project Research Management System Implementation - 245

Pageup Pty Ltd – Pageup People System Implementation - 122

Phillips KPA Pty Ltd – Advice on Faculty Business Plans 333 -

Red Rock Consulting Pty Ltd – University Systems Project Research Management System 
Implementation

- 205

Technology One – University Student Systems Project 394 -

V and K Rewal Pty Ltd – University Budget System 137 -

Total Consultancy Cost 7,807 3,518
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NOTE 40: INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The current subsidiaries of the Group are outlined below. Other than the entities listed below, there were no changes to ownership during 
the year.

Name of Entity Principal Activities Country of 
Incorporation

Class of 
Shares

Ownership 
Interest

Australian International 
Health Institute (University of 
Melbourne) Ltd

Undertake and provide research, development, 
education, training, consultancy and other activities 
in regard to medical and related areas.

Australia Fully Paid 
Ordinary 
Shares

100%

Australian Music Examinations 
Board (Victoria) Limited

Provides a system of graded examinations in relation 
to music and speech in Victoria and overseas.

Australia Company 
Limited by 
Guarantee

100%

Australian National Academy 
of Music

Provide a national centre of excellence with practical 
music education and training.

Australia Company 
Limited by 
Guarantee

75%

The Meanjin Company Limited The publication, promotion and distribution of the 
quarterly journal “Meanjin”.

Australia Company 
Limited by 
Guarantee

100%

Melbourne Business School 
Limited Group

Provision of educational services. Australia Company 
Limited by 
Guarantee

45%

Melbourne University 
Publishing Limited

To publish the best scholarly writing from Australia 
and Overseas, both within and independent of the 
tertiary sector.

Australia Company 
Limited by 
Guarantee

100%

MU Student Union Ltd Provision of amenities, services and facilities for the 
benefit of students.

Australia Company 
Limited by 
Guarantee

100%

UMEE Ltd Commercialisation of educational services of the 
University of Melbourne and the provision of English 
Language teaching.

Australia Fully Paid 
Ordinary 
Shares

100%

The Victorian Institute for 
Chemical Sciences Limited *

Provide teaching and research in chemical sciences. Australia Company 
Limited by 
Guarantee

33%

* The University of Melbourne, Monash University and RMIT are all equal members of the Victorian Institute for Chemical Sciences 
Limited. Under the terms of the Funding Agreement with the State Government, the University of Melbourne has financial responsibility for 
the company, and it is therefore considered to have control.

Changes to Ownership during the year

Victorian College of the Arts

On 29 August 2006, the Victorian Governor in Council assented to the Melbourne University (Victorian College of the Arts) Act 2006, which 
enacted the integration of the Victorian College of the Arts (VCA) as a faculty of the University of Melbourne with effect from 1 January 
2007. Prior to this date, the VCA was a subsidiary of the University. The legislation was gazetted and proclaimed on 31 August 2006. As a 
result, all assets and liabilities of the VCA were assumed by the University from 1 January 2007, and the VCA ceased to exist as a separate 
reporting entity from that date. 

The integration of the VCA has been accounted for as a business combination involving entities under common control, in accordance with 
AASB 3 Business combinations. The purchase method of accounting was used to account for the integration. Cost was measured as the 
fair value of the assets given, or liabilities assumed at the date of exchange. 

As the fair value of the VCA’s identifiable net assets at 1 January 2007 exceeded the cost of integration, the University (parent entity) has 
recorded $103.9 million (representing the net asset position of the VCA at the date of transfer) as a gain in the Income Statement. At the 
consolidated level, the gain recognised on transition has been eliminated.

Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd

On 30 June 2007, the shares held by the University in Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd were sold to UMEE Ltd, a subsidiary of the University, for 
$401,000, reflecting the value of the shares at that date. From that date, Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd became a subsidiary of UMEE Ltd.



The University of Melbourne Annual Report 2007 139

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

NET RESULT 
AFTER INCOME TAX

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

NOTE 41: SUMMARY OF NET RESULT FOR EACH CONSOLIDATED ENTITY

University General

- Profit / (Loss) from Continuing Operations  70,262  67,702

Trust Funds  9,508  15,513 

Auxiliary Operations:

Child Care Services  (81)  (11)

Halls of Residence:

- International House  (242)  14 

- Kendall Hall  52  53 

- Medley Hall  -  (77)

Melbourne Theatre Company  175  628 

Melbourne University Bookshop  604  722 

Sport and Physical Recreation Centre  (260)  41 

The Ian Potter Museum of Art  234  239

Veterinary Clinic and Hospital  (511)  (675)

Adjustments on Consolidation for Differences in Accounting Policies  (282)  282 

Subtotal University  79,459  84,431 

Subsidiaries

Australian International Health Institute (University of Melbourne) Limited  (157)  76 

Australian Music Examinations Board (Victoria) Limited  276  219 

Australian National Academy of Music Limited  14  73 

Meanjin Company Limited  38  33 

Melbourne Business School Limited Group  16,242  1,310 

Melbourne University Publishing Limited  (195)  2,366 

Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd *  -  (1)

MU Student Union Ltd  (495)  1,509 

The Victorian Institute for Chemical Sciences Limited **  (1,320)  - 

UMEE Ltd Group  251  (888)

Victorian College of the Arts ***  -  588 

Subtotal Subsidiaries  14,654  5,285 

Adjustments on Consolidation for Differences in Accounting Policies  2,133  291 

Total  96,246  90,007 

* On 30 June 2007, the shares held by the University in Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd were sold to UMEE Ltd, a subsidiary of the University. 
From this date Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd became a subsidiary of UMEE Ltd.

** The Victorian Institute for Chemical Sciences Limited (VICS) operated on a June financial year-end until 30 June 2006. In March 2007, 
the Board of VICS approved the change of the financial year to a December year-end in order to align its reporting to the University. The 
results for VICS included within the Financial Report relate to an eighteen month period from 1 July 2006 to 31 December 2007.

*** Included in the Victorian College of the Arts 2006 net operating result is a $5.0 million contribution from the University of Melbourne. 

 The Victorian College of the Arts became a faculty of the University of Melbourne with effect from 1 January 2007, as such the VCA 
ceased to exist as a separate reporting entity from that date. Refer to Note 40 for further details.
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NOTE 42: SUBSIDIARIES - INCOME STATEMENT ANALYSIS

With the exception of some subsidiaries in UMEE Ltd all subsidiaries of the University are domiciled in Australia.

Total 
Income

Total 
Income

Total 
Expenditure

Total 
Expenditure

2007 2006 2007 2006

SUBSIDIARY $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Victorian College of the Arts *  -  28,946  -  28,358 

Melbourne Business School Limited Group  75,077  48,732  58,834  47,422 

UMEE Ltd Group  24,658  19,361  23,976  20,249 

Meanjin Company Limited  281  302  244  269 

Australian Music Examinations Board (Victoria) Limited  2,043  1,954  1,767  1,736 

Australian International Health Institute (University of Melbourne) 
Limited

 6,592  5,641  6,750  5,565 

Australian National Academy of Music Limited  2,886  2,863  2,872  2,790 

MU Student Union Limited  13,294  17,822  13,789  16,313 

Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd **  -  2,304  -  2,306 

Melbourne University Publishing Limited  6,206  7,357  6,401  4,992 

The Victorian Institute for Chemical Sciences Limited ***  621  1,743  1,941  3,383 

Total - University Subsidiaries  131,658  137,024  116,574  133,382 

Tax 
(Expense) / 

Benefit

Tax 
(Expense) / 

Benefit

Profit / 
 (Loss)

Profit / 
 (Loss)

2007 2006 2007 2006

SUBSIDIARY $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Victorian College of the Arts *  -  -  -  588 

Melbourne Business School Limited Group  -  -  16,242  1,310 

UMEE Ltd Group  (430)  -  252  (888)

Meanjin Company Limited  -  -  37  33 

Australian Music Examinations Board (Victoria) Limited  -  -  276  219 

Australian International Health Institute (University of Melbourne) 
Limited

 -  -  (157)  76 

Australian National Academy of Music Limited  -  -  14  73 

MU Student Union Limited  -  -  (495)  1,509 

Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd **  -  1  -  (1)

Melbourne University Publishing Limited  -  -  (195)  2,366 

The Victorian Institute for Chemical Sciences Limited ***  -  -  (1,320)  (1,640)

Total - University Subsidiaries  (430)  1  14,654 3,644

Where applicable, the results of the above Subsidiaries include contributions from the University of Melbourne.

* The Victorian College of the Arts became a faculty of the University of Melbourne with effect from 1 January 2007. As such, the VCA 
ceased to exist as a separate reporting entity from that date. Refer to Note 40 for further details. 

** On 30 June 2007, the shares held by the University in Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd were sold to UMEE Ltd, a subsidiary of the 
University. From this date Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd became a subsidiary of UMEE Ltd.

*** The Victorian Institute for Chemical Sciences Limited (VICS) operated on a June financial year-end until 30 June 2006. In March 2007, 
the Board of VICS approved the change of the financial year to a December year-end in order to align its reporting to the University. The 
results for VICS included within the Financial Report relate to an eighteen month period from 1 July 2006 to 31 December 2007.
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Working 
Capital

Working 
Capital

Property, 
Plant & 

Equipment

Property, 
Plant & 

Equipment

Total 
Assets

Total 
Assets

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

SUBSIDIARY $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Victorian College of the Arts *  -  11,364  -  92,571  -  123,290 

Melbourne Business School Limited Group  (9,690)  3,922  88,335  86,116  187,701  182,922 

UMEE Ltd Group  9,467  9,558  15,488  15,427  33,866  31,553 

Meanjin Company Limited  89  55  -  -  181  140 

Australian Music Examinations Board (Victoria) 
Limited

 1,061  685  325  406  1,606  1,314 

Australian International Health Institute (University 
of Melbourne) Limited

 847  963  3  29  2,568  2,301 

Australian National Academy of Music Limited  1,410  1,300  314  418  1,825  1,849 

MU Student Union Limited  3,343  4,270  2,199  1,775  7,294  8,243 

Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd **  -  (89)  -  160  -  629 

Melbourne University Publishing Limited  3,371  3,461  175  242  5,746  5,855 

The Victorian Institute for Chemical Sciences 
Limited ***

 425  499  126  1,366  568  1,881 

Total - University Subsidiaries  10,323  35,988  106,965  198,510  241,355  359,977 

Total 
Liabilities

Total 
Liabilities 

Equity Equity

2007 2006 2007 2006

SUBSIDIARY $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Victorian College of the Arts *  -  19,371  -  103,919 

Melbourne Business School Limited Group  20,704  15,216  166,997  167,706 

UMEE Ltd Group  8,697  6,617  25,169  24,936 

Meanjin Company Limited  96  92  86  48 

Australian Music Examinations Board (Victoria) 
Limited

 198  182  1,409  1,132 

Australian International Health Institute (University 
of Melbourne) Limited

 1,804  1,380  764  921 

Australian National Academy of Music Limited  106  144  1,719  1,705 

MU Student Union Limited  1,817  2,272  5,477  5,971 

Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd **  -  301  -  328 

Melbourne University Publishing Limited  2,229  2,152  3,517  3,703 

The Victorian Institute for Chemical Sciences 
Limited ***

 23  16  545  1,865 

Total - University Subsidiaries  35,674  47,742  205,683  312,234 

* The Victorian College of the Arts became a faculty of the University of Melbourne with effect from 1 January 2007. As such, the VCA 
ceased to exist as a separate reporting entity from that date. Refer to Note 40 for further details.

** On 30 June 2007, the shares held by the University in Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd were sold to UMEE Ltd, a subsidiary of the 
University. From this date Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd became a subsidiary of UMEE Ltd.

*** The Victorian Institute for Chemical Sciences Limited (VICS) operated on a June financial year-end until 30 June 2006. In March 2007, 
the Board of VICS approved the change of the financial year to a December year-end in order to align its reporting to the University. The 
results for VICS included within the Financial Report relate to an eighteen month period from 1 July 2006 to 31 December 2007.
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NOTE 44: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to balance date, there has been a downturn in global equity markets which has resulted in a reduction to the investment values 
shown in Note 23. Based on information available at 29 February 2008, the decline in the investment portfolio amounted to $110.4 million, 
largely comprising Australian Equities $48.2 million and International Equities $43.3 million.

Unless otherwise disclosed, there are no other matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial year that have 
affected or may subsequently affect the financial position of the University or its subsidiaries.

CONSOLIDATED UNIVERSITY

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NOTE 45: RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating Result from Continuing Operations after Related

Income Tax Expense 96,246 90,007 183,378 84,431 

Add/(less) Non-Cash Flows in Net Profit/(Loss)

Depreciation and Amortisation 82,135 75,362 76,174 68,628 

Impairment Losses 5,042 4,970 4,989 7,970 

Net Transfers Received Free of Charge (1,865) (189) (90,188) -

Bad and Doubtful Debts 2,603 681 2,563 506 

Revaluation Gains on Other Financial Assets at Fair Value (1,309) (389) (1,299) (434)

Loss / (Gain) on Sale/Redemption of Investments (27,533) 4,733 (16,265) 5,296 

Net (Gain) / Loss on Sale of Non-Current Assets 1,594 1,691 1,440 1,718 

Reinvestment of Dividends (10,962) - - -

Changes in Assets and Liabilities

Decrease (Increase) in Receivables (9,470) (45,131) (8,795) (49,153)

Decrease (Increase) in Prepayments 760 3,417 461 3,460 

Decrease (Increase) in Other Assets (406) (2,253) (104) (1,302)

Decrease (Increase) in Inventories 773 (758) 707 (405)

Increase (Decrease) in Provision for Doubtful Debts (1,716) (135) (2,024) 11 

Increase (Decrease) in Provision for Income Taxes Payable 5 3 - -

Increase (Decrease) in Payables 1,253 10,651 (1,372) 14,436 

Increase (Decrease) in Provisions for Employee Entitlements 19,624 3,911 18,552 3,802 

Increase (Decrease) in Income in Advance 488 34,945 2,265 32,161 

Increase (Decrease) in Other Provisions (4,414) (8,604) (4,620) (6,285)

Increase (Decrease) in Liabilities Held for Sale 3,200 - - -

Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities 156,048 172,912 165,862 164,840 
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UNIVERSITY   
GENERAL

TRUST 
FUNDS

AUXILIARY 
OPERATIONS

UNIVERSITY 
TOTAL

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NOTE 46: DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 - UNIVERSITY

Income from Continuing Operations

Australian Government Financial Assistance -

Australian Government Grants 550,922 - 1,684 552,606 

HECS-HELP Australian Government Payments 79,626 - - 79,626 

FEE-HELP 30,107 - - 30,107 

Operating Funds Received from The University of Melbourne - - 3,737 -

State Government Financial Assistance 31,281 - 388 31,669 

HECS-HELP Student Payments 27,519 - - 27,519 

Fees and Charges 306,561 45 18,156 324,435 

Investment Income 111,929 28,565 1,362 141,856 

Royalties Trademarks and Licences 3,124 3 - 3,127 

Consultancy and Contract Research 25,775 10 72 25,857 

Other Income

Donations and Bequests 13,745 2,736 1,732 18,213 

Publishing and Book Sales 2,668 3 9,846 12,517 

Box Office Receipts - - 9,595 9,595 

Computer Sales 2,583 8 - 2,591 

Subscriptions University Societies 1,036 - 491 1,527 

Sale of Produce and Livestock 1,174 - - 1,174 

Net Gain on Sale of Assets - - 33 -

Research/Project Income other than the Australian Government - - - -

Non-Government Grants 45,031 - 83 45,114 

Scholarships and Prizes - - 100 100 

Deferred Government Superannuation Contributions (8,345) - - (8,345)

Miscellaneous Income 14,974 15 3,415 17,468 

Total Income from Continuing Operations 1,239,710 31,385 50,694 1,316,756 



NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

UNIVERSITY   
GENERAL

TRUST 
FUNDS

AUXILIARY 
OPERATIONS

UNIVERSITY 
TOTAL

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Less Expenses from Continuing Operations

Employee Benefits and On Costs 636,832 4,099 22,561 663,491 

Depreciation and Amortisation 73,779 1 2,395 76,174 

Repairs and Maintenance 58,585 695 743 60,023 

Finance Costs 10,992 - 431 11,423 

Bad and Doubtful Debts 373 113 53 539 

Accounting and Auditing Services 417 - 235 397 

Other Expenses

Scholarships 48,313 3,931 287 52,531 

Equipment Purchases (items not capitalised) 18,593 166 547 19,306 

Advertising 6,595 43 791 7,429 

Consumable Materials 31,914 142 1,404 33,460 

Travel, Staff Development and Training 34,824 154 848 35,826 

Library Materials 3,591 464 24 4,080 

Grants 91,436 1,528 89 93,052 

Rent and Leasing Payments 6,534 - 2,642 9,130 

Utilities and Services 26,549 14 1,042 27,606 

Contracted and Professional Services 63,139 234 880 64,253 

Printing, Publications and Stationary 9,036 855 605 10,496 

Computer Software and Services 21,813 21 224 22,059 

Insurance 5,192 - 16 5,208 

Net Loss on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 1,473 - - 1,440 

Program and Course Development, Preparation and Delivery 
Services

- - - -

Course Fees Paid 3,183 177 - 3,360 

Impairment Losses 4,989 - - 4,989 

Other Expenses 19,641 9,240 14,906 39,370 

Superannuation - Deferred Employee Benefits (8,345) - - (8,345)

Total Expenditure from Continuing Operations 1,169,448 21,877 50,723 1,237,297 

Operating Result from Continuing Operations before related 
Income Tax Expense

 
70,262

 
9,508

 
(29)

 
79,459

Income Tax (Expense) / Benefit  -  -  -  - 

Subtotal - Net Operating Result for the Year before VCA 
Integration

 
70,262

 
9,508

 
(29)

 
79,459

   

Income recognised on Integration of the VCA  95,858  8,061  -  103,919 

Net Result for the Year  166,120  17,569  (29)  183,378 

NOTE 46: DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 - UNIVERSITY (CONTINUED)
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UNIVERSITY TRUST AUXILIARY  UNIVERSITY

GENERAL FUNDS OPERATIONS TOTAL

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NOTE 47: DETAILED BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2007 - UNIVERSITY

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  2,521  62,739  18,420  83,680 

Receivables  67,997  31  1,415  68,350 

Inventories  2,171  -  2,623  4,794 

Other Financial Assets at Fair Value  82,435  -  -  82,435 

Other Non Financial Assets  4,852  -  2,412  7,263 

Total Current Assets  159,976  62,770  24,870  246,522 

Non-Current Assets

Receivables  149,268  -  -  139,981 

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets  787,064  450,464  2,221  1,239,750 

Other Financial Assets  23,273  -  -  23,273 

Property, Plant and Equipment  2,348,072  2,520  68,857  2,415,726 

Intangible Assets  12  -  103  115 

Total Non-Current Assets  3,307,689  452,984  71,181  3,818,845 

Total Assets  3,467,665  515,754  96,051  4,065,367 

Current Liabilities

Payables  49,253  72  6,664  54,895 

Borrowings  2,750  -  366  2,750 

Provisions  112,602  -  2,182  114,784 

Other Current Liabilities  83,973  -  8,575  92,548 

Total Current Liabilities  248,578  72  17,787  264,977 

Non-Current Liabilities

Payables  12,000  -  3,921  12,000 

Borrowings  154,616  -  4,999  154,616 

Provisions  113,992  -  847  114,840 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  280,608 -  9,767  281,456 

Total Liabilities  529,186  72  27,554  546,433 

Net Assets  2,938,479  515,682  68,497  3,518,934 

Equity

Statutory Funds  -  -  -  - 

Reserves  1,920,755  515,682  61,206  2,493,919 

Retained Surplus  1,017,724  -  7,291  1,025,015 

Total Equity  2,938,479  515,682  68,497  3,518,934 



NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

UNIVERSITY 
GENERAL

TRUST 
FUNDS

AUXILIARY 
OPERATIONS

 UNIVERSITY 
TOTAL

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NOTE 48: DETAILED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 - UNIVERSITY

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Australian Government -

-  CGS, Research and Other DEEWR Grants  541,425  -  -  541,424 

-  Higher Education Loan Programmes  109,733  -  -  109,733 

-  Other Australian Government Grants  -  -  1,684  1,684 

Operating Funds Received from the University of Melbourne  -  -  3,737  - 

State Government Grants  31,281  -  388  31,669 

HECS-HELP - Student Payments  27,519  -  -  27,519 

Dividends Received  111,617  1  -  111,617 

Interest Received  (13,978)  28,565  1,316  15,903 

Receipts of Student and Other Fee-for-Service Activities  260,872  16  18,272  279,160 

Other Inflows  148,629  2,375  25,821  171,014 

Payments to Employees  (619,200)  (4,099)  (22,225)  (645,524)

Payments to Suppliers (Inclusive of Goods and Services Tax (GST)  (299,446)  (2,948)  (26,249)  (322,830)

Interest Paid  (10,992)  -  (431)  (11,423)

GST - Net Payment to Australian Taxation Office  4,257  (6)  (61)  4,190 

Other Outflows  (146,335)  (5,675)  -  (148,274)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities  145,382  18,229  2,252  165,862 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Proceeds from Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment  2,016  -  48  2,064 

Proceeds from Sale of Available-for-Sale and Other Investments  1,008,709  -  21  1,008,731 

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment  (131,041)  -  (1,630)  (132,671)

Purchase of Available-for-Sale and Other Investments  (992,953)  (21,163)  (177)  (1,014,293)

Purchase of Intangible Assets  -  -  (95)  (95)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities  (113,269)  (21,163)  (1,833)  (136,264)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from Borrowings  20,614  36  -  20,268 

Loans Granted  (231)  -  -  (232)

Repayment of Borrowings  (2,448)  -  (383)  (2,448)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities  17,935  36  (383)  17,588 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents  50,048  (2,898)  36  47,186 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Year  (47,527)  65,637  18,384  36,494 

Effects of Exchange Rate on Cash and Cash Equivalents  -  -  -  - 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year  2,521  62,739  18,420  83,680 
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NOTE 49: AQUITTAL OF AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (UNIVERSITY ONLY)

NOTE 49.1: DEEWR - CGS and Other DEEWR Grants

Notes COMMONWEALTH 
GRANTS SCHEME #

INDIGENOUS 
SUPPORT FUND

EQUITY SUPPORT 
PROGRAMME

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

167,782 158,555 968 905 264 494 

Net Accrual Adjustments - - - - - -

Revenue for the Period 2(a) 167,782 158,555 968 905 264 494 

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year - - - - - -

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue 167,782 158,555 968 905 264 494 

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses (167,782) (158,555) (968) (905) (264) (494)

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period - - - - - -

# Includes the basic CGS grant amount, CGS Regional Loading, CGS-Enabling Loading and HEFA Transition Fund.

Notes DISABILITY 
SUPPORT 

PROGRAMME

WORKPLACE 
REFORM 

PROGRAMME

WORKPLACE 
PRODUCTIVITY 
PROGRAMME

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

259 - 2,171 2,082 4,200 1,500 

Net Accrual Adjustments - - - - - -

Revenue for the Period 2(a) 259 - 2,171 2,082 4,200 1,500 

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year - - - - - -

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue 259 - 2,171 2,082 4,200 1,500 

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses (259) - (2,171) (2,082) (4,200) (1,500)

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period - - - - - -

Notes LEARNING 
& TEACHING 

PERFORMANCE FUND

CAPITAL 
DEVELOPMENT 

POOL 

SUPERANNUATION 
PROGRAMME

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

8,908 9,853 683 - 7,848 7,373 

Net Accrual Adjustments - - - 583 (29) (344)

Revenue for the Period 2(a) 8,908 9,853 683 583 7,819 7,029 

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year - - - - 26 7,980 

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue 8,908 9,853 683 583 7,845 15,009 

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses (8,908) (9,853) (683) (583) (7,788) (14,983)

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period - - - - 57 26 



NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

NOTE 49: AQUITTAL OF AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (UNIVERSITY ONLY) (CONTINUED)

Notes COLLABORATION 
& STRUCTURAL 

REFORM 
PROGRAMME

TOTAL

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

100 208 193,183 180,970 

Net Accrual Adjustments - - (29) 239 

Revenue for the Period 2(a) 100 208 193,154 181,209 

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year - - 26 7,980 

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue 100 208 193,180 189,189 

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses (100) (208) (193,125) (189,163)

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period - - 55 26 

Note 49.2: Higher Education Loan Programmes

Notes HECS-HELP 
(AUSTRALIAN GOVT 

PAYMENTS ONLY)

FEE-HELP TOTAL

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

69,311 79,083 25,877 32,409 95,188 111,492 

Net Accrual Adjustments 10,315 (3,428) 4,230 (5,333) 14,545 (8,761)

Revenue for the Period 2(b) 79,626 75,655 30,107 27,076 109,733 102,731 

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year - - - 41 - 41 

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue 79,626 75,655 30,107 27,117 109,733 102,772 

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses (79,626) (75,655) (30,107) (27,117) (109,733) (102,772)

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period - - - - - -

Notes OS-HELP**

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

572 510 

Net Accrual Adjustments (572) (510)

Revenue for the Period - -

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year - -

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue - -

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses - -

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period - -

** OS-HELP receipts from the Australian Government are not included in the Income Statement. The cash received by the University 
does not meet the definition of revenue in accordance with  AASB 118 Revenue. Revenue for the period is therefore nil.
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NOTE 49: AQUITTAL OF AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (UNIVERSITY ONLY) (CONTINUED)

Note 43.3: Scholarships

Notes AUSTRALIAN 
POSTGRADUATE 

AWARDS

INTERNATIONAL 
POSTGRADUATE 

RESEARCH 
SCHOLARSHIPS

COMMONWEALTH 
EDUCATION COSTS 

SCHOLARSHIPS

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

10,931 10,560 2,179 2,388 1,134 786 

Net Accrual Adjustments - - - - - -

Revenue for the Period 2(c) 10,931 10,560 2,179 2,388 1,134 786 

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year (909) (378) (1,263) (649) 134 33 

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue 10,022 10,182 916 1,739 1,268 819 

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses (11,565) (11,091) (3,088) (3,002) (931) (685)

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period (1,543) (909) (2,172) (1,263) 337 134 

Notes COMMONWEALTH 
ACCOMMODATION 

SCHOLARSHIPS

TOTAL

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

1,870 1,365 16,114 15,099 

Net Accrual Adjustments - - - -

Revenue for the Period 2(c) 1,870 1,365 16,114 15,099 

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year 263 82 (1,775) (912)

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue 2,133 1,447 14,339 14,187 

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses (1,418) (1,184) (17,002) (15,962)

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period 715 263 (2,663) (1,775)

Note 49.4: DEEWR - Research

Notes INSTITUTIONAL 
GRANTS SCHEME

RESEARCH 
TRAINING SCHEME

SYSTEMIC 
INFRASTRUCTURE 

INITIATIVE

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

35,583 33,985 63,502 59,907 - 2,016 

Net Accrual Adjustments - - - - - -

Revenue for the Period 2(d) 35,583 33,985 63,502 59,907 - 2,016 

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year - - - - - -

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue 35,583 33,985 63,502 59,907 - 2,016 

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses (35,583) (33,985) (63,502) (59,907) - (2,016)

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period - - - - - -
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NOTE 49: AQUITTAL OF AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (UNIVERSITY ONLY) (CONTINUED)

Notes RESEARCH 
INFRASTRUCTURE 

BLOCK GRANTS

IMPLEMENTATION 
ASSISTANCE 
PROGRAMME

AUSTRALIAN 
SCHEME FOR 

HIGHER EDUCATION 
REPOSITORIES

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

25,780 26,052 162 - 241 -

Net Accrual Adjustments - - - - - -

Revenue for the Period 2(d) 25,780 26,052 162 - 241 -

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year - - - - - -

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue 25,780 26,052 162 - 241 -

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses (25,780) (26,052) (162) (241) -

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period - - - - - -

Notes COMMERCIALISATION 
TRAINING SCHEME

TOTAL

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

603 - 125,871 121,960 

Net Accrual Adjustments - - - -

Revenue for the Period 2(d) 603 - 125,871 121,960 

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year - - - -

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue 603 - 125,871 121,960 

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses (603) - (125,871) (121,960)

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period - - - -

Note 49.5: Voluntary Student Unionism

Notes VSU TRANSITION 
FUND

TOTAL

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

1,500 - 1,500 -

Net Accrual Adjustments - - - -

Revenue for the Period 2(e) 1,500 - 1,500 -

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year - - - -

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue 1,500 - 1,500 -

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses (103) - (103) -

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period 1,397 - 1,397 -
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Note 49.6 (b): Linkages

Notes SPECIAL RESEARCH 
INITIATIVES

INFRASTRUCTURE INTERNATIONAL

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

- 300 3,553 1,992 418 240 

Net Accrual Adjustments 147 147 (9) (227) (124) (86)

Revenue for the Period 2(f)(ii) 147 447 3,544 1,765 294 154 

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year 61 19 - - 35 33 

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue 208 466 3,544 1,765 329 187 

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses (151) (405) (3,544) (1,765) (329) (152)

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period 57 61 - - - 35 

Notes PROjECTS FELLOWSHIPS

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

30,179 29,982 5,081 3,748 

Net Accrual Adjustments (1,048) 501 (896) (814)

Revenue for the Period 2(f)(i) 29,131 30,483 4,185 2,934 

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year 5,145 5,426 1,031 1,206 

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue 34,276 35,909 5,216 4,140 

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses (30,251) (30,764) (4,777) (3,109)

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period 4,025 5,145 439 1,031 

Notes INDIGENOUS 
RESEARCHERS 
DEVELOPMENT

TOTAL

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

- 175 35,260 33,905 

Net Accrual Adjustments 71 (5) (1,873) (318)

Revenue for the Period 2(f)(i) 71 170 33,387 33,587 

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year 10 - 6,186 6,632 

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue 81 170 39,573 40,219 

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses (81) (160) (35,109) (34,033)

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period - 10 4,464 6,186 

NOTE 49: AQUITTAL OF AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (UNIVERSITY ONLY) (CONTINUED)

 Note 49.6: Australian Research Council Grants

49.6 (a): Discovery



NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

Notes PROjECTS TOTAL

2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

9,203 9,025 13,174 11,557 

Net Accrual Adjustments 794 (4,000) 807 (4,166)

Revenue for the Period 2(f)(ii) 9,997 5,025 13,982 7,391 

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year - 2,177 96 2,229 

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue 9,997 7,202 14,078 9,620 

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses (17,199) (7,202) (21,223) (9,524)

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period (7,202) - (7,145) 96 

Note 49.6 (c): Networks and Centres

Notes RESEARCH 
NETWORKS

CENTRES TOTAL

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assistance Received in CASH during the 
Reporting Period

(Total Cash Received from the Australian 
Government for the Programmes)

1,210 1,186 9,560 9,371 10,770 10,557 

Net Accrual Adjustments 658 143 (145) (2,489) 513 (2,346)

Revenue for the Period 2(f)(iii) 1,868 1,329 9,415 6,882 11,283 8,211 

Surplus/(Deficit) from the Previous Year 697 1,243 - - 697 1,243 

Total Revenue Including Accrued Revenue 2,565 2,572 9,415 6,882 11,981 9,454 

Less Expenses Including Accrued Expenses (2,498) (1,875) (7,679) (6,882) (10,177) (8,757)

Surplus/(Deficit) for Reporting Period 67 697 1,737 - 1,804 697 

NOTE 49: AQUITTAL OF AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (UNIVERSITY ONLY) (CONTINUED)
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Statement by Principal Accounting Officer

In my opinion:

(a)  i) the financial statements of the University of Melbourne and the consolidated entity present a true and fair view of the financial 
transactions of the University and the consolidated entity during the financial year ended 31 December 2007 and the financial 
position of its operations for the year ended on that date, and

  ii) the amount of Australian Government financial assistance received during the financial year ended 31 December 2007 was 
expended for the purposes for which it was provided, and

  iii) the Group has complied with all material requirements of applicable legislation, contracts, agreements and various programme 
guidelines that apply to the Australian Government financial assistance identified in these financial statements, and

(b)  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 
1994, other mandatory professional reporting requirements and the Guidelines for the Preparation of Annual Financial Reports for 
the 2007 Reporting Period by Australian Higher Education Institutions as issued by the Department of Education, Employment and 
Workplace Relations.

In addition, I am not aware at the date of signing these statements of any circumstances which would render any particulars included 
in the statements to be misleading or inaccurate and there are reasonable grounds to believe that the University of Melbourne and the 
consolidated entity will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

Bryan Rossi

Deputy Principal and Director of Financial Operations

17 March 2008

Statement by the Vice-Chancellor and Chief Financial Officer

At its meeting held on 6 March 2008 the University’s Finance Committee resolved to recommend to the University’s Council that the 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 be adopted. The University Council at its meeting held on 17 March 2008 
adopted the financial statements and authorised the Vice-Chancellor and Chief Financial Officer to sign the financial statements on behalf 
of the University.

In our opinion:

(a) i)  the financial statements of the University of Melbourne and the consolidated entity present a true and fair view of the financial 
transactions of the University and the consolidated entity during the financial year ended 31 December 2007 and the financial 
position of its operations for the year ended on that date, and

 ii)  the amount of Australian Government financial assistance received during the financial year ended 31 December 2007 was 
expended for the purposes for which it was provided, and 

 iii)  the Group has complied with all material requirements of applicable legislation, contracts, agreements and various programme 
guidelines that apply to the Australian Government financial assistance identified in these financial statements, and

(b)  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 
1994, other mandatory professional reporting requirements and the Guidelines for the Preparation of Annual Financial Reports for 
the 2007 Reporting Period by Australian Higher Education Institutions as issued by the Department of Education, Employment and 
Workplace Relations. 

In addition, we are not aware at the date of signing these statements of any circumstances which would render any particulars included 
in the statements to be misleading or inaccurate and there are reasonable grounds to believe that the University of Melbourne and the 
consolidated entity will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

Glyn Davis David Percival

Vice-Chancellor Vice-Principal and Chief Financial Officer

17 March 2008 17 March 2008
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COMPLIANCE INDEX TO DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS 2007 

The Annual Report of the University of Melbourne is prepared in accordance with:

FMA   Financial Management Act 1994

FRD Financial Reporting Directions 

SD Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance issued under the Financial Management Act 1994 

AASB Australian Accounting Standards 

ETRA 2006 Education and Training Reform Act 2006

PAEC  Decision of Public Accounts and Estimates Committee of Parliament

RUG   Victorian Government response to the Review of University Governance

ESOS  Education Services for Overseas Students Act 2000

DEEWR  Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, 
formerly Department of Education, Science and Training (DEST)

This Index was prepared to facilitate identification of compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Clause Disclosure Page

STANDING DIRECTIONS FOR THE MINISTER FOR FINANCE (SD)

SD 4.2 (g) Report of Operations contains general information about the entity and its activities, highlights for reporting period and future 
initiatives and is prepared on a basis consistent with financial statements pursuant to the Financial Management Act, 1994.

1-93

SD 4.2(h) Report of Operations is prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Directions 1-93

SD 4.2(j) Report of Operations is signed and dated by Chancellor or equivalent and includes date of Council Meeting at which Annual 
Report was approved 

1

SD 4.2 (c) Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with applicable Australian Accounting Standards and other authorative 
pronouncements

99

SD 4.2 (b) Income Statement 95

SD 4.2 (b) Balance Sheet 96

SD 4.2 (b) Statement of Changes in Equity 97

SD 4.2 (b) Cash Flow Statement 98

SD 4.2 (b) Notes to the financial statements 99

SD 4.2 (c) Accountable Officer’s Declaration 153

SD 4.2 (d) Amounts expressed in the nearest dollar 107

SD 4.2 (e) Reviewed and recommended by the Audit Committee or Responsible body prior to finalisation and submission 153

FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION – FINANCIAL REPORTING DIRECTIONS (FRD)

FRD 10 Disclosure Index 156-157

FRD 11 Disclosure of Ex-Gratia Payments N/A

FRD 07A Early Adoption of Authoritative Accounting Pronouncements 107

FRD 17A Long Service Leave Wage Inflation and Discount Rates 106

FRD 21A Responsible person and Executive Officer Disclosures 129-132

FRD 22B Five-year summary of financial results 92-93

FRD 22B Workforce data for current and previous year; statement on application of employment and conduct principles 58

FRD 22B Summary of financial results for the year 92-93

FRD 22B Significant changes in financial position during the year 91

FRD 22B Major changes or factors affecting the achievement of operational objectives 9-11

FRD 22B Statement on Occupational Health and Safety matters 85-87

FRD 22B Events occurring after balance date 142

FRD 22B Application and operation of the Freedom of Information Act 1982 81-82

FRD 22B Compliance with the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 83

FRD 22B Compliance with the Building Act 1993 89

FRD 22B Details of consultancies over $100,000 137

FRD 22B Details of consultancies under $100,000 137
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Clause Disclosure Page

FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION – FINANCIAL REPORTING DIRECTIONS (FRD)

FRD 22B Implementation and compliance with National Competition Policy 89

FRD 102 Inventories 102

FRD 104 Foreign Currency 101

FRD 106 Impairment of Assets 105

FRD 109 Intangible Assets 104

FRD 110 Cash Flow Statements 98

FRD112A Employee Superannuation Funds 134

FRD 113 Investments in Subsidiaries, Jointly Controlled Associates and Entities 138

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT AND WORKPLACE RELATIONS (DEEWR)

FRD 22B

DEEWR

Analysis of the achievement of the entity’s operational and budget objectives for the financial year; should include comparative 
analysis of indicators such as enrolments, graduations, student performance and satisfaction, staff profile, research performance 
and performance position

1-93, 
particularly 
12, 23, 35, 
58, 60

DEEWR Information with respect to the governance and administrative structure of the university, specifically council members and 
occupants of senior officers.  

3-5, 71-77

DEEWR Internal grievance and complaint procedures and complaints made to and investigated by the Ombudsman 82

DEEWR Website address for the current and previous Annual Reports 158

DEEWR Compliance of financial statements with the Financial Statement Guidelines for Australian Higher Education Providers for 2007 
Reporting Period issued by DEEWR.

99

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT ACT 1994 (FMA)

FMA 1994 49(a) Financial Statements contain such information as required by the Minister 99

FMA 1994 49(b) Financial Statements are prepared in a manner and form approved by the Minister 99

FMA 1994 49(c) Financial Statements present fairly the financial transactions of the department or public body during the relevant financial year to 
which they relate

154-155

FMA 1994 49(d) Financial Statements present fairly the financial position of the department or public body as at the end of that year 154-155

FMA 1994 49(e) Financial Statements are certified by the accountable officer in the manner approved by the Minister 153

GOVERNMENT RESPONSE TO THE REVIEW OF UNIVERSITY GOVERNANCE (RUG)

RUG Statement that public funds allocated to the purposes specified by the Government or other public funding body 153

RUG University Council’s risk management strategy 83-85

RUG Summary table of financial performance of the University’s Associates and commercial ventures N/A

EDUCATIONAL SERVICES FOR OVERSEAS STUDENTS ACT 2000 (ESOS)

ESOS (National 
Code 2007 Sec-
tions C & D)

Compliance with ESOS Act 2000 and National Code of Practice 89

EDUCATION AND TRAINING REFORM ACT 2006 (ETR)

ETRA 2006, s. 3.2.8 Statement on compulsory non-academic fees, subscriptions and charges payable in the preceding financial year. 89

DECISION OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS AND ESTIMATES COMMITTEE OF PARLIAMENT

PAEC (December 
1997) 

International initiatives and strategies 25, 27, 40, 
51-55



Vice-Chancellor’s welcome www.nimelb.edu.au/vc/

Annual Reports 2005, 2004, 2003,2002,2001,2000 www.unimelb.edu.au/publications/annualrep/index.html

Operational Plan  www.unimelb.edu.au/publications/opplan/index.html

Strategic Plan www.unimelb.edu.au/publications/strategicplan/index.htm

Growing Esteem http://growingesteem.unimelb.edu.au/

Melbourne Model http://www.futurestudents.unimelb.edu.au/co

Curriculum commission http://growingesteem.unimelb.edu.au/curriculum_commission/urses/
melbmodel/

Research and Research Training Taskforce http://growingesteem.unimelb.edu.au/research_quality/

Knowledge Transfer Taskforce   http://growingesteem.unimelb.edu.au/knowledge_transfer/

Nine Principles Guiding Teaching and Learning 
in the University Teaching and Learning www.cshe.unimelb.edu.au/pdfs/9principles.pdf

Management Plan 2006 www.unimelb.edu.au/dvc-academic/responsibilities.html#a

Sixteen Indicators of Effective 
Assessment in Higher Education  www.cshe.unimelb.edu.au/assessinglearning/

Research and Research Training Plan 2006 www.unimelb.edu.au/publications/

Uni News http://uninews.unimelb.edu.au/

University Events http://events.unimelb.edu.au/

Tsunami Taskforce www.unimelb.edu.au/tsunami/index.html

Research Achievements www.unimelb.edu.au/about/research/achievements.html

Community Programs www.unimelb.edu.au/community/programs.html

The Arts at Melbourne  www.unimelb.edu.au/community/arts.html

Teaching and Learning www.unimelb.edu.au/student/teaching.html

Access Quality Education www.unimelb.edu.au/highereducationreforms/

Living on Campus www.unimelb.edu.au/campuses/living.html

Historical and Summary Statistics www.upo.unimelb.edu.au/upo_historical_stats.html

USEFUL
WEBSITES
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